

How can deprescribing be safely and routinely implemented within primary care?

Daniel Adebayo Okeowo

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Leeds

School of Healthcare

September 2023

Intellectual Property and Publication Statements

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own, except where work which has formed part of jointly authored publications has been included. The contribution of the candidate and the other authors to this work has been explicitly indicated below. The candidate confirms that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

Chapter 2 – Scoping review is based on the work from the following published abstract:

Daniel A Okeowo and Syed Tabish R Zaidi, Beth Fylan, David P Alldred, Routinely implementing safe deprescribing in primary care: a scoping review, International Journal of Pharmacy Practice, Volume 30, Issue Supplement 1, April 2022, Pages i4–i5.

Daniel Okeowo designed the research, conducted the scoping review, and drafted the abstract manuscript. Professor David Alldred, Associate Professor Syed Tabish R. Zaidi and Dr Beth Fylan (PhD supervisory team) provided guidance on the design of the research, screened articles, reviewed, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

Chapter 4 – Barriers and facilitators of implementing deprescribing in primary care: A systematic review is based on work from the following publication:

Daniel A Okeowo and Syed Tabish R Zaidi, Beth Fylan, David P Alldred, Barriers and facilitators of implementing proactive deprescribing within primary care: a systematic review, International Journal of Pharmacy Practice, Volume 31, Issue 2, April 2023, Pages 126–152.

Daniel Okeowo designed the research, conducted the systematic review, and drafted the manuscript. Professor David Alldred, Associate Professor Syed Tabish R. Zaidi and Dr Beth Fylan provided guidance on the design of the research, screened articles, reviewed, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

Chapter 5 – Study 2: Patient interviews is based on the work from the following published abstract:

Daniel A Okeowo and Syed Tabish R Zaidi, Beth Fylan, David P Alldred, 497 Patient perspectives of safe and routine deprescribing for older people living with polypharmacy: an interview study, International Journal of Pharmacy Practice, Volume 31, Issue Supplement 1, April 2023, Page i36.

Daniel Okeowo designed the research, sought ethical approval, conducted the data collection, and drafted the abstract manuscript. Professor David Alldred, Dr Beth Fylan and Associate Professor Syed Tabish R. Zaidi provided guidance on the design of the research, reviewed, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

Chapter 7 – Co-design study: Developing deprescribing resources review is based on the work from the following published abstract:

Daniel A Okeowo and Beth Fylan, Faiqah Quyyam, Nazreen Butt, Tom Mills, Syed Tabish R Zaidi, David P Alldred, 495 Developing deprescribing resources for older people with polypharmacy living in primary care: using co-design and logic modelling, International Journal of Pharmacy Practice, Volume 31, Issue Supplement 1, April 2023, Pages i35–i36.

Daniel Okeowo designed the research, conducted the co-design workshops, codesigned the outputs with patients and healthcare professionals, and drafted the abstract manuscript. Faiqah Quyyam and Nazreen Butt co-facilitated the co-design workshops. Tom Mills provided expert advice in intervention development and approved the final abstract manuscript. Professor David Alldred, Dr Beth Fylan, and Associate Professor Syed Tabish R. Zaidi provided guidance on the design of the research, reviewed, edited, and approved the final manuscript.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to Professor David Alldred, Dr Beth Fylan, and Associate Professor Syed Tabish R. Zaidi for their invaluable help, support, and guidance throughout my doctoral program. Even during challenging times, especially the COVID-19 pandemic, they consistently provided support and made me feel at home in Leeds.

I must also extend my thanks to my colleagues in the School of Healthcare at the University of Leeds, the University of Bradford, and the NIHR Yorkshire and Humber Patient Safety Translational Research Centre. Without their continuous advice and kindness, it is challenging to envision how this research could have reached completion.

My appreciation goes to all the patients and healthcare professionals who participated in this research. Your words and ideas, even beyond the scope of this research, have significantly contributed to my reflections on the future of healthcare. Your involvement has ignited a passion within me to advocate for safe medicine use for every individual on this planet.

I am grateful to my family for their unwavering love and support, especially considering the distance from home. Dr Mark Amadi and every member of Fountain of Peace Ministries, London, deserve my thanks for their prayers and motivational words, all of which did not go unnoticed. I also want to acknowledge all my friends, particularly those I met in Leeds. Your presence helped me persevere through challenging times and for this, I am so grateful. To Nathan, Petros, Ram, and Kevin – thank you for checking up on me and bringing London to Leeds at any given opportunity. To all my St. Ann's group – Thank you all for helping me settle into Leeds so quickly; it was as if we had known each other for years. There are not enough words to properly express my gratitude for everyone who has been part of this journey.

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my late grandad, Chief Matthew Olubode Akinpelu JP, who passed away on Sunday, January 26th, 2020. I believe you are watching over us from the heavens and sending your love. This one is for you.

Abstract

Background: As a result of ageing and advances in technology, people are living longer with multiple co-morbidities, and are likely to take multiple medicines concurrently. This can lead to problematic polypharmacy and the use of inappropriate medicines, compromised patient safety, and higher costs. Deprescribing has been identified as a way of addressing problematic polypharmacy. However, there is limited knowledge, derived from implementation science, concerning the safe and routine implementation of deprescribing in primary care.

Aim: To identify the barriers and facilitators, and effective strategies, to safe and routine implementation of deprescribing in primary care.

Methods: A multi-method, pragmatic approach used Normalisation Process Theory to guide research methods and contextualise findings. This comprised a systematic review to identify barriers and facilitators to deprescribing implementation and interviews with patients and healthcare professionals to explore their views on deprescribing in primary care. This informed a co-design process with patients and healthcare professionals to aid implementation in primary care.

Results: A lack of reporting of implementation factors and research on deprescribing appraisal was identified. Patients highlighted the significance of deprescribing rationales; clear communication; interpersonal skills; education; support; and provided views on healthcare professionals' involvement. Healthcare professionals expressed that current healthcare is focused on prescribing with minimal deprescribing consideration, how stakeholder buy-in can drive implementation, how safety can be maintained through follow-ups and safety nets, and the potential role of community pharmacists. The co-design process identified patients as potential catalysts for routine deprescribing, and the role of community pharmacists as a safety net. This led to the development of medicine necessity questions for patients and a logic model of a community pharmacy deprescribing safety net.

Conclusion: Deprescribing resources have been developed that may aid the implementation of routine, safe deprescribing in primary care. Future work should assess their feasibility and effectiveness.

Table of contents

Table of Contents

Intellectual Property and Publication Statements	2
Acknowledgements	4
Abstract	5
Table of contents	6
List of tables	14
List of figures	16
List of abbreviations	17
Chapter 1 – Introduction	18
1.1. An ageing population and multi-morbidity	
1.2. Polypharmacy	19
1.2.1. Appropriate Polypharmacy	20
1.2.2. Problematic Polypharmacy	21
1.2.2.1. Definition and clinical practice guidelines	21
1.2.2.2. Potentially Inappropriate Medicines	22
1.3. Overcoming the burden of PIMs	24
1.4. Deprescribing	27
1.4.1. Deprescribing definition	27
1.4.2. The process of deprescribing	28
1.4.3. Deprescribing safety	
1.4.4. Deprescribing effectiveness outcomes	
1.4.5. Deprescribing guidance and resources	
1.4.6. Role of Healthcare professionals (HCPs) in deprescribing	36
1.5. UK policies on polypharmacy and deprescribing	
1.6. Deprescribing implementation literature	
1.7. Chapter summary	39
Chapter 2 – Scoping review, rationale, aims and objectives	40
2.1. Background	40
2.2 Methods	

2.2.1. Research question	42
2.2.2. Search strategy	42
2.2.3. Eligibility screening, inclusion criteria & exclusion criteria	44
2.2.4. Data analysis	45
2.3. Results	47
2.3.1. Study selection	47
2.3.2. Study characteristics	47
2.3.2.1. Intervention studies	48
2.3.2.2. Non-intervention studies and commentaries	49
2.3.3. Key findings	49
2.3.3.1. Patient support at follow-up	49
2.3.3.2. Patient & clinician education/training	50
2.3.3.3. Barriers and facilitators to deprescribing in primary care	52
2.4. Discussion	55
2.4.1. Patient support post deprescribing	55
2.4.2. Use of education in deprescribing in primary care	56
2.4.3. Upcoming deprescribing research	58
2.4.4. Barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing in primary care	59
2.5. Conclusion	64
2.5.1. Implication for research	64
2.6. Rationale for doctoral research	65
2.7. Aims	65
2.8. Objectives	65
Chanter 3 – Methodology	67
3.1. Methodological approach	67
3.2. Use of implementation science as a guiding theory	72
3.2.1. Normalisation Process Theory	73
3.2.2. Other theories, frameworks and models considered	76
3.2.2.1. Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety 1.0, 2.0 & 3.0	76
3.2.2.2. Diffusion of innovations	77
3.2.2.3. The Behaviour Change Wheel	79
3.3. Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement	
3.4. Validity, reliability, and transferability of research	

deprescribing in primary care: a systematic review	85
4.1. Introduction	85
4.2. Methods	
4.2.1. Research question	87
4.2.2. Search strategy	88
4.2.3. Eligibility screening, inclusion criteria & exclusion criteria	90
4.2.4. Data collection	92
4.2.5. Data analysis	92
4.2.6. Quality appraisal	94
4.3. Results	96
4.3.1. Study selection	96
4.3.2. Study characteristics	97
4.3.3. Quality appraisal	98
4.3.4. Distribution within NPT	99
4.3.5. Extracted barriers and facilitators	100
4.3.5.1. Coherence	101
4.3.5.2. Cognitive participation	102
4.3.5.3. Collective action	104
4.3.5.4. Reflexive monitoring	106
4.4. Discussion	107
4.4.1. Key findings	107
4.4.2. Comparison with existing literature	108
4.4.3. Implications for research and practice	110
4.5. Conclusion	
Chapter 5 – Study 2: Patient interviews	112
5.1. Introduction	112
5.1.1. Aims, objectives, and research questions	112
5.2. Methods	114
5.2.1. NHS Health Research Authority (HRA) Ethical approval	114
5.2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria	115
5.2.3. Recruitment	116
5.2.4. Interview guide	117
5.2.5. Data collection	118
5.2.6. Data analysis	119
5.2.7. PPIE involvement	120

rs of implementing proactive nd facilitato CL -. • . ~

5.3. Results	122
5.3.1. Participant characteristics	122
5.3.2. Findings from Framework Analysis	123
5.3.2.1. Why deprescribe now?	123
5.3.2.1.1. Deprescribing Rationale	124
5.3.2.1.2. Communication and decision-making	127
5.3.2.1.3. Pharmacists as a source of advice	129
5.3.2.2. Monitoring and follow-up	131
5.3.2.2.1. Safety netting	131
5.3.2.2.2. Self-monitoring and social support	133
5.3.2.3. Roles and relationships	135
5.3.2.3.1. Medical hierarchy and understanding the role of pharmacists	135
5.3.2.3.2. Developed trust and continuity of staff	137
5.3.2.3.3. Lack of integration and infrastructure for community pharmacists	139
5.4. Discussion	141
5.4.1. Key findings	141
5.4.1.1. The importance of a strong deprescribing rationale	141
5.4.1.2. Self-monitoring and a reverse NMS	143
5.4.1.3. Patient view on involving pharmacists in deprescribing	145
5.4.2. Implications for intervention design	148
5.4.3. Chapter summary	148
Chapter 6 – Study 2: Healthcare professional interviews	150
	150
6.1. Introduction	150
6.1.1. Aims, objectives, and research questions	150
6.2. Methods	151
6.2.1. NHS Health Research Authority (HRA) Ethical Approval	151
6.2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria	151
6.2.3. Recruitment	152
6.2.4. Interview guide	153
6.2.5. Data collection	154
6.2.6. Data analysis	154
6.3. Results	155
6.3.1. Participant demographics	155
6.3.2. Findings from framework analysis	157
6.3.2.1. Current deprescribing climate	157
6.3.2.1.1. Easier to prescribe than deprescribe	158
6.3.2.1.2. Deprescribing guidance and collaborations	160

6.3.2.1.3. Risk, confidence, and litigation	162
6.3.2.1.4. A growing consensus	164
6.3.2.2. Routine implementation, roles and responsibilities	167
6.3.2.2.1. Buy-in, training and patient education	167
6.3.2.2.2. Pharmacists conducting deprescribing	170
6.3.2.3. Keeping deprescribing safe	172
6.3.2.3.1. Follow-ups and safety nets	172
6.3.2.3.2. A reverse New Medicine Service	174
6.3.2.3.3. Communication and continuity of care	176
6.4. Discussion	178
6.4.1. Key findings	178
6.4.1.1. Overcoming the barriers to implementation	178
6.4.1.2. Making deprescribing normalised practice	
6.4.1.3. Ensuring deprescribing is safe	185
6.4.2. Implications for intervention design	
6.4.3. Chapter summary	
Chapter 7 – Co-design study: Developing deprescribing resources	190
7.1. Introduction	
7.1.1. Aims and research questions	
7.2 Methods	191
7.2. Methods	191
7.2. Methods 7.2.1. Co-design methodology	191
 7.2. Methods 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval	191
 7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment 	191
 7.2. Methods 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops 7.2.4. Recruitment	191
 7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment	191
 7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology	191
 7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment 7.2.5. Co-design workshops 7.2.6. Logic modelling 7.2.7. PPIE involvement 7.2.8. Patient feedback 	191
 7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment 7.2.5. Co-design workshops 7.2.6. Logic modelling 7.2.7. PPIE involvement 7.2.8. Patient feedback 	
 7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment 7.2.5. Co-design workshops 7.2.6. Logic modelling 7.2.7. PPIE involvement 7.2.8. Patient feedback 7.3.1. Participant characteristics 	
7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment 7.2.5. Co-design workshops 7.2.6. Logic modelling 7.2.7. PPIE involvement 7.2.8. Patient feedback 7.3.1. Participant characteristics 7.3.2. Output from co-design workshops	
7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment 7.2.5. Co-design workshops. 7.2.6. Logic modelling 7.2.7. PPIE involvement 7.2.8. Patient feedback 7.3.1. Participant characteristics 7.3.2. Output from co-design workshops 7.3.2.1. Workshop 1 output	
7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment 7.2.5. Co-design workshops 7.2.6. Logic modelling 7.2.7. PPIE involvement 7.2.8. Patient feedback 7.3.1. Participant characteristics 7.3.2. Output from co-design workshops 7.3.2.1. Workshop 1 output 7.3.2.2. Workshop 2 output	
7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology	
 7.2. Methods	
7.2. Methods. 7.2.1. Co-design methodology 7.2.2. Ethical approval. 7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops. 7.2.4. Recruitment 7.2.5. Co-design workshops. 7.2.6. Logic modelling . 7.2.7. PPIE involvement 7.2.8. Patient feedback 7.3.1. Participant characteristics 7.3.2. Output from co-design workshops 7.3.2.1. Workshop 1 output 7.3.2.2. Workshop 2 output 7.3.3.1. Development of the Real-World Logic Model 7.3.3.2. Components of the Real-World Logic Model	

7.4. Discussion	218
7.4.1. Study outputs	218
7.4.1.1. Medicine necessity questions	218
7.4.1.2. Community pharmacy deprescribing safety net logic model	219
7.4.2. Chapter summary	221
Chapter 8 – Discussion and conclusion	222
8.1. Research question and summary of key findings	222
8.1.1. Chapter 4 – Systematic review key findings	222
8.1.2. Chapter 5 – Patient interviews key findings	223
8.1.3. Chapter 6 – Healthcare professional interview key findings	223
8.1.4. Chapter 7 – Co-design key findings	224
8.2. Key findings and their relationship with literature and policy	225
8.2.1. Implementing normalised deprescribing	225
8.2.1.1. Implementation considerations for deprescribing interventions	225
8.2.1.2. Leveraging NPT for normalised deprescribing	230
8.2.2. Patients as a catalyst for routine deprescribing	234
8.2.2.1. Patient communication in deprescribing	234
8.2.2.2. Enhancing patient involvement in their own care	235
8.2.3. The role of pharmacists in safe and routine deprescribing	236
8.2.3.1. PCN and primary care pharmacists	236
8.2.3.2. Community pharmacists	238
8.2.3.3. Care collaboration within primary care	241
8.3. Research outputs and dissemination plans	243
8.3.1. Research papers and conferences	243
8.3.2. National collaboration with The Academic Health Service Network	246
8.4. Implications for research, practice, and future research plans	247
8.4.1. Implications for research	247
8.4.2. Implications for practice	249
8.4.3. Future research plans	250
8.5. Research reflexivity	251
8.5.1. Strength, limitations, and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic	251
8.5.2. Reflecting on the use of NPT in research	256
8.5.3. Reflection on the doctoral research journey	258
8.6. Conclusion	259
References	261

Appendices	286
Appendix A – Search strategy for scoping review	.286
Appendix B – Study characteristics for intervention studies	.292
Appendix C – Paper characteristics for non-intervention studies and commentaries	.305
Appendix D – Barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing (scoping review	()
	.318
Appendix E – Search strategy for systematic review	.324
Appendix F – Data collection form	.332
Appendix G – Quality appraisal of studies	.333
Appendix H – Study 1 barriers and facilitators mapped onto NPT	.337
Appendix I – Ethical considerations highlighted in REC review and responses	.387
Appendix J – Study 2 ethical approval document	.398
Appendix K – Patient recruitment poster	.399
Appendix L – Patient information sheet	.400
Appendix M – Patient recruitment infographic	.404
Appendix N – Consent form	.405
Appendix O – Interview topic guides	.406
Appendix P – Example Study 2 patient analytical framework	.409
Appendix Q – COREQ for Chapter 5 and Chapter 6	.410
Appendix R – Recruitment Poster	.414
Appendix S – Information Sheet	.415
Appendix T – Consent form	.419
Appendix U – HCP Interview topic guide	.420
Appendix V – Example Study 2 Healthcare professional analytical framework	.424
Appendix W – Co-design patient recruitment poster and research summary	.425
Appendix X – Co-design HCP recruitment poster and research summary	.427
Appendix Y – Co-design Workshop 1 Miro boards	.429
Appendix Z – Co-design Workshop 2 Medicine necessity questions boards	.431
Appendix AA – Co-design workshop 2 community pharmacy safety net boards	.432

Appendix AB – AHSN SMR Invite letter43	33
--	----

List of tables

Table 1 – Summary of age-related pharmacokinetic and physiological changes (page 23)

Table 2 – The Deprescribing Protocol (page 28)

Table 3 – Scoping Review Medline search strategy (page 43)

Table 4 – Scoping review inclusion and exclusion criteria (page 45)

Table 5 – Barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing in primary care (page 54)

Table 6 – Summary of research paradigms considered (page 68)

Table 7 – Definitions of the subconstructs of NPT (page 74)

Table 8 – Innovation characteristics (page 78)

Table 9 – Core components of the COM-B system (page 80)

Table 10 – SPIDER components of review question (Page 87)

Table 11 – Medline systematic review search strategy (page 89)

Table 12 – Systematic review inclusion and exclusion criteria (page 91)

Table 13 – NPT Coding framework for systematic review (page 92)

Table 14 – Distribution of barriers and facilitators within NPT (page 99)

Table 15 – Barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing in primary care (page 100)

Table 16 – Patient inclusion and exclusion criteria (page 116)

Table 17 – Study 2 Patient demographics (page 122)

Table 18 – Study 2 HCP inclusion and exclusion criteria (page 152)

Table 19 – Study 2 HCP demographics of study sample (page 155)

Table 20 – Subconstructs of cognitive participation and their application to deprescribing (page 182)

Table 21 – Co-design workshop 1 schedule (page 197)

Table 22 – Co-design workshop 2 schedule (page 200)

Table 23 – Co-design patient participant demographics (page 205)

- Table 24 Co-design HCP participant demographics (page 205)
- Table 25 Community Pharmacy Deprescribing Safety net activities (page 216)
- Table 26 Research publication plan (page 243)
- Table 27 Research dissemination in conferences (page 244)

List of figures

Figure 1 – The four principles of medicines optimisation (page 26)

Figure 2 – Scoping review PRISMA Flow Diagram (page 47)

Figure 3 – Summary of research methodology (page 72)

Figure 4 – Systematic review PRISMA flow diagram (page 97)

Figure 5 – Thematic map derived from Framework analysis of patient interview (page 123)

Figure 6 – Thematic map derived from Framework analysis of HCP interviews (page 157)

Figure 7 – Deprescribing stakeholder map (page 183)

Figure 8 – Pre-designed Miro Board for workshop 1 (page 198)

Figure 9 – Miro storyboard – identifying medicine necessity (unpopulated) (page 201)

Figure 10 – Miro Storyboard – the community pharmacy safety net (unpopulated) (page 201)

Figure 11 – The Community Pharmacy Deprescribing Safety Net RWLM (page 213)

Figure 12 – Summary of doctoral research, the interconnecting role of NPT and outputs (page 225)

List of abbreviations

ADE – Adverse drug event	MMAT – Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool
ADR – Adverse drug reaction	MRC – Medical Research Council
ADWE – Adverse drug withdrawal events	MUR – Medicine use review
BCT – Behaviour change technique	NHS – National Health Service
BCW – Behaviour Change Wheel	NICE – The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
CCG – Clinical commissioning group	NMS – New medicine service
CDSS – Clinical decision support system	NPT – Normalisation Process Theory
CI – Confidence intervals	PCN – Primary care network
CP – community pharmacist	PPIE – Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement
CVD – Cardiovascular disease	PPI – Proton pump inhibitor
CPCS – Community Pharmacy Consultation Service	PIM – Potentially Inappropriate Medicine
CPCF – Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework	PQS – Payment Quality Scheme
EMR – Electronic Medical Records	QI – Quality Improvement
GPhC – General Pharmaceutical Council	REC – Research Ethics committee
GP – General practitioner	RWLM – Real World Logic Model
HCP – Healthcare professional	SEIPS - Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety
HRA – Health Research authority	SMR – Structured medication review
ICS – Integrated care system	TDF – Theoretical Domains Framework
IT – Information Technology	WHO – World Health Organization
MDT – Multidisciplinary team	

Chapter 1 – Introduction

This chapter introduces the healthcare landscape in which the present doctoral research is situated. It sheds light on the evolving patterns in medicines utilisation and healthcare consumption that have emerged because of advancements in medical science and technological innovation. Additionally, it delves into the growing prevalence of polypharmacy, whereby multiple medicines are concurrently used, and highlights the inherent risks that may follow. Furthermore, it presents potential avenues for addressing the issues surrounding problematic medicine use and discusses the potential roles that healthcare professionals can assume within this domain.

1.1. An ageing population and multi-morbidity

Rapid advancements in healthcare technology have brought about a remarkable transformation, extending lifespans to unprecedented lengths. It is increasingly well recognised that people are living longer in developed and developing countries. This is particularly true in Western countries such as the United Kingdom (UK) where life expectancy has almost doubled since the 1800s (Office For National Statistics, 2015). Globally, it is predicted that the proportion of people aged 60 years and over will nearly double to 2.1 billion by 2050 (The World Health Organization, 2022). The growing pace of such ageing is further evidenced with the number of people aged 80 years and older expected to triple between 2020 and 2050 (The World Health Organization, 2022). Although this trend in ageing began in high-income countries, low- and middle-income countries are now experiencing it, yet at a faster rate (The World Health Organization, 2022). In the UK, the ageing population trend is expected to continue with no signs of slowing down (Office For National Statistics, 2015).

Multiple reasons have been attributed to this global ageing phenomenon, however a fundamental cause is the increase in life expectancy as a result of improved healthcare (Epure, 2012). As the ability to diagnose and treat medical conditions has improved, the corresponding mortality to such conditions has reduced. An example being coronary heart disease, which has seen a reduction in mortality rates as a result of an improved understanding of risk factors and improved diagnostics and management plans (Capewell et al., 2010). People are now living longer with diseases that historically would have significantly reduced life expectancy.

This has subsequently led to people living longer but with multiple long-term health conditions, known as multi-morbidity (Aggarwal et al., 2020). In England alone, 54% of people aged 65 years or older presented with multi-morbidity in 2015, and this is expected to increase to 68% by 2035 (Kingston et al., 2018). With multi-morbidity becoming increasingly prevalent among this population, the provision of healthcare services becomes more complex, requiring heightened attention to the management of multiple co-morbidities within individual patients (Wallace et al., 2015). Clinicians may experience a sense of being overwhelmed when confronted with the daunting task of discerning the intricate interrelationships among existing and ongoing ailments. They are required to navigate the complexities of managing multiple conditions simultaneously, whilst also striving to prioritise effectively and seize opportunities for health promotion (Muth et al., 2014b). Multiple diseases and their respective treatment regimens may also interact with each other, further compromising patient health as a result (Muth et al., 2014a).

Consequently, the ability to effectively meet the diverse needs of patients has become progressively challenging, particularly in the face of escalating healthcare costs and utilisation. The growing population, coupled with the prevalence of multimorbidity, further compounds this challenge, as an increasing number of individuals seek access to healthcare services. In the UK, multi-morbidity has been associated with increased: total, hospital, and care transitions costs; primary care, dental care and emergency department use and hospitalisation (Soley-Bori et al., 2021). Patients with multi-morbidity typically need multiple prescribed medicines to alleviate associated symptoms and/or restrict disease progression (Aggarwal et al., 2020). As such, there is a natural link between the increase in the older adult population, multi-morbidity, and the use of multiple medicines.

1.2. Polypharmacy

The use of prescribed medicines in the UK has been steadily increasing for the past decade. In 2017 alone, 1.1 billion items were dispensed in the community to patients within England and the average number of prescription items dispensed per head of population was 20 per year (NHS Digital, 2018). With the reported increase in medicines dispensed, and a growing number of prescription items per person, polypharmacy has become increasingly prevalent in the UK.

Polypharmacy has historically been defined as the use of at least five or more medicines concurrently (Masnoon et al., 2017). However, definitions have varied in

the literature with numerical thresholds including a minimum of 10, which can also be described as hyper-polypharmacy (Cho et al., 2022). The numerical threshold of five concurrent medicines has been widely accepted due to the associated risk of adverse outcomes in older patients, such as frailty, falls and mortality (Masnoon et al., 2017).

In tandem with the upwards trend of ageing and multi-morbidity, the prevalence of polypharmacy continues to rise. In a prescribing evaluation study in Scotland, the proportion of Scottish adults taking 5-9, 10-14, or 15 or more medicines concurrently had almost doubled since 1995 (Guthrie et al., 2015). This trend has also been seen in other countries across the globe and highlights the widescale prevalence of polypharmacy worldwide (Zhang et al., 2020). The older patient population, aged >65 years, has also shown significant increases in polypharmacy compared to younger patients (Hajjar et al., 2007).

The rise in polypharmacy may be seen as an unavoidable consequence of healthcare. As multi-morbidity rises, many patients will require multiple treatment plans to ensure effective care. Medicines may also be prescribed to overcome adverse reactions resulting from the initial medicine prescribed, referred to as the prescribing cascade (Kalisch et al., 2011, Rochon and Gurwitz, 1997).

1.2.1. Appropriate Polypharmacy

A report commissioned by the King's Fund looked to distinguish between the positive and negative impact of polypharmacy by categorising polypharmacy as 'appropriate' or 'problematic'. Appropriate polypharmacy is defined as:

'Prescribing for an individual for complex conditions or for multiple conditions in circumstances where medicines use has been optimised and where the medicines are prescribed according to best evidence.' (Duerden et al., 2013, p. 1)

This definition describes instances where the use of multiple medicines is unavoidable and required to provide optimised care that has been derived from evidence. The use of multiple medicines has seen to be beneficial for the patient and reduce adverse outcomes, such as hospitalisation (Payne et al., 2014). As a result, polypharmacy has been described as a "*necessary evil, that for many patients is required to improve outcomes*" (Duerden et al., 2013, p. 33). Specifically, appropriate polypharmacy can benefit patients, but care must be taken to continually ensure polypharmacy remains appropriate or it runs the risk of becoming 'problematic'.

1.2.2. Problematic Polypharmacy

1.2.2.1. Definition and clinical practice guidelines

Problematic polypharmacy is defined as:

'the prescribing of multiple medications inappropriately, or where the intended benefit of the medication is not realised' (Duerden et al., 2013, p. 1)

The definition encompasses the negative aspect of polypharmacy where the use of multiple medicines places an increased risk of adverse, as opposed to improved, patient outcomes. This includes when the overall demands of managing medicines or 'pill burden' is unacceptable for the patient or the medicine combination used is hazardous due to an interaction (Duerden et al., 2013). An increase in the number of medicines has been shown to increase the risk of patients experiencing adverse drug reactions (ADRs), treatment burden, mortality and costs within the National Health Service (NHS) (Pirmohamed et al., 2004). Consequently, problematic polypharmacy may directly lead to non-adherence, increased use of potentially inappropriate medicine (PIMs), ADRs and higher care costs (Hajjar et al., 2007, Maher et al., 2014).

Clinical practice guidelines (CPGs), which govern prescribing practices, are largely based on single disease models that rarely address patients with multiple comorbidities (Uhlig et al., 2014, Okeowo et al., 2018). These guidelines promote the prescribing of medicines but rarely discuss when medicines should be ceased. While the resulting polypharmacy may be beneficial at times in a given patient to improve specific health outcomes or improve their quality of life, polypharmacy may become problematic due to increased frequency of adverse effects and drug-drug and drug-disease interactions (Duncan et al., 2017). Hence, it is important to ensure patients remain on the minimum appropriate number of medicines throughout their treatment plan, as each additional unnecessary medicine prescribed increases risks of iatrogenic harm (Guthrie et al., 2015, Cresswell et al., 2013).

1.2.2.2. Potentially Inappropriate Medicines

PIMs are medicines with a higher risk of adverse drug events (ADE) (Thorell et al., 2020). PIMs are known to increase morbidity and mortality and therefore should be avoided to maintain patient safety (Galli et al., 2016). There are challenges in calculating the prevalence of PIMs due to the individualistic nature of patient treatment plans. This means that a medicine that is considered a PIM for one patient due to their current medicine regimen, clinical status, and risk factors, may not be considered as a PIM for another. However, validated screening tools such as the Beers criteria and Screening Tool of Older persons' Potentially inappropriate Prescriptions (STOPP), have been used to identify PIMs within studies (American Geriatrics Society, 2019, Gallagher and O'Mahony, 2008). The Beers criteria is a list of medicines that have been considered as PIMs in the older adult population based on expert consensus (American Geriatrics Society, 2019). Similarly, STOPP is criteria used to identify PIMs in older adults developed through consensus with doctors, pharmacists, pharmacologists, and specialists in geriatric medicine (Gallagher et al., 2008). Both are examples of explicit tools, providing a specific criteria in which to make a decision, as opposed to implicit tools that rely on professional judgment (Bahat et al., 2017).

Using the Beers criteria, a recent cross-sectional study investigated the prevalence of PIMs among patients ≥65 years old admitted into hospital. Beers criteria were applied to inpatient records to quantify PIMs prevalence over a one-year period (1st January 2019 to 31st December 2019). This study found that at least one PIM was present in 58.4% of the patients admitted to hospital that year. It was highlighted that patients using ≥ 5 medicines were at a significantly increased risk of having a PIM prescribed (p < 0.001, OR = 1.6, 95% CI = 1.4–1.8) (Alshammari et al., 2022). Although the researchers accessed medical records, which may not always accurately depict medicines use if information is not stored correctly or medicine use is not disclosed, other studies have also found polypharmacy to be a predictor of PIM use (Gallagher et al., 2011, Fialová et al., 2005, Drusch et al., 2023). This highlights the significant risk of ADEs that is associated with older adults who are increasingly prescribed multiple medicines. Indeed, many of the hospitalisations caused as a result of ADEs are preventable (Pirmohamed et al., 2004). A recent observational study, based in an NHS trust in England, explored the burden and associated costs of ADRs, polypharmacy and multimorbidity through medical admissions. Over a one-month period 18.4% (218) of admissions had an ADR, in which 90.4% were ADRs that directly led to or contributed to admissions (Osanlou

et al., 2022). It was noted patients with ADRs typically were taking more medicines (10.5 vs 7.8, p<0.01) and had more comorbidities than those without (6.1 vs 5.2, p<0.01). Whilst 40.4% of ADRs were classified as avoidable or possibly avoidable, it was calculated that the 1-month cost to the trust from ADRs was £490,716 and if extrapolated nationally, was predicted to cost the NHS £2.21 billion (Osanlou et al., 2022). This observation not only accentuates the risks associated with polypharmacy and multi-morbidity, but also stresses the substantial financial implications imposed on healthcare services because of potentially avoidable circumstances.

Multiple factors have been identified that contribute to the use of PIMs. The process of ageing is known to cause frailty, which is a reduction in physiological reserves and the inability to cope with stress, illness and injury (Young and Maguire, 2019). There are also a number of pharmacokinetic changes that occur as a result of ageing which can affect the pharmacodynamic properties of medicines (Table 1). As such, this can lead to medicines that were previously tolerable to start causing ADRs.

Pharmacokinetics	Physiological changes
Absorption	Increased gastric pH
	Decreased gastrointestinal motility
	Decreased intestinal permeability
	Decreased gastrointestinal blood flow
Distribution	Decreased lean body mass
	Increased fat body mass
	Decreased body water
Metabolism	Decreased liver volume
	Decreased blood flow
	Decreased hepatic clearance rates
Excretion	Reduced renal blood flow
	Decreased glomerular filtration rates

Table 1 – Summary of age-related pharmacokinetic and physiological changes affecting pharmacodynamics reproduced from Daniela et al. (2020)

Increased urea excretion
Decreased creatinine production
Decreased renal clearance rates

Older patients can also experience geriatric syndromes, which are age-related conditions such as dementia, depression, delirium, incontinence, vertigo, falls, spontaneous bone fractures, failure to thrive, neglect and abuse (Balducci, 2014). Older patients with geriatric syndromes have been found to be at an increased risk of taking PIMs or receiving a PIM prescription in the future (Muhlack et al., 2018). The clinical management of geriatric syndromes is particularly problematic as the medicines required to treat one syndrome, such as depression, can lead to the exacerbation of another, such as falls (de Jong et al., 2013).

Another factor driving the use of PIMs is the lack of clinical trial evidence for medicine use in older patients. Older patients are already susceptible to ADRs because of ageing, as previously described, but this can be further exacerbated with insufficient clinical trial evidence for the safe use of medicines within this demographic due to underrepresentation in clinical trials. The major contributors for such underrepresentation are arbitrary age limits and exclusion criteria for conditions highly prevalent in older patients (van Marum, 2020). One study in 2019 investigated clinical trials from 1965 – 2015 investigating causes for hospitalisation and disability-adjusted life years in older patients. From 633 phase III clinical trials, the study found 33% had an arbitrary upper age limit with a quarter of these studies not recruiting participants ≥65 years old, despite the trial focus on the older adult population (Lockett et al., 2019). A similar study evaluated the exclusion of older patients in 839 clinical trials investigating medical interventions for ischaemic heart disease, where 53% of these trials excluded older patients and the estimated study population aged ≥75 years old was 12.3% (Bourgeois et al., 2017).

1.3. Overcoming the burden of PIMs

An economic analysis investigated the prevalence of UK-based medicine errors in prescribing, dispensing, administration and monitoring within primary care, secondary care, and care homes settings. This study estimated that 237 million medication errors occur at some point in the medicine use process annually, with 38.4% occurring in primary care and primary care prescribing accounting for 34% of

all potentially significant errors. Furthermore, 'definitely avoidable' ADEs cost the NHS £98.5 million annually and contribute to for 1708 deaths each year (Elliott et al., 2021). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), the global cost of medicine-related errors is estimated at \$42 billion every year (World Health Organization, 2017). In response, the WHO launched "Medication Without Harm" - which aimed to reduce severe and avoidable medication-related harm by 50% globally by 2022 (World Health Organization, 2017).

In response to a growing population and limited healthcare resources, efforts are being made to efficiently maximise resource utilisation and minimise PIM use (NHS, 2019). One such way is through medicines optimisation, defined as:

'a person-centred approach to safe and effective medicines use, to ensure people obtain the best possible outcomes from their medicines.' (National Institute for Clinical Excellence, 2016)

The premise of medicines optimisation is ensuring medicine use is clinically effective, cost-effective and that patients receive the right medicine at the right time and are involved in the process with healthcare professionals (HCPs). The principles of medicines optimisation are summarised in Figure 1. Medicines optimisation seeks to ensure prescribed medicines do not negatively impact a patient's experience i.e., through causing ADRs, are appropriate for the patient based on available evidence, are as safe as possible, and that these concepts are applied in routine practice. At the core of medicines optimisation is taking a patient-centred approach, which is about involving patients and their families/carers in their care to ensure the patients' treatment goals, preferences, concerns and beliefs are central to the prescribing decision process, facilitating shared decision-making (Coulter and Oldham, 2016). These principles look to counter the use of PIMs and so studies have looked to apply such concepts to reduce PIM use in a variety of clinical settings (Sandbæk et al., 2022, Saeed et al., 2022).



Figure 1 – The four principles of medicines optimisation sourced from NHS England (2013)

Due to the impact of the use of PIMs within healthcare, many potential interventions have been explored to tackle them. For example, a systematic review explored the effectiveness of interventions to reduce PIMs in older patients. The various strategies to reduce PIMs identified were medication review, educational strategies, clinical decision support system (CDSS), and organisational and multifaceted approaches (Rodrigues et al., 2022). Organisational strategies were policies developed to decrease PIM use, whilst multifaceted approaches were combinations of different interventions used. The study found that within hospitals, medication reviews were the most effective in reducing PIM use, whilst educational strategies were most effective in primary care. However, when only randomised controlled trials (RCTs) were analysed, the review did not find greater effectiveness of any interventions over others, whilst also noting the majority of RCTs contained methodological intervention limitations, limiting their replication within practice (Rodrigues et al., 2022).

Within such interventions, a key aspect of reducing PIM use is the cessation of a medicine that no longer benefits the patient or may be potentially harmful. As previously described, there are instances where a medicine may no longer be appropriate for a patient, such as due to the physiological changes associated with ageing. As such, it is important that these medicines are stopped in a timely fashion to avoid the risk of ADEs due to PIM use. Once a patient is prescribed a PIM, the only way to correct this is through deprescribing.

1.4. Deprescribing

1.4.1. Deprescribing definition

The term 'deprescribing' was first defined in 2003 by Woodward as:

'reviewing all current medications, identifying medications to be ceased, substituted or reduced, planning a deprescribing regimen in partnership with the patient and frequently reviewing and supporting the patient.' (Woodward, 2003, p. 323)

When introducing the concept of deprescribing, Woodward hypothesised that deprescribing could be used to identify and stop the use of PIMs, preventing ADEs and medicine-related hospitalisations whilst improving patient adherence to medicines (Woodward, 2003). It was also emphasised that older patients are especially at risk of PIMs and so could benefit from deprescribing, however deprescribing should be in partnership with the patient and supplemented with frequent reviews and support (Woodward, 2003).

Since 2003, various new deprescribing definitions have emerged. Reeve et al., conducted a systematic review of deprescribing definitions in which 37 unique definitions were identified. Using eight characteristic themes derived from the 37 definitions, a new definition was proposed to aid future deprescribing research:

'Deprescribing is the process of withdrawal of an inappropriate medication, supervised by a health care professional with the goal of managing polypharmacy and improving outcomes.' (Reeve et al., 2015, p. 1262)

Following this, a subsequent definition was developed by Scott et al., when introducing a model for deprescribing as:

[•] [A] systematic process of identifying and discontinuing drugs where harms outweigh benefits within the context of an individual patient's care goals, and their current level of functioning' (Scott et al., 2015, p. 827).

This definition places emphasis on a patient's care goals and current health status being pivotal to the decision to deprescribe. It places a heightened importance on patient factors influencing when to deprescribe, and so implies the involvement of patients in deprescribing. In summary, deprescribing is a process to taper or stop medicines that are no longer appropriate, considering patient's treatment goals, preferences and coming to a shared agreement, to ensure patients remain on the optimal pharmaceutical regimen at all times.

To date, much of the deprescribing in clinical practice is reactive, such as withdrawing a medicine once a patient has developed ADRs (Anderson et al., 2017). There is a need for deprescribing of a proactive nature: reviewing patients' medicines, identifying, and ceasing potentially problematic or non-indicated medicines before negative outcomes occur. Proactive deprescribing is valuable as it seeks to address problematic polypharmacy before patient safety is compromised (Anderson et al., 2017).

1.4.2. The process of deprescribing

Considering the growing need to reduce problematic polypharmacy, Scott et al., (2015) developed a 5-step protocol for deprescribing (Table 2).

Key St	ер	Detailed Processes
1.	Establish all the	Discuss with patients (and carers) about all their
	patients' medicines	medicines (including prescribed and over the
	and their indications.	counter).
		Discuss with patients about medicines that have
		been prescribed but the patient is no longer
		taking.
2.	Consider overall risk of	Assess the risk to patient according to:
	medicine-induced	

Table 2 – The Deprescribing Protocol reproduced from Scott et al. (2015)

harm in patient to determine the required intensity of deprescribing intervention.	 Medicine factors – number of prescribed medicines, use if high-risk medicine and ADR history. Patient Factors – Age > 80 years, cognitive impairment, multi-morbidity, substance misuse, multiple prescribers,
	history of nonadherence.
 3. Asses the eligibility of each medicine to be deprescribed: No valid indication. Part of a prescribing cascade. Actual or potential harm of the medicine outweighs potential benefits. 	Identify medicines prescribed for a diagnosis that is in doubt, or confirmed diagnosis but in which evidence of efficacy is non-existent or provide no additional benefit after a certain period of continuous use. Identify medicines prescribed to counteract the adverse effects of other medicines. Reconsider the indications for initial problematic medicines or their substitution to an alternative medicine with superior tolerability.
 Disease and/or symptom control medicine is ineffective, or symptoms have resolved. Preventative medicine is unlikely to confer any patient-important benefit over patient's remaining life. Medicines are imposing unacceptable treatment burden. 	Identify medicines to avoid in older patients. Identify contraindicated medicines. Identify medicines causing well-known ADRs. Consider patients views on medicines effectiveness, medicines indications and if they would prefer to continue taking the medicine. Consider if non-pharmacological alternatives are available. Estimate patients' life expectancy using risk predication tools. Consider patients' expectations and preferences for medicine treatment e.g. current quality of life vs prolonging life. Identify medicines unlikely to provide benefit over patients' remaining life.

		Discuss patients medicine concerns.
		Identify medicines particularly burdensome to patients.
4.	Prioritise medicines to be deprescribed.	 Decide the order of deprescribing of medicines dependent on three criteria: Those with the greatest harm and least benefit. Those easiest to deprescribed e.g., less risk of withdrawal reactions. Those that the patient is most willing to stop first (to gain buy-in to deprescribe other medicines). Suggested approach is to rank medicines from high harm/low benefit to low harm/high benefit and deprescribe the former in sequential order.
5.	Implement and monitor deprescribing regimen.	 Explain and agree with patient on management plan. Deprescribe one medicine at a time so hart harms and benefits can be attributed to specific medicines and rectified if needed. Wean patients off medicines more likely to cause adverse withdrawal effects and instruct patients on what to look out for and report if such events occur. Communicate plan to all HCPs and other relevant parities (family, carers) involved in patients care. Fully document reasons for, and outcomes of, deprescribing.

In essence, this 5-step process identifies PIMs and establishes their risk to patient safety, considers the patient's preferences and treatment goals, and formulates a plan with the patient to deprescribe each PIM sequentially. Although proactive

deprescribing might not always occur in this way, especially in instances where a particular PIM is deprescribed without consideration of the entire medicines regimen (as in Table 2) it does provide a framework HCPs can use to perform comprehensive medication reviews with patients with the focus of deprescribing. As a result, this protocol has been used as the basis of deprescribing interventions within the deprescribing literature (Visser et al., 2021).

1.4.3. Deprescribing safety

Despite the potential benefits deprescribing offers to patient safety, it is important to consider the potential risks in the process which must be considered along with the potential benefits when deciding whether to deprescribe (Reeve et al., 2014a).

Adverse drug withdrawal events (ADWEs) refer to instances where the discontinuation of a medicine leads to adverse physiological responses, characterised by the return or exacerbation of the underlying disease, recurrence of symptoms, or the emergence of new symptoms. A systematic review was conducted to examine the effects of discontinuing long-term medicines in RCTs conducted in primary care settings and included studies involved participants with a mean age ranging from 50.3 to 89.2 years (Thio et al., 2018). The review found that the success rates of medicine withdrawal varied widely, ranging from 20% to 100%. Additionally, reported rates of symptom relapse following withdrawal ranged from 1.9% to 80%. The substantial variation in these results could be attributed to the heterogeneity among the studies, including differences in the types of medicines being deprescribed, the ages of the participants, sample sizes, and duration of follow-up (Thio et al., 2018).

Overall, the review concluded that most studies indicated the safety of deprescribing long-term medicines, with the exception of a notable risk of symptom relapse. Such relapses can have an impact on the quality of life of individuals and potentially compromise patient safety (Thio et al., 2018).

1.4.4. Deprescribing effectiveness outcomes

The theoretical foundation supporting the benefits of deprescribing centres around the prevention of harms associated with PIMs, leading to a decrease in ADRs and an improvement in patient quality of life (Scott et al., 2015, Bemben, 2016). Furthermore, deprescribing, by reducing the medicine burden, directly alleviates the treatment-related burden experienced by patients (McKean et al., 2016). As explained in 1.4.3, it is also vital that deprescribing is safe and so the risk of adverse effects resulting from deprescribing should be considered when exploring deprescribing benefit. These dimensions present multiple avenues for examining the effectiveness of deprescribing. Consequently, the effectiveness of deprescribing has been investigated in numerous experimental and quasi-experimental studies.

Ibrahim et al., (2021) conducted a systematic review to the assess effectiveness of deprescribing interventions in older adults living with frailty. The review included studies that focused on deprescribing interventions targeting older individuals with frailty and reported relevant outcomes such as medicine use, adverse events, functional status, and quality of life (Ibrahim et al., 2021). A total of six studies were included in this review which comprised of two RCTs, two pre- and post-comparison studies and two prospective interventional cohort studies.

Considering the primary outcome of safety, three studies examined the impact of deprescribing on ADEs. One pre- and post- comparison study, using the UKU Side Effect Rating Scale to quantify ADRs and ADEs, conducted a pharmacist-led deprescribing intervention in care home patients. This study found a significant decrease in potential ADRs (2.8, 95% CI; p < 0.05) and ADEs (2.24, 95%, CI; p < 0.05) from psychotropic medicines after 6 months. Another study in a hospital setting reported that 88% deprescribing recommendations were accepted and implemented without any reported ADEs during a 3-month follow-up period. Two multi-disciplinary team (MDT) led deprescribing studies in hospital and community settings did not show significant differences in unplanned hospitalisation and mortality rates (Ibrahim et al., 2021).

In terms of secondary outcomes, two studies explored the effects of deprescribing on frailty and function. Pharmacist-led deprescribing interventions in care home residents showed a decrease in frailty scores (mean difference of 1.35, 95% CI, P < 0.05), while a different study reported a positive correlation between PIMs and frailty. Additionally, a study on functional status demonstrated that patients in the deprescribing group had less functional deterioration compared to the comparator group (69.1% vs 34.4%, p < 0.001) (Ibrahim et al., 2021).

The impact of deprescribing on falls was mixed, with one study reporting a significant decrease in falls rate after deprescribing psychotropic medicines among care home patients, while another study did not find a significant difference in falls incidence. Two studies assessed cognition, depression, and mental status, with one

showing improvement in depression scores and the other reporting improvements in mental status and cognitive status after deprescribing. The effects on quality of life (QoL) were inconclusive, as no significant differences were observed in QoL scores before and after deprescribing interventions (Ibrahim et al., 2021).

Regarding medicine-related outcomes, all six included studies reported reductions in the number of medicines taken by older adults living with frailty after deprescribing interventions. The studies also highlighted decreases in PIMs and drug burden index (DBI) associated with deprescribing interventions (Ibrahim et al., 2021).

Overall, the systematic review indicated that deprescribing interventions in older adults with frailty lead to positive outcomes, including improved safety, reduced medicine use, and potential improvements in frailty, functional status, depression, and cognitive status. However, the impact on falls and quality of life required further investigation (Ibrahim et al., 2021).

The effectiveness and outcomes of deprescribing interventions have yielded mixed findings, as evidenced by a body of deprescribing literature. Omuya et al., (2023) conducted a systematic review examining the outcomes of deprescribing interventions specifically within the context of RCTs involving older adults across various healthcare settings. The review focused on deprescribing interventions that incorporated medicines reviews for older patients who were experiencing polypharmacy. A total of 14 RCTs were identified in which eight were in primary care or outpatient sites, two in community pharmacies, one in a hospital and three in nursing homes/long-term care facilities (Omuya et al., 2023).

Thirteen studies (92.9%) demonstrated the effectiveness of deprescribing interventions in reducing the number of medicines and/or doses taken. None of the studies identified any risks to patient safety in terms of primary outcomes, including morbidity, hospitalisations, emergency room visits, and falls. Among the studies that considered health-related quality of life as a primary outcome (four out of five), significant positive effects were observed in relation to deprescribing. Similarly, both studies that examined cost as their primary outcome reported significant reduction in medicine costs, as did two studies that considered medicine cost as a secondary outcome (Omuya et al., 2023).

In summary, there are numerous outcomes for which deprescribing effectiveness has been measured. Although there have been mixed findings on the impact of deprescribing on patient-related outcomes, such as quality of life, there are consistent findings demonstrating deprescribing reducing PIM use and medicines burden. With numerous studies highlighting the feasibility to deprescribe, this makes deprescribing a viable process to reduce PIM use and problematic polypharmacy (Page et al., 2016).

1.4.5. Deprescribing guidance and resources

The growing interest in deprescribing as a strategy to address problematic polypharmacy has led to the development of various guidelines and resources aimed at facilitating this practice. Deprescribing tools and guidance can be broadly categorised into five types: general deprescribing guidance, generic deprescribing frameworks, drug-specific deprescribing guidelines, electronic clinical decision support systems (CDSS), and tools for identifying PIMs (Reeve, 2020). It should be noted that some resources may overlap and fall into multiple categories based on their content and nature.

General deprescribing guidance offers HCPs non-specific advice regarding deprescribing practices. These guidelines typically emphasise the importance of deprescribing in reducing PIMs, provide principles for identifying medicines suitable for deprescribing, and sometimes include a deprescribing process (Scott et al., 2015, Tilyard, 2010). Such guidance serves as a reminder to HCPs about the rationale behind deprescribing and offers considerations on how to implement it. However, the lack of specificity regarding which medicines to deprescribe and the lengthiness of some of these guidelines may limit their utility during patient-HCP interactions (Reeve, 2020). These generic deprescribing guidance can often be found in peer-reviewed journals, deprescribing-focused websites (e.g., deprescribing.org), and NHS-related websites.

Generic deprescribing frameworks share similarities with general deprescribing guidance, but they primarily focus on the deprescribing process itself. One commonly cited example is the 5-step deprescribing process outlined by Scott et al., (2015), which is presented in Table 2. While many frameworks follow similar steps, some may place greater emphasis on specific aspects of the process or its patient-centred nature. For instance, one framework highlights the importance of engaging patients throughout the deprescribing process and incorporating their perspectives (Reeve et al., 2014b).

Another type of deprescribing resource are drug-specific deprescribing frameworks, which provide guidance on deprescribing specific medicines or classes of medicines where deprescribing may be appropriate. These frameworks typically focus on medicines known to be PIMs and offer HCPs information on how to deprescribe them. They may also place more emphasis on aspects of the deprescribing process that are relevant to the specific medicine. For example, some guidelines concentrate on the tapering and monitoring of benzodiazepines, as sudden discontinuation of these medicines can lead to ADWEs (Pottie et al., 2018). Such guidance can be valuable for HCPs, offering clinical advice and considerations during the deprescribing process.

With the increasing adoption of electronic prescribing and medical records, several CDSS tools have been developed to provide deprescribing advice at the point of care (Reeve, 2020). These tools generate alerts within electronic prescribing software when a medicine with potential for deprescribing is detected. They also offer guidance on how to deprescribe and provide information on potential withdrawal symptoms to monitor (Cassels, 2017). Examples of electronic CDSS tools focused on deprescribing include TaperMD, MedSafer and PRIMA-eDS (Rieckert et al., 2020, McDonald et al., 2019, Mangin et al., 2023). These tools can be particularly valuable to HCPs by providing real-time recommendations and clinical advice related to deprescribing. However, it is crucial to note that many of these tools lack robust development and implementation evaluations, and may result in "alert fatigue" where HCPs become desensitised to safety alerts, rather than improved care (Reeve, 2020, Wright et al., 2018).

The last category of guidance includes tools for identifying PIMs, focusing on step 3 of the deprescribing protocol proposed by Scott et al., (2015) (Table 2). This step involves identifying medicines eligible for deprescribing, with PIMs often falling within this category. Validated tools previously described in 1.2.2.1, such as the Beers criteria and STOPP, are examples of this type of guidance. Masnoon *et al.,* (2018) conducted a systematic review to summarise the available prescribing assessment tools and criteria and their association with patient-related outcomes. A total of 42 tools were identified, of which 33 provided guidance on stopping PIMs. However, only 13 of these tools had undergone external validation, leading the review to conclude that more evidence-based and externally validated tools are needed (Masnoon et al., 2018). These tools can assist HCPs in identifying medicines suitable for deprescribing, but it is essential that they are based on sound evidence for their use.

1.4.6. Role of Healthcare professionals (HCPs) in deprescribing

A diverse range of HCPs have been involved, engaged, and participated in deprescribing literature. These professionals include doctors, nurse practitioners, medical specialists, and pharmacists. Although specific roles for HCPs have not been precisely defined, clinicians typically engage in the identification of eligible patients/medicines for deprescribing, the implementation of deprescribing processes (including gradual dose reduction and eventual cessation of medicines), and the monitoring of deprescribing outcomes. The involvement of various HCPs has both advantages and disadvantages. For instance, qualitative studies have revealed that patients are more likely to consent to deprescribing when it is recommended by their doctor (Reeve et al., 2013b). However, the time constraints faced by doctors may impose limitations on their ability to undertake deprescribing tasks optimally (Anderson et al., 2014).

Pharmacists have actively participated in numerous deprescribing studies, assuming diverse roles that encompass providing education regarding deprescribing to both patients and HCPs. They have also been engaged in conducting comprehensive medicines reviews, addressing the procedural steps outlined in Scott et al.'s deprescribing protocol (Table 2), and in some cases, assuming full responsibility for overseeing the entire deprescribing process (Clark et al., 2020, Martin et al., 2018, Jordan et al., 2022). There exists considerable variation in the roles and responsibilities attributed to pharmacists in the deprescribing literature. Consequently, further research is needed to ascertain whether specific HCPs should lead deprescribing efforts, defining their distinct roles and responsibilities, or whether a MDT approach offers the optimal framework for effective deprescribing strategies (Reeve et al., 2017).

1.5. UK policies on polypharmacy and deprescribing

The NHS Long Term Plan, a comprehensive policy document outlining strategic plans to address healthcare challenges, was released in 2019. This plan outlined the NHS's commitment to adopting a patient-centred service model, strategies to tackle health inequalities and polypharmacy, approaches to alleviate workforce pressures, advancements in digital technology, and steps for implementing the proposed strategies. A significant aspect of the plan involved the establishment of Primary Care Networks (PCNs), which are community-based multidisciplinary teams
comprising various healthcare professionals such as doctors, pharmacists, nurses, and care workers. The document also announced increased funding to expand the presence of clinical pharmacists within PCNs, recognising their valuable contributions towards medicines optimisation in primary care (NHS, 2019).

Subsequently, as a direct outcome of the NHS Long Term Plan, the Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service was implemented in 2020 which specifically laid out plans for structured medication reviews (SMRs) and medicines optimisation within PCNs. SMRs are evidence-based, comprehensive medication reviews that emphasise a holistic view of all aspects of patient health (Madden et al., 2022).

This contractual arrangement within the NHS, particularly in primary care settings, mandated PCNs to conduct SMRs as part of their responsibilities. Furthermore, PCNs were required to identify patients who would benefit from a SMR, specifically patients:

- In care homes.
- With complex and problematic polypharmacy, specifically patients taking ≥10 medicines.
- Taking medicines commonly associated with medication errors.
- With severe frailty, who are particularly isolated or housebound or who have had recent hospital admissions and/or falls.
- Using potentially addictive pain management medicines.

The contractual arrangement further emphasised the pivotal role of clinical pharmacists within PCNs in conducting SMRs. Consequently, primary care pharmacists were tasked with an increased responsibility to engage in SMRs with patients, particularly those who face challenges associated with polypharmacy. Given the central aim of SMRs to optimise medicine use, it was anticipated that these interactions would present opportunities for deprescribing interventions (Department of Health and Social Care, 2021).

In a recent publication by the Department of Health and Social Care titled "*Good for you, good for us, good for everybody*" a national report on overprescribing was presented. The report outlined a plan aimed at reducing overprescribing to enhance patient care and safety, support the NHS, and reduce carbon emissions (Department of Health and Social Care, 2021). The document underscored the burden imposed on the NHS by problematic polypharmacy and proposed strategies to address this issue, notably through medicines optimisation via SMRs and deprescribing. To support these initiatives, additional funding has been allocated for

the expansion of such services. The policy document also emphasised the importance of incorporating ongoing medication reviews and deprescribing practices into existing processes, integrating deprescribing training at all levels of healthcare education and professional development, and seeking additional information and insights to support effective deprescribing (Department of Health and Social Care, 2021).

In summary, the UK government, in collaboration with the NHS, has introduced significant changes in response to mounting concerns regarding problematic polypharmacy. The implementation of SMRs and the recognition of deprescribing as a means to address this issue have prompted an increased focus on understanding and implementing deprescribing practices within primary care in the UK.

1.6. Deprescribing implementation literature

Despite promising findings in the deprescribing literature, the implementation of deprescribing into routine clinical practice, particularly in primary care, remains limited. In a recent Bruyère Evidence-Based Deprescribing Guidelines Symposium, priorities for future deprescribing research were outlined by 30 participants including researchers, clinicians, policy makers, and stakeholders. The symposium emphasised the urgent need for implementation research in deprescribing can be effectively integrated into everyday clinical practice (Thompson et al., 2019). Several studies have echoed this sentiment, stressing the importance of gaining an enhanced understanding of the factors influencing deprescribing implementation (Wang et al., 2022, Scott, 2021). Such research is essential for advancing deprescribing literature beyond the sole focus on the deprescribing process, towards a comprehensive understanding of how this process can be successfully implemented across various clinical settings.

Parallel to the variability in HCP roles identified in the deprescribing literature (Section 1.4.6), the aforementioned symposium also highlighted the need to comprehend the specific contributions of each HCP in the practical implementation of deprescribing (Thompson et al., 2019). It is crucial therefore to understand the roles and responsibilities of HCPs in driving and sustaining this practice within clinical settings. This is particularly relevant to primary care, which has witnessed a substantial proportion of medicine-related errors, as discussed in Section 1.3.

While focusing on deprescribing implementation, it is equally imperative to ensure the safety of deprescribing implementation, given the inherent risks associated with it. Hence, future research must address how deprescribing can be implemented in primary care settings in a manner that prioritises patient safety and is embraced as routine practice.

1.7. Chapter summary

The ageing population, combined with the physiological effects of ageing, has resulted in individuals living longer with multiple co-morbidities. This, in turn, has led to an upsurge in the prevalence of polypharmacy and the associated complications arising from it. Consequently, there is an increasing emphasis on identifying and discontinuing PIMs before they give rise to ADRs, compromising patient safety and escalating healthcare costs. Deprescribing has emerged as a viable approach to address the issue of PIM use, as evidenced by its efficacy in reducing inappropriate medicine use. However, there is a paucity of evidence concerning the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing within current healthcare systems, especially in primary care.

The foundation of this doctoral research lies in advancing the understanding of deprescribing implementation. The primary objective of this research is to explore the question, "How can deprescribing be safely and routinely implemented within primary care?".

Chapter 2 – Scoping review, rationale, aims and objectives

2.1. Background

Deprescribing is an important consideration in the total care plan for a patient. As outlined in the introduction, deprescribing has potential to benefit patient quality of life and avoid ADEs before they occur. As such, with polypharmacy and medicines use on the rise, primary care can attain value in the incorporation of routine and safe deprescribing into primary care. However, translating the benefits of deprescribing found within the literature into real-world healthcare comes with its own challenges. Healthcare research is known to produce large amounts of evidence that slowly diffuse into clinical practice, leaving a gap between research knowledge and practice (Kristensen et al., 2016). Hence, it is imperative to identify the essential elements of deprescribing research that are crucial for the successful implementation of routine and safe deprescribing within primary care.

One such component to investigate is the patient support needed during and after deprescribing. Preliminary work discussing deprescribing in primary care with Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement (PPIE) groups, conducted in the initial months of the doctoral training programme, highlighted patient support as a significant consideration when discussing implementation. This is replicated in the literature: a lack of patient support after stopping a medicine is known to be a patient barrier to deprescribing (Reeve et al., 2013b). This necessitates an examination of the parameters defining support in the context of deprescribing, as well as an assessment of the strategies for effectively integrating the required support for deprescribing within primary care. The latter assumes particular significance, as any support initiatives that encroach upon the existing workflow in primary care settings may hinder the successful adoption of routine deprescribing practices.

Similarly, another component to investigate is the patient education and clinician training needed to implement routine and safe deprescribing. The preliminary work with PPIE groups also introduced the idea that there may be misconceptions in relation to patient understanding of deprescribing. Discussions highlighted that patients may perceive deprescribing as an NHS 'cost-cutting exercise' or an abandonment of care. Such views may hinder the uptake of deprescribing in primary care through negative connotations associated with the practice. In conjunction, for routine deprescribing to be safe, it is important to consider any

training clinicians may need to provide this practice safely. Despite the potential inclusion of deprescribing within the realm of prescribing activities, its integration as a routine practice remains incomplete, resulting in HCPs potentially lacking the necessary readiness to produce such interventions.

A scoping review was chosen to collate the available literature surrounding deprescribing in primary care. A scoping review was selected as it allowed for examination of the extent and range of research about deprescribing in primary care currently available, identify research gaps in the literature and also determine the value of undertaking a full systematic review on the topic (Arksey and O'Malley, 2005). Although one of the fundamental themes of this project is the role of pharmacists in deprescribing, it was decided not to solely focus on pharmacists for the scoping review. This was to understand the broad literature on the topic and how deprescribing interventions have worked in primary care with different clinicians (including pharmacists). Through understanding the roles of multiple HCPs within deprescribing studies, it was hypothesised this would enhance the understanding of the role of pharmacists within such literature. This will provide a broad view initially, and further attention brought to pharmacists using the findings from the scoping review afterwards.

The review question for this scoping review was "What literature is available on patient support, education/training, and barriers and facilitators of implementation pertaining to deprescribing in primary care?".

The objectives were to:

- examine the breadth and depth of literature surrounding patient support needed post-deprescribing intervention (during follow-up) in deprescribing/withdrawal trials.
- examine the breadth and depth of literature concerning the type and nature of training and education provided in deprescribing studies.
- identify and examine literature on the barriers and facilitators to implementing a patient-centred deprescribing service in primary care.
- explore the necessity and feasibility of conducting a systematic review of the barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing in primary care.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Research question

The research question that governed this scoping review is "What literature is available on patient support, education/training, and barriers and facilitators of implementation pertaining to deprescribing in primary care?". For the purpose of this review, deprescribing was defined using the definition produce by Scott et al., (2015), as defined in 1.4.1.

2.2.2. Search strategy

A search strategy was constructed with assistance from a librarian at the University of Leeds. This search was initially performed in MEDLINE and Embase to study the text words and their search results. Once all the relevant keywords were collected, the search strategy was revised, and the final search performed. The search was conducted in February 2020 with the time range 1996 – 2020 and the database accessed were The Cochrane Library, PubMed, Embase, MEDLINE, Web of Science and International Pharmaceutical Abstracts. An example of the MEDLINE search strategy can be seen in Table 3 and the full search strategy can be seen in the appendices (Appendix A). The lower time range of 1996 was used to allow for withdrawal trials that do not mention deprescribing, as this was term was introduced in 2003 (Woodward, 2003). It was decided any articles published before this date were not likely to be relevant due to the emphasis of polypharmacy research generating from the year 2000 onwards. The reference lists of key studies were also assessed to identify relevant literature that was not identified through the database search.

Medline		
#1	General Practice/	
#2	Community Medic*.tw.	
#3	deprescriptions/	
#4	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.	
#5	"Medic* Cessation".tw.	
#6	Deprescrib*.tw.	
#7	"Drug discontinuation".tw.	
#8	"Treatment withdrawal".tw.	
#9	"Stopping medic*".tw.	
#10	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)	
#11	?Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop*)	
#12	Cessation of medic*.tw	
#13	Stopping of medic*.tw	
#14	Community Health Services/	
#15	Primary Care.tw	
#16	General Practice.tw.	
#17	Primary Health Care/	
#18	Community Dwelling .tw.	
#19	1 or 2 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18	
#20	3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13	
#21	19 and 20	
#22	Addiction.tw	
#23	Hospital.tw	
#24	21 not 22 not 23	

Table 3 – Scoping review Medline search strategy

2.2.3. Eligibility screening, inclusion criteria & exclusion criteria

A two-stage screening process was implemented to assess literature for relevance. Titles and abstracts were initially read and if relevant to the research question, were exported from the search into a Microsoft Excel® spreadsheet. At this stage, the inclusion criteria were:

- Primary literature discussing deprescribing in a primary care setting.
- Secondary literature discussing deprescribing in a primary care setting.
- Tertiary literature discussing deprescribing in a primary care setting.

This was not specific to any profession. Systematic withdrawal trials of problematic medicines in community-dwelling adults of any age were also included. This was to ensure clinical trials, where the terminology 'deprescribing' was not explicitly articulated but an appropriate deprescribing process was described, were included. Due to finite resources, only articles published in English were incorporated into this review. Literature discussing palliative care/life-limiting illness, patient self-discontinuation, withdrawal of medicines as a direct result of an ADR (i.e. reactive deprescribing), substance misuse studies and deprescribing in secondary or specialised care were not included.

Once this had been completed, a full-text screen was performed. The full texts of each abstract were accessed where possible and assessed for relevance towards the research question. At this stage, additional inclusion and exclusion criteria were used. In conjunction with the inclusion criteria previously described, it was added that literature examining views about deprescribing in primary care and conceptual literature discussing approaches to deprescribing in primary care were included. This was to allow breadth in the search strategy, aligning with the focus of the scoping review. Articles involving long-term care facilities such as nursing homes were excluded as this fell outside the remit of the doctoral research. Conference abstracts were also excluded at this stage due to the limitation of information able to be drawn from abstracts. The resulting articles were analysed for this scoping review. A full description of the inclusion and exclusion criteria can be seen in Table 4.

Title & abstract screening					
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria				
 Primary, secondary, and tertiary literature discussing deprescribing in a primary care setting. 	 Palliative care/life-limiting illness' Patient self-discontinuation, Withdrawal of medicines as a direct result of an ADR Substance misuse studies Deprescribing in secondary or specialised care 				
Full-text screening					
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria				
 Literature examining views about deprescribing in primary care. Conceptual literature discussing approaches to deprescribing in primary care. Literature reporting or examining the withdrawal of medicines (including systematic withdrawal trials). 	 Palliative care/life-limiting illness' Patient self-discontinuation, Withdrawal of medicines as a direct result of an ADR Substance misuse studies Deprescribing in secondary or specialised care 				

Table 4 – Scoping review inclusion and exclusion criteria

2.2.4. Data analysis

Once the relevant literature had been identified, this was then analysed according to the objectives of the scoping review. Specifically, each paper was analysed to identify the nature of deprescribing education and training utilised, the presence and nature of patient support offered to patients post-deprescribing and discussion of barriers and facilitators to implementing a patient-centred deprescribing service in primary care. Information related to such points were extracted, in conjunction with

each paper's characteristics, and the data were analysed using a narrative approach. This process was conducted by the researcher.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Study selection

A total of 5451 articles were identified through the search strategy and additional reference lists. The results from each database were: Cochrane Library n=1124, PubMed n=768, Web of Science n=2461, Embase n=673, Medline n=332, and International Pharmaceutical Abstracts n=89. After the removal of duplicates, 4612 articles remained. Abstract screening resulted in 166 articles for the final full text screening, which in turn yielded 72 articles eligible for inclusion. Reasons for article exclusion can be seen in Figure 2.

Figure 2 - Scoping review PRISMA Flow Diagram



2.3.2. Study characteristics

A total of 32 out of 72 papers were evaluating an intervention (intervention studies), whereas the remaining 40 were qualitative studies and commentaries (nonintervention studies and commentaries) on various aspects of deprescribing in primary care. Each paper's characteristics can be seen in the appendices for intervention studies (Appendix B) and for non-intervention studies (Appendix C).

2.3.2.1. Intervention studies

A total of 12 out of 32 intervention papers were RCTs (Vicens et al., 2014, Martin et al., 2018, van de Steeg-van Gompel et al., 2009, Zitman and Couvée, 2001, Curran et al., 2003, Kuntz et al., 2019, Eveleigh et al., 2018, Choudhury et al., 2007, Tannenbaum et al., 2014, Clyne et al., 2015, Luymes et al., 2018, Campbell et al., 1999), six papers were subsequent follow-up of intervention trials (Martin and Tannenbaum, 2017, Vicens et al., 2016, Clyne et al., 2016, de Gier et al., 2010, Couvée et al., 2002, Gorgels et al., 2006), three papers were study protocols (Greiver et al., 2019, Vicens et al., 2019, Rieckert et al., 2019a), five were quasiexperimental studies (Anderson et al., 2020, Straand et al., 1993, Coyle et al., 2019, van Duijn et al., 2011, Gorgels et al., 2005), three were cohort studies (Ammerman et al., 2019, Prasad et al., 1997, Aylett et al., 1999), two were quality improvement projects (Walsh et al., 2016, Farrell et al., 2019) and one was a service evaluation (Odenthal et al., 2020). Study aims varied with studies investigating the clinical effect of deprescribing on patients (n=6), studies investigating predictors of partaking in medicine deprescription (n=3), however, the effectiveness of interventions on deprescribing was the most common aim (n=23). Excluding the six follow-up studies, intervention types were separated into provision of patient support (n=1), provision of patient education (n=5), clinician targeted interventions (n=8), general deprescribing without specific provisions (n=10), and use of a deprescribing tool (n=2).

Most studies were from the Netherlands (n=9), whilst five were in the UK. GPs were the most common healthcare professional for the focus of deprescribing interventions (n=17), followed by pharmacists who were involved in a significant proportion of studies (n=8), nurses were involved the least (n=1) and there were a small number of non-profession specific trials (n=3). The majority of studies focused on withdrawal of specific medicine classes (n=23), with benzodiazepines being the most prominent (n=12), followed by proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) (n=4), antihypertensives (n = 2), Z-drug hypnotics (n=1), antidepressants (n=1), nonbenzodiazepine psychotropics (n=1), inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) (n=1) and diuretics (n=1). The overall age range of participants was from 18 years to no upper limit, with the older adult population of \geq 65 years being the most frequently specifically recruited (n=7).

2.3.2.2. Non-intervention studies and commentaries

The majority of articles identified were surveys (n=19) (Reeve et al., 2018b, Gillespie et al., 2019, Sirois et al., 2017, Linsky et al., 2018, Zhang et al., 2018, Linsky et al., 2017a, Straand and Sandvik, 2001, Linsky et al., 2019, Martin and Tannenbaum, 2018, Cook et al., 2007, Gillespie et al., 2018, Kua et al., 2019, White et al., 2019, Carrier et al., 2019, Djatche et al., 2018, Ng et al., 2017, Mantelli et al., 2018, Omar et al., 2019, Turner and Tannenbaum, 2017), interviews and focus groups (n=8) (Nixon and Vendelø, 2016, Eveleigh et al., 2019, Middelaar et al., 2018, Nixon and Kousgaard, 2016, Korenvain et al., 2020, Anderson et al., 2017, Linsky et al., 2015, Schuling et al., 2012), followed by observational studies (n=2) (Turner et al., 2018, Luymes et al., 2016), narrative reviews (n=4) (Duncan et al., 2017, Antimisiaris and Cutler, 2017, Lader et al., 2009, Aguiluz et al., 2018), commentaries (n=3) (van Middelaar and Moll van Charante, 2018, Anderson et al., 2015, Peterson et al., 2018), a meta-ethnography (Bokhof and Junius-Walker, 2016), a Q-methodology study (Luymes et al., 2017), a process evaluation (Clyne et al., 2016), and a study that developed an evidence-based guideline (Farrell et al., 2017). The identified studies included explored the views and experiences of clinicians (n=12), patients (n=14) or both (n=3) around deprescribing, a process evaluation of an intervention study (n=1), development of a tool to promote clinician deprescribing conversation (n=1), and a content analysis of deprescribing conversations (n=1). Two articles originated from the UK whilst the majority originated from Canada (n=7), America (n=6), Australia (n=6) and the Netherlands (n=6) and the remaining from Chile, Ireland, Denmark, Malaysia, Switzerland, Singapore, Italy, France, Germany, and Norway. Surveys were the common tool used to collect data, with the Patients Attitudes Towards Deprescribing (PATD) (Reeve et al., 2013a) and Patients Perceptions of Discontinuation (PPoD) (Linsky et al., 2017b) as frequently utilised survey tools.

2.3.3. Key findings

2.3.3.1. Patient support at follow-up

Patient follow-up in intervention studies was classified into two categories:

 Follow-up that was required to support the patient to safely and/or effectively withdraw their medicine (Support follow-up – SF) Follow-up required to assess the effect of the intervention (Methods followup – MF)

This allowed for a distinction in terminology between patient follow-up that supports patients with the withdrawal of medicine, and follow-up required to report outcomes from the experimental and quasi-experimental studies. Using this classification, only six studies documented any nature of patient support follow-up, with one study exploring the nature of support follow-up as the component of the interventions of the study. Vicens et al., (2014) conducted a multi-centre three-arm cluster RCT investigating the efficacy of two structured interactions in primary care to enable deprescribing long-term benzodiazepines medicines. The study population were patients aged 18-80 years, taking benzodiazepines daily for at least six months and the study aim was to compare the interventions in effectiveness in withdrawing benzodiazepines. Patients within the intervention arm were randomised to receive written instructions about medicine withdrawal or scheduled a follow-up appointment every 2-3 weeks until the end of the dose reduction. This follow-up consisted of GP's reinforcing education material, reassuring patients regarding withdrawal symptoms and agreement for the next stage in dose reduction. The outcome saw both intervention arms three times more effective in discontinuing long-term benzodiazepines than usual care (Vicens et al., 2014).

The remaining five studies documented patient support during follow-ups to allow for clinical measurements e.g. blood pressure and symptom discussion (Choudhury et al., 2007, Luymes et al., 2018), or did not give information about the nature of support provided during follow-up (van Duijn et al., 2011, Coyle et al., 2019, Eveleigh et al., 2018). Follow-up to measure outcomes of the intervention typically lasted 6-12 months. However one study, which performed a large prospective controlled stepped care intervention to withdraw benzodiazepines in long-term users, maintained a 10 year follow-up period (de Gier et al., 2010).

2.3.3.2. Patient & clinician education/training

Study methods included patient education in 8 intervention studies in the form of verbal or written material for patients having their medicine withdrawn. This generally consisted of risks of the medicine being withdrawn, non-pharmacological alternatives and a tapering schedule. One noteworthy RCT in America investigated the effect of patient education alone and coupled with a pharmacist consultation on the rate of Z-drug discontinuation in 150 patients (50 patients per intervention arm

and control group). Patient education alone and patient education with pharmacist consultation led to 56% and 55% Z-drug discontinuation rate respectively compared to 26% in usual care. Subsequently, patients receiving education were 4.02 more likely to discontinue Z-drugs (adjusted odds ratio (OR) = 4.02, 95% CI = 1.66-9.77) whilst those receiving education and the pharmacist's consultation were 4.1 times more likely (adjusted OR = 4.10, 95% CI = 1.65-10.19), when compared to usual care. This study concluded that patients who received direct-to-patient education with/without a pharmacist consultation were significantly more likely to discontinue Z-drugs.

Two non-intervention studies also explored patient education. Turner et al., (2018) recorded conversations between primary care providers and 24 patients aged \geq 65 years who were chronic PPI or benzodiazepines users and had been provided deprescribing patient education before or after their routine appointment. This qualitative observational study found that PPI users that had received an education brochure (about medicine risks, peer champion stories and medicine alternatives) before a GP visit had a higher frequency of patient-initiated deprescribing themes within their conversations compared to those who did not. These deprescribing themes were predominantly around medicines action and efficacy and the need for a follow-up (Turner et al., 2018). The other study, which employed surveys, utilised a similar patient education brochure on deprescribing to ascertain if providing this education compromises patient trust in their doctors or pharmacists. For the majority of patients, the provision of patient education led to no shift overall trust in their doctor (81.9%, 95% CI = 77.9–86.0) or pharmacist (81.6%, 95% CI = 77.5–85.7) six months after receiving the brochure (Zhang et al., 2018).

Education or training for clinicians was provided in the form of workshops discussing PIMs, deprescribing principles, the nature of the study involved in and tapering schedules. No study investigated the effect of GP education/training on deprescribing, however a study protocol was identified that described this (Vicens et al., 2019). An explorative, mixed method, quality improvement project, based in Canada, investigated building the capacity of community pharmacies to integrate deprescribing within their daily practice through training. Staff in four community pharmacies were trained to use deprescribing guidelines whilst multiple group meetings and documented Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) cycles allowed the project team to appraise process improvements over time. Pharmacies in this study found that they could integrate deprescribing in their workflow, typically in the fashion of patient education, medication reviews and deprescribing recommendations to

prescribers, however their approaches and deprescribing goals varied between each pharmacy site (Farrell et al., 2019). Similarly, a non-intervention study that employed telephone interviews discussed clinician education when reviewing community pharmacists' current involvement in deprescribing. This came as a recommendation to utilise education to expand pharmacists understanding of deprescribing and enhance their involvement in the process (Korenvain et al., 2020).

2.3.3.3. Barriers and facilitators to deprescribing in primary care

A summary of the key barriers and facilitators found can be seen in Table 5 whilst all barriers and facilitators from each paper can be located in the appendices (Appendix D). Several studies focused on barriers and facilitators of deprescribing (n=4), however most non-intervention studies discussed these to some extent. Most studies reported patients' willingness to have a medicine deprescribed if their doctor recommended it. A significant proportion of patients had a desire to reduce the number of medicines taken (Linsky et al., 2015, Ng et al., 2017). However, a metaethnography highlighted that patients may value their medicine or see deprescribing as a sign of abandonment (Bokhof and Junius-Walker, 2016). The theme of fear relating to adverse reactions or relapse of symptoms was a common barrier with both patients and clinicians (Djatche et al., 2018, Eveleigh et al., 2019, van Middelaar and Moll van Charante, 2018), affecting GP's decision to deprescribe (White et al., 2019). This was also the case for GP's facing ambiguity (Nixon and Kousgaard, 2016) and uncertainty (Anderson et al., 2017). One review paper expressed how GPs would value organisational support to facilitate deprescribing (van Middelaar and Moll van Charante, 2018).

Barriers and facilitators for other clinicians besides GP's focused on pharmacists. Multiple review papers highlighted potential benefits community and practice pharmacists may provide to facilitate deprescribing, through addressing patient and prescriber barriers using medication reviews, exploring patient beliefs and providing deprescribing recommendations (Duncan et al., 2017, Anderson et al., 2014, Peterson et al., 2018). However, some pharmacists expressed a lack of knowledge about the patient (Anderson et al., 2017) and competing tensions within their community pharmacy prevented their involvement in deprescribing (Korenvain et al., 2020). When investigating the barriers and facilitators of implementing a deprescribing study or intervention, it was evident that this was not routinely reported. Common barriers to implementation found were competing priorities (typically associated with community pharmacies), general unwillingness to deprescribe by patients, lack in clinician time and variation in intervention delivery. Many of the trials that utilised community pharmacy engagement noted a substantial number of pharmacies did not participate due to competing priorities which were not disclosed (Martin and Tannenbaum, 2017, Tannenbaum et al., 2014). In addition, there was a general unwillingness to have medicines deprescribed or patients would deviate from taper protocol in intervention trials, even when patients originally intended to comply with deprescribing recommendations (Eveleigh et al., 2018, Prasad et al., 1997, Walsh et al., 2016, Odenthal et al., 2020). Finally, variation in deprescribing delivery and advice given, despite a standardised study induction and training when provided, was also held partially accountable to difficulties implementing a deprescribing intervention (van Duijn et al., 2011, Clyne et al., 2015).

On the other hand, facilitators to implementation of deprescribing focused more so on workforce and resource components. These themes were supportive and motivated staff members, availability of a deprescribing resource and supporting components for the deprescribing process. Supportive and motivated staff members was documented as beneficial when implementing deprescribing, whilst the involvement of a GP in or co-designing the intervention further helped improve patient participation and GP's adoption of the intervention (Vicens et al., 2014, Anderson et al., 2020). The availability of a deprescribing resource, which aided deprescribing choice such as recommendations and tools that guided discussions, as well as supportive components for the deprescribing process such as EMR reminders and patient educative material were highlighted. These were documented as beneficial to clinicians in providing the intervention and therefore helped to improve the implementation of deprescribing in their respective study (Walsh et al., 2016, Farrell et al., 2019, Martin and Tannenbaum, 2017). Table 5 – Barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing in primary care

Barriers	Facilitators
Competing priorities	Supportive and motivated staff
Patient unwillingness to deprescribe	Availability of a deprescribing resource
Lack of clinician time	Supportive elements in the process
Variation in intervention delivery	

2.4. Discussion

2.4.1. Patient support post deprescribing

The provision of patient support following deprescribing was underutilised, or at the very least, poorly documented in deprescribing trials. Most deprescribing trials did not document any patient support as part of their intervention, and those that did were very brief. The multi-centre three-arm cluster RCT conducted by Vicens et al., (2014) investigated the effect of consistent patient support in the form of multiple GP appointments to discuss symptoms and reinforce educative material during dose reduction. Although the intervention was three times more effective than usual care in discontinuing benzodiazepine use, there was no significant difference in efficacy with the other intervention arm that did not include such patient engagement and rather, substituted this with written instructions about the medicine withdrawal (Vicens et al., 2014). Furthermore, there is a legitimate debate regarding the adequacy of the support provided during the deprescribing process. Given that the support was limited to the period until the medicine had been completely discontinued, it is worth considering whether patients also require assistance after the cessation of a medicine. This additional support could encompass helping patients adapt to a new medicine regimen or ensuring ongoing monitoring to prevent the recurrence of symptoms. It is important to acknowledge that this does not diminish the value of consistent patient support during deprescribing, but rather raises questions about its significance and the optimal and feasible nature of such support for both patients and primary care clinicians. Notably, a notable gap in the existing literature lies in investigating whether the provision of patient support that extends beyond dose reduction has an impact on patient medicine relapse following deprescribing, as relapses are known to occur at a considerable rate (Thio et al., 2018).

The need for patient support post deprescribing has been expressed by patients and clinicians, including within discussions with PPIE representatives prior to conducting this review. The availability of clinician support and access to other support systems post withdrawal is a known patient enabler for deprescribing (Reeve et al., 2013b, Luymes et al., 2016). In addition, clinicians value additional help in monitoring patients post deprescribing and the inability to maintain any follow-up with patients to support a gradual process of deprescribing is discouraging for consultant pharmacists (Anderson et al., 2017, Linsky et al., 2017a). This is likely because of a perceived importance in the ability to offer patients some type of support during deprescribing.

Despite the favourable perception of patient support, the literature is currently lacking in terms of defining its specific components. The studies that have incorporated patient support either used this to take clinical measurements associated with the medicine being deprescribed and allow for symptom discussions with patients, or did not provide further details on the nature of support provided. Considering the potential risks of deprescribing and need for patient safety involving medicines discussed in Chapter 1, more work is needed to understand how best to maintain patients' safety following deprescribing, such as discussion on adapting to a new medicine routine or addressing potential patient anxiety once a medicine has been ceased. The provision of patient support can be regarded as a potential means to address patient apprehension and concerns surrounding deprescribing, offering a sense of reassurance and serving as a safety net for patients. On the other hand, the provision of patient support is likely to require increased HCP time and workload, which is already strained. Therefore, the feasibility of patient support must also be explored to ensure it can be incorporated into current systems. The benefits of an effective patient support system during deprescribing should not be overlooked and may help to make deprescribing a common and safe practice.

2.4.2. Use of education in deprescribing in primary care

The provision of education, whether patient or clinician focused, was used occasionally in studies included in this review. Interestingly, many studies that incorporated patient education in their intervention deprescribed medicines from a considerable proportion of patients (Kuntz et al., 2019, Tannenbaum et al., 2014, Aylett et al., 1999, Coyle et al., 2019, Walsh et al., 2016, Odenthal et al., 2020). This may be due to several reasons. Education on deprescribing has shown to increase patient-initiated deprescribing conversations (Turner et al., 2018), which may represent an increased interest to deprescribe. Education, coupled with the willingness to reduce medicines previously described, can equip patients with the necessary knowledge and motivate patients to attempt deprescribing. Also, efforts to involve patients in decision making to deprescribe are more effective than pharmacist-physician communication or prescribing software alerts alone (Martin et al., 2018). Shared decision-making allows for patients and clinicians to both engage in decision making, having discussed options, risks and benefits and taking patient preference into consideration. This is appropriate when evidence does not support a single clear superior decision which is often the case when deprescribing (Hoffmann et al., 2014). Furthermore, patient

preference has been shown to affect GP's willingness to deprescribe meaning that patient level factors relating to preferences and decision making must be addressed to enable effective routine implementation of deprescribing (White et al., 2019). This strengthens the need for shared decision-making in deprescribing conversations, however patients must also understand the concept of deprescribing, which may not always be the case (Turner and Tannenbaum, 2017). A lack of comprehension regarding the underlying rationale for deprescribing may lead patients to perceive it as a strategy aimed at cost reduction through withholding necessary treatments. This concern emerged during discussions with PPIE representatives, emphasising the potential necessity for patient education in this regard. Patients may also require education on deprescribing to trust deprescribing decisions and commit to the process of stopping a medicine. Little research has been conducted on patient education or how it should be delivered.

Clinician training was rarely utilised or discussed. In intervention trials, this took the nature of discussing the principles of deprescribing with clinicians or why a medicine should be the target for deprescribing. The act of stopping medicines is not novel and clinicians are likely to have experience withdrawing medicines from patients in the past, although this may have been more reactive in nature rather than proactive. Therefore, teaching clinicians about deprescribing may appear unimportant to some when designing deprescribing trials. With this being said, GPs have voiced their concerns regarding ambiguity concerning risks and benefits of deprescribing (Nixon and Vendelø, 2016, Anderson et al., 2017). Also doctors may not feel comfortable deprescribing guideline-recommended therapies and can be hesitant in deprescribing medicines initiated by another doctor or specialist (Djatche et al., 2018). Clearly, GPs may not always feel confident to deprescribe which may hamper deprescribing from happening. Subsequent investigations could potentially yield valuable insights by examining the impact of clinician deprescribing training on GPs' confidence levels in engaging in deprescribing practices, as well as assessing whether such training influences the rate at which deprescribing interventions are implemented.

The decision to deprescribe may have implications for a broader range of HCPs, social care professionals, and informal caregivers, including individuals responsible for medicine administration such as district nurses and patient caregivers. Consequently, it is crucial to ensure that all healthcare providers whose responsibilities are affected by deprescribing are adequately prepared to navigate this change in a manner that upholds patient safety and well-being. This, again, provides indication for deprescribing training for various healthcare and social care providers, as well as GPs. Future

studies should investigate training needs of relevant stakeholders to ensure deprescribing remains safe and effective in primary care.

The role of the pharmacist (community or general practice-based) in deprescribing was a topic explored in multiple studies and review papers (Anderson et al., 2014, Peterson et al., 2018, Korenvain et al., 2020, Anderson et al., 2017). The key area where pharmacist involvement may assist deprescribing was through medication reviews, using this to explore patients' beliefs about their medicines and educate them, and providing deprescribing recommendations to clinicians. However, other healthcare professionals have voiced a limited understanding of pharmacists' role in medicines management, which can vary widely across the world, whilst pharmacists' involvement in deprescribing is known to be affected by their own understanding of which medicines should be stopped and by whom. With these gaps in understanding, it is unrealistic to assume pharmacists can seamlessly integrate deprescribing tasks into their workflow without clinical guidance on deprescribing and defined roles that are understood by other clinicians involved in deprescribing. This provides another avenue in which training may be pivotal to pharmacists' ability to integrate in primary care deprescribing. Different grades and specialities of pharmacists may also conduct different roles based on their skills, which must be taken into account. A consensus has yet to be reached on the role of pharmacists in deprescribing in primary care. As recommended by Korenvain et al., future education (and training) for pharmacists should be developed and commissioned to expand pharmacists understanding of deprescribing and allow for clarity regarding their role in deprescribing.

2.4.3. Upcoming deprescribing research

The three study protocols captured in this review follow the same premise as the other withdrawal trials included, focusing on different interventions to reduce problematic medicines. Greiver et al., (2019) will evaluate the effect of practices working as a collaborative group that work with quality improvement coaches to review electronic medical records and develop and implement changes in medicine use. Vicens et al., (2019) will analyse the effectiveness of a GP targeted intervention that provides a workshop, feedback around prescribing practices and access to a support webpage. Reickert et al., (2019) will evaluate the effectiveness of a deprescribing tool that provides guidance on whether PPI deprescribing is recommended. Two of the protocols are medicine specific, focusing on PPIs and benzodiazepines respectively, whilst one protocol looks to target general problematic prescribing. It is interesting to

note that all three protocols emphasise patient and/or clinician education or training. One protocol describes using collaborative learning between practices, one protocol is providing an educational workshop to clinicians, feedback on their prescribing and an educational leaflet for patients and the final protocol provides training to GP's and nurses about shared decision-making and deprescribing and patient education on risks of their medicines (Greiver et al., 2019, Vicens et al., 2019, Rieckert et al., 2019b). These protocols show a positive direction in exploring the efficacy of patient education and clinician training on deprescribing and the unique ways of providing this. A theorydriven study, utilising patient education, may help to explain how best to educate patients on the nature of deprescribing, in order for them to engage in shared decisionmaking effectively.

2.4.4. Barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing in primary care

The identified barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing highlighted interesting themes. The lack of participation of community pharmacies due to competing priorities must be addressed if community pharmacies are to be incorporated into and support a deprescribing system (Farrell et al., 2019). Unfortunately, as these competing priorities were not discussed, it is difficult to deduce whether this was due to resource constraints such as time or due to differing strategic priorities. Similarly, Korenvain et al., (2020) demonstrated that deprescribing was perceived as conflicting with business/technical responsibilities due to the investment of time and losing revenue from dispensing as a direct result from deprescribing. This may provide some context as to why community pharmacies lacked participation in deprescribing research. However, adequately compensating pharmacies for deprescribing was said to help prioritise deprescribing in everyday practice (Korenvain et al., 2020). Therefore, it would be advisable to explore community pharmacy priorities and how this may align with deprescribing priorities, potentially through incentives that would address the revenue loss and guidance on time management when undertaking deprescribing related tasks.

The theme of general patient unwillingness to deprescribe was noteworthy due to conflicting with previous qualitative literature that have documented a willingness to stop a medicine if a doctor said this was possible. This theme included patients originally intending to comply with deprescribing recommendations but then opted out or deviated from the taper protocol. It was not reported in these studies why patients

deviated or opted out of deprescribing, however it is essential to maintain the reported patient willingness to deprescribe when introducing the idea to patients in primary care. This may be through determining how patients would want their medicines deprescribed if willing and addressing any concerns. This again highlights the worth of shared decision-making to incorporate patients' preferences into deprescribing decisions to understand and maintain their willingness to deprescribe. If not, patients may deviate from deprescribing protocols which may place them at a safety risk when deprescribing medicines that require a structured tapering regimen that should not be deviated from, such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs).

The final two barriers, lack of clinician time and variation in intervention delivery, are associated with organisational structure. Lack of clinician time as a barrier to deprescribing has already been reported in other studies and is expected due to deprescribing being perceived as a time-intensive process (Gillespie et al., 2018, Anderson et al., 2017). As GP time continues to be strained, additional new tasks as a result of deprescribing should avoid further deteriorating this or risks low collective action by clinicians, making it difficult for deprescribing to be normalised in practice (Murray et al., 2010). Variation in service delivery was associated with organisational factors such as different workloads or resources available (Clyne et al., 2015). Different primary care settings around the UK have variation in their workload, resources, staff, and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) targets based on their location and the healthcare needs of the community they are embedded within. As a result, how different locations can feasibly and safely implement deprescribing with their current resources should be considered. In contrast, standardisation of aspects of the deprescribing process and the resources available to use may help target unwanted variation in intervention delivery. Some variation in intervention delivery in studies was associated to advice from individual nurses or GPs who may not have been fully convinced of the advantages of deprescribing (van Duijn et al., 2011). Clinician involvement will always be important when implementing a service as they will be the ones to deliver this. Without clinicians seeing the need for deprescribing, there is likely to be low cognitive participation resulting in deprescribing being underutilised (Murray et al., 2010). Therefore, it is imperative that clinicians understand the benefits that deprescribing offers as without this, patients will less be likely to see the value of deprescribing for themselves.

The facilitators to implementing deprescribing were mainly focused on healthcare staff and the resources available. There is no surprise that supportive and motivated staff help to implement deprescribing, as a motivated healthcare workforce is known to be key in meeting the continuous demands of healthcare services (Ma, 2000). Codesigning a deprescribing intervention with GPs and the support of a GP also leads to improved patient participation and enhanced GP adoption of interventions (Anderson et al., 2020, Vicens et al., 2014). This highlights the central role and influence a GP has in deprescribing and primary care and directly with patients. GPs were the most common profession included in studies, which comes as no surprise as they are best suited to conduct the deprescribing process due to their continued care with their patients and access to complete and updated patient medical records. In addition, the already established relationship and trust between the patient and the GP may help to introduce the idea of deprescribing, which may provide reasoning to why many patients would have a medicine deprescribed if their doctor recommended doing so. Therefore, it would be helpful to receive the support of GPs when planning how to implement deprescribing into primary care.

The final facilitators were the availability of a deprescribing resource and supportive elements in the deprescribing process. When a deprescribing resource was available, such as a computer algorithm that provided deprescribing recommendations, this allowed for time efficient identification of at-risk patients and recommendations on how to proceed. This helps to address the lack of clinician time barrier previously discussed. Having an evidence based deprescribing tool is likely to increase clinicians confidence in applying deprescribing recommendations, which as previously discussed, may not always be present due to the ambiguity faced when stopping a medicine (Walsh et al., 2016). In addition, supportive elements such electronic medical record (EMR) reminders, on-site educative resources and deprescribing tools helped the implementation of deprescribing in studies. Working through uncertainties and the risk accompanied with this are substantial factors clinicians must consider when discussing deprescribing, due to the lack of direct evidence available. Going against the current prescribing pressures from clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) may feel like going against the grain when deciding to stop a medicine. It is important that clinicians are supported during deprescribing so that is safe and beneficial to the patients. In addition, the availability of readily accessible deprescribing resources is likely to influence how often deprescribing takes place, so in order to achieve routine deprescribing, clinicians' access to such resources should be reconsidered.

Many of the studies identified focused on the process of deprescribing, but very little explored implementing routine deprescribing in primary care, or utilised theoretical implementation science to enrich this. Although barriers and facilitators of a deprescribing process may also apply to implementing a deprescribing service, key

aspects such as organisational structure and resources, patient pathways and support networks, and incentives may be overlooked. The implementation of interventions that support a change in practice in primary care is complex and may fail to work in the context it was created for (Luig et al., 2018). In relation to deprescribing, this could result in the benefits of deprescribing not being realised or patient safety concerns during the process. Therefore, there is a need for literature that places a focus on how best to implement deprescribing in current primary care settings. Despite the identification of certain barriers and facilitators to deprescribing implementation in primary care in this review, it is important to acknowledge that this area remains significantly under-researched. Conducting a systematic review on this topic would be advantageous, as it would consolidate and deepen understanding of the factors influencing deprescribing implementation.

Additionally, it is noteworthy that the utilisation of theoretical implementation science to enhance the understanding of effective implementation of routine deprescribing in primary care is lacking. Poor implementation planning has led to a gap translating evidence into practice, hampering the uptake of complex interventions and may lead to the benefits of deprescribing not being realised (Lau et al., 2016). Hence, the application of implementation science theories in research is crucial, as it enables the identification and resolution of contextual barriers and facilitators, thereby promoting the adoption of innovative practices (Nilsen, 2015, Bauer and Kirchner, 2020). Using theory to understand barriers, develop and evaluate interventions and explore pathways has been advocated to advance the science of implementation research (Damschroder, 2020). Therefore, implementing deprescribing within primary care would benefit from a theoretical framework that focuses on implementation and evaluation of interventions. One such theory is the Normalisation Process Theory (NPT), which has been utilised throughout this doctoral research.

The role of pharmacists within deprescribing was discussed within multiple papers, however evidence for their optimal role is yet to be established. Pharmacists have shown an ability to facilitate or enact deprescribing in numerous ways with several deprescribing trials within primary care utilising pharmacist-led interventions to successfully and safely deprescribe medicines (Martin et al., 2018, Kuntz et al., 2019, Ammerman et al., 2019, Odenthal et al., 2020). Pharmacists often conducted medication reviews, provided deprescribing recommendations to clinicians and educated patients on the risks and benefits of their medicines. It is important to consider which type of pharmacist, in what setting, and with what skills, knowledge and qualifications should be involved. Community pharmacists and primary care

pharmacists may offer different inputs, based on their skills, ability, prescribing privileges, and access to patient records. Introducing Primary Care Networks (PCN) as part of the NHS Long-Term Plan has provided a new role for PCN pharmacists who will conduct Structured Medication Reviews (SMRs) including deprescribing within a clinic setting. Community pharmacists have also demonstrated an ability to integrate deprescribing within their routine workflow through building staff capacity to identify patients for deprescribing, the pharmacist assessing opportunities to deprescribe, providing deprescribing recommendations to clinicians and continued follow-up and monitoring of patients (Farrell et al., 2019). Community pharmacists are an integral part of current primary care systems, especially as they have frequent contact with patients and their medicines as a result of the NHS repeat dispensing service, Discharge Medicine Service (DMS), and recently commissioned services in minor ailments and emergency medicines supply. As suggested by Korenvain et al., (2020), defining the pharmacist's role within deprescribing in primary care, and training pharmacists on how to integrate deprescribing within their practice would facilitate optimal pharmacist involvement.

Through this scoping review, it became apparent that there were valuable insights that could be gained from the barriers and facilitators of the implementation of deprescribing interventions in primary care. This was evidenced through the publication of the scoping review abstract (Okeowo et al., 2022). While the extraction of these insights was occasionally nuanced, a multitude of trials focusing on medicine withdrawal elucidated aspects that either impeded or facilitated the withdrawal process. However, it was noteworthy that a discernible gap exists in the body of deprescribing literature, where there is a lack of cohesive and comprehensive literature reporting the barriers and facilitators to deprescribing implementation.

The results of this scoping review consequently suggested that conducting a systematic review in this domain would yield significant insights. By doing so, this would provide a comprehensive understanding of the evidence base concerning barriers and facilitators to deprescribing implementation in primary care. This, in turn, would better inform the subsequent doctoral research and provide the needed literature to the deprescribing evidence base collating the barriers and facilitators to deprescribing the barriers and facilitators to

2.5. Conclusion

Deprescribing has been shown as effective and worthwhile process to combat problematic polypharmacy in primary care. The growing interests in the discipline of deprescribing understandably parallels the growing consumption of medicines in our healthcare. Although there is emerging literature discussing deprescribing support, education and training, more research is needed to determine how best to support patients and provide education and training to stakeholders involved. Furthermore, there is a lack of available literature exploring how to implement deprescribing safely, effectively, and feasibly into routine practice in primary care, especially using the theoretical lens of implementation science. In addition, the role of healthcare professions, especially pharmacist, must be outlined to ensure the best care for patients.

2.5.1. Implication for research

This review investigated distinct elements that would be needed to routinely deliver deprescribing in practice as opposed to solely investigating the deprescribing process. Future research should look to build on this through:

- Addressing patient support needed during deprescribing, and what benefits/drawbacks accompany this.
- How clinicians will need to be trained to provide deprescribing in a routine and safe manner.
- How to implement deprescribing in primary care system within the UK and normalise this practice. This should be supported by implementation science theory to enhance understanding of contextual factors.
- The role of pharmacists in deprescribing in primary care.

2.6. Rationale for doctoral research

In summary, much of the current evidence on deprescribing within primary care is limited. The literature focuses on the process of deprescribing and its effectiveness, but little attention has been placed on its implementation. Key aspects of a deprescribing system, such as patient support and education/training necessary, have yet to be established. The role of pharmacists has shown potential, but clarity is lacking on the optimal nature of this role. Without these fundamentals, the benefits of deprescribing may not be realised within primary care. This highlights a need for research focused on the optimal implementation of a safe deprescribing system within current healthcare infrastructure, underpinned by suitable a theoretical approach for clarity regarding why deprescribing may or may not be normalised.

This PhD looks to bridge this gap in knowledge, through exploring vital aspects of proactive deprescribing implementation, and seeking further lucidity on the role of pharmacists within deprescribing. The older adult population (≥65 years old) will be the focus of the project, due to their increased exposure to problematic polypharmacy discussed in Chapter 1. Through being underpinned by NPT, this PhD intends to provide evidence on deprescribing that can be translated into practice and compliment future NHS strategies. This is so that patients may benefit from normalised and safe deprescribing practice to combat problematic polypharmacy.

2.7. Aims

This PhD aims to identify the barriers, facilitators, and effective strategies to safe implementation of deprescribing in primary care. Resources to support the safe implementation of deprescribing will then be designed using NPT to normalise this practice in primary care.

2.8. Objectives

- To systematically review and synthesise existing evidence regarding the barriers and facilitators associated with the implementation of proactive deprescribing in primary care, utilising the theoretical framework of Normalisation Process Theory (NPT).
- 2. To explore the key implementation factors required for the safe and routine deprescribing in primary care, with a specific focus on the roles of pharmacists in the deprescribing process. This will be achieved through qualitative

interviews and focus groups conducted with patients and healthcare professionals underpinned with NPT.

3. To co-design resource(s) to support safe and routine implementation of deprescribing in primary care with patients and healthcare professionals.

Chapter 3 – Methodology

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss and explain the methodological approach taken during this research. This involves understanding the ontological, epistemological, and theoretical perspective of the research including the role that Normalisation Process Theory (NPT) has played in underpinning the research. Although NPT was chosen as a suitable theory to serve as the backbone of this research, other theories were considered, which will be further explained in this chapter. In addition, the approach taken to Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement (PPIE) during this research will also be discussed.

3.1. Methodological approach

The methodological framework adopted in this doctoral research, as well as the subsequent theories and methods employed, is important in understanding how data are generated. Consequently, careful consideration must be given to the philosophical assumptions underpinning this research, which reflect the researcher's stance on the nature of knowledge, particularly in terms of ontology and epistemology. Ontology pertains to the understanding of social reality, whilst epistemology is the theory and nature of knowledge within a particular discipline (Bryman, 2016).

Within the realm of ontology, three paradigms have been explored, namely objectivism, constructivism, and pragmatism. Objectivism suggests that reality exists independently of the knowledge and consciousness of social actors (Crotty, 1998). In contrast, constructivism theorises that reality emerges as a result of the interactions and actions of social actors within it (Bryman, 2016). Pragmatism perceives reality as dynamic and capable of fluctuating between a singular objective reality (as in objectivism) and multiple realities (as in constructivism) (Kaushik and Walsh, 2019).

Moreover, understanding how the ontological approach informs epistemology in research is crucial. Positivism advocates for the application of methods derived from the natural sciences to study phenomena in various fields, aligning with an objectivist ontological stance (Grix, 2002). Interpretivism, in contrast, places emphasis on understanding the subjective meanings inherent in social actions in order to acquire knowledge, and is typically employed in conjunction with a constructivist ontological approach (Grix, 2002). A pragmatic epistemological approach advocates for the utilisation of appropriate methods that are best suited to address a particular research question, thus aligning with a pragmatic ontological perspective (Tashakkori and Teddlie, 1998).

Lastly, it is imperative to acknowledge the impact of the epistemological approach on the role of theory in research. Theoretical perspectives are commonly categorised as deductive, inductive, and iterative. A deductive theoretical approach initiates with a preexisting theory or set of hypotheses, which are then subjected to empirical examination through research to either validate or refute the theory and make necessary modifications (Bryman, 2016). A deductive theoretical approach associates with a positivist epistemology and an objectivist ontology.

In contrast, an inductive theoretical approach generates theories or hypotheses as outcomes of the research process, following data collection and analysis methods (Bryman, 2016). An inductive approach is often accompanied by an interpretivist epistemological approach and a constructivist ontology. Conversely, an iterative theoretical approach entails a dynamic interplay between data and theory, incorporating elements from both deductive and inductive perspectives (Bryman, 2016).

To summarise, the ontological position adopted in the research significantly influences the epistemological approach undertaken, which, in turn, affects the theoretical perspective embraced. The ontological and epistemological perspectives were considered, which can be seen in Table 6.

	Objectivism	Constructivism	Pragmatism
Ontology	Single objective	Multiple realities are	Singular and
	reality that can be	created and continually	multiple realities
	measured and	negotiated by	open to empirical
	understood	individuals	enquiry
Epistemology	Positivism –	Interpretivism –	Pragmatic –
	knowledge gained	knowledge gained	knowledge gained
	through objective-	through understand	through diverse
	free methods	the subjective meaning	approaches
		of social actions	
Theoretical	Deductive	Inductive	Iterative
perspective			

Table 6 – Summary of the research ontological, epistemological, and theoretical paradigms considered (Yvonne Feilzer, 2010, Bryman, 2016)

A pragmatic ontological and epistemological paradigm was employed for this research, given the applied nature and real-world context. The research was conducted in a complex environment where diverse perspectives needed to be taken into account. By adopting a pragmatic approach, the study was able to flexibly employ different methodologies to explore multiple perspectives and address practical issues (Yvonne Feilzer, 2010).

The pragmatic paradigm allowed for the integration of mixed and multi-method approaches, enabling the exploration of qualitative and quantitative data and methods that were appropriate for addressing the research question (Bryman, 2016). This flexibility provided freedom in selecting the most suitable methods to gather and analyse data.

The research was conducted within the context of the NHS, a complex healthcare system involving various stakeholders, including patients, healthcare professionals, policy makers, and government entities (McKee et al., 2021). Deprescribing, a complex intervention, requires the involvement of multiple entities undertaking various tasks to achieve positive outcomes and avoid adverse effects (Avery and Bell, 2019). The pragmatic approach facilitated the consideration of multiple perspectives in addressing the research question (Tashakkori and Teddlie, 2010). This approach acknowledged the complexities inherent in the research context and allows for the incorporation of diverse viewpoints, contributing to a comprehensive understanding of the topic. By adopting a pragmatic paradigm, this study was able to navigate the complex healthcare system and provide insights into deprescribing from a variety of perspectives. Pragmatic approaches to research has long since been seen to add value to clinical research, through appreciation of the complexities of real-world environments (Tunis et al., 2003)

The role of theory in this research exhibited both inductive and deductive properties, reflecting an iterative approach. Inductively, the research aimed to generate findings on the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care through data collection, observations, and analysis (Goddard and Melville, 2004). Deductively, implementation theory was employed from the outset of the research to guide the research process, including the coding of data using pre-existing coding frameworks (Braun and Clarke, 2006). This iterative movement between data and theory is a characteristic feature of iterative research approaches and was well-suited to address the doctoral research questions (Bryman, 2016).

The selection of appropriate research methods was guided by the specific objectives of each study. Qualitative methods were employed to explore the nature of deprescribing in primary care and investigate the potential roles of pharmacists in collaboration with patients and various HCPs. This approach allowed for a deep and rich examination of the complexities involved in deprescribing, including considerations for safety and implementation within the primary care setting (Busetto et al., 2020). Qualitative research is well-suited for gaining an in-depth understanding of complex issues, such as the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in UK primary care (Almeida et al., 2017).

Quantitative methods were employed to quantify the barriers and facilitators associated with implementing deprescribing in primary care across different constructs of the NPT. This quantitative analysis revealed a notable gap in knowledge regarding the appraisal of deprescribing, as indicated by the relatively low number of barriers and facilitators attributed to reflexive monitoring compared to other constructs of NPT. Furthermore, the systematic review in Chapter 4 also dealt with quantitative deprescribing literature. Therefore, the use of quantitative methods allowed for the identification of patterns within the deprescribing literature, thereby contributing to a more systematic understanding of the topic.

The combination of qualitative and quantitative methods offered complementary insights into deprescribing, facilitating a comprehensive and nuanced examination of the subject matter. The qualitative component provided a rich understanding of the complexities and nuances of deprescribing, while the quantitative component enabled the identification of trends and patterns within the literature. By employing both qualitative and quantitative approaches, this research was able to address the research questions from multiple perspectives and enhance the overall understanding of deprescribing in primary care. As a result, the research was classified as multimethods, where the collection and analysis of both quantitative and qualitative data occur but are not typically integrated with each other (Creswell, 2011).

Co-design methods were selected as the approach to develop the intervention resulting from this research. Co-design is a well-established method that emphasises collaboration between designers and end users in the development of products and services, a concept that has long been employed in the fields of marketing and Information Technology (IT) (Lee, 2008). Central to co-design is the inclusion of various stakeholders in the design process, seeking their active participation in related activities (Steen et al., 2011). This approach facilitates idea generation, knowledge

sharing, and a focus on end users' needs, ultimately leading to improved service quality and more successful innovations (Steen et al., 2011, Antonini, 2021).

In recent years, co-design methods have gained traction in healthcare research. A significant portion of medical research funding is deemed as becoming avoidable waste, with one of the key contributors being studies that address questions of limited relevance to HCPs, patients, and other end users (Chalmers and Glasziou, 2009, loannidis, 2016, Slattery et al., 2020). There is a pressing need to align research priorities with those of patients and HCPs whose work is directly impacted by research outcomes, to avoid the wasting of valuable resources. Co-design addresses this misalignment by involving individuals with lived experiences related to the research question and harnessing their insights to inform future innovations. While recognising the potential knowledge limitations of those involved, co-design leverages the practicality and legitimacy derived from multi-stakeholder dialogue (Palmer et al., 2019). This pragmatic approach utilises the experiences and collaboration of individuals to address real-life problems, aligning well with the pragmatic ontological and epistemological positioning of this research (Steen, 2009).

Framework analysis served as the designated method for data analysis in the qualitative research in Chapters 5 and 6. This analytical approach is oriented towards the identification of shared patterns and differences inherent in qualitative data. It subsequently focuses on the intricate relationships between diverse components of the data, thereby drawing descriptive and/or explanatory conclusions clustered around themes (Gale et al., 2013). The principal advantage underpinning the adoption of framework analysis within this research lay in its clear, step-by-step process. This analysis method systematically guided the management and conceptual organisation of data, offering a structured model that seamlessly accommodated the complexities of the research process (Gale et al., 2013). This provided the doctoral researcher with clear steps to conduct data analysis in a robust and systematic manner.

Figure 3 – Summary of research methodology

Ontology
Pragmatism: Singular and multiple realities open to empirical enquiry
Epistemology
Pragmatic: Knowledge gained through diverse approaches
Theoretical perspective
Iterative: Theory used to guide research whilst new knowledge is generated from
research
Nature of research
Study 1: Systematic review – Incorporating quantitative and qualitative data
Study 2: Focus groups and interviews – Qualitative
Study 3: Co-designing deprescribing implementation resources – Co-design

3.2. Use of implementation science as a guiding theory

As outlined in Chapter 2, there is a notable research gap in the field of deprescribing, particularly regarding its implementation and the application of implementation science. This gap has contributed to a knowledge-practice gap in healthcare, where a disconnect exists between scientific knowledge and its practical application in routine care (Westerlund et al., 2019). Consequently, there is a need for implementation science to provide insights into the complex process of implementing healthcare interventions. Implementation science can be defined as follows:

"The scientific study of methods to promote the systematic uptake of research findings and other evidence-based practice into routine practice and improve the quality and effectiveness of health services" (Eccles and Mittman, 2006, p. 1).

The incorporation of implementation science in healthcare research is highly recommended as it offers a comprehensive understanding of the contextual factors influencing intervention adoption, thereby enhancing the uptake of interventions (Bauer and Kirchner, 2020, Westerlund et al., 2019). However, the abundance of implementation models, frameworks, and theories available poses a challenge in selecting the most appropriate one (Birken et al., 2017). The following section explores
the various implementation theories considered and provides rationale for the chosen theory.

3.2.1. Normalisation Process Theory

Normalisation Process Theory (NPT) is a theoretical framework focused on the routine implementation of complex interventions into everyday practice. It is a middle-range sociological theory that conceptualises the implementation, embedding, and integration of innovation in healthcare settings (May et al., 2009). NPT is a theory of action that focuses on the work people do, as opposed to cultural transmission of innovation seen in other theories such as Diffusion of Innovation theory.

NPT was initially developed as an applied theoretical model known as the Normalisation Process Model (NPM). This model supported the understanding and evaluation of factors that act as barriers or enablers to routine incorporation of complex interventions into practice, yet it did not address how stakeholders understand, engage with, and evaluate innovations (Huddlestone et al., 2020). It was later improved with the development of three additional constructs to account for how stakeholders understand/make sense of, engage and participate with, and reflect and appraise an intervention (Finch et al., 2012). Thus, NPM became NPT.

The four components; coherence (or sense-making); cognitive participation (or engagement); collective action (work done to enable the intervention to happen); and reflexive monitoring (formal and informal appraisal of the benefits and costs of the intervention) can be used in the development and/or evaluation of complex interventions. Each construct has a dynamic relationship with each other and the wider context of the intervention itself. The constructs of NPT can each be divided into 4 additional sub-constructs, which can be seen in Table 7.

Table 7 – Definitions of the subconstructs of NPT adapted from Huddlestone et al. (2020)

Construct	Subconstruct	Definition	
	Differentiation	Understanding how an intervention differs	
		from others.	
	Communal	A shared understanding of the aims,	
Coherence	specification	objectives, and benefits of an intervention.	
(Sense-	Individual	An individual understanding of their	
making)	specification	specific tasks and responsibilities around	
		an intervention.	
	Internalisation	Understanding the value, benefits, and	
		importance of an intervention.	
	Enrolment	Individual "buy in" to the intervention.	
Cognitive	Activation	Individual sustaining their involvement	
participation		with the intervention.	
(Relationshin	Initiation	Key individuals driving the implementatio	
work)		of the intervention.	
	Legitimation	Individual belief that it is right for them to	
		be involved in the intervention.	
	Interactional	The interactional work that people do with	
	workability	each other, with artefacts and with other	
		elements of the intervention when they	
		look to operationalise them in everyday	
Collective		settings.	
action	Relational integration	The knowledge work that individuals do to	
(Enacting		maintains confidence in an intervention.	
work)	Contextual	The resource work needed to manage an	
	integration	intervention through the allocation of	
		different kinds of resources and the	
		executions of protocols, policies and	
		procedures.	

	Skill set workability	The allocation work underpinned by division of labour built around an intervention as it's operationalised in practice.
	Reconfiguration	How individuals or groups attempt to redefine the intervention.
Reflexive Monitoring	Individual appraisal	How individuals appraise the effects of the intervention on them and their work environment.
work)	Communal appraisal	How groups judge the value of an intervention.
	Systematisation	How the benefits or problems of an intervention are identified.

The application of NPT in healthcare research has expanded beyond its original focus on e-health and tele-health evaluation. Its utility in analysing implementation processes and informing recommendations for future implementation work is increasingly recognised by researchers (McEvoy et al., 2014). NPT provides a conceptual framework that explains implementation processes and informs study design and data analysis across various research methods (May et al., 2018).

NPT was selected as the appropriate theory to guide this research due to its emphasis on engaging multiple stakeholders and understanding their efforts to normalise an intervention. This aligns well with the aim of this research, which focuses on implementing safe and routine deprescribing in primary care involving various actors such as patients, domiciliary carers, GPs, pharmacists, and nurses. Additionally, considering the primary care context, NPT is recommended for its adaptability and responsiveness to diverse primary healthcare settings (de Brún et al., 2016). The presence of NPT constructs and sub-constructs provides a theoretical foundation for identifying specific elements of an intervention that can be enhanced to facilitate its normalisation. NPT has been increasingly employed to study the implementation of complex interventions in healthcare, particularly in primary care settings, and has been characterised as a flexible framework applicable at different stages of research to understand implementation dynamics (Tazzyman et al., 2017). This flexibility aligns with the pragmatic nature of this research, aiming to utilise the most appropriate methods to address the research question.

In summary, the implementation-focused nature of NPT was deemed suitable for providing insights into current deprescribing implementation challenges and identifying strategies to enhance normalisation in primary care. It offers valuable understanding of the relationships and work required to normalise an intervention in practice, which is both novel and necessary in the field of deprescribing research. Furthermore, its flexibility allows the researcher to adapt and apply the theory as deemed fit to address the doctoral research question. Nonetheless, it is important to acknowledge the existence of other implementation theories, frameworks, and models that could have also been considered.

3.2.2. Other theories, frameworks and models considered

As previously discussed, the literature encompasses a wide range of implementation science theories, models, and frameworks (Birken et al., 2017). Given their potential relevance to this research project, several options were carefully considered. The subsequent section examines three notable candidates: The Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety (SEIPS) model, Diffusion of Innovation theory, and The Behaviour Change Wheel.

3.2.2.1. Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety 1.0, 2.0 & 3.0

The Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety (SEIPS) model is a descriptive model that examines work systems and their impact on patient safety. Drawing on engineering concepts, the SEIPS model integrates human factors and healthcare quality models to explain how the design of a work system can influence employee and organisational outcomes, as well as patient safety (Carayon et al., 2006). Within this model, individuals (including patients, HCPs, and other employees) perform tasks using various tools and technologies within a specific physical environment and under organisational conditions. These factors dynamically interact through different processes to produce outcomes such as performance, safety and health, and quality of working life. In summary, the SEIPS model offers a systems approach that identifies relevant factors within a system pertaining to the topic under investigation, such as the implementation of new policies and patient safety research. However, it is important to note that while the SEIPS model provides insights into how work systems affect health-

related outcomes and can guide research and improvements, it is not explicitly an implementation model (Holden and Carayon, 2021).

The SEIPS model has undergone further development and modification to produce SEIPS 2.0. In this updated version, the model incorporates the representation of patients, healthcare professionals, and other relevant groups and individuals under the 'person(s)' component (Holden et al., 2013). Additionally, more emphasis is placed on the 'external environment' component, which encompasses societal, economic, ecological, and policy factors beyond the organisation. Furthermore, adaptions in outcomes to the work system are accounted for, considering factors such as anticipation/unanticipated nature, short/long-lasting impact, and intermittent/regular occurrence.

The most recent iteration of the SEIPS model, SEIPS 3.0, further expands on the complexities of the 'process' component. It focuses on the patient journey and their spatial-temporal interactions with different HCPs, friends, and family throughout their care (Carayon et al., 2020). In essence, the SEIPS 3.0 model examines patient safety over time and in various contexts. Additionally, a feedback loop is introduced to capture learning and improvements derived from outcome evaluation and the adaptation mechanisms previously outlined in the SEIPS 2.0 model.

The SEIPS model provides a comprehensive framework for examining work systems and identifying factors that may influence patient safety, including aspects related to deprescribing implementation. However, it does not offer guidance on whether changes in specific factors within the work system lead to particular patient outcomes, nor does it explicitly address intervention implementation, which is a focus of this research (Carayon et al., 2006). In contrast, NPT's constructs and sub-constructs directly contribute to the normalisation of interventions, influencing their potential for successful implementation. This emphasis on implementation gave NPT a theoretical advantage over the SEIPS model for this particular research. Nonetheless, this does not diminish the value of the SEIPS model, as it remains a suitable framework when investigating patient safety.

3.2.2.2. Diffusion of innovations

Diffusion of Innovations theory, originally introduced by Professor Everett Rodgers in his book "Diffusion of Innovations" in 1962, aims to explain the process of adopting new innovations and technologies. This theory focuses on the perception of an innovation as new or unfamiliar within a social system and the subsequent flow of information about the innovation from person to person over time (Zhang et al., 2015).

According to Diffusion of Innovations theory, there are four fundamental elements that influence the diffusion of an innovation: innovation characteristics, communication channels, time, and the social system (Rogers, 2003). The innovation characteristics provide insights into the varying rates of adoption by examining factors such as:

Innovation Characteristics	Explanation
	The degree in which the innovation is
Relative advantage	perceived as better than the idea it
	supersedes.
	The degree to which an innovation is
Compatibility	perceived as being consistent with the
Compatibility	existing values, past experiences and
	needs of potential adopters.
	The degree to which an innovation is
Complexity	perceived as difficult to understand and
	use.
Trialability	The degree to which an innovation may
malability	be experimented with on a limited basis.
Observability	The degree to which the results of an
Observability	innovation are visible to others.

Table 8 – Innovation characteristics as described by Rogers (2003)

Communication channels play a crucial role in this process, with mass media channels being efficient in disseminating information about the innovation, while interpersonal channels can be more persuasive in influencing individuals' acceptance of the innovation. Time is also a significant factor, encompassing the duration between an individual's initial knowledge of the innovation and their decision to adopt or reject it, as well as the relative timing and rate of adoption within the social system. Innovativeness, which reflects the rate of adoption, categorises individuals into five adopter categories: innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards. Lastly, social systems, such as families, hospital doctors, or populations in a country, consist of interrelated units working together to address common goals (Rogers, 2003).

In the context of health service delivery and organisation, Greenhalgh et al., (2004) conducted a systematic review to explore the application of Diffusion of Innovations theory. They emphasised the importance of understanding innovation diffusion within service organisations, as it significantly impacts service quality and efficiency. Their work identified additional characteristics that influence the diffusion of innovations in service organisations, including organisation size and structure, external conditions such as political directives and funding, leadership, culture, implementation process feedback, and communication. Based on their findings, a comprehensive model of Diffusion in Service Delivery was developed, which highlights various determinants of diffusion, dissemination, and implementation of innovations in health service delivery (Greenhalgh et al., 2004). The authors underlined the significance of considering the unique characteristics of service organisations when examining innovation diffusion and provided a conceptual model to guide this process.

In summary, the Diffusion of Innovations theory offers valuable insights into the adoption of innovations within social systems. However, it has limitations, such as its focus on a small group of innovators and its inability to address the work-related challenges associated with intervention implementation (Wani and Ali, 2015). In contrast, the NPT focuses on action and the practical aspects of work, making it more appropriate for examining the implementation of deprescribing interventions where the work conducted is a known barrier to implementation (May et al., 2009, Elbeddini et al., 2021).

3.2.2.3. The Behaviour Change Wheel

The Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW), initially introduced by Susan Michie in 2011, provides a robust framework for understanding human behaviour and designing effective interventions to facilitate behaviour change. The development of the BCW involved a systematic evaluation of existing frameworks for behaviour change interventions, assessing their comprehensiveness, coherence, and alignment with a comprehensive model of behaviour change. Subsequently, a new framework was formulated to meet these criteria and address the identified gaps (Michie et al., 2011).

As a result of this process, the BCW introduced the COM-B system, which explains the dynamic interplay between capability, motivation, and opportunity in shaping human behaviour. The core components of the COM-B system, along with their respective definitions, are presented in Table 9.

Table 9 - C	ore components	of the COM-B	system as de	escribed by N	lichie et al.
(2	2011)				

COM-B Component	Definition
Capability	An individual's psychological and physical capacity to engage in an activity. Can be physical or psychological.
Motivation	The brain processes that energise and direct behaviour. Can be automatic or reflective.
Opportunity	Factors external to the individual that make the behaviour possible or prompt it. Can be social or physical.

Behaviour change intervention functions were integrated into the core components of the COM-B system, taking into account the characteristics of the interventions. These functions aim to address deficiencies in one or more components of the COM-B system and encompass activities such as restriction, education, persuasion, incentivisation, coercion, training, enablement, modelling, and environmental restructuring. Additionally, policies, defined as actions undertaken by responsible authorities to enable or support interventions, were incorporated into the framework. These policy categories include guidelines, environmental and social planning, communication and marketing, legislation, service provision, regulation, and fiscal measures. Collectively, these components constitute the BCW (Michie et al., 2011).

Subsequent updates to the BCW have incorporated the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF), which provides a comprehensive assessment of barriers and facilitators to behaviour change and strategies for leveraging them (Ojo et al., 2019, Atkins et al., 2017). The TDF comprises theories and theoretical constructs of behaviour change condensed into 14 domains and 84 component constructs (Cane et al., 2012, Atkins et al., 2017) The BCW has emerged as a valuable guide for understanding behaviour change and designing interventions to promote desired outcomes. Its application has gained recognition in healthcare research as a means to develop interventions that foster positive behaviour change (Clarke et al., 2019). However, despite the BCW's emphasis on behaviour change and its relevance to implementation research, NPT's focus on normalising interventions into routine practice aligned with the objectives of this project, which aimed to implement deprescribing as a routine practice. Consequently, NPT was deemed the most appropriate approach.

In summary, numerous implementation theories, models, and frameworks exist, some of which are highly endorsed in healthcare research. While various options could have been chosen to guide this research, the suitability of NPT was determined by its focus on implementing and normalising interventions in practice, as well as its provision of constructs that can be leveraged to enhance normalising potential. Moreover, the flexibility of the NPT framework resonated with the pragmatic nature of this study, aligning with its methodological approach.

3.3. Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement

Within the discipline of applied healthcare research, Patient and public involvement and engagement (PPIE) in research helps to ensure facets of healthcare that patients consider important remain at the core of research, with patients having a central role in how research is conducted. It focuses on research 'with' or 'by' patients and members of the public rather than 'to', 'about' or 'for' them. This can further align research goals and plans with that of those who would be affected by the research outputs, reducing the risk of the research becoming avoidable waste (loannidis, 2016). PPIE activity is recommended to improve the relevance and quality of research from the earliest research stages through to dissemination of the findings (Hoddinott et al., 2018). How patients are involved in research is flexible and depends on the topic being investigated, the research questions, the methods employed, and the resources available. This may take the form of patients contributing to decisions on research direction, advising on how to recruit a specific demographic of patients, how to disseminate findings to reach the necessary audience, or sometimes conducting aspects of the research themselves (Hoddinott et al., 2018).

It is important to distinguish PPIE from research involving patients as participants, such as co-design. PPIE involves a continuing and reciprocal relationship between researchers and patients, leading to decisions in research whilst in qualitative research, for example, researchers aim to improve their understanding of a topic through collecting data using interviews and focus groups (Hoddinott et al., 2018). PPIE may also empower patients to contribute to society, gain new skills and provide a mechanism to share their personal experiences whilst influencing change (Tomlinson et al., 2019). With such benefits not only to the researching landscape but also to personal patient development, including PPIE to this project was desired.

The research was supported by PPIE members affiliated with the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) Yorkshire and Humber Patient Safety and Translational Research Centre (YHPSTRC). The YHPSTRC, a collaboration involving the University of Leeds, University of Bradford, and Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, focuses on generating applied healthcare research that can be effectively translated into current healthcare practices. The doctoral research received funding from this centre, facilitating access to PPIE research support. The PPIE members involved in this research possessed extensive experience in supporting various healthcare research endeavours.

PPIE played a significant role throughout the research project. Each chapter of this thesis acknowledges the consideration of PPIE advice and whether it resulted in modifications to the research design. Additionally, PPIE was consulted early in the research design phase to gather insights on aspects related to deprescribing implementation that patients deemed significant. This exercise proved valuable in identifying potential patient concerns regarding deprescribing and the significance patients placed on deprescribing education and support provision. It became evident that patients may perceive deprescribing as a cost-cutting measure, accentuating the necessity of providing education on deprescribing. Furthermore, PPIE highlighted the potential sense of abandonment some patients might experience if a medicine was discontinued without adequate post-deprescribing support. Consequently, this feedback informed the identification and review of deprescribing patient education and support literature conducted in Chapter 2. The discussions with PPIE members also shed light on the potential impact of perceptions about the traditional role of pharmacists on the pharmacist-patient relationship and how this could influence the role of pharmacists in deprescribing. Moreover, the researcher found it reassuring that the PPIE members emphasised the importance and relevance of this research, as well as the potential benefits to patient safety it could yield. These interactions with PPIE formed the foundation of their involvement in the project and served as a basis for ongoing development throughout the research process.

3.4. Validity, reliability, and transferability of research

To ensure the highest quality research, it is important to consider the concepts of validity, reliability, and transferability in order to produce credible results with potential to be transferred to different environments, whilst minimising bias (Creswell and Clark, 2017). Strategies to uphold these concepts can be found within the methods section of each chapter, but a summary is briefly discussed here.

Throughout the course of this doctoral research, continuous dissemination of findings took place among the research supervision team, as well as among academics and healthcare professionals through research conferences and academic presentations. This practice served as a form of peer debriefing, allowing for feedback on methods and findings to enhance research conclusions and strengthen credibility and dependability of the research (Anney, 2014).

In the qualitative studies, research findings were disseminated to research participants, and were also shared with the PPIE representatives and HCPs during research presentations and discussions. This approach served as a member check, minimising potential research biases and ensuring that participants were content with the interpretations made (Anney, 2014)

It is important to note that purposive sampling was employed in the qualitative studies, which enhances the transferability of results, i.e., the degree to which research findings can be applied to other contexts (Anney, 2014). However, it should be acknowledged that this research focused specifically on the context of UK primary care and did not aim for transferability beyond this specific context.

Reflexivity and the use of a research journal were employed to facilitate reflection on the research process, including making field notes during data collection and recording new ideas and interpretations, as well as reconciling learning from relevant literature. These practices contributed to the confirmability of the research conducted (Anney, 2014).

Study-specific methods to enhance research quality are described in the relevant chapters; however, as a summary, in the systematic review, the research supervision team conducted blind screenings of random samples of abstracts, titles, and full-text articles to improve the rigor of the screening process. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines were followed to ensure transparency in reporting the systematic review. In the qualitative studies, independent coding of interview transcripts was conducted by a member of the research supervision

team, and discussions were held with the researcher and wider supervisory team to enhance understanding of the coding process. Additionally, the findings of the qualitative studies were shared with research participants, as previously described.

While strategies aimed at minimising bias and upholding research rigour have been discussed, it remains of significance to acknowledge the persisting debates surrounding these concepts and terminologies within the domain of qualitative research. The notion of bias, traditionally rooted in the realm of quantitative research, has led to a general consensus among qualitative researchers that constructs such as rigour and trustworthiness find greater resonance within the subjectively oriented landscape of qualitative research (Galdas, 2017).

Nevertheless, dissenting viewpoints have emerged, debating that the maintenance of rigour in qualitative research presents a distinctive challenge, owing to the dearth of methodologies akin to those employed in quantitative research to counteract bias (Thirsk and Clark, 2017). Consequently, this perspective has prompted other researchers to place heightened significance to the transparency and reflexivity exhibited by qualitative researchers throughout the research processes (Galdas, 2017).

Conversely, an opposing standpoint theorises that the advocacy for research reliability and validity should be embedded intrinsically within the research progression itself, rather than relegated to a post-research evaluation, thereby constituting as an appropriate strategy to ensure research rigour (Morse et al., 2002). The ongoing discourse surrounding the facets of bias and rigour within qualitative research continues to this day. Within the realm of this research, the doctoral researcher has embraced the concept of augmenting the reliability and validity of research as a strategy to bolster research rigour.

Chapter 4 – Study 1: Barriers and facilitators of implementing proactive deprescribing in primary care: a systematic review

4.1. Introduction

This chapter constitutes the opening study conducted following the formulation of the research plan. Building upon the insights derived from the preceding scoping review discussed in Chapter 2, this chapter presents a systematic review that specifically examines the implementation of proactive deprescribing within the primary care setting.

Much of the current evidence for deprescribing in primary care focuses on the process of stopping a medicine. Little work has been done on how deprescribing should be routinely and safely implemented within current primary care systems. This is important as poor implementation planning has led to previous complex interventions failing to be established in primary care and could lead to the benefits of deprescribing not being realised (Lau et al., 2016). Therefore, to maximise patient gain from deprescribing, its optimal implementation within primary care needs to be addressed.

As described in Chapter 3, Normalisation Process Theory (NPT) is a theoretical framework focused on implementation that is used to explain why an intervention succeeds or cannot become normalised within practice. NPT comprises of four constructs: coherence – sense making of the intervention; cognitive participation – commitment and engagement to the intervention; collective action – the work needed to enable the intervention to happen; and reflexive monitoring – how participants reflect and appraise an intervention (Murray et al., 2010). Each construct is further divided into four sub-constructs providing rich description of factors associated with intervention implementation. NPT has been applied to analyse complex interventions in primary care, including through systematic review (Mair et al., 2012).

This review will address the initial stages of implementation planning, through identifying barriers and facilitators of safely implementing routine proactive deprescribing within primary care. This will be achieved through a systematic search of deprescribing literature, and application of NPT to the extracted barriers and facilitators to implementation to provide theoretical understanding on how they impede or enable deprescribing in primary care.

The aim for this systematic review was to identify the barriers and facilitators to routinely implementing proactive deprescribing within primary care.

The objectives were to:

- systematically review the literature to identify barriers and facilitators to implementing routine safe proactive deprescribing in primary care.
- determine the effect the identified barriers and facilitators enact on normalisation potential using NPT.

4.2. Methods

4.2.1. Research question

This systematic review was designed to answer the question "What are the barriers and facilitators to routinely implementing proactive deprescribing within primary care?". Deprescribing was defined as:

[•] [A] systematic process of identifying and discontinuing drugs where harms outweigh benefits within the context of an individual patient's care goals, and their current level of functioning' (Scott et al., 2015, p. 827).

Barriers and facilitators to implement deprescribing in primary care were defined as factors that either impede (barriers) or promote (facilitators) the routine incorporation of deprescribing or deprescribing interventions into daily primary care practice.

Components of the research question were broken down using the SPIDER mnemonic, which was constructed to help researchers compose mixed methods review questions (Methley et al., 2014). As this review considered quantitative, qualitative, mixed and mult- methods data, the SPIDER mnemonic was appropriate. This systematic review focused on deprescribing implementation, and it was thought that the appropriate literature identified, as well as the barriers and facilitators extracted may be qualitative or quantitative in nature. Such factors could be descriptive elements identified during deprescribing intervention implementation, such as factors that impeded intervention delivery, or numerical results identified within studies themselves. As a result, a multi-methods approach was chosen for this systematic review.

Sample	People in primary care
Phenomenon of Interest	Deprescribing
Design	Empirical study designs
Evaluation	Barriers and facilitators
Research type	Qualitative, Quantitative, Mixed methods, Multi-methods

Table 10 – SPIDER components of review question

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses 2020 (PRISMA) was used to report this systematic review. PRISMA is an evidenced-based

minimum set of items for reporting in systematic reviews designed to ensure reviews are transparently reported in relations to why the review was conducted, how the review was conducted and what the results are (Page et al., 2021). This provided structure and guidance when conducting the review and reporting the results. The systematic review was registered on PROSPERO (CRD42021164658).

4.2.2. Search strategy

Phase one – initial search

An initial search was performed in MEDLINE and EMBASE using keywords developed from the scoping review presented in Chapter 2 along with knowledge of the field (Okeowo et al., 2022). Additional relevant keywords were then identified. A search strategy was constructed using these keywords, MESH terms and truncations, with expert input from a librarian at the University of Leeds. The full search strategy is presented in Appendix E.

Phase two – database search

A database search was conducted using search strategies developed for each database. The search was performed in MEDLINE, Embase, PubMed, CINAHL, PsychInfo, The Cochrane Library, Web of science and International Pharmaceutical Abstracts. The search was conducted in September 2020 with a date range of 1 January 1996–2020. The lower time range of 1996 was chosen to include articles that may discuss the withdrawal of problematic medicines without the direct terminology 'deprescribing' or 'deprescribe' being used which was originally described by Woodward et al., (Woodward, 2003). Articles dated prior to 1996 were not searched for because they were deemed unlikely to be relevant based on the doctoral researcher's previous experience conducting the scoping review presented in Chapter 2 (Okeowo et al., 2022). In addition, earliest polypharmacy research dates back from 1998 but has progressively grown within the past 10 years, so it was expected that a greater number of relevant studies would be identified dated after the year 2000 (Masnoon et al., 2017, Bjerrum, 1998). The search was extended until May 2022 to identify any new and relevant literature. An example of the Medline search strategy can be seen in Table 11.

Phase three - reference searching

The reference lists of key studies included were assessed to identify relevant literature that was not identified through the database search.

Table 11 – Medline systematic review search strategy

Med	line
#1	deprescriptions/
πı	
#2	Inappropriate Prescribing/pc [Prevention & Control]
#3	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.
#4	"Medic* Cessation".tw.
#5	inappropriate* Prescri*.tw.
#6	Deprescrib*.tw.
#7	Inappropriate* medication*.tw
#8	"Treatment withdrawal".tw.
#9	"Stopping medic*".tw.
#10	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)
#11	Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop* or withdraw*)
#12	Cessation of medic*.tw
#13	Stopping of medic*.tw
#14	General Practice/
#15	Community Medic*.tw.
#16	Community Health Services/
#17	Primary Care.tw
#18	General Practice.tw.
#19	GP*.tw
#20	General Practitioner*.tw.

#21	Primary Health Care/
#22	Community Dwelling tw
#22	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13
#23	
#24	14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 19 or 10 or 20 or 21 or 22
#24	
#0E	22 and 24
#25	23 and 24
	HIS = 1214
1	

4.2.3. Eligibility screening, inclusion criteria & exclusion criteria

A two-stage screening process was used to identify studies meeting the inclusion criteria. The inclusion and exclusion criteria are presented in Table 12. Stage one was conducted by one reviewer (DO) who screened the literature identified by title and abstract. To ensure the quality of this screening, two random 20% samples of the search results were independently screened by two additional reviewers (DPA and STRZ). Both reviewers were blinded to each other's and the original reviewer's (DO) screening decisions. Any disagreements between the two reviewers were resolved by a third reviewer (DPA or STRZ).

Stage two involved a full-text screen of the shortlisted studies. This was conducted independently by one reviewer (DO) using the eligibility criteria described in Table 12. To enhance rigour, a random 10% sample of the shortlisted studies was also independently screened by another reviewer (BF) who was blinded to the decisions of the original reviewer (DO). Any disagreements were resolved by a third reviewer (DPA). Both stages of screening were facilitated using EndNote X9 and Microsoft Excel.

Palliative care and long-term care facilities were excluded due to the different treatment goals seen within these specialised care facilities, focused for example, on end-of-life management. Patient self-discontinuation and substance misuse were also excluded as they would not involve deprescribing as described in 4.2.1. This review focused on primary care, hence research involving deprescribing in secondary care and specialised care were excluded. Furthermore, in line with the rest of this thesis, proactive deprescribing was the focus of this review and so deprescribing as a result of an adverse drug reaction was excluded as these are often reactive in nature. Non-English language studies were excluded as it would not be feasible translating non-English language studies with the resources available for this review.

Stage 1 screening – title and abstract			
Inclusion criteria:	Exclusion criteria:		
Literature discussing	Palliative care/life-limiting illness		
implementation of deprescribing or deprescribing interventions in	Patient self-discontinuation		
primary care	Deprescribing of medicine in		
	reaction to an adverse drug		
	reaction		
	Substance misuse		
	Deprescribing within secondary		
	and specialised care		
	Long-term care facilities		
	Non-English language studies		
	Conference abstracts		
	Grey literature		
Stage 2 screening – full-text			
Inclusion criteria:	Exclusion criteria:		
Literature discussing	No Barriers or facilitators to		
implementation of deprescribing	implementing deprescribing found		
or deprescribing interventions in	Non-English language studies		
primary care	Non-primary Care		
	Conference Abstracts		
	Unable to access full text		
	Narrative reviews		
	Non-empirical studies		
	Grey literature		

Table 12 – Systematic review inclusion and exclusion criteria

4.2.4. Data collection

Data on the barriers and facilitators of implementing deprescribing or deprescribing interventions in primary care were extracted by DO using a standardised data collection form (Appendix F). The data collected included article name, authors, year of publication, country of publication, methodology (quantitative, qualitative, mixed, or multi-methods), study design, study population, and study focus (qualitative discussion around the concept of deprescribing or use of a specific deprescribing intervention). Once created, the data collection form was trialled on a few studies prior to the review to ensure that the relevant information was captured.

4.2.5. Data analysis

(2012)

Once each barrier and facilitator was identified, they were tabulated and then mapped on to the constructs and subconstructs of NPT using a coding framework (Table 13) developed and adapted from a previous systematic review that used NPT to aid qualitative data analysis (Mair et al., 2012). The framework provided insight on how each barrier/facilitator affects the normalisation potential of deprescribing in primary care. The coding process was conducted by the doctoral researcher. As numerous barriers and facilitators were extracted from the literature, the data were condensed to summarise the key barriers and facilitators whilst capturing the meaning of each barrier and facilitator. This was achieved through grouping individual barriers and facilitators into major categories, with each category being clearly defined to describe what they encompassed.

Coherence	Cognitive	Collective action	Reflexive
(Sense-making	Participation	(Enacting work)	Monitoring
work)	(Relationship		(Appraisal Work)
	Work)		
Differentiation	Enrolment	Skill set	Reconfiguration
	1		
Is there a clear	Do individuals "buy	workability	Do individuals try to
Is there a clear understanding of	Do individuals "buy into" the idea of the	workability How does the	Do individuals try to alter the new
Is there a clear understanding of how a	Do individuals "buy into" the idea of the deprescribing	workability How does the innovation affect	Do individuals try to alter the new service?

Table 13 – NPT Coding framework for systematic review adapted from Mair et al.

deprescribing	service/intervention	roles and	
service/intervention	?	responsibilities or	
differs from existing		training needs?	
practice?			
Communal	Activation	Contextual	Communal
specification	Can individuals	Integration	appraisal
Do individuals have	sustain	Is there	How do groups
a shared	involvement?	organizational	judge the value of
understanding of		support?	the deprescribing
the aims, objectives			service/intervention
and expected			?
benefits of the			
deprescribing			
service/intervention			
?			
Individual	Initiation	Interactional	Individual
specification	Are key individuals	workability	appraisal
Do individuals have	willing to drive the	Does the	How do individuals
a clear	implementation?	deprescribing	appraise the effects
understanding of		service/interventio	on them and their
their specific tasks		n make people's	work environment?
and responsibilities		work easier?	
in the			
implementation of a			
deprescribing			
service/intervention			
?			
Internalisation	Legitimation	Relational	Systematization
Do individuals	Do individuals	integration	How are benefits or
understand the		De individuale	problems identified
	believe it is right for	Do individuais	problems identified
value, benefits and	them to be	have confidence	or measured?
value, benefits and importance of the	them to be involved?	have confidence in the new	or measured?

service/intervention		
?		

4.2.6. Quality appraisal

The quality of each research article was appraised using the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) Version 2018 (Hong et al., 2018). The MMAT has been designed to appraise and describe the methodological quality of qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods research studies when conducting a systematic review. In summary, the tool consists of questions relating to the methodology quality of the research study being investigated. A 'yes', 'no' or 'can't tell' is used to address each question. This allows for a descriptive analysis on the quality of each study. This process was conducted by the doctoral researcher, however examples of MMAT decisions were shared and discussed with the research team.

As the MMAT is only suitable for research studies, it was anticipated that a different quality appraisal tool would be needed for quality improvement (QI) studies. The Quality Improvement Minimum Quality Criteria Set (QI-MQCS) version 1 (Hempel et al., 2015) was chosen as a suitable tool to appraise QI studies. The QI-MQCS is a 16-domain appraisal tool for QI intervention publications, particularly for projects within the discipline of healthcare research. This tool scores each QI study based on whether each domain is 'met' or 'not met', providing a minimal standard needed for a score to be given. It has previously been used in healthcare related systematic reviews (Fang et al., 2021). The MMAT was used for 53 research articles, whilst the QI-MQCS was used for 3 quality improvement articles.

Other quality appraisal tools were considered before the MMAT and QI-MQCS were chosen. The Quality Assessment Tool for Studies with Diverse Designs (QATSDD) was a potentially appropriate tool that could have been used to appraisal the methodological and evidence quality of qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods research studies (Sirriyeh et al., 2012). This was then updated into the Quality assessment for Diverse Studies (QuADS) in 2021. This updated version allowed for greater applicability to health services research when appraising the quality of methods, evidence and reporting in research (Harrison et al., 2021). Due to the heath service nature of this research, the QuADS has its advantages for this review compared to its predecessor, the QATSDD. However, there was a lack of literature

validating and appraising the use of QuADS tool for systematic reviews in comparison to the MMAT tool. As a result, the MMAT was chosen as the preferred tool.

Assessment of risk of bias of studies is needed when synthesising and interpreting quantitative data from RCTs when conducing a systematic review (Sterne et al., 2019). However, this review did not aim to investigate the effectiveness of deprescribing intervention in primary care studies, and so was not concerned with the internal validity of each RCT. In addition, most of the studies included in this review did not investigate the effectiveness of RCTs included in this review was not assessed.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Study selection

The search strategy retrieved 12027 citations once duplicates were removed. From 12027 citations, 11504 were excluded based on their title and abstract. A further 492 citations received a full-text screen and were excluded for reasons seen in Figure 4. In conclusion, A total of 56 articles met the inclusion criteria (Anderson et al., 2020, Bosman et al., 2016, Campbell et al., 1999, Carrier et al., 2019, Clark et al., 2020, Cole et al., 2020, Cook et al., 2007, Coronado-Vázquez et al., 2019, Dickinson et al., 2010, Djatche et al., 2018, Duncan et al., 2019, Eveleigh et al., 2018, Farrell et al., 2019, Gillespie et al., 2018, van de Steeg-van Gompel et al., 2009, Heser et al., 2018, Keith et al., 2013, Kennie-Kaulbach et al., 2020, Kuntz et al., 2019, Linsky et al., 2015, Linsky et al., 2017a, Linsky et al., 2019, Lopez-Peig et al., 2012, López-Sepúlveda et al., 2017, Luymes et al., 2016, Luymes et al., 2017, Luymes et al., 2018, Magin et al., 2015, Mantelli et al., 2018, Martin and Tannenbaum, 2017, Martin et al., 2018, Mulder-Wildemors et al., 2020, Murie et al., 2012, Nixon and Kousgaard, 2016, Nixon and Vendelø, 2016, Ocampo et al., 2015, Odenthal et al., 2020, Rieckert et al., 2019b, Rieckert et al., 2020, Rognstad et al., 2013, Schuling et al., 2012, Stuhec et al., 2019, Tannenbaum et al., 2014, Teal et al., 2011, Thompson et al., 2020, Turner et al., 2018, van der Meer et al., 2019, Vandenberg et al., 2018, Vicens et al., 2014, Wallis et al., 2017, Walsh et al., 2016, White et al., 2019, Donald et al., 2021, Jordan et al., 2022, Tangiisuran et al., 2022, Korenvain et al., 2020).



Figure 4 – Systematic review PRISMA Flow Diagram

4.3.2. Study characteristics

Of the 56 articles retrieved, 28 used quantitative methods (Anderson et al., 2020, Campbell et al., 1999, Clark et al., 2020, Cole et al., 2020, Coronado-Vázquez et al., 2019, Djatche et al., 2018, Eveleigh et al., 2018, Gillespie et al., 2018, Keith et al., 2013, Kuntz et al., 2019, Linsky et al., 2017a, Lopez-Peig et al., 2012, López-Sepúlveda et al., 2017, Luymes et al., 2018, Mantelli et al., 2018, Martin et al., 2018, Murie et al., 2012, Ocampo et al., 2015, Odenthal et al., 2020, Rieckert et al., 2019b, Rognstad et al., 2013, Stuhec et al., 2019, Tannenbaum et al., 2014, Teal et al., 2011, van de Steeg-van Gompel et al., 2009, Vicens et al., 2014, White et al., 2019, Rieckert et al., 2020), 21 used qualitative methods (Bosman et al., 2016, Carrier et al., 2019, Cook et al., 2007, Dickinson et al., 2010, Donald et al., 2021, Duncan et al., 2019, Heser et al., 2018, Jordan et al., 2022, Kennie-Kaulbach et al., 2020, Korenvain et al., 2020, Linsky et al., 2019, Linsky et al., 2015, Luymes et al., 2016, Magin et al., 2015, Nixon and Kousgaard, 2016, Nixon and Vendelø, 2016, Schuling et al., 2012, Tangiisuran et al., 2022, Thompson et al., 2020, Turner et al., 2018, Wallis et al., 2017), 3 articles employed mixed methods (Martin and Tannenbaum, 2017, Mulder-Wildemors et al., 2020, Farrell et al., 2019) and 4 articles used multi-methods (Luymes et al., 2017, van der Meer et al., 2019, Vandenberg et al., 2018, Walsh et al., 2016). Most research articles originated from the Netherlands (n=9), USA and Canada (n=8) followed by Australia (n=6), UK and Spain (n=5), Germany and Denmark (n=3), New Zealand and Italy (n=2), and France, Switzerland, Norway, Malaysia and Slovenia (n=1). The study designs included randomised controlled trials (RCTs) (n=12), quasiexperimental studies (n=12), QI studies (n=3), interview studies (n=18), surveys (n=8) and observational studies (n=3).

4.3.3. Quality appraisal

When using MMAT, the quality of studies ranged significantly, making it challenging to provide an overarching assessment. Although MMAT scores do not directly translate to a description of literature quality such as 'poor' or 'good', a score closer to the upper limit of 5 indicated that the study addressed most, if not all, methodological quality criteria within the MMAT. Most studies identified scored between 3 - 5 (n=36), whilst a minority scored between 0 - 2 (n=17). Broadly, qualitative studies addressed most, if not all, of the MMAT appraisal domains, showing an overall good quality. However, several qualitative studies fell short because of a lack of in-depth description on the rationale for the qualitative approach, the appropriateness of their methods, or how findings were derived from their methods (Luymes et al., 2017, Nixon and Kousgaard, 2016, Nixon and Vendelø, 2016, Schuling et al., 2012, Thompson et al., 2020, Turner et al., 2018).

Mixed and multi-method studies were generally found to have deficiencies in terms of quality. To evaluate the quality of multi-method studies, the quantitative and qualitative components of the research were individually assessed using their respective quantitative or qualitative evaluation criteria within the MMAT, while the assessment specific to mixed methods studies was exclusively applied to those studies utilising mixed methods. Of the three mixed methods studies appraised using MMAT, one study was of good quality and met all the appraisal domains, whilst the other two studies lacked justifying their decision for using mixed methods, clearly showing how quantitative and qualitative results were integrated and having a weak qualitative or quantitative method when this was appraised separately (Martin and Tannenbaum, 2017, Mulder-Wildemors et al., 2020, van der Meer et al., 2019).

The quality of the quantitative research also ranged considerably. Some studies showed good quality and met all the quality domains highlighted by the MMAT. However, in seven of the RCTs, the outcome assessors were not blinded to the

intervention provided. With many of the quantitative non-randomised trials, it was not clear how representative the sample was to the target population or if confounding factors had been accounted for in the study design or analysis. Within the survey studies, it was unclear in many studies if the risk of non-response bias was low.

The three QI studies met most of the quality domains when assessed with the QI-MQCS tool, but none met all quality domains. Farrell et al., scored 9/16, however lacked: defining its study design, describing the timing of and adherence of the intervention, reporting patient health-related outcomes, and describing the reach, sustainability and spread of the intervention (Farrell et al., 2019). Walsh et al., scored 10/16, however lacked: defining its study design, describing comparator care processes, describing adherence, sustainability or potential spread of the intervention and reporting a limitation with its study design/evaluation (Walsh et al., 2016). Vandenberg et al., was the highest scoring study with 13/16 but lacked reporting health-related outcomes and describing the reach and potential spread of the intervention (Vandenberg et al., 2018). Quality appraisal scores for each study can be found in the appendices (Appendix G).

4.3.4. Distribution within NPT

A total of 178 barriers and 178 facilitators were extracted from the included articles. When mapped on to NPT, the number of barriers and facilitators within each construct is shown in Table 14. Each article's identified barriers and facilitators, mapped onto NPT, can be found in Appendix H. Collective action accounted for the most barriers and facilitators, followed by cognitive participation and coherence, respectfully. There were very few barriers or facilitators associated with reflexive monitoring.

Construct of NPT	Number of barriers	Number of facilitators
Coherence	29	26
Cognitive participation	35	37
Collective action	49	62
Reflexive Monitoring	3	1

Table 14 – Distribution of barriers and facilitators within NPT

4.3.5. Extracted barriers and facilitators

Once the barriers and facilitators had been grouped and summarised by their characteristics, 14 barriers and 16 facilitators remained (Table 15).

Table 15 –	Barriers and	facilitators to	implementing	proactive c	leprescribing	in primary
	care					

Construct of	Barriers of implementation	Facilitators of implementation		
NPT				
Coherence	 Negative deprescribing perceptions Patient and HCP strong belief in continuation of medicines Limited understanding of HCP roles in deprescribing Uncertainty and lack of information about how to deprescribe Lack of interest in deprescribing 	 Patients receiving deprescribing education Structured education and training for HCPs on proactive deprescribing Belief in the consequences of PIMs and ADRs Deprescribing accepted as scope of practice Prior agreement on deprescribing clinical decision rules 		
Cognitive participation	 HCPs apprehensive to discontinue medicines Patient resistance to deprescribing recommendations Lack of internal and external collaboration Lack of proactively identifying patient needs 	 Engagement of HCPs and patients Positive relationships between HCPs and patients MDT Involvement Patient-centred approach 		

Collective	 Sub-optimal 	 Availability of
Conective	• Sub-optimal	Availability of
action	deprescribing environment	deprescribing resources and support for HCPs
	 Strong prescribing culture 	 Supportive guidance for patients
	 Poor communication and information sharing 	 Collaborative MDT sharing workload
	Lack of confidence to deprescribe	Presence of pre-defined deprescribing process
		Confidence in deprescribing
		 Requiring medicines to
		have an associated
		indication for use
Reflexive	Deprescribing tools not	Individualised feedback on
Monitoring	used as initially intended	prescribing for GPs

4.3.5.1. Coherence

Barriers

Coherence, how participants make sense of an intervention, aided in providing a theoretical understanding of how patients and HCPs make sense of deprescribing interventions and how this affects intervention normalisation potential. Where there were negative perceptions concerning deprescribing, intervention implementation was challenging. These were broad but included deprescribing being perceived as an abandonment of care, a money-saving exercise, threatening to current stable conditions with a fear of alienating patients, deviation from standard therapy, and the perceived negative consequences of deprescribing.

In conjunction, scenarios where patients and healthcare professionals (HCPs) strongly believed in the continuation of a medicine, it negatively affected deprescribing implementation. Such reasons included PIMs not seen as problematic because of an absence of side effects, lack of concerns for medicine harms, previous reassurance about the safety of a medicine, a negative outlook to ageing by patients who had an expectation of "pill for every ill', psychological attachment to medicines, and the ambiguity associated with the potential effects of deprescribing being a reason to continue medicines.

Similarly, where there was a lack of coherence regarding how to deprescribe or the roles of HCPs during deprescribing, this negatively impacted successful implementation. This encompassed lack of agreement and evidence on deprescribing indications, uncertainty regarding taking an action (deprescribing), lack of risk/benefit information concerning deprescribing preventative medicines, low awareness of tools to improve prescribing, and limited understanding of the role of pharmacists in deprescribing and medicines management.

Facilitators

Facilitators to coherence were related to the provision of education about proactive deprescribing, as well as HCP believing deprescribing within their professional scope. This review found patients receiving deprescribing education and HCPs receiving structured education and training on proactive deprescribing aided the implementation of deprescribing interventions. The nature of patient education typically focused on the patient's medical condition, risks associated with their medicine (including long-term use and side effects), a lack of evidence for medicine continuation with the oldest of adults, alternative treatment options and lifestyle modifications. Education and training for HCPs involved training on the rationale for proactive deprescribing, clinical guidance on deprescribing, the consequences of PIMs and ADRs and the appropriate indications for medicines. Unsurprisingly, patients and HCPs believing in the negative consequences of continued use of PIMs and the risk of ADRs positively affected the coherence of deprescribing interventions. Lastly, when HCPs accepted deprescribing as within their scope of practice, and prior agreements regarding clinical deprescribing decisions were in place, this aided deprescribing intervention implementation through improving HCPs coherence.

4.3.5.2. Cognitive participation

Barriers

Cognitive participation focused on how patients and HCPs interact with other HCPs and themselves during deprescribing. Patient-focused barriers involved resistance to deprescribing recommendations provided by HCPs, and HCPs not proactively identifying patient treatment needs and goals. Patients often had low adherence to deprescribing recommendations and were reluctant to stop a medicine prescribed by a different HCP. Scenarios where HCPs were unaware of patients' treatment goals and preferences, and a lack of proactively inviting patients for discussions about deprescribing, contributed to this.

HCP-related barriers associated with cognitive participation were a lack of internal and external collaborations between HCPs and apprehensiveness towards stopping medicines. There was a lack of collaboration between pharmacists and GPs, between different healthcare organisations, and between HCPs with different mind-sets towards deprescribing, impeding implementation. HCPs being apprehensive to deprescribing was a broad barrier which included when a medicine was previously prescribed by a different doctor or specialist, other HCPs undermining attempts to deprescribe initiated by a different HCP, HCPs reluctant to start deprescribing discussions with healthy patients or assuming patients have no issue with polypharmacy or medicine burden, and anticipation that patients will resist deprescribing.

Facilitators

Cognitive participation facilitators broadly involved the engagement of HCPs and patients to deprescribing, positive relationships between both, support and involvement from a wider multi-disciplinary team and taking a patient-centred approach. Engagement of HCPs and patients to deprescribing involved the specific involvement of GPs to engage other HCPs and patients to deprescribing, as well as HCPs encouraging deprescribing to patients. MDT involvement related to the planning of implementation and the actioning of deprescribing interventions, with particular emphasis on pharmacists. Positive relationships between HCPs and patients allowed patients to initiate deprescribing conversations and aided HCPs to effectively action deprescribing.

A patient-centred approach was another broad facilitator identified. This involved actively identifying patient needs, allowing patient involvement in deprescribing discussions, and activating patients to be more involved in their medicines use. In addition, this involved HCPs harnessing patients' motivations to deprescribe and improving their self-efficacy to be involved in deprescribing.

4.3.5.3. Collective action

Barriers

The barriers to deprescribing implementation related to enacting work, collective action, related to factors that impeded the work of deprescribing. This included having a sub-optimal deprescribing environment, presence of a strong prescribing culture, poor communication and information sharing, and a lack of confidence to deprescribe.

Sub-optimal deprescribing environment was a broad barrier that included multiple wellestablished barriers to deprescribing: lack of clinician time to deprescribe, competing workloads, lack of adequate staffing, lack of a consistent deprescribing workflow, lack of financial support, workspace limitations for deprescribing discussions, working with multiple prescribers, and absence of routine medicines reviews. These well-known barriers continued with the theme of a strong prescribing culture. This encapsulated deprescribing being seen as additional work, so continuation of medicines was perceived as the easier option, clinical guidelines that promoted prescribing but rarely deprescribing, and HCP guilt due to not adhering to clinical guidelines.

Poor communication and information sharing concerned not only how clinical information is documented, but also how it is communicated to different areas of care. This included poor documentation in patient medical notes, lack of access to updated and accurate medical records (particularly for pharmacists), fragmentation of care and the poor flow of information, poor communication between GPs and pharmacists and inadequate overview of patient medicines when registering at a new GP practice. In addition, GPs being unsure that other prescribers respect their deprescribing decisions was evident in this group.

The final barrier was the lack of confidence to deprescribe, including a lack of HCP confidence communicating risks related to deprescribing to patients, and the fear of causing problems through deprescribing. From a patient perspective, this involved patients losing confidence in deprescribing prior to completing stopping medicines.

Facilitators

Facilitators associated with collective action were focused on deprescribing support for HCPs, including deprescribing resources and a collaborative MDT sharing workload, supportive guidance for patients during deprescribing, presence of a pre-defined deprescribing process, confidence in deprescribing and requiring all medicines to have a documented indication.

The availability of deprescribing resources and support for HCPs was the largest group compared to other facilitators and included interventions typically described in many deprescribing studies. This included: financial incentives to deprescribe, electronic medical record (EMR) reminders, tools to help identify and communicate medicine risks to patients, shared decision-making tools, PIMs lists, updated clinical guidelines to include deprescribing and managing co-morbidities, access to deprescribing advice from other HCPs, electronic decision support tools for comprehensive medicines reviews and templates to aid communicating deprescribing recommendations from pharmacists to GPs.

A collaborative MDT sharing deprescribing workload involved effective sharing of information between prescribers, access to accurate patient records, and receiving support with patient follow-ups. Pharmacist involvement in deprescribing contributed to this group through identifying PIMs or patients in need of medicines optimisation, conducting structured medication reviews, providing deprescribing recommendations to GPs, autonomy to switch patients to safer medicine alternatives, providing education to patients and prescribers, and conducting deprescribing audits.

The presence of a pre-defined deprescribing process aided in implementing deprescribing interventions. The beneficial attributes of such a process included being systematic, consistent, and convenient, and adaptable to HCPs' needs. It was important that implementation was not resource-heavy and that there was flexible support offered to patients afterwards. One article also highlighted the importance of at least one face-to-face follow-up appointment within three months of deprescribing (Murie et al., 2012).

Confidence in deprescribing was associated with different stages within the deprescribing process. This encompassed confidence in the deprescribing process, confidence in determining if patients cannot understand deprescribing material, GP confidence in handling adverse effects of deprescribing, lack of fear in deprescribing consequences and confidence in patient knowledge of deprescribing.

The final facilitators were supportive guidance for patients during deprescribing by HCPs or from their social environments and requiring all medicines to have a documented indication.

4.3.5.4. Reflexive monitoring

Reflexive action, how participants appraise deprescribing interventions, contained the fewest barriers or facilitators. There was a paucity of both barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing that were associated with appraisal work. The only barrier within this construct was instances where deprescribing tools were not used as initially intended. The only facilitator within this construct was individualised feedback on prescribing provided for GPs post deprescribing.

4.4. Discussion

4.4.1. Key findings

This is the first systematic review to focus on the barriers and facilitators to implementing proactive deprescribing interventions in primary care through the theoretical lens of NPT. A total of 178 barriers and 178 facilitators were identified and condensed into 14 barriers and 16 facilitators. Collective action was the most prevalent construct, whilst there were a lack of barriers and facilitators associated with reflexive monitoring. This review provides novel insight into implementing deprescribing through extraction of barriers and facilitators, with a theoretical connection to how these factors may affect normalisation potential of deprescribing through the constructs of NPT. It also highlights the lack of evidence around the appraisal of deprescribing interventions, and how little deprescribing implementation barriers and facilitators have been discussed. Such evidence has been called for to aid the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care (Thompson et al., 2019).

When looking at the distribution of barriers and facilitators within NPT, it was unsurprising that collective action was most prevalent. Much of the current evidence on deprescribing is focused on the process of conducting deprescribing and, subsequently, the work needed for deprescribing to happen. Scott et al.'s influential article discussing the process of deprescribing, led to research applying such principles within different healthcare contexts (Scott et al., 2015, Wong et al., 2021, Gazarin et al., 2020, Lee et al., 2019). The resultant effect is developed knowledge about the work, i.e. collective action needed to action deprescribing, for example, through the 5step protocol proposed by Scott et al., (Scott et al., 2015).

A key finding was the lack of barriers and facilitators associated with reflexive monitoring, highlighting a gap in deprescribing research about how deprescribing should be appraised. Using NPT's reflexive monitoring sub-constructs, this would include understanding how individuals try to alter their practice, how groups and individuals judge the value of deprescribing interventions, and how the benefits or problems with deprescribing interventions are measured. Much of the deprescribing literature included in this review involved limited patient follow-up, ranging from 6 months–2 years, with minimal discussion on how the effects of deprescribing may be reflected on and appraised by patients and HCPs. The appraisal work that was found in a minority of studies comprised of individualised prescribing feedback for GPs. Providing feedback is important to identify a change in prescribing patterns resulting

from deprescribing but does not provide in-depth detail on the effect deprescribing implementation has on practice culture and cross-organisational system work and culture. Previous research has also highlighted this lack of evidence on how the downstream effects of deprescribing are evaluated, with a call to address this research need (Thompson et al., 2019).

Extracting barriers and facilitators to implementation from the literature was challenging. Most included studies did not explicitly discuss factors that aided or impeded intervention delivery, with brief detail provided when discussing study design limitations. More detailed research and reporting on the barriers and facilitators affecting the implementation of deprescribing in primary care is needed. Most intervention studies fail in reporting implementation aspects, leading to inadequate understanding of the effective mechanisms of the intervention or difficulties replicating studies (Bach-Mortensen et al., 2018). Deprescribing implementation evidence would enhance its implementation and diffusion within healthcare systems.

The overall quality of studies varied significantly and there is a need for higher quality research to inform its implementation in primary care (Duncan et al., 2017).

4.4.2. Comparison with existing literature

A previous systematic review by Reeve et al., highlighted patient barriers and enablers to deprescribing (Reeve et al., 2013b). While it focused on patients' perspectives of deprescribing, rather than its implementation, and it was not guided by theory, there are commonalities between both reviews. Disagreement with the appropriateness of deprescribing, issues with the process of deprescribing, negative influences from family/HCPs and the fears associated with deprescribing, such as potential negative consequences, were key patient barriers (Reeve et al., 2013b). These are comparable to the coherence barriers, negative deprescribing perceptions and patient belief in a continuation of medicines, and the collective action barrier sub-optimal deprescribing environment.

Reeve et al., identified agreement with the appropriateness of deprescribing, aspects of process of deprescribing such as follow-up care available, positive influences and a dislike for medicines as patient enablers to deprescribing (Reeve et al., 2013b). Again, these enablers closely matched the coherence facilitator 'belief in the consequences of PIMs and ADRs', cognitive participation facilitators 'positive relationships between HCPs and patients', 'taking a patient-centred approach', collective action facilitators, 'supportive guidance for patients' and 'presence of a pre-defined deprescribing
process'. In summary, Reeve et al., advocated the need for a patient-centred deprescribing process that involved patient education and included support, monitoring, and follow-up (Reeve et al., 2013b). This review reiterates the need for a patient-centred approach to deprescribing but provides a deeper theoretical understanding of why such relationship and engagement work (cognitive participation) is needed to normalise deprescribing in primary care. Focusing on such factors would enhance deprescribing implementation for the future.

Another systematic review investigated the barriers and facilitators of deprescribing in primary care, including residential care homes. This study separated barriers and facilitators by socio-ecological levels: individual, interpersonal, organisational, and cultural. Cultural barriers related to a prevailing culture of prescribing medicines, with little financial incentive to address polypharmacy, similar to the collective action barriers identified in our review (Doherty et al., 2020). Interpersonal barriers were broad but related to fragmentation of care, poor collaboration between prescribers, uncertainties and lack of knowledge and GPs reluctance to stop medicines stopped by a specialist. These barriers were identified in this review. However, they were associated with multiple constructs of NPT, explaining how these barriers may impede implementation through their effect on coherence, cognitive participation, and collective action. Individual barriers related to patients not knowing why they were taking a medicine, lack of knowledge of or concern for medicine harms, and patients and HCPs less inclined to stop a medicine (particularly if taken over many years) (Doherty et al., 2020). These barriers were attributed to how patients and HCP make sense of deprescribing, and therefore coherence, in this review.

Organisational facilitators, identified by Doherty et al., called for improved clinical guidelines addressing multi-morbidity and deprescribing, and guidance to improve skills, tools, and knowledge of HCPs to deprescribing. In this review, this was identified as structured education and training for HCPs on proactive deprescribing within coherence and availability of deprescribing resources and support for HCPs within collective action. Similar to barriers, interpersonal facilitators were broad but involved improved communication between HCPs, positive relationships between HCPs and patients, the importance of continuity of care, provision of education to patients and the involvement of a wider MDT – especially community pharmacists (Doherty et al., 2020). The individual facilitators were 'improved information and guidance on deprescribing for GPs' and the 'ability to seek guidance from experienced colleagues', 'a patient-centred approach to deprescribing' and 'patient trust in their GP' (Doherty et al., 2020). Again, these facilitators emerged within this review and were attributed to affect

normalisation of deprescribing through coherence, cognitive participation, and collective action.

The approach taken in this review allows for further understanding of why these barriers and facilitators influence deprescribing implementation and normalisation, through their effect on the constructs of NPT. This approach, and NPT's implementation focus, has allowed for deep exploration of implementation barriers and facilitators, identify gaps in the deprescribing evidence-base and identify future research directions. However, this review has also highlighted how factors needed to normalise deprescribing in primary care have yet to be fully explored, particularly how deprescribing is appraised by those involved in the process. Facilitators identified in this review should be considered and incorporated within deprescribing implementation proposals to enhance the normalisation potential of interventions. On the other hand, it would be beneficial to plan how to overcome or minimise the effects, of the barriers identified, on the coherence, cognitive participation, collective action, and reflexive monitoring of deprescribing interventions. NPT has been useful in making theoretical connections between components of deprescribing interventions within literature and how they might affect the real-world implementation processes. Such evidence is needed to implement safe and routine deprescribing in primary care.

4.4.3. Implications for research and practice

Proactive deprescribing is an essential part of good prescribing practice and is needed to combat problematic polypharmacy. However, its safe implementation into routine practice is complex, involving understanding how patients and HCPs make sense of, engage with, conduct, and reflect on deprescribing. This review highlights several future research gaps that need to be addressed to ensure effective deprescribing implementation:

- Future research should identify and explore factors that impede or facilitate the routine implementation of deprescribing interventions in primary care.
 Furthermore, there is a need for improved reporting of implementation factors of deprescribing interventions, to enhance the ability to replicate such interventions within healthcare.
- There is a paucity of deprescribing research into the appraisal of deprescribing interventions in primary care. Future research should investigate how different stakeholders appraise the effects of deprescribing and how deprescribing interventions are adapted once implemented into practice. This would enhance

the deprescribing literature, through highlighting how stakeholders reflect on deprescribing and how this can be augmented to optimise implementation approaches.

 Deprescribing is being implemented in UK primary care through the use of structured medication reviews (SMRs). Post-implementation research of deprescribing, through theoretical lenses, will be important to ensure deprescribing is conducted safely and routinely. Use of theoretical approaches when considering implementation, such as the use of NPT in this review, can provide a clearer understanding to how and why implementation of a healthcare service succeeds and aid future replication (Nilsen, 2015).

4.5. Conclusion

Safe and routine deprescribing is needed to combat problematic polypharmacy, but its implementation into primary care is complex with limited supporting evidence. This review has identified barriers and facilitators to deprescribing implementation and provides novel understanding on how they affect normalisation of proactive deprescribing. It has also recognised the need for greater appraisal of deprescribing and its impact on patients and HCPs. This review supports the need for improved focus and reporting on implementation factors within deprescribing research. Such evidence is needed to replicate safe and routine deprescribing implementation across healthcare settings. Furthermore, this review highlighted significant barriers and facilitators to deprescribing appraisal in literature, to further explore with patients and HCPs in the subsequent qualitative work.

Chapter 5 – Study 2: Patient interviews

5.1. Introduction

This empirical study builds on the findings of the scoping review and systematic review in previous chapters and focuses on patients. This study was designed in combination with the study in Chapter 6 which focuses on HCPs. This chapter looks to understand the education required when the topic of deprescribing is introduced to patients. It also seeks to understand the support patients deem necessary when experiencing deprescribing, and their views on different HCPs that could be involved in the deprescribing process. These views were identified by conducting semi-structured interviews with patients and utilising framework analysis to analyse the data (Gale et al., 2013). In this study, NPT played a pivotal role in shaping the data collection phase: several interview questions were mapped to the theoretical underpinnings of NPT. NPT was also leveraged to provide context to why the empirical findings influence deprescribing implementation in primary care.

5.1.1. Aims, objectives, and research questions

The overarching aim of this study was to explore the perspectives of patients regarding the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care. This encompassed examining the specific educational and support needs identified by patients and their viewpoints on the involvement of different healthcare professionals (HCPs) in the deprescribing process.

Objectives were to:

- identify optimal methods of introducing and actioning deprescribing from the patient's perspective.
- understand the nature of support patients require during deprescribing.
- identify patient views on the involvement of different healthcare professionals in deprescribing.

Research questions:

What information should be incorporated in patient education programs on deprescribing?

- What nature of support do patients perceive as essential for safe deprescribing in primary care?
- How do patients perceive the potential roles of HCPs, with a particular focus on pharmacists, in the context of deprescribing in primary care settings?

5.2. Methods

5.2.1. NHS Health Research Authority (HRA) Ethical approval

NHS Ethical approval was required to conduct research with NHS patients and NHS organisations such as general practices. Research study details were populated in the Integrated Research Application System (IRAS) and submitted to the relevant research ethics committee (REC) for proportionate ethical review. Following this review, the REC highlighted ethical issues and considerations to be addressed, and so further referred this study to be reviewed by a full REC. Prior to the full REC review, responses to the ethical considerations identified were drafted and provided to the REC (Appendix I). Although there were numerous considerations highlighted, there were a few key considerations which are discussed here.

One aspect highlighted by the REC concerned patient confidentiality during online focus groups. The REC expressed concerns regarding the potential disclosure of sensitive information by patients about their medical conditions. The participant materials lacked sufficient information to caution participants about the risk of disclosing sensitive information in a group setting, and there was no requirement for participants to sign a non-disclosure agreement (NDA). Consequently, confidentiality could be compromised. In response, participants were explicitly informed about the limited confidentiality within the patient focus groups and instructed not to share any information from the group outside of the group. The participant information sheet (PIS) and consent form were subsequently revised to reflect this clarification. Additionally, any safeguarding discussions with patients would be conducted separately from the focus groups, and participants were encouraged to consult their own HCP for further support. It was not felt that an NDA was appropriate and proportionate which was accepted by the REC.

Another consideration raised by the REC pertained to the handling of personal identifiable data. While the original PIS indicated that such data would not be shared with the transcription company, the REC deemed video data as personally identifiable, thereby breaching confidentiality. To address this concern, only anonymised audio recordings of interviews and focus groups were sent to the transcription company. The PIS and consent form were accordingly amended to reflect this revised approach.

Furthermore, the REC raised questions regarding the feasibility of participants aged 65 years and older accessing the Microsoft (MS) Teams® software for online focus groups and interviews. The REC suggested the need for clarification regarding the

exploration of alternative media platforms, as limiting the choice of platforms could potentially impact participant recruitment and compromise the representativeness of the study population. It was explained that Zoom® had been considered but was deemed inappropriate due to a security breach reported in 2020. MS Teams®, as the authorised meeting software within the university, was selected for its availability, approval for handling highly confidential information (including medical discussions), and its compatibility with mobile phones, telephones, and web browsers. To support participants, a step-by-step guide was developed to assist participants in connecting to interviews and focus groups. Additionally, participants were offered the option of a trial run with the researcher to practice connecting to MS Teams®. Telephone interviews were also considered as a backup option if the use of Microsoft Teams was deemed unsuitable.

Following the full REC review, the study received ethical approval by the East of Scotland Research Ethics Service (EoSRES) (ref no. 21/ES/0020) (Appendix J).

5.2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion and exclusion for recruiting patients are shown in Table 16. It was decided that patients aged \geq 65 years old taking \geq 5 medicines was the appropriate study population due to their increased risk of problematic polypharmacy, as discussed in Chapter 1 (Gao et al., 2017). Community-dwelling patients were recruited and patients within care homes and palliative care were excluded as such speciality of care fell outside the remit of this research.

Table 16 – Patient inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria					
UK patients					
≥65 years old					
Taking ≥5 medicines					
Community-dwelling					
Capacity to provide consent					
Exclusion criteria					
Patients living in care homes					
Patients whose care is currently managed through palliative care					

5.2.3. Recruitment

A purposeful sampling technique was used, as this was appropriate to identify patients who met the inclusion criteria in Table 16 (Bryman, 2016). The target sample size ranged from 27 to 42 total participants, encompassing a distribution of 15 to 24 patients and 12 to 19 HCPs (Chapter 6). This sample size threshold was chosen as it aligned with previous qualitative literature in the field of deprescribing, wherein similar cohort sizes had been successfully employed for participant recruitment (Linsky et al., 2015, Donald et al., 2021, Turner et al., 2018). Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, recruitment methods were adapted to comply with social distancing guidelines. As a result, patient recruitment had to be flexible and diverse in approach to achieve the required number of participants. Recruitment posters and a patient information sheet were developed to promote the study and brief patients on the study's nature (Appendix K & L). A meeting was held with the NHS West Yorkshire Research and Development (R&D) team to identify how to circulate the research opportunity to patients across the region. Research active GP practices across West Yorkshire were contacted by the R&D team, asking to circulate the study with their service user groups. Once a practice responded with an expression of interest, the doctoral researcher contacted the practice to introduce themselves and the nature of the study, what was expected of the practice (to display recruitment posters and share study details with patient participation groups within the practice), and when the study would begin. This opportunity was used to send electronic copies of the recruitment posters and

information sheets via email to the interested practices to circulate. It was advised that potential participants should contact the researcher directly to be registered onto the study. In total, 60 research active GP practices in West Yorkshire were contacted.

In addition, an infographic (Appendix M) inviting patients was shared on Twitter and within patient network groups and charities. This included:

- School of Healthcare Experts by Experience in Education and Research Group at University of Leeds.
- Yorkshire Quality and Safety Research patient panel
- Safety in Numbers group (SING) in the NIHR PSTRC
- Leeds Older People's Forum
- Cross Gates & District Good Neighbours' Scheme
- Care75+ an experimental research cohort of community-dwelling older people aged 75 years and over involved in a longitudinal study to understand the process of ageing and frailty (Heaven et al., 2019).

When all planned routes of recruitment had been exhausted, the study was also shared on the NIHR People in Research website which highlights opportunities for public involvement in NHS, public health, and social care research.

Once patients expressed interest in participating in the study, they were provided with an information sheet, if they had not already received one from a general practice, and a consent form (Appendix N). A relationship was established with the participants through the researcher contacting them and introducing the nature of the research. Simultaneously, patients were asked for their age, gender, number of medicines they take, and ethnicity to ensure they matched the inclusion criteria and to aid in recruiting a range of genders and ethnicities. On completion of their participation, patients were provided with a £20 Amazon voucher as compensation for their time, in line with the NIHR INVOLVE guidelines (INVOLVE, 2020). Recruitment continued until the research team decided a sufficient sample size was reached based on available resources, reaching the lower range of the target sample size, remaining timelines, and repetition of emerging themes during ongoing data analysis.

5.2.4. Interview guide

An indicative interview guide was developed based on the findings of the scoping and systematic review conducted by the researcher (Appendix O). It was then further refined through discussions with the research supervision team and PPIE

representatives to enhance appropriateness for patients. Furthermore, the interview guide was piloted with fellow doctoral researchers to ensure interview questions made sense.

In the interview guide, a hypothetical deprescribing scenario was presented to patients, with subsequent questions based on patient education, patient support, and the potential role of pharmacists in deprescribing in primary care. A hypothetical scenario was utilised so that patients could imagine a deprescribing scenario, instead of discussing the possibility of stopping their own medicines, which could have posed ethical issues. In conjunction, two questions were influenced by NPT concerning cognitive participation (legitimation) and collective action (relational integration). These questions were around patient involvement and confidence in deprescribing and were included to understand factors needed to normalise deprescribing in primary care. These interview questions were selected based on the researcher's careful consideration of their appropriateness and relevance to the role of patients in deprescribing. The decisions regarding these specific questions were informed by prior research findings from Chapter 2 and 4, and meaningful discussions with the PPIE representatives. By focusing on these aspects, it was anticipated that any identified deficiencies could be effectively addressed and leveraged to enhance the process of normalising deprescribing in primary care.

5.2.5. Data collection

Informed participant consent was collected via the electronic consent form provided with the information sheet, or verbal consent was recorded before the interview or focus group as an alternative. Participants demographics were recorded whilst checking each participant matched the inclusion criteria.

Patients were invited to focus groups or semi-structured interviews, depending on their preference and availability. Focus groups were up to 90 minutes long and conducted online via MS Teams®, whilst semi-structured interviews were up to 60 minutes and conducted online via MS Teams® or telephone. Patients were able to choose if they wanted a telephone or online interview. Online interviews and focus groups were digitally recoded using the meeting record function in MS Teams® or using a digital tape recorder for telephone interviews. Interviews were conducted by the doctoral researcher, however a PPIE representative or research supervisor was available to assist in facilitating focus groups. Audio files were transcribed by an approved external transcription company, 1st Class Secretarial.

To prepare participants for interviews, each participant was provided with a step-bystep guide on how to join a MS Teams® meeting and provided the MS Teams® meeting invite well in advance and just prior to the interview if needed. Participants were also offered an opportunity to practice joining a MS Teams® with the researcher if they desired. Participants were also allowed to have a non-participant with them to provide technology support, however they would need to agree with the confidentially rules as described in the information sheet. The researcher also made field notes during the interviews and focus groups to note any relevant observations and allow personal reflections on the process.

The study findings of Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 were comprehensively reported in adherence to the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ), a widely recognised reporting guideline tailored for qualitative research (Appendix Q) (Tong et al., 2007).

5.2.6. Data analysis

Interviews and focus group data were analysed using the framework analysis method (Gale et al., 2013), following a systematic and rigorous approach. The researcher began by immersing themselves in the data, carefully reviewing and listening to the initial interview recordings and reading transcripts. This enabled a comprehensive understanding of the data, including the participants' responses. Reflective field notes, documenting the researcher's observations during data collection, were also reviewed to provide additional insights during the analysis phase. Open coding was then conducted, with the researcher assigning relevant codes to the identified data segments. This process was facilitated using NVIVO®. To enhance the validity of the coding process, the research supervisors were also involved in independently coding the same transcripts. Subsequently, the researcher engaged in discussions with the supervisors, exploring the rationale behind their assigned codes. Through collaboration, the codes were further refined and organised into groups based on their characteristics and similarities. This iterative process resulted in the development of an analytical framework comprising distinct code categories. An example of the analytical framework can be found in the appendices (Appendix P). The established analytical framework was then applied to the remaining transcripts. During this iterative process, if new information emerged that did not align with the existing framework, appropriate adaptations were made. Throughout the application of the analytical framework, the researcher identified emerging themes within the data, noting their significance and

relevance to the research question. Subsequently, the data were charted into a framework matrix using NVIVO®, enabling a summary of data categories for each transcript. The interpretation of the data involved the researcher critically reviewing the compiled codes and categories in relation to the research question. This process was further refined through in-depth discussions with the supervision team, exploring the relationships between the categories of codes and the data encapsulated within them.

NPT was used in this process to guide interpretation during the framework process, particularly of the NPT derived questions, and to contextualise findings. By following this rigorous analytical process, a comprehensive understanding of the data was achieved, supporting the exploration of key themes and sub-themes relating to the research question.

5.2.7. PPIE involvement

Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement (PPIE) played a crucial role in the planning and execution of this study. The insights and recommendations provided by PPIE representatives significantly influenced various aspects of the research process.

During the development of the interview guides, PPIE advice was sought to enhance the interview experience. It was suggested to incorporate house rules at the beginning of the interviews to create a friendly and conducive discussion environment. This recommendation, endorsed by the supervision team, was integrated into the interview guides. Furthermore, PPIE representatives emphasised that some patients might not have recent experiences of stopping medicines. To facilitate discussions, it was recommended to use scenarios rather than discussing personal medicines. This approach not only encouraged reflection but also minimised the potential risk of patients stopping their own medicines.

PPIE representatives also provided valuable input regarding the terminology used in the interview guides, recognising that some individuals refer to pharmacists as "chemists". The researcher took note of this feedback and adjusted the interview guide to ensure clarity when discussing community pharmacy.

Feedback from PPIE representatives was sought on recruitment posters, information sheets, and consent forms. Their expertise ensured that the language and visual presentation were appropriate and accessible to patients. The materials were shared with the Yorkshire Quality and Safety Research patient panel, who expressed

satisfaction with the clarity of the information provided. Additionally, the reimbursement amount for patient participation was deemed sufficient.

PPIE discussions also addressed the recruitment strategies during the COVID-19 pandemic. Optimal approaches to reach eligible participants were explored, and PPIE identified patient groups, such as the Safety in Numbers group, to disseminate the study information on behalf of the researcher.

PPIE members were consulted in relation to the logistics of conducting online interviews with older patients. Considerations were made to accommodate patients who might not feel confident using online communication platforms. As a result, telephone interviews were established as an alternative option, and patients were offered the opportunity to participate in a trial run to familiarise themselves with joining a MS Teams® meeting.

The involvement of PPIE ensured that the research process was responsive to the needs and perspectives of patients, enhancing the overall quality and relevance of the study.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Participant characteristics

A total of 20 patients were recruited with 10 online and telephone interviews each conducted. No repeat interviews were conducted. The patient demographics of the study sample can be seen in Table 17. Overall, the majority of the study population consisted of female participants, and the most common ethnicity was white British. Only one participant (patient 20) attended the interview with a non-participant, who was the patient's daughter. Interview duration ranged from 23 minutes to 71 minutes with and average time of 46.75 minutes. Although transcripts were not returned to participants for corrections, findings were disseminated to participants to provide opportunity for feedback. However, no substantial feedback was received that warranted a change in findings.

Patient	Age	Gender	Ethnicity	Number of Medicines
				taking
1	88	М	White British	8
2	66	М	White British	6
3	76	F	British Indian	8
4	70	F	White British	10
5	73	F	White British	10
6	86	F	White British	5
7	83	F	White British	5
8	67	F	White British	10
9	79	F	White British	8
10	87	F	White British	13
11	66	F	White British	6
12	74	М	White British	5
13	77	F	White (other)	5

14	66	М	White (other)	6
15	76	М	White British	9
16	68	F	British Pakistani	12
17	74	F	White British	12
18	72	F	White British	8
19	72	F	British Chinese	5
20	70	F	White British	8

5.3.2. Findings from Framework Analysis

Figure 5 – Thematic map derived from Framework analysis of patient interviews



Following framework analysis, three themes were developed from the data, with eight associated subthemes. These main themes were: 'Why deprescribe now?', 'Monitoring and follow-up', and 'Roles and relationships'.

5.3.2.1. Why deprescribe now?

This theme presents the information patients would like when the idea of deprescribing is introduced. It is presented in the following subthemes: 'deprescribing rationale' highlighting the importance patients place on understanding why deprescribing is being

proposed, 'communication and decision making' describing how patients would want deprescribing consultations to work and how involved in these decisions they want to be, and 'pharmacists as a source of advice' describing the additional sources of information patients may consult when deciding if deprescribing is right for them.

5.3.2.1.1. Deprescribing Rationale

The first piece of information patients wanted to know, when the idea of proactive deprescribing was proposed to them in a hypothetical scenario, was the rationale behind the recommendation. Patients explained that they would be curious about what may have changed in their health to trigger HCPs to consider stopping a medicine. This was especially the case if the patient had been taking the medicine for a long period of time and felt the medicine was still beneficial. This led to patients then wanting to know what harm would occur if they were to continue the medicine instead.

"I'd want to know all the reasons why it was being stopped in the first place, what had caused it to be stopped. If I felt it was doing me benefit, then I would want to know why it were being stopped. If it's presumably because it was going to start doing me harm, and what that harm was." [Patient 1, male, 88]

"I would always ask the question why, why now, why this, what do you expect would happen?" [Patient 9, female, 79]

Patients also highlighted why understanding the rationale for deprescribing is critical to accepting deprescribing. They had previously been told their medicines were 'for life' so the idea of medicines being stopped seemed to go against this and so patients were sceptical of the idea of deprescribing. One patient, who had experienced having a medicine deprescribed previously, explained how the idea of deprescribing came as a shock.

[In response to previous deprescribing experience] "Which I was quite surprised at, because when I was given them, I was told that you'll be on these for life. And just to say stop taking them it came as a bit of a shock." [Patient 2, male, 66]

Patients expressed how the deprescribing rationale would need to be provided in relation to their current health and condition. This meant that the rationale was supported through objective assessments of their condition and through relevant investigations such as blood tests. It was explained that this would be a logical way to justify deprescribing to patients. One way that this was proposed was that the

deprescribing recommendation was split into two consultations, first to introduce the idea and take the necessary clinical observations needed to review their condition (relating to the medicine to be deprescribed), and the second consultation to discuss the results of the observations in light of deprescribing, and then to initiate deprescribing.

"Well, I'd like [a] review of my condition. And whether that's further tests, x-rays, scans, whatever, I don't know, blood tests and so forth. And then a second consultation basically saying, your blood whatever levels are now okay, you don't particularly need this particular drug anymore. Give some logical reason why it's going to be stopped." [Patient 15, male, 76]

Furthermore, it was essential for patients to understand whether the decision to stop a medicine was financially motivated. Numerous patients disclosed that they would hold a suspicion that deprescribing was predominantly due to the NHS wanting to save money, as opposed to putative clinical benefit. It was described that this was due to their own experiences with medicine changes as a result of cost savings, such as medicine brand switches. One patient further highlighted a lack of trust in GPs due to a perception of their financial motivations, and so described how they would approach deprescribing negatively as a result.

"I would suspect them of going for a cheaper medicine because basically GPs [are only] interested in financial returns. I don't trust GPs at all ... Why he's doing it because I would want to make sure that it's not just a question of using a cheaper medicine." [Patient 12, male, 74]

"I'm assuming that simply stopping, and this is being a bit cynical, is for my benefit and not the budget's benefit." [Patient 17, female, 74]

After discussing the rationale for deprescribing, patients noted that they would want to know about the plan of how the medicine would be stopped i.e., whether this would be a gradual dose reduction or an abrupt stop, whether another medicine would need to be introduced as an alternative, and the potential side effects or benefits they might experience as a result of stopping the medicine. This helped patients to understand the deprescribing process and what they might experience as a result. Patients clarified that this provided further information that would help to decide on whether they would want to have a medicine stopped or not.

"Probably timelines. Was it going to be something that it would just stop, bang? Is it something that's a gradual phasing out? Is it necessary for washout if he wanted to put me on a different tablet?" [Patient 14, male, 66] "[Are there] any potential side effects we're looking for in terms of general health?anything that really is debilitating? ... Adverse effect on your life? ... Are you going to feel the other side effects that are beneficial? Are you going to feel more active?" [Patient 11, female, 66]

A few patients highlighted they were interested in the evidence behind the deprescribing rationale. For them, they would be more convinced to be involved in deprescribing if provided scientific evidence behind the benefit, so that they could understand why it might benefit them specifically. These patients expressed that they were driven by evidence, hence placed more emphasis on deprescribing evidence as part of the rationale. In addition, the support for deprescribing by professional healthcare organisations such as the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) would further help justify the deprescribing rationale.

"I think, if the doctor told me that NICE had updated its guidance for that particular medication, and it was supported by the Royal College of Physicians and the Royal College of GPs. And presented me with a paper or something that's in the British Medical Journal to that effect, regarding the lack of efficacy for that particular medication, I would be convinced. Because I'm driven by evidence." [Patient 13, female, 77]

"If there is some, I mean, obviously research, I'd want to know the source of that." [Patient 7, female, 83]

When asked what would help people feel confident about deprescribing, patients voiced how being provided with, and sufficiently convinced by, the rationale for deprescribing would address this. Moreover, a key element of a convincing rationale for patients was around knowing that the continued use of the medicine would be detrimental to their health and what the possible risks of deprescribing were. This would be a source of confidence for patients to undergo deprescribing.

"Yeah, the thing that would make me feel most confident, if I was given good convincing advice as to the reason for stopping that medication ... In other words, continued use of it would result in consequences that were damaging to my health." [Patient 1, male, 88]

[On being asked on what would provide confidence in deprescribing] "That I knew what the effect would be of it being stopped, why it was being stopped.... Why didn't you stop it before now?" [Patient 8, female, 67] Supplementary to being convinced by the deprescribing rationale, patients noted that learning about other patients' experiences with deprescribing would help improve their confidence in the process. This could be through word of mouth or reading about other patient's deprescribing experiences. Knowing that other patients had been through a similar situation safely was described as motivating, relatable, and provided confidence that patients would not be alone in their deprescribing journey.

"Well one thing that would help is if I knew someone who'd already been through it previously ... So, if there was a friend or neighbour or somebody else who'd stopped the medication and had no problems stopping the medication that might make me think, well, I think I want to give that a try. So, it's a bit of word of mouth." [Patient 14, male, 66]

"Other people's experience... Because other people's experience of taking a lot of medication like myself and have to slowly reduce it, it makes me feel better that I have something I can relate to. You have got some back-up...it is just peace of mind... Confidence in yourself that you are not alone with it and other people have experienced it." [Patient 18, female, 72]

5.3.2.1.2. Communication and decision-making

As well as the information content delivered by HCPs, patients placed emphasis on how the deprescribing information should be communicated. Patients preferred that deprescribing conversations were verbal, either face-to-face or via telephone, and supplemented with written information about what was discussed from the deprescribing consultation. The provision of written information after the consultation was further expressed through patients wanting to be signposted to additional information sources, such as websites, that they could access in their own time. It was highlighted that having this written information available was beneficial to help remember what had been discussed, to further explain the consultation to carers or family members who had not attended the appointment, and to aid their decisionmaking after the consultation.

"I'd like it face-to-face and also at the same time to be given a leaflet so that when you're actually with somebody you don't always take all the facts onboard. So, to have face-to-face and then to be given a written explanation as well." [Patient 10, female, 87] *"I think personally I'm okay with verbal, but I accept that quite a lot of people would like it written, not for themselves but for family members to understand." [Patient 2, male, 66]*

"There's so much online now and he [GP] could even point you towards a particular website which would explain all these things and you could actually read it yourself and investigate it yourself." [Patient 12, male, 74]

This provision of written information to aid their decision making aligned with patients wishes to be adequately prepared for deprescribing consultations, so they could be more involved in these conversations. They described how this could be through notice of the consultation so that the patient could have time to prepare their thoughts, or through the consultation being split into two parts, where the first consultation would focus on information sharing supplemented with written information (or sign-posted to further resources), and the second consultation would be when a decision would be made, with time in between for patients to reflect on the information and prepare for a decision in the second consultation. Patients placed emphasis on being able to a prepare their own questions about deprescribing before a decision was made.

"I would like a consultation. I would have liked notice of a consultation. In other words, so that I can be prepared. Because I'm afraid I have got older and wiser and realised that sometimes you need to have your own argument." [Patient 17, female, 74]

[How patient imagines doctor would introduce deprescribing] "I'll give you the online information... We'll make an appointment in two weeks' time and then we can come in and we can review. Once you've had a chance, we can talk through it." [Patient 11, female, 66]

Patients placing significance on being adequately prepared for deprescribing conversations complimented the fact that all-but-one patient believed that they could and should be involved in deprescribing conversations. Most patients felt they were ready to be involved in deprescribing conversations.

"I should be involved [in deprescribing discussions] ... I believe I can now." [Patient 10, female, 87]

Finally, patients made it clear that there would need to be clear communication between patients and HCPs, especially between those involved in their care, to ensure that deprescribing recommendations were not inconsistent between HCPs. This meant that if an HCP had recommended or conducted deprescribing, another HCP would not discourage or immediately reverse the decision. Ideally, a decision to deprescribe a medicine would be communicated to all HCPs actively involved in that patient's care and someone would act as a central coordinator to conduct deprescribing.

"I think it would be ... if [patient's GP] good practice to send that [deprescribing decision] to all the consultants that I'm under the care of, so that they all are in the know, in case I lost the piece of paper. I mean, it's all part of the communication and it's only fairly... a matter of courtesy for one doctor to tell the other what each one of them has done." [Patient 16, female, 68]

"Just to know who's coordinating [deprescribing], rather than have the doctor say one thing and then a pharmacist saying another... And knowing that they're communicating with each other." [Patient 19, female, 72]

5.3.2.1.3. Pharmacists as a source of advice

When deciding if deprescribing was right for them, most patients highlighted that they would seek advice from a pharmacist, either community- or practice-based. There was an expectation that pharmacists would be able to provide additional advice on the importance of or reasoning for deprescribing, what this might mean to the patient's medicines regimens and any practical changes around medicines management that might need to be considered, such as the supply of medicines post deprescribing. For most patients, the reason for this expectation was because they believed that any type of query or issue related to medicines was best directed to a pharmacist.

"Well, I would expect them [community pharmacists] to be able to assist me to, with advice on the effects of [deprescribing], the effects of diminishing the supply and so on." [Patient 1, male, 88]

"I think I would probably go to the GP [when discussing deprescribing] and if they talked about medication, I think I might go to a pharmacist to ask more." [Patient 2, male, 66]

"If I have any queries I would go to a pharmacist in the local chemist." [Patient 10, female, 87]

The involvement of pharmacists in providing deprescribing advice was also favourable to patients as they valued the idea of additional HCPs being involved in their care. Patients felt that pharmacists could potentially highlight things that had been missed by their GP, and therefore enhance patient care. As a result, patients would welcome the opportunity for pharmacist involvement.

"Yes, definitely, because the thing is, that means they're looking after my welfare, which would be important. I would hate to think they'd ... hesitate if they knew something and maybe thought, well, I wonder if the GP knows this, because no one of any profession can keep up with absolutely everything all the time... I'd be happy with that as well." [Patient 7, female, 83]

One patient, who described how they see community pharmacists as a source of medicines-related information, proposed the idea of accessing deprescribing leaflets in community pharmacies. With this idea, the leaflets would act as a gentle introduction to deprescribing which could then be followed up with a consultation with the community pharmacists in the consultation room if the patient had more questions.

"Well information sharing firstly, and a leaflet would probably be fine for that. I don't know whether there are any leaflets about it in the pharmacy, in the chemist shop, I don't know. But to me that would seem a likely place to start. Just to introduce the subject very gently at first. And then perhaps a more one to one talk in the little office when he's got time to ask more questions about it." [Patient 14, male, 66]

When asked about the potential roles of community pharmacists, some patients appreciated the idea of their community pharmacists identifying and communicating deprescribing recommendations to their GP. In this capacity, patients would want community pharmacists to discern the necessity of their medicines to identify potential medicines that could be deprescribed once referred to the patient's GP. However, patients expressed that for community pharmacists to be utilised in this capacity, there had to be a discussion between the pharmacist and the patient about the deprescribing recommendations before the recommendations were sent to their GP. Furthermore, a subsequent consultation with the GP about the recommendations should occur before deprescribing was then initiated.

"Do I need to be taking these?', and they [community pharmacist] could perhaps contact the doctor and just say he's brought this up, I think there may be some justification, could you see him and even advise and they could take it from there, even could you have an appointment with [the patient]." [Patient 2, male, 66]

"But I wouldn't have a problem [with community pharmacist providing recommendations of suitable medicines to stop to GP], again, as long as ... the pharmacist or one of the pharmacists from that chemist is going to have to be involved in the discussions...with the GP and with myself on the same basis again." [Patient 11, female, 66]

However, patients thought that community pharmacists would need to clarify how they reached such deprescribing recommendations with patients, as some patients were aware that community pharmacists do not have access to full medical records. Due to this, they were unsure how the community pharmacist could make deprescribing recommendations.

"I think it would depend on why they [the pharmacist] were recommending it... Because they don't have your medical records... How he's made the decision that that would be a suitable medication for you to stop?" [Patient 2, male, 66]

5.3.2.2. Monitoring and follow-up

This theme presents the nature of support patients believe they require from HCPs during and after a medicine has been deprescribed. This includes the sub-theme 'safety netting' discussing the frequency of follow-ups post-deprescribing and which HCPs patients would prefer to provide such support. It also includes the subtheme 'self-monitoring and social support' introducing the idea of empowering patients to self-monitor post-deprescribing and social support considerations related to deprescribing.

5.3.2.2.1. Safety netting

Most patients voiced how they felt it was necessary for HCPs to follow-up with patients during and after deprescribing to ensure safety during the process. However, there was a lack of consensus on an agreed follow-up frequency, ranging from weekly and biweekly follow-ups to monthly and yearly. Ultimately, patients deemed this was dependant on the medicine being deprescribed, the patient's current clinical status and results from any clinical tests conducted, such as blood tests. In many cases, patients were content to delegate this for the HCP providing support to decide, as they were equipped to decide on this.

"So, I would hope that my doctor would say something like, 'I will see you again in three months' time or whatever and see how it is going. If you have a blood test just before then we will know where we are and then we will take it from there. And then maybe another three months or six months or two weeks or

whatever. There would be that kind of plan and aftercare as it were from the decision to stop." [Patient 8, female, 67]

When deciding who was best to provide support during follow-ups, most patients showed no real preference about who provided this support, as long as they were qualified to do so and that it had been communicated to the patient that the chosen HCP would be providing support. A fundamental reason for this was that patients expressed they may not completely understand the roles, responsibilities, and skills of different HCPs, and so were not able to dictate who was best qualified to provide deprescribing support.

"Oh, well whoever's best equipped at that time. Obviously, there's very little method of understanding the ability of a doctor, or a pharmacist, or a nurse, you know, we're not qualified to be judge and jury on all those professions, they're there to advise us and guide us in what's best for us." [Patient 1, male, 88]

"Anyone who had the knowledge and skills and expertise to be able to assist me. So that could be the pharmacist, it could be the GP, or it could be a practice nurse." [Patient 7, female, 83]

When discussing the potential role of pharmacists in deprescribing, patients also valued the idea that community pharmacists could act as a safety net during deprescribing. This involved community pharmacists contacting patients during or after deprescribing to check how they were feeling, or the community pharmacy being a place for patients to attend if they felt unwell after deprescribing. This provided patients with a contact who would be aware of the deprescribing and would be able to help the patient with queries or if they needed reassurance. One patient compared the idea of this to their experience with the current NHS New Medicine Service (NMS), and so was content to apply this to deprescribing.

"If I have everything in writing, I'm happy with that, then I'll stop the medicine, that's fine. If I realise a week later that I'm not feeling well or I think this may be due because I've stopped the medicine or whatever, I can just walk to my community pharmacy and ask the pharmacist and have a chat." [Patient 12, male, 74]

"I've had that where when I went on the metformin the pharmacist said we'll give you a ring ... it's a either a week or a fortnight, just to make sure [everything is ok]. Yeah, fine." [Patient 2, male, 66]

5.3.2.2.2. Self-monitoring and social support

Although follow-up was seen as essential to ensure safety of deprescribing, patients were also cautious that regularly scheduled follow-ups, especially when patients were well, may be unnecessary and increase patient anxiety. Patients were also aware of clinicians having constrained time whilst practicing, as a result of the current NHS workload, and so felt unnecessary follow-ups would exacerbate this. As a result, patients emphasised that it would be beneficial to empower patients to self-monitor after deprescribing, and then consult with an HCP when they felt things were not right. One method of doing so was for patients to keep a personal diary and to record how they felt post deprescribing, and then take this to a scheduled appointment. A patient noted this was a form of patient activation and could help patients to be more involved in their own care, and therefore, help to improve healthcare outcomes.

"I wouldn't want to encourage unnecessary check-ups because for some people it's not a good thing, increases the anxiety." [Patient 16, female, 68]

"We're not talking about complex medicines, dangerous medicines here, so there is really not a need to check up unless patient says I can't take it, I'm feeling worse... It could be at the next consultation, or it could be just sending an email back to the GP surgery... But just keep a little journal. Keep a little diary of what happened, your symptoms. That, to me, is very important because, again, that's patient activation, it's getting patients to take care of themselves, to have their own agency." [Patient 12, male, 74]

Equally, to be best equipped to self-monitor, patients explained that they needed to know potential red flag symptoms to look out for, what to do if these were to occur and the knowledge that if needed, the deprescribed medicine could be restarted. Patients also wanted a point of contact, who did not necessarily have to be their own GP but was aware of the deprescribing and could answer patient queries related to it. This was vital for patients who voiced concerns regarding difficulties contacting HCPs during the COVID-19 pandemic and would not want to be in similar situation during deprescribing.

But with the provision that in two or three weeks' time, if I felt that there was something not quite right then I can go back and say you took me off this and I'm feeling this, and perhaps look at reintroducing it." [Patient 2, male, 66]

What I would like is some way of saying there's a dedicated number you can call, where you can leave a message ... where presumably, let's say it goes to the nurse ... There's some point of contact where if you are feeling concerned you can get through and say, please call me." [Patient 11, female, 66]

"I think to have the means of easy contact if you're concerned about something, not to have to go through trying to get an appointment, which in itself is a hassle... If I'm in that situation where there's a possibility of something arising I would like to know, who I can turn to immediately?" [Patient 17, female, 74]

The social support available for patients experiencing deprescribing was also discussed. Patients highlighted the potential need for emotional support or counselling as they may be emotionally attached to their medicine and having to stop taking them may disrupt their lifestyle and cause anxiety as a result. In addition, there may be ongoing or acute stressful situations that a patient is experiencing that HCPs are not aware of, which may be intensified by deprescribing. Patients also voiced a possible request for counselling to help with living with their long-term condition. This could then be further expanded to help patients learn of non-pharmacological treatment options that could be combined with deprescribing, such as coping strategies to deal with pain if analgesics were deprescribed.

"I'd hope that the GP looks a little bit further than a script, to be able to support individuals. Now, if I was feeling anxious [about deprescribing], maybe there might be a low intensity therapist that's skilled in people that are subject, or live with long term conditions." [Patient 13, female, 77]

"some people might feel that they want some sort of counselling ... but if you're really anxious about this... there may be other things of course that are feeding into the equation... let's say someone was taking some psychotropic drug and the doctor decided that they didn't think they really needed it, but the doctor might not know that in the background, let's just say hypothetically, an abusive husband or something, and there are children to be looked after. So maybe that...there is a reason that he's not aware of that the patient might want to continue." [Patient 17, female, 74]

"So, I mean for example, if it is pain relief [being deprescribed], then there might be other temporary mechanisms they could teach me, like mindfulness or other coping strategies... if they're not the ones that have the time or skills to tell me about those coping strategies, referring me to someone who can." [Patient 19, female, 72]

5.3.2.3. Roles and relationships

This theme describes patient views about the roles and responsibilities of HCPs involved in deprescribing. The subtheme 'medical hierarchy and understanding the role of pharmacists' identifies how and why patients placed emphasis on the involvement of different HCPs in deprescribing. The subtheme 'developed trust and continuity of staff' presents the interpersonal skills patients felt important for routine deprescribing in primary care. The final subtheme 'lack of integration and infrastructure for community pharmacists' describes patient perceptions about current healthcare system readiness to accept and action deprescribing in primary care. This was around the current system barriers that inhibits the routine adoption of deprescribing, particularly for community pharmacists.

5.3.2.3.1. Medical hierarchy and understanding the role of pharmacists

Although participants discussed the involvement of different HCPs, it was evident that patients placed importance on the involvement of their GP in deprescribing. In many cases, patients explained that they would only be happy to accept deprescribing if their GP specifically agreed with the recommendation. In addition, patients expressed how they did not want other HCPs, such as practice pharmacists, to conduct deprescribing independently from their GP and that the patient's GP had to be involved in the discussions. Some patients stated that they would prefer their GP to propose deprescribing which could then be followed up by another HCP. They key idea was that other HCPs would be working as a team around the GP.

"If the GP was happy, I would be happy as well." [Patient 20, female, 70]

"As long as I had that assurance that they are working together as a team." [Patient 16, female, 68]

"I would, if it was advised by the doctor, I would be happy for the GP pharmacist to oversee the reduction or stopping of medication, but I don't think I would be happy with them initially instigating the process." [Patient 3, female, 76]

Patients valued the involvement of pharmacists in different stages of deprescribing, whether practice or community based. Patients recognised pharmacists as medicines specialists, based on their qualifications and training, and could recall positive experiences discussing medicines queries with pharmacists in different settings. As a result, as deprescribing involves medicine use, patients found it ideal that a pharmacist would be involved in the process.

"[receiving] Information. I found that local pharmacists are usually very helpful. You only have to say, can I ask you a question and they either say, yes certainly what is it? Or they say, just a minute I am in the middle of something, are you able to wait a couple of minutes? Yes, they are usually very helpful. There is usually somebody, a pharmacist, who will come and listen to your questions and answer them if they can. Yes. I don't think I have ever found a pharmacist who hasn't been helpful." [Patient 8, female, 67]

A unique advantage of the involvement of practice pharmacists, expressed by patients, was that there is an assumed close working relationship with their GP, which was perceived as beneficial. This again highlighted the importance patients placed on the involvement of their GP. In comparison with practice pharmacists, a unique advantage of the involvement of community pharmacists was the accessibility of community pharmacies which made it easier for patients to get in contact with them. An example given by a participant was if patients needed quick advice regarding deprescribing, they could easily get in contact with their community pharmacist. Again, this view was expressed in light of the COVID-19 pandemic where patients highlighted difficulty getting in contact with other HCPs. In addition, the fact that community pharmacists are independent of GPs, some patients thought that their advice would be impartial and therefore beneficial if they had doubts concerning their own GP's decision.

"If they were a GP-based pharmacist, yeah, I would be fine with that, because the GP there is in close communication." [Patient 3, female, 76]

"I would say the community pharmacists because it would be easier in terms of practicalities. It would be easier for the patient to go to the community pharmacy ... you know, having to have yet another appointment putting more work onto the GP surgery for something which is not really that vital." [Patient 8, female, 67]

"Whereas my community pharmacist, I know they don't always agree with GP prescribing, but they're independent from the GP." [Patient 12, male, 74]

Conversely, not every patient welcomed the idea of pharmacist involvement in deprescribing. Some patients explained that they did not fully understand the current role of pharmacists, referring to how they previously understood the responsibility of pharmacists when they were solely in dispensing roles. Some patients thought that the new and developing roles for pharmacists may start to dilute the roles of GPs and that, as pharmacists were viewed as "in the back checking things" [Patient 13], they may

lack interpersonal skills to speak with patients due to a lack of exposure. This reduced patient confidence that pharmacists should be involved in deprescribing.

"I don't know the role of the pharmacist really. At one time they were there dispensing medicine. And now they seem to have taken the role that at one time was the GP's. So I don't know whether I'd be comfortable with a pharmacist stopping the medicine." [Patient 4, female, 70]

"I'm not sure about a pharmacist. I have not got the same confidence in pharmacy as I have with nurses and with GPs. And that's purely because I don't think they get the exposure talking to people, pharmacists. You go in the pharmacy, you give your name, you pick up your pills and the pharmacist is in the back checking things for the dispensers and so forth, he's not constantly talking to people." [Patient 15, male, 76]

One patient explained that some type of professional backing or certificate would be a potential way to help ease the mind of patients about this. Having this on display would help to indicate that a pharmacist is qualified to be involved in deprescribing and can provide reassurance for patients.

"If they are happy to, with the cooperation and support from the GPs, that is very good, and, again, if there is a certain cause that tells me as a patient that they are eligible and accredited to do that, I would like and welcome that reassurance. Again, put it on the wall ... Yes, and a certificate from the Royal Pharmaceutical Society would be helpful." [Patient 16, female, 68]

5.3.2.3.2. Developed trust and continuity of staff

Whilst discussing the involvement of different HCPs in deprescribing, patients placed emphasis on the pre-existing developed relationships and trust between patients and HCPs. This developed relationship and trust was pivotal to accepting deprescribing recommendations or support, and when this trust/relationship had previously been perceived as compromised, patients held negative perceptions on the involvement of that HCP. Therefore, in many cases, it was not necessarily important which HCP should be involved in deprescribing based on their profession or skills, but the preexisting relationship between that HCP and the patient.

"Provided I was able to be convinced that the doctor was... or whoever professional, was acting in my best interests which, as I explained in the case that I dealt with, they weren't. Provided I've got that trust in that person then I would be satisfied with that guidance... trust is the foundation of keeping the patient and professional relationship going." [Patient 1, male, 88]

"I mean I'm 87 now and I've been taking tablets for 30 odd years, so I'll just be guided by what [the patient's GP] says, I mean I'm just in his hands, he has kept me going all this time... I have, I have great trust in him." [Patient 10, female, 87]

"I think the relationship you've got with them got to be paramount in [deprescribing]. And my GPs can be a little bit matter of fact, where the pharmacist I have a much better relationship, I see him more often." [Patient 14, male, 66]

Patients were concerned with the lack of continuity in seeing the same HCPs involved in deprescribing. Patients articulated how they would want to see the same HCPs involved in deprescribing to be able to build a therapeutic relationship with them if this was not already present. There was a particular concern around continuity with pharmacists, with patients at times feeling that the pharmacist "doesn't know" them due to a lack of history interacting with them, especially if the pharmacists covered multiple practices or community pharmacies.

"Not the pharmacist because a pharmacist doesn't know me. I know they do have a lot to do with medicines in the surgeries." [Patient 5, female, 73]

"But in a tiny GP surgery where the pharmacist is basically working for three different GP surgeries in a week, that doesn't really work. So, if a GP pharmacist, whom I don't know, stopped a medicine, I would... Well, of course I would need something in writing." [Patient 12, male, 74]

[When discussing community pharmacist checking up on patient after deprescribing]

"No, I think I would prefer it coming from the practice ... It's, again, continuity of individuals" [Patient 11, female, 66]

There was also concern regarding a potential conflict of interest between practice pharmacists and GPs. One patient believed that, as practice pharmacists work for the GP, practice pharmacists would have to agree to clinical decisions and recommendations made by a GP or else face consequences with their job. This potential conflict of interest would then be detrimental to the patient's trust concerning deprescribing. "And also, don't forget [practice pharmacists] work for the GP surgery as well. So, they have a conflict of interest. If they don't agree with the prescribing that a GP is doing, they can't really do much about that because they find themselves without a job or involved in a big fight." [Patient 12, male, 74]

Finally, there was also some concern around the involvement of community pharmacy staff other than the pharmacist. Although satisfied with the involvement of community pharmacists in deprescribing, some patients highlighted they would not want to involve other community pharmacy staff such as counter assistants. Patients expressed that they did not trust these staff members and would not want to discuss confidential information with them.

"As long as it was the pharmacist and not just one of the assistants standing behind the counter who was helping." [Patient 10, female, 87]

"There's no guarantee...I would certainly...the only ones I would want contacting me would be the pharmacists... Not the normal sales staff." [Patient 11, female, 66]

5.3.2.3.3. Lack of integration and infrastructure for community pharmacists

One of the key concerns highlighted by patients, when considering how community pharmacists may help with deprescribing, was the lack of integration with wider primary care. This was predominately in the form of lack of access to complete medical records and clinical services, such as ordering and being able to review blood tests. Because of this, multiple patients found it difficult to imagine how community pharmacists might help in deprescribing, as their involvement would be limited by not knowing the patient's full clinical history, or their clinical actions would be limited through not being able to connect with wider primary care services. Conversely, the superior integration seen by practice pharmacists, predominantly being able to access full medical records as highlighted by patients, was favourable for their involvement in deprescribing.

I think the difficulty we have with that is [community] pharmacists can't order, for example, a blood review. So, it would have to go back to the surgery for somebody to authorise blood reviews ... So that would be difficult for me to take in that he or she could simply say, we can stop this." [Patient 15, male, 76]

"No, I don't think they've [community pharmacists] got the knowledge to stop things, because they wouldn't have records of my tests, my blood tests, my high blood pressure, all of it, whatever, they don't have it, I don't think, all I think they have is what the doctor prescribes for me?" [Patient 9, female, 79]

[Community pharmacists recommending deprescribing] "I'm not sure ... Because they don't have your medical records, the pharmacist in the GP surgery would have your medical records and would be able to review those before he made the decision." [Patient 3, female, 76]

The physical environment in which HCPs operate was also important to the implementation of deprescribing. Patients described how it would be important to have a private area available to discuss deprescribing and that, if community pharmacists are to be involved in deprescribing, they would have to have a private consultation room. Patients feared having to discuss their medical history, especially concerning deprescribing, over the counter in a community pharmacy and so a consultation room was essential for these conversations.

"I wouldn't want to be discussing deprescribing with someone waiting to get their prescription or someone who's just queuing up to get cough medicine." [Patient 17, female, 74]

"Well, to have somewhere where the conversations can happen. So, at the moment, and I said earlier, [my community pharmacy] haven't got a room so, you know, I wouldn't really want it to happen over the counter with other people around." [Patient 19, female, 72]

5.4. Discussion

5.4.1. Key findings

5.4.1.1. The importance of a strong deprescribing rationale

When the hypothetical deprescribing scenario was presented to patients it was evidently clear that one of the major questions regarding deprescribing was the motive behind the action. Even when introducing the topic of this research study to patients, patients placed heavy emphasis on knowing how or why deprescribing could be possible. For many patients, they held concerns that it was simply stopping a medicine to help with the NHS budget as opposed to their own health. An NHS priority is to make the best use of limited resources available (Owen et al., 2011). One way this has been achieved is through medicine brand switching where a particular brand is switched to a generic variation due to cost benefits (Ewbank et al., 2018). Many of the participants involved in the interviews had experienced medicine brand switching, and in some cases, without any discussion prior, and understood this to be a financially motivated decision. As a result, they assumed deprescribing was based on the same premise and therefore, were initially dubious about the idea. It was not until it was discussed how deprescribing differs from brand switching, highlighting it is for clinical benefit, did patients then start to appreciate why deprescribing could be beneficial.

In conjunction with fears that deprescribing was a cost-saving exercise, patients also questioned how viable deprescribing is. This was because many patients could recall being told when initiating long-term medicines, that those medicines would be "for life" and so the prospect of then stopping them unlikely. It is important that HCPs address the terminology used when prescribing medicines as this can influence how deprescribing is subsequently perceived. If patients are provided with strong messaging that they should be taking a particular medicine for the rest of their life, and emerging evidence suggests this is no longer the case, it may be difficult to then convince patients otherwise. The practice of evidence-based medicine, which entails a systematic approach to clinical problem-solving by integrating the best available evidence, patient values, and clinical expertise, has undergone continuous evolution (Sackett et al., 2000, Chloros et al., 2022). This evolution is particularly evident in how we approach clinical problems, specifically in the realm of prescribing decisions, because of the growing body of new research in the field of medicine. The increasing awareness of patient safety risks associated with the long-term use of medicines has further strengthened the need to re-evaluate prescribing practices (Nehra et al., 2018,

Chang et al., 2019, Gibson et al., 2022). This is further emphasised by the emerging understanding of the risks associated with problematic polypharmacy, as discussed in Chapter 1 (Dagli and Sharma, 2014). One must also consider the physiological changes that occur as a result of ageing, as well as possible changes in patient treatment goals which can occur alongside ageing (Tinetti et al., 2021). Hence, there is a need to strike a balance between establishing the importance of patient adherence to treatment, but also the possibility that the same medicine prescribed may need to be stopped or changed in the future. Strong messaging of a medicine being for life may make this challenging and places more emphasis on the need of a strong rationale when introducing deprescribing to patients.

In many cases, the importance of a strong deprescribing rationale was further reiterated through patients wanting to be able to take time and consider the evidence around deprescribing before deciding whether to stop a medicine. In multiple cases, patients described how they would prefer a two stage deprescribing consultation where the initial consultation introduces the topic, where information is provided and/or relevant clinical observations are taken, and another consultation where the patient has had time to consider deprescribing and the results of the clinical observations can further justify the need for deprescribing. Within this, patients being provided time to consider the information about deprescribing before making a decision was important. Literature has highlighted the importance of shared decision-making for deprescribing to be enacted effectively (Reeve et al., 2014b). Patients become more informed about potential outcomes as a result of shared decision-making and as a result, often choose conservative treatment options, such as taking fewer medicines, which facilitates deprescribing (Stacey et al., 2017, Jansen et al., 2016). To facilitate shared decisionmaking, it is crucial to afford patients adequate time to evaluate the evidence presented to them and carefully reflect on the potential benefits and risks associated with deprescribing. This notion aligns with the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline on promoting shared decision-making, which emphasises the importance of allowing patients the necessary time to make informed decisions about their treatments (The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2021). In the context of deprescribing, it is similarly essential to provide patients with sufficient time to consider the available evidence before reaching a decision, following the initial introduction of the concept. In juxtaposition, it is important to consider the increased workload to primary care as a result of deprescribing consultations being split into two, as described by patients in this study. Increases in the number of patient consultations in primary care with a lack of HCP recruitment to match this, has led to increased

workloads and compounds added pressures to the NHS (Hobbs et al., 2016). For deprescribing consultation to be routine in primary care, the effect they have on current workloads must be negotiated with the opportunity to allow patients time to reflect on the information provided and encourage their involvement in shared decision-making.

Confidence in the concept of deprescribing plays a vital role in its successful implementation, as it influences the willingness of both patients and HCPs to engage in the necessary work associated with deprescribing and facilitates its normalisation within the primary care setting. Within the context of NPT, confidence emerges as a significant concept within the sub-construct of relational integration, which contributes to the collective action required for deprescribing. To promote the normalisation of deprescribing in primary care, it is crucial to ensure that patients possess the necessary confidence in this approach. Through the analysis of interviews, it became evident that one key factor in instilling confidence among patients was their conviction in the rationale behind deprescribing. Therefore, it is crucial to allocate sufficient time to help patients comprehend why deprescribing is being recommended to them, the process involved, and the potential effects of continuing or discontinuing their medicine. By addressing these aspects, patients can develop the confidence needed to embrace deprescribing as a valid and beneficial approach to their healthcare.

5.4.1.2. Self-monitoring and a reverse NMS

When discussing safety concerning deprescribing, patients felt it was important they had some type of follow-up appointments scheduled with HCPs involved in deprescribing as a form of support. Patients had described that this would be to ensure negative outcomes of deprescribing could be caught before making any relevant condition worse. Interestingly, there was no agreed consensus on how often these follow-up appointments should be, with patients conceding that this would be dependent on the medicine deprescribed, the patient, and potential risk factors. Evidence has underscored the importance of monitoring and following up with patients after medicine withdrawal, especially to maximise patient adherence to deprescribing (Scott et al., 2012). Therefore, it is imperative that a monitoring system is in place when deprescribing in primary care to promote safety. However, the exact nature of such monitoring is likely dependent on the resources available, such as HCPs available, and the clinical context in question. This means, factoring for potential risk factors, the medicine being stopped and the patient themselves.

Interestingly, many patients placed emphasis on being able to self-monitor postdeprescribing. This involved knowing about possible symptoms that would require immediate medical attention, having a point of contact who could help if patients were worried about deprescribing or had deprescribing-related queries, and the possibility of patients keeping a personal diary to record their experiences during the deprescribing journey. Suggestions for patients to self-monitor emerged with some patients debating that the type of medicines that could be deprescribed would not be complex due to their long-term nature, such as antihypertensives. Due to this, non-complex medicines being stopped may not warrant frequent follow-up appointments, which could potentially cause more anxiety than be beneficial if patients were otherwise healthy. In addition, some patients were weary of the constrained time HCPs have for appointments, and so would not want to further burden HCPs with frequent deprescribing follow-ups which were not needed. Like deprescribing consultations, it is important that the additional workload generated from deprescribing follow-ups is balanced with the current resources available in primary care. Deprescribing safety should not be compromised due to the risks attached to the process. But in order for deprescribing to be normalised into primary care, the work associated with deprescribing, including the monitoring required, must be balanced by the impact it has on resources and division of labour, as this can hinder collective action and subsequently normalisation, as explained through NPT (Murray et al., 2010). Healthcare has changed from a paternalistic model, where the doctors were dominant and patients were passive recipients of their care, to a shared decision-making model (Driever et al., 2022). This provides opportunity for patients to be more involved in their care, for example through self-monitoring of long-term conditions (Renskers et al., 2020). Self-monitoring after deprescribing is a form of patient self-management, defined as any action taken by patients to monitor and manage their health conditions, and may encompass aspects of medical, behavioural, or emotional management (Dye et al., 2018). Evidence has shown that empowered patients involved in selfmanagement, especially for chronic conditions, tend to lead to improved health outcomes and reduces the cost of care (McBain et al., 2015). Therefore, the incorporation of self-management within deprescribing in primary care should be harnessed to potentially enhance deprescribing health-related outcomes and limit care costs where possible. The nature of self-monitoring in deprescribing, and how patients can be informed and empowered to be engage with this, should be explored to aid routine deprescribing in primary care.
Several patients expressed their thoughts on the potential role of community pharmacists facilitating as a deprescribing safety net and drew comparisons to the current NHS New Medicine Service (NMS) in the UK. The NMS is a free service that offers follow-up appointments with community pharmacists to support patients who have been prescribed new medicines, particularly for long-term conditions (NHS, 2023). The process typically involves an initial conversation when the patient collects the medicine, during which the community pharmacist explains the service and the patient can choose to participate or decline. Subsequently, two follow-up appointments are scheduled, the first occurring two weeks later and the second two weeks after that, allowing patients to discuss any issues they have encountered since starting the medicine. If patients experience difficulties during this period, the community pharmacist can offer advice on management or refer them back to the prescriber for further consultation (NHS, 2023). Patients drew parallels between this service and the idea of community pharmacists providing support post-deprescribing, envisioning regular contact from the community pharmacist to ensure patients are not encountering any challenges and offering the community pharmacy as a resource for assistance. As a result, patients could envision a similar role for community pharmacists in deprescribing, which has the potential to contribute to the promotion of safety in routine deprescribing within primary care, similar to their involvement in supporting patients when new medicines are prescribed.

5.4.1.3. Patient view on involving pharmacists in deprescribing

During this study, patients described numerous ways in which they envisioned how pharmacists may be involved in deprescribing in primary care. In most cases, this was centred around pharmacists being a source of medicine-related information around deprescribing, due to their medicine specialist background. This included community pharmacies being a starting place for educational deprescribing material for patients such as having leaflets. Patients could recall speaking to community and practice pharmacists about their medicines and envisioned similar roles within deprescribing. In addition, the accessibility of community pharmacists supported patients' views on why they would want such HCPs involved and in what capacity. How patients saw pharmacists is a testament to how the role of pharmacists has evolved from a focus of medicine dispensing to provisions of pharmaceutical services, patient information, and education (Worley et al., 2007, Bradley et al., 2018). In community pharmacy, this has been reflected through changes in professional services, payment structures and

undergraduate education, whilst dispensing process are increasingly handled by trained assistants, freeing up pharmacist time to provide patient focused services (Anderson, 2000, Hindi et al., 2017). This has been further complimented by the introduction of pharmacists into general practice with the goal of improving medicine management in primary care (Bradley et al., 2018). This capacity for patient-facing roles provides opportunity for pharmacists to be more involved in the management of medicines in primary care, which includes deprescribing. Evidence has shown the involvement of pharmacists in deprescribing can be vital to deprescribing success, especially utilising educational interventions and medication reviews (Martin et al., 2018, Ailabouni et al., 2016). Therefore, it is encouraging that patients also hold the view that pharmacists may have an important role in the implementation of routine deprescribing in primary care.

For a few patients, they were happy for pharmacists to be involved in deprescribing in any capacity, if the decision to do so was communicated to them prior and that there would be continuity with the HCPs involved. Patients wanted to know who they could expect to be involved in the deprescribing, and so if a pharmacist was to be involved, this was fine if they had received this information prior. The emphasis patients placed on this communication of those involved in their care goes in hand with how older patients tend to worry about how prescribing decisions are communicated between HCPs, especially at transfers of care (Moen et al., 2009, Ozavci et al., 2021). In addition, patients wanted continuity of the HCPs involved to develop therapeutic relationships. Fragmented care, including poor communication between HCPs and patients, is a known interpersonal barrier to deprescribing in primary care and so it is understandable as to why patients would be concerned about this (Doherty et al., 2020). This was particularly the case for community pharmacists, where patients noted they often interact with different pharmacists working within their pharmacy, making it challenging to develop a therapeutic relationship with them. For these patients, they did not want the pharmacist involved in deprescribing to constantly change as frequently as they have experienced in their local community pharmacy. Therefore, when considering the involvement of community pharmacists in deprescribing, it would be beneficial to understand how this would work in pharmacies that employ multiple pharmacists frequently, such as locum community pharmacists.

On the other hand, some patients questioned the appropriateness of pharmacists being involved in deprescribing entirely. These patients highlighted the fact that they were used to the traditional roles of pharmacists, focused on dispensing duties, and felt that the new evolved roles of pharmacists dilute GP roles. Due to this, they held reservations about pharmacist being involved in deprescribing. Similarly, there were elements of the medical hierarchy explored, with many patients wanting their GP to be the forefront of the deprescribing care provided. This meant that GPs would initiate deprescribing and other HCPs would not operate without the GP overseeing their actions. For these patients, it will be important that there is understanding on why other HCPs would be involved in deprescribing, and the role their GP plays, especially if they are not the HCP conducting deprescribing.

Understanding patient perceptions of the role of community pharmacists in primary care is crucial for assessing the acceptability of their involvement in deprescribing. Hindi et al., (2017) conducted a systematic review to explore patient and public perspectives on community pharmacy services in the UK. Their review included 30 studies identified through a comprehensive search of eight electronic databases, covering the period from 2005 to 2016. Thematic analysis was employed to synthesise the data (Hindi et al., 2017). The review revealed a low level of public and patient awareness regarding extended pharmacy services, with limited recognition of community pharmacies beyond traditional dispensing roles. Clinical services offered by community pharmacies, including the NMS, were also poorly understood and underutilised. Lack of awareness was attributed to a lack of promotion of these services (Saramunee et al., 2014). One study included identified resistance to acknowledge pharmacists as an essential member of the health-care team, with patients questioning appropriateness of the extended roles of community pharmacists, with perceptions of pharmacists "behind the counter" with roles limited to dispensing and minor conditions. Concerns were raised regarding potential commercial affiliations, financial motives, and perceived limitations in knowledge and training beyond dispensing. Despite this reluctance, participants recognised the expertise of pharmacists in medication-related matters. Common features that enhanced the use of pharmacy services included ease of access and convenience, while perceived lack of privacy and confidentiality acted as barriers. The review highlighted a theme of doctor supremacy, with respondents favouring doctor involvement over pharmacist involvement regardless of the service provided. Patients perceived doctors as possessing superior knowledge and training, and their perceived authority influenced patient acceptance of pharmacist recommendations. Patient trust in pharmacists was often inspired by doctors' confidence in them (Hindi et al., 2017). The review concluded that although patient and public perceptions of community pharmacy services were generally positive, there was a lack of awareness regarding services beyond medicine

supply. The authors recommended further research to explore this area (Hindi et al., 2017).

These findings align with the results of this doctoral study, particularly the recognition of the benefits of community pharmacy expressed by patients. However, the hierarchy of GPs in deprescribing decision-making and patients' limited understanding of pharmacy roles beyond medicine supply were also observed, emphasising the need to increase awareness of the suitability of community pharmacists in deprescribing interventions. There is also the need to build therapeutic relationships and trust between community pharmacists and patients to enhance patient utilisation of pharmacy services.

5.4.2. Implications for intervention design

- To aid patient confidence in deprescribing, it is important to establish a clear rationale for deprescribing. This should include the risks and benefits of deprescribing, how deprescribing will be conducted and red flag symptoms to look out for.
- Patients are motivated to self-monitor after deprescribing. However, to harness this, they require to have a point of contact who is accessible for questions or advice when needed.
- Patients generally accepted the involvement of community and practice pharmacists in deprescribing. However, it must be made clear to patients the nature of their involvement, the suitability to be involved in such capacity, and how their actions will still be overseen or reported back to the patients' GP.

5.4.3. Chapter summary

This chapter has presented the results of the qualitative analysis of 20 interviews conducted with community-dwelling older patients taking \geq 5 medicines. Patients highlighted their views on the nature of information to provide when discussing deprescribing, the support they believe is required to keep deprescribing safe, and their views on which HCPs should be involved in the process. Participants highlighted the importance of the deprescribing rationale, including relating this to objective assessments, providing patients an opportunity to consider information about deprescribing prior to a decision, the importance that the decision to deprescribe is communicated with other HCPs involved in their care, and that patients would consult a

pharmacist for further information. Participants also described how they are motivated to monitor themselves post-deprescribing, although this was under the stipulation that there should be a point of contact aware of their deprescribing, who they could access if they had concerns or questions. Participants also expressed that they were content with multiple HCPs being involved in deprescribing, if this had been communicated to them, there is continuity of care, and the patients' GP would still be involved in some capacity.

These findings help to provide initial ideas on how routine deprescribing may be normalised in primary care. In the next chapter (Chapter 6), the findings from focus groups and interviews with HCPs concerning the implementation of routine deprescribing in primary care will be explored. The findings of Chapter 6 will be synthesised with the findings of this chapter, which will inform the co-design study in Chapter 7.

Chapter 6 – Study 2: Healthcare professional interviews

6.1. Introduction

This chapter aims to examine the perspectives of healthcare professionals (HCPs) about the optimal implementation of safe and routine deprescribing practices in primary care. Building on the findings of previous scoping and systematic reviews in Chapters 2 and 4, this empirical study investigates the current state of deprescribing within the healthcare system, the factors necessary for deprescribing to become routine practice, and the safety considerations involved in the process from the viewpoint of HCPs. The data were gathered through semi-structured interviews and focus groups with a diverse group of HCPs, and analysed using the framework analysis method (Furber, 2010).

6.1.1. Aims, objectives, and research questions

The overarching aim of this study was to explore the perspectives of HCPs regarding the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care.

Objectives were to:

- investigate the current challenges and issues that healthcare professionals face when considering deprescribing in primary care.
- examine the safety measures and strategies employed by healthcare professionals during the deprescribing process in primary care.
- explore the factors that would facilitate the routine implementation of deprescribing practices in primary care from the perspective of healthcare professionals.

Research questions:

- What are the perceptions of healthcare professionals towards deprescribing practices in the current healthcare system?
- What strategies and changes to current healthcare practices can be identified through the perspectives of healthcare professionals to enable deprescribing to become routine practice?
- What are the safety considerations that healthcare professionals could employ to ensure routine and safe deprescribing practices in patient care?

6.2. Methods

6.2.1. NHS Health Research Authority (HRA) Ethical Approval

As this study was designed in combination with the previous study in Chapter 5 involving patients and NHS organisations, this necessitated obtaining ethical approval from the NHS HRA. The ethical approval process is outlined in detail in Section 5.2.1, with reference to REC reference number 21/ES/0020.

The study adhered to ethical principles such as informed consent, confidentiality, the right to withdraw, potential benefits and risks of participation, and provision of IT support, as detailed in 5.2.1. The online format of the study was expected to minimise the burden on HCPs, as participants could partake in the study from the comfort of their own environment, as well as facilitate recruitment of busy HCPs who could not commit to traveling to an interview venue. Additionally, the researcher was able to debrief with academic supervisors immediately after the focus groups or interviews, in case any difficulties were experienced during the study.

6.2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion and exclusion for recruiting HCPs are shown in Table 18. Given the central role of GPs in primary care medicines use, their inclusion in this study was deemed essential (Nixon and Vendelø, 2016). Furthermore, the potential benefits of involving pharmacists, as highlighted in Chapters 2 and 4, and the expanding role of practice pharmacists in primary care, justified their inclusion (Peterson et al., 2018). Additionally, to explore perspectives on deprescribing implementation at a senior management and policy level in primary care, Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) staff responsible for commissioning medicine services were sought. HCPs involved primarily in secondary and tertiary care, as well as those engaged solely in non-patient facing roles, were excluded due to the specific focus of this doctoral research on primary care and patient-related aspects.

Table 18 – Study 2 HCP inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria					
GPs including prescribing leads					
51 5					
PCN/Practice Pharmacists with patient-facing roles including reviewing patients'					
medicines					
Community Pharmacists					
CCG staff – Involved in the commissioning or provision of prescribing/medication					
review services e.g. Heads of Medicines Optimisation or involved in the medicines					
management system					
indiagement system					
Evolution evitoria					
Exclusion chiena					
Healthcare professionals whose workload was focused on secondary or tertiary care					
Healthcare staff involved solely in non-patient-facing roles					

6.2.3. Recruitment

Similar to the previous study, a purposeful sample strategy was utilised to identify and recruit participants that matched the inclusion criteria in Table 18 (Bryman, 2016). As described in 5.2.3, the target sample size ranged from 27 to 42 participants, encompassing a distribution of 15 to 24 patients (Chapter 5) and 12 to 19 HCPs. Recruitment strategies for this study were adapted in accordance with social distancing guidelines during the COVID-19 pandemic, as outlined in Section 5.2.3. A flexible recruitment approach was employed to ensure the success of the recruitment process. To promote the study and provide HCPs with an understanding of its nature, a recruitment poster and information sheet (Appendices R and S) were developed and distributed. The process of disseminating the study to research-active GP practices in West Yorkshire, as described in Section 5.2.3, was utilised to recruit HCPs. Each practice was encouraged to share the study details with eligible HCPs and potential participants were directed to contact the researcher directly to express their interest in the study. The study details were also shared on Twitter and within professional networks of the researcher and academic supervisors.

Once HCPs expressed interest in the study, they were provided with an information sheet and consent form to sign (Appendix T). HCPs were asked to provide their age, gender, ethnicity, and job title to ensure that they met the inclusion criteria and did not

fall within the exclusion criteria. This also facilitated recruiting a range of HCPs ages and genders in order to recruit a diverse sample based on these characteristics. Recruitment continued until the research team decided a sufficient sample size was researched based on available resources, reaching the lower range of the target sample size, remaining timelines, and repetition of emerging themes during ongoing data analysis.

6.2.4. Interview guide

The semi-structured interview guide was developed based on the findings of the scoping review and systematic review conducted in Chapter 2 and 4, respectively (see Appendix U). The guide began with an introduction to differentiate between reactive and proactive deprescribing using a clinical example and to focus participants' thoughts on proactive deprescribing. The guide then explored the barriers and facilitators of implementing deprescribing in primary care, aiming to understand the HCPs' views on how these barriers could be minimised and facilitators promoted. Additionally, the guide examined HCPs' views on the nature of patient education and support and clinician training required for routine and safe deprescribing to occur in primary care. Furthermore, the guide allowed space for discussion on what else may be needed for the optimal implementation of deprescribing in primary care, views on how patient safety may be maintained in deprescribing, and the organisational support available for HCPs to conduct deprescribing. The potential role of pharmacists in deprescribing in primary care was also explored. The interview guide included seven guestions that were derived from constructs and sub-constructs of NPT. The construct of collective action was represented by the sub-constructs of contextual integration, which focused on organisational support, and skill set workability, which focused on education and training. The construct of coherence was reflected in the sub-construct of internalisation, which aimed to assess understanding of the value of an intervention. The construct of cognitive participation included the sub-constructs of legitimation, which explored involvement with an intervention, and enrolment, which examined individual buy-in to an intervention. These questions aimed to capture the perspectives of HCPs on the importance and consensus of deprescribing, strategies to enhance engagement with deprescribing, the availability of organisational support for deprescribing, and the education and training needed for deprescribing to become routine. The selection of these sub-constructs and constructs was guided by the researcher's consideration of potential deficiencies in deprescribing implementation,

informed by the findings of Chapters 2 and 4, as well as discussions with the research supervision team.

The interview guide was revised and refined through discussions with the academic supervision team and was piloted with two pharmacists who were not involved in the study. The interview guides for one-to-one interviews and focus groups were identical.

6.2.5. Data collection

Similar to Chapter 5, informed participant consent was collected via the electronic consent form provided with the information sheet, or verbal consent was recorded before the interview or focus group as an alternative. Participants demographics was recorded whilst checking each participant matched the inclusion criteria.

Depending on their preference, HCPs were invited to attend a semi-structured interview or focus groups. Focus groups were up to 90 minutes and conducted online via Microsoft (MS) Teams®, whilst semi-structured interviews were up to 60 minutes and conducted online via MS Teams® or telephone. Interviews and focus groups conducted via MS Teams® were visually recorded using the meeting record functionality and then converted into audio files, whilst telephone interviews were audio recorded using a digital tape recorder. Interviews and focus groups were conducted by the doctoral researcher, whilst a research supervisor was assisted in facilitating focus groups. The researcher also made field notes during the interviews and focus groups to note any relevant observations and allow personal reflections on the process. Audio files were transcribed by an approved external transcription company, 1st Class Secretarial.

6.2.6. Data analysis

The analysis of the interview and focus group transcripts followed the framework analysis approach as described in 5.2.6 (Furber, 2010). An example of the HCP analytical framework can be found in the appendices (Appendix V). The analysis was conducted using the NVIVO®. NPT was utilised in this process to guide the development of interpretations during the framework process, particularly of the NPT derived questions, and to contextualise findings.

6.3. Results

6.3.1. Participant demographics

A total of 30 HCPs were recruited with three online focus groups, eight online interviews and one telephone interview conducted. No repeat interviews or focus groups were conducted. Participant characteristics are shown in Table 19. Overall, the most common age range of participants was 31 - 40 (n=15), whilst more female HCPs were recruited (n=17) than male HCPs (n=13). A diverse range of 8 ethnicities was recruited, with white British being the most common. No non-participants were present during data collection. Focus group duration ranged from 82 minutes to 84 minutes with an average time of 83 minutes. Interview duration ranged from 33 minutes to 63 minutes with and average time of 52.1 minutes. Although transcripts were not returned to participants for corrections, findings were disseminated to participants to provide opportunity for feedback. However, no substantial feedback was received that warranted a change in findings.

	Ago				Interview (I)
НСР	Age	Gender	Ethnicity	Job Title	or Focus
	band				group (FG)
1	31-40	Male	British Iranian	Practice pharmacist	FG
2	31-40	Male	British Iranian	Practice pharmacist	FG
3	31-40	Male	Indian	Practice pharmacist	FG
4	31-40	Male	White British	Practice pharmacist	FG
5	31-40	Male	Pakistani	Practice pharmacist	FG
6	41-50	Female	White British	Practice pharmacist	FG
7	21-30	Male	British Pakistani	Practice pharmacist	FG
8	41-50	Male	White British	GP	FG
9	31-40	Female	White British	GP	FG
10	51-60	Male	White British	GP	FG
11	51-60	Female	White British	GP	FG

Table 19 – Study 2 HCP demographics of study sa	ample
---	-------

12	31-40	Female	White British	GP	FG
13	31-40	Female	Black African	GP	FG
14	41-50	Female	White British	GP	FG
15	41-50	Female	White British	GP	FG
16	31-40	Female	White British	GP	FG
17	31-40	Female	Black British	Community pharmacist	I
18	21-30	Female	White British	Community Pharmacist	I
19	21-30	Female	White British	Community Pharmacist	I
20	31-40	Male	White British	Community Pharmacist	I
21	21-30	Male	White British	PCN pharmacist	I
22	31-40	Female	White British	PCN pharmacist	I
23	31-40	Male	British Pakistani	Head of Medicines Optimisation	I
24	41-50	Female	British Asian	Community pharmacist	I
25	21-30	Male	White British	Community pharmacist	I
26	21-30	Female	British Asian	PCN Pharmacist	FG
27	31-40	Female	British Pakistani	PCN Pharmacist	FG
28	31-40	Female	Arab	PCN Pharmacist	FG
29	21-30	Male	Indian	PCN Pharmacist	FG
30	31-40	Female	British Pakistani	PCN Pharmacist	FG

6.3.2. Findings from framework analysis

Three themes with nine associated subthemes emerged from the data analysis. The theme 'Current deprescribing climate' contained four subthemes 'Easier to prescribe than deprescribe', 'Deprescribing guidance and collaborations', 'Risk, confidence, and litigation', and 'A growing consensus'. The theme 'Routine implementation, roles and responsibilities' comprised of two subthemes 'Buy-in, training, patient education' and 'Pharmacists as a vehicle for deprescribing'. The final theme 'Keeping deprescribing safe' encompassed three subthemes 'Follow-ups and safety nets', 'A reverse NMS' and 'Communication and continuity of care'.



Figure 6 – Thematic map derived from Framework analysis of HCP interviews

6.3.2.1. Current deprescribing climate

This theme describes HCP views on the current state of deprescribing within healthcare. This comprises of the subthemes: 'Easier to prescribe than deprescribe' exploring how elements within current healthcare promote medicine continuation rather than discontinuation, 'Deprescribing guidance and collaboration' highlighting the need for guidance and working with other HCPs, patients, and families for deprescribing to occur, 'Risk, confidence and litigation' detailing the difficulty quantifying deprescribing risk, the fear of litigation and the influence confidence has in this, and 'A growing consensus' describing the growing, collective understanding for the need of deprescribing by stakeholders in primary care.

6.3.2.1.1. Easier to prescribe than deprescribe

When discussing the current barriers of deprescribing with GPs, pharmacists, and CCG staff members, they described multiple factors that impacted on current resources and workloads, making it challenging to routinely deprescribe in primary care. This involved lack of time to routinely deprescribe, competing workloads and pressures that they perceived took priority when compared to deprescribing. In addition, a lack of adequate staffing and funding made it difficult for HCPs to incorporate deprescribing into their current workload. This was particularly problematic for community pharmacists (CP) who were yet to have a defined and established role in deprescribing whilst simultaneously being "under-funded and under-staffed" [HCP 18] and so these factors also served as barriers to having a role in deprescribing.

"And also, the time, you know, we've got lots of tasks to deal with and your time might prevent you from putting in the extra minutes to investigate something further." [HCP 6, PP]

"Because, looking at [community pharmacists] right now, they're majorly underfunded, under-staffed, really stretched, huge pressures to do everything else in their job description. I don't know if they physically can do it, like, logistically, I mean." [HCP 18, CP]

Deprescribing was commonly viewed as unguided work, characterised by the need for judgment-based decisions informed by limited information that varied for each patient case. The perception of deprescribing as unguided work stemmed from the requirement to tailor deprescribing strategies to each patient's situation, relying mainly on HCPs' professional expertise, while lacking specific support or guidance for deprescribing decisions. The absence of clear guidance on factors to consider, monitor, or modify during deprescribing led to concerns among HCPs that their decisions may lack adequate support. This stands in stark contrast to the prescribing process, where comprehensive guidance is readily available, enabling structured approach to decision-making based on easily accessible information.

"If you look at NICE, there's very specific sort of guidance on there about starting [medicines] stuff. But stopping stuff, it's very much a sort of play it by

ear and patient...you know, treat each patient individually really. So it's not quite as structured and set in stone, so it comes very much down to opinion." [HCP 6, PCN]

With deprescribing decisions being predominantly judgement-based with a lack of guidance available, HCPs expressed how differences in their views on deprescribing further made it challenging to routinely deprescribe in primary care. HCPs noted that their deprescribing decisions were often resisted, undermined, or changed by other HCPs, particularly senior HCPs who did not agree with deprescribing, leading to demoralisation among HCPs and a sense that their deprescribing efforts were not worthwhile.

"And some GPs are quite resistant to any deprescribing, even things I would think that's absolutely fine like I'd be happy just to take that off myself, but they'd be resistant to it." [HCP 22, PCN]

"Me and XXX have worked together with doctors who have undermined a younger and more proactive opinion in practice...It's a little bit demoralising when you're trying to do what you know to be modern good practice and maybe the more senior partner goes back to medicine of 30 years ago." [HCP 6 PCN]

Another obstacle to routine deprescribing in primary care identified by participants was how medicines had been introduced to patients on initial prescribing. HCPs expressed how patients received education when initiating some medicines with emphasis that the medicine would be "for life" [HCP 23]. It was described that this then led to patients being attached to their medicines, especially after numerous years, making it difficult to change this mindset when the medicine risks outweighed benefits. Furthermore, because of such messaging, patients may see deprescribing as HCPs giving up on their care as they had previously believed the medicine was needed to stay alive. This change of patient mindset away from a medicine being for life was highlighted as necessary for deprescribing to occur, but the sudden switch in mindset was described as hard for patients to make.

"Especially things like aspirin and statins, they said, right, you're on this for life. To take that away from a patient then it's like something's gone wrong in their eyes. Yeah, I think that phrase there 'for life', that needs to go away, that needs to disappear, absolutely." [HCP 23, CCG]

"Another one is maybe patients' attitudes towards it, being like sometimes no matter how much you explain how a medicine is probably going to be doing more harm than good and they've been told they've got this medicine lifelong or something like that, that that's stuck in their mind, that they're going to take it for the rest of their life." [HCP 21, PCN]

Clinical inertia, described within these interviews as the concept of medicines being easier to continue rather than discontinue, even if deprescribing would benefit the patient, was a prominent factor impeding deprescribing. HCPs described how it felt easier to continue patients on medicines, even if they were no longer providing benefit, because they would rather not do anything that could potentially disrupt the patient's health stability. In many cases, HCPs would rather deal with the acute presenting problem, which normally required prescribing or continuing a medicine, rather than potentially cause more issues through deprescribing. In addition, some HCPs were hesitant to have difficult conversations about deprescribing as it was easier to avoid these conversations instead. This was especially the case if there was uncertainty regarding the time to benefit from a medicine. It was explained that the basis of this clinical inertia was that, if an adverse event were to occur as a result of deprescribing, the HCP would feel like it was their fault. If they had not acted and an adverse event occurs, they felt less likely to be seen at fault.

"I think part of is the clinical inertia... I'm now going to say, well, I think you're getting very frail and I don't know if you're going to live long enough for this medication to work, it's easier to just not have the conversation and move on to the next thing." [HCP 13, GP]

"And it can go both ways but when you've taken an action then the reaction feels like your fault, when you haven't taken an action then you can't be blamed for the reaction almost." [HCP 11, GP]

"I think there's a worry about upsetting the apple cart, that something's going to go terribly wrong ... So, everybody just goes to stable and on they go...I suppose, it's a bit of the inertia but it's more of the fear factor of it." [HCP 10, GP]

6.3.2.1.2. Deprescribing guidance and collaborations

When exploring factors needed for routine deprescribing to occur, HCPs expressed how having access to advice, guidance, relevant prescribing tools, and support for deprescribing was key. HCPs explained that, to encourage deprescribing at a national level, clear and specific guidance on deprescribing needs to be in place to support and encourage deprescribing decisions. This was necessary to help aid their decision making about deprescribing and provide structure to the practice, shifting away from deprescribing decisions being predominantly judgement-based with minimal support. This also included explicit tools to identify medicines suitable for deprescribing, which further supported their deprescribing decisions. HCPs could recall instances they have been encouraged to stop a medicine which was helped by having clear guidance available.

"I think advice is really helpful, you know, whether it's in the form of guidelines." [HCP 12, GP]

"I think it's really useful having certain tools that are available. They're really supportive. Things like STOPP START, being able to calculate anticholinergic burden, you know, and actually seeing in front of you that's a really high score, there's something we need to do about it." [HCP 22, PCN]

"I think if we want to manage or encourage deprescribing on a national scale, there should be, where possible, some clear-cut guidance for deprescribing. I think in the events where we've been encouraged to stop medicines, those have been medicines that have had that criteria in place". [HCP 5, PCN]

HCP stressed the critical role of a supportive MDT in facilitating deprescribing in primary care. According to HCPs, an MDT that provides deprescribing guidance can assist in making informed deprescribing decisions. Such guidance serves to reinforce HCPs' deprescribing choices and helps HCPs feel supported by their colleagues. Additionally, it allows for the sharing of additional workload arising from deprescribing interventions with other team members. Furthermore, a supportive MDT fosters an environment of reflection and learning, which ultimately improves deprescribing practices.

"There's support from the consultant pharmacist, he can take cases too, that you're struggling with or even if it's a retrospective case, you can discuss and see maybe what you could've done differently and then try and learn things that you can implement in the future." [HCP 21, PCN]

"Like an MDT, some kind of clinical team to be able to send tasks in to or send questions in to directly and be able to get a response from them to then know that actually, yeah, we've made this decision together as a multidisciplinary team and it's backed by a doctor or someone specialist in a particular area." [HCP 3, PCN] Working with patients and their family and/or carers when deprescribing and involving them in decisions was described as useful in facilitating deprescribing. Through discussions with patients and their carers/family, HCPs were able to understand the patient views on medicines, particularly if the patient believed the medicine to deprescribe was still providing benefit. Patients' families were a source of support for deprescribing for HCPs when they shared similar views on wanting to stop unnecessary medicines. This provided encouragement to HCPs to proceed with deprescribing.

"I've also found for elderly patients, talking to the carers, you know, or the family was so helpful because I came across one patient and her daughter had been wanting some of her medicine stopped for quite a long time and just wasn't...getting nowhere with it.

And I came along and kind of spotted they were suitable to stop, and she was so grateful, but having her support that she thought it was the right thing as well, that really kind of increased my confidence that it was the right thing to do." [HCP 22, PCN]

6.3.2.1.3. Risk, confidence, and litigation

Many of the factors that affected how routine deprescribing was considered or conducted were influenced by the confidence and/or experience HCPs had relating to deprescribing. The relationship between confidence and experience was described as dynamic and influential to how involved HCPs would be in deprescribing. This meant that, when HCPs had little experience deprescribing (or prescribing in general), low confidence to deprescribe followed and HCPs were reluctant to deprescribe. The reason for this low confidence was particularly around fear of negative outcomes because of their deprescribing interventions. There was a particular fear of compromising patient safety when deprescribing preventative medicines. The lack of confidence was further exacerbated if the medicine had been prescribed in secondary care. One HCP noted that not being an experienced prescriber also added to a reduced confidence to deprescribe with autonomy.

"I think confidence is a big issue for a lot of GPs. So, a lot of the medications that we're considering deprescribing have been started in secondary care and certainly a lot of GPs are fearful about reducing perhaps cardiac medications for secondary prevention for angina, heart failure." [HCP 15, GP] "I'd say another one is I'm not a prescriber myself yet, I've just completed the prescribing course, but I'm not registered yet, I feel like often it's having to discuss with a prescriber first before stopping a medicine because I'm not at that confidence level where I can just go ahead and do it myself." [HCP 21, PCN]

However, as HCPs gained more deprescribing experience, their confidence to deprescribe improved. Reasons for this related to HCPs being able to see the positive effect deprescribing had made for patients, but also the lack of adverse reactions from deprescribing. As HCPs gained more experience with deprescribing, especially the follow-ups and monitoring required, they felt they were able deprescribe more routinely. In addition, most, if not all, HCPs could not recall an experience where patient safety was jeopardised through deprescribing.

"As times gone on and I have done some deprescribing I feel like that's built my confidence, ... Now I do feel more confident now that I've got the experience. I know more about monitoring, and how to monitor and follow up patients that kind of thing. This helped me to deprescribe more routinely." [HCP 28, PCN]

"If you're working very closely with some patients and you keep going back and revisiting them, that would increase your confidence in being able to deprescribe things." [HCP 22, PCN]

Another factor that impeded HCPs' confidence to deprescribe, affecting how routinely they considered this intervention, was the uncertainty and risks associated with deprescribing. HCPs found it difficult at times to calculate the risks associated with continued medicine use (especially for preventative medicine) and communicating this to patients. Similarly, the uncertainty of the effects of deprescribing added to the risk factors HCPs associated with deprescribing. Because of this uncertainty, HCPs found it difficult to justify the risk of deprescribing compared to the risk of continuing potentially inappropriate medicines (PIMs), which subsequently hampered the confidence needed to routinely deprescribe. As it was difficult to quantify the risk of deprescribing, HCPs also explained how they struggled to then communicate the potential risks and benefits of deprescribing to patients.

"What I really don't like deprescribing is preventative things, because you don't know if when you stopped it that was the cause of something or It would have happened anyway, so for example, aspirin for primary prevention. There is no rationale to keep that on, but every time I deprescribe it, even now after I've been in general practice for nearly five years, I'm hesitant thinking how do I know that me stopping that isn't then going to lead to a heart attack at some point?" [HCP 26, PCN]

"And individually you can say, yes this will reduce your chance of this and this will reduce your chance of this, but in combination you're on ten tablets, in combination we know that you're just going to get poorly – but you can't quantify that very well." [HCP 11, GP]

When discussing risks and confidence relating to deprescribing, HCPs also explained how they felt about litigation due to deprescribing. HCPs feared legal action if a medicine, particularly for prevention of cardiovascular events, is deprescribed and an adverse reaction were to occur, or a patient became angry about the decision. This fear of the legal consequences would sit on the conscience of HCPs and was made worse by the lack of readily available evidence to support deprescribing decisions, particularly in a legal context. As a result, this would hinder HCPs routinely engaging with deprescribing and would rather continue PIMs instead. HCPs were unsure where they stood legally regarding deprescribing decisions and potential consequences.

"I'll be honest, for me, one of the biggest issues is litigation. I don't want to stop something, the patient gets angry or something happened and end up with, you know, a lawsuit on my hands. Or even the risk of one, I don't want to lose sleep over it, I'll be honest...so it's easier for me to press that button and issue it." [HCP 5, PCN]

"The biggest, biggest fear was ... we'll stop the aspirin. Well, are you going to take the blame if they have a TIA? Are you going to take the blame if this happens? Statin was the bloody hardest thing to stop, you know, because obviously the lack of evidence around by deprescribing. Litigation is a big fear." [HCP 23, CCG]

"Litigation. The unwanted consequences. Now I know that obviously you can't...I don't think anyone has actually been sued post a cardiovascular event but it would sit on your conscience wouldn't it if you stopped a patient's cardiac meds." [HCP 7, PCN]

6.3.2.1.4. A growing consensus

HCPs highlighted a recent but growing consensus on the awareness, benefits, and importance of deprescribing in primary care. Increased national focus on the negative impact of polypharmacy on patients and the healthcare system, coupled with the use of deprescribing in Structured Medication Reviews (SMRs), has helped to drive this consensus through greater awareness of deprescribing as a prescribing decision. As a result, HCPs explained that deprescribing is now being seen as an area of practice that should be embedded into routine practice.

"I would say yes. More so now, I think we feel more confident now more so than ever... it's almost like it's a national lever that's been pulled. So, you have stuff that gets done in place and in local areas. And try as you might, you will get some buy-in and sometimes you don't. But when you've got a big national lever like NHS England coming in and dropping a DES [Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service] like that, that says yes, you must look at polypharmacy and deprescribing in your structured medication reviews, it does add that heft to it." [HCP 23, CCG]

"Yes, I think so. But I think that's just quite recently. I think if you asked me that five years ago, I probably wouldn't have agreed as much with you. I think deprescribing is becoming a thing and what I mean by that is it's becoming an area of practice, and I think it's recognised that it needs to be embedded within routine practice, like prescribing and reviewing and monitoring." [HCP 19, CP]

However, although HCPs agreed with the need for deprescribing to combat problematic polypharmacy, it was not believed that a complete consensus on deprescribing has been reached. HCPs described how they believe only a minority of HCPs place a priority on implementing deprescribing into their own practice. Factors concerning deprescribing, predominantly how the routine practice should be implemented into primary care and whether HCPs believe it's their responsibility to be involved in deprescribing, were areas that HCPs have yet to reach consensus on. This was highlighted within the interviews where community pharmacists did not believe other community pharmacists would see deprescribing as their own responsibility. Other HCPs also described how HCPs may see deprescribing as important but something that will be addressed at a later stage for the patient by a different HCP.

"So, I think everybody would see it as important, but what my niggle is, whether they see it as something that they can do. You know, you can recognise something's really important, but whether it's your job or not, is kind of different." [HCP 19, CP]

"I think you'll find individual pockets, you find champions for deprescribing. You find people who are really interested in it and really want to push the agenda. But I don't think there's consensus. As a profession, we are a lot more

obsessed with trying to solve the problem at hand, which is adding in more prescriptions ...and then somebody else is going to review that polypharmacy at a later stage. But does anyone review that polypharmacy at a later stage? That's yet to be seen." [HCP 7, PCN]

"What I found is, you get GPs who are really passionate about medicines and they're really, really kind of like really hot on the topic [deprescribing] ... Other GPs, maybe not so. And I feel as if the former group is in the minority." [HCP 23, CCG]

In relation to patients, although there were variations, most HCPs recalled positive responses to deprescribing conversations by patients. HCPs experienced patients welcoming deprescribing due to expressing a preference to take fewer tablets, particularly as they grew older. HCPs mentioned that some patients would want to take fewer tablets but would not tell anyone, until the topic of deprescribing was introduced, allowing for this preference to be discussed. This would then help encounters around deprescribing to be productive for both patients and HCPs.

"I have a lot of patients that say, I hate taking tablets, I hate taking tablets... Especially as I think people get older as well, they don't like rattling with tablets." [HCP 20, CP]

"Yeah, I think there is a big range, there are patients who just take what they've been told to take but they're not too happy about it but they've never mentioned it to anybody. When you do go in and say, maybe there's a chance we could stop this or maybe it's not doing that much good for you anymore and they are keen to stop it, those encounters always go quite well 'cause it's a positive outcome for everyone." [HCP 21, PCN]

HCPs have acknowledged the significance of enhancing patient consensus on deprescribing. It was found that patient understanding is crucial in establishing the notion that deprescribing is not merely a cost-cutting exercise, similar to how patients perceived undertaking brand switches. Furthermore, patients must comprehend the benefits of deprescribing to recognise that it is not abandonment of care. HCPs recounted instances where patients raised such concerns, often prompted by rumours from other patients, which consequently necessitated a defensive approach from HCPs towards deprescribing decisions.

"Whereas some are very defensive and they feel like it's a cost-cutting exercise or they feel like you're sort of giving up on them. I've had a few elderly patients who have had conversations about stopping medicines... I think they sometimes take that as, well, that's it, that's the end of my life, you're giving up on me kind of thing." [HCP 2, PCN]

"I think some patients can be a little bit negative in the respect that I know I've heard before, is it because the NHS can't afford it, is that why you're taking me off my medication? Is it because it's a postcode lottery and I can't have it anymore because my postcode doesn't fit it." [HCP 14, GP]

6.3.2.2. Routine implementation, roles and responsibilities

This theme explores HCP views on what is needed for deprescribing to become routine practice and the roles and responsibilities needed for this to happen. This includes two subthemes: 'Buy-in, training and patient education' exploring the need for stakeholder investment into deprescribing and the nature of HCP training and patient education required for routine deprescribing, and 'Pharmacists conducting deprescribing' discussing HCP views on the role pharmacists have in implementing routine deprescribing in primary care.

6.3.2.2.1. Buy-in, training and patient education

When discussing how the implementation of routine deprescribing could work in primary care, HCPs expressed the importance of stakeholder buy-in by those who would be involved in deprescribing. Stakeholder buy-in was broadly described as the willingness to support and/or participate in deprescribing interventions within primary care. This was important to ensure any service developed did not compete with other services already offered or negatively affect staff workload. In addition, deprescribing would need to be viewed in a positive light by policymakers, patients and HCPs and promoted internally with all staff so that staff would routinely consider it within their practice.

"The first thing to do would be to get buy-in from the rest of primary care. So the first thing to do would be to sit down with GPs, nurses, whoever, to say right, this is the problem we've got around complex polypharmacy. We are thinking about developing a service, what does that service look like?" [HCP 19, CP] "And that means as an organisation we have to actually believe this to be a good thing and actively promote it throughout our staff." [HCP 13, GP] Another key aspect was training for current and future healthcare professionals. This encompassed considering deprescribing from "day zero" [HCP 23], when prescribing or circumstances where HCPs are reviewing medicines, even during opportunistic situations for other presenting concerns. It was described that such teaching would be useful in the independent prescribing course for pharmacists or as learning modules for continued professional development. The aim of such teaching was to increase knowledge about how to deprescribe effectively and safely, and to help HCPs make a transition from addressing every clinical problem with a prescription to being more judicious when considering starting a new medicine.

"I would say the only way I can see it being instituted on a regular basis would be...it's about day zero prescribing. So it's about educating a new generation of GPs that...when they're starting new medicines, to be really cautious and wary about why they're starting it and move away from a prescription culture" [HCP 23, CCG]

"Education. It would be useful to have modules in the prescribing qualification for pharmacists. It would be useful if the people that run educational training events for pharmacist like CPPE [Centre for Pharmacy Postgraduate Education]... if they had modules on deprescribing courses, virtual events, evening events." [HCP 22, PCN]

Similarly, for community pharmacists to be involved in deprescribing, HCPs highlighted a particular need for community pharmacists to have deprescribing training. This was important to ensure a consistent deprescribing message from different HCPs to avoid confusing patients and so that community pharmacists involved with deprescribing do not default to addressing patient problems by suggesting another medicine (whether over-the-counter or to be prescribed). One pharmacist suggested this should consist of two components: clinical deprescribing knowledge and how to enact/be involved in deprescribing. This would provide the clinical knowledge and skills needed to be involved in deprescribing, but also training to know which protocols to follow within a deprescribing service.

"If we're going to do this training, then they [community pharmacists] need to be part of that training as well. Because if they are still looking at solifenacin [medicine for incontinence] is a good, good, good drug, and it reduces your chance of wetting the bed, and not looking at its anticholinergic burden, then we're having two different conversations with the same patient, who just goes home confused" [HCP 7, PCN] "Yeah, I think [community pharmacists] should. I think I'd probably break it up into two bits. I'd break it up into knowledge. So thinking about complex polypharmacy, thinking about how medicines are potentially more risky in older people... Thinking about the process of deprescribing, about how they should do it. And even if you develop a service, I think it's important to train them about the specifics of the service. So about what protocols would they follow? How would they communicate it? How would they document it? How would they follow it up? So that would be required of the training" [HCP 19, CP]

HCPs explained that it was essential that patients were also recipients of educational messages about deprescribing. Accordingly, patients should understand what deprescribing is, the different models of deprescribing, for example (slow titration or complete stop), the benefits of deprescribing and why an HCP might suggest it for them. Educational messaging for patients on the need for deprescribing may also empower patients to be a stimulus for deprescribing through initiating deprescribing or medication review conversations. However, it was important that the nature of deprescribing education did not encourage patients to simply stop taking all their medicines, leading to non-adherence to essential medicines. Therefore, deprescribing education would need to strike a balance between the importance of stopping unnecessary medicines and the need to continue necessary medicines. HCPs suggested this patient education could be through patient information campaigns involving posters, leaflets, or built-in education within the NHS app.

"I suppose education and material for patients ... why couldn't the act of deprescribing, why couldn't the act of a review of their medicines be initiated by a patient as well? Some sort of posters, campaign that patients can see, are you on more than whatever it is, 10, 15 medicines, do you feel your medicines are a burden on you, would you like to discuss this with somebody who has the skills and the knowledge to be able to review the appropriateness of that?" [HCP 7, PCN]

"I think if you get too involved with stopping medication and trying to reduce tablet burden, I think sometimes patients feel like they need to stop all their medicines and they end up stopping stuff that...really needs to be carried on. So, I think it's just giving that sort of education." [HCP 2, PCN]

"Why not have it in that NHS app? I feel like there's so much potential for integrating different functionalities within there, and if there was a tab where it was like, this is my recent consultations, and these are the things I've had recently done to my medicines, it would fit perfectly in there." [HCP 18, CP]

6.3.2.2.2. Pharmacists conducting deprescribing

HCPs explained that PCN pharmacists are currently best situated to identify and conduct deprescribing due to deprescribing being part of SMRs. As such, this meant that PCN pharmacists should have protected time to conduct extensive SMRs that address the necessity of every medicine a patient is taking to highlight potential deprescribing opportunities. This identified PCN pharmacists as a primary HCP responsible in ensuring routine deprescribing occurs in primary care.

"So the PCN pharmacists and pharmacy technicians, so that's what they would do. So they're enacting on the structured medication review DES [Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service], which is obviously heavily focused on that" [HCP 23, CCG]

"[PCN Pharmacists] are doing the structured medication reviews now ... you're looking at what can be deprescribed. So, it's part of that process. So, for every patient that has a structured medication review, deprescribing should be considered" [HCP 22, PCN]

However, there was discussion about community pharmacists identifying patients who might benefit from deprescribing to refer onwards. This included through conducting medicines reviews and discerning the indication of medicines, providing an opinion about whether the medicine is needed or by identifying ADRs experienced by patients. Similar to the former Medicine Use Review Service (MUR), which involved community pharmacists conducting annual consultations with patients to discuss their medicine use, community pharmacists have the potential to provide feedback to GPs based on their findings for subsequent action (Latif, 2017). GPs noted that such a role would be important through being able to link medicines to the reasons they were initiated, so that they could make a more educated deprescribing decision. Various community pharmacist interviewees were keen on this role as they believed their knowledge in medicine use made them appropriate HCPs to identify when medicines were being used longer than typically necessary.

"I think the main role that we [community pharmacists] could have is first of all highlighting the medications that we think, hmm, I don't know whether this is necessary, so that's one of the roles." [HCP 17, CP]

"I see community pharmacy as more of like an identifying sort of stage or even like a messenger type of stage ... kind of what used to happen with the old MUR feedback forms. So when they did an MUR, if there was something that wasn't quite right, you would get a feedback form in general practice and it would say, please can you have a word with Mrs Jones." [HCP 5, PCN]

"I think community pharmacists could be involved in undertaking medication reviews, within a structured framework... Certain medications we know, you take them for a long time and the benefits are not really there... So having those discussions about actually when was the last time you tried to reduce them. What happens when you try to reduce them? So I think some sort of structured discussion about those medicines potentially looking to determine with the patient are they still needed?" [HCP 19, CP]

However, although such a role was described as useful and needed, barriers to community pharmacist involvement were often raised. Barriers included the limited access community pharmacists had to complete medical records which could impair their ability to know why a medicine was prescribed, limited communication with other health teams, and a potential conflict of interest due to reduced dispensing volumes and associated income. Also, without community pharmacists having access to full medical records and a complete picture of a patient's care, there was concern this could lead to excessive non-indicated referrals, unnecessarily increasing the workload of other HCPs.

"I think there's a bit of a conflict of interest with some of the community pharmacists, they get paid for dispensing and so it's a bit difficult. And often they don't have full access to the patient's notes so they're not seeing the patient in a round, they're just seeing a load of medication." [HCP 10, GP]

"I think that's the issue we're getting at the moment, in some places we get some pharmacists, who are clearly very knowledgeable but they're also very keen and have a sensitive trigger finger to refer everybody. And we tend to get some really inappropriate referrals... I think it's finding that balance between avoiding that sensitive trigger finger to send everybody on, you shouldn't be on this, you shouldn't be on that...I think the information plays a huge part in that because if they have the ability to have a look at the patient as a whole and then make a clinical decision, it would be a more sensible decision." [HCP 5, PCN]

6.3.2.3. Keeping deprescribing safe

This theme explores the perceptions and attitudes of HCPs regarding the maintenance of safety during deprescribing in primary care. It encompasses three subthemes: "Follow-ups and safety nets," which explores how the use of follow-up interventions and adequately preparing patients to manage potential adverse effects can promote deprescribing safety, "A reverse New Medicine Service (NMS)" which outlines the potential involvement of community pharmacists in an intervention that would follow-up with patients and provide feedback on deprescribing interventions, and "Communication and continuity of care" emphasising the significance of effective communication and continuity of care in ensuring the safety of deprescribing practices.

6.3.2.3.1. Follow-ups and safety nets

Most HCPs expressed a nuanced appreciation of deprescribing's safety risks. Specifically, HCPs acknowledged the potential for adverse outcomes resulting from deprescribing a medicine that was providing therapeutic benefit to the patient, leading to exacerbation of symptoms or disease progression. Additionally, HCPs also recognised that deprescribing could result in the loss of long-term therapeutic benefits of a medicine, withdrawal symptoms, and reduced patient confidence in the event of unfavourable outcomes. Given the possibility of such risks, some HCPs expressed concerns that patients may become reticent to attempt deprescribing in the future.

"There's the risk that the patient was actually getting a benefit from the medication that you're deprescribing and then you take it away and they lose that and it's like, well why have you stopped this, I want to restart it, they've lost a bit of confidence and maybe be a bit more reluctant to stop medications in the future." [HCP 21, PCN]

"I think the main risk is, if you stop it, and they should still be on it, what happens? So, it all depends on the indication for the medication. Like, why do they even need it in the first place and then what's the result from that." [HCP 18, CP]

HCPs highlighted that the main way they would look to mitigate such risks was to ensure patients were adequately monitored through organising follow-ups with patients. The nature of these follow-ups would depend on the medicine being deprescribed and the potential adverse effects of deprescribing it. So, medicines, such as opioids, would have a different nature of follow up due to the risk of withdrawal symptoms in comparison to other medicines not typically associated with withdrawal symptoms, such as statins.

"I've always tried to follow it up. Things that jump to mind what I've stopped recently are things like amitriptyline for nerve pain. And I do try and arrange some sort of follow-up in a few weeks. I think that does help with the patients' perspective and, you know, checking that they have got some sort of follow-up booked." [HCP 2, PCN]

"So I think safety netting is one thing that's really important, to monitor patients. To again, not just have, if you like, a one-off deprescribing episode. To follow the patient up regularly." [HCP 19, CP]

"if you deprescribe opioids or something like that, you know if you don't do it the correct way you'll start getting withdrawal symptoms. I think it depends on the medication really." [HCP 27, PCN]

These follow-up procedures were deemed crucial by the participating HCPs in ensuring the safe implementation of deprescribing. Furthermore, follow-up appointments enabled HCPs to monitor patients' deprescribing progress, gather insights from the experience, particularly in relation to the associated safety elements and the absence of ADRs, and subsequently improve their deprescribing practices. Conversely, when HCPs were unable to allocate sufficient resources or time for arranging deprescribing follow-ups, they may have been hesitant to initiate the deprescribing process, concerned that they would be unable to ensure the patient's safety.

"I generally I'm quite happy to deprescribe most things, it's just when it's things like that where I can't follow up and check on something and in terms of what makes you more comfortable, I suppose XXX said, it's that experience and it's the fact that when you follow up after the change, the patient still alive and nothing bad happened." [HCP 3, PCN]

"The follow-ups [making deprescribing safer] and then I suppose to facilitate that, you need the resource to be able to do it. I think XXX said earlier was very honest in that sometimes you may deter yourself from having that discussion because there is no capacity to follow up. And I think having that capacity to be able to follow up because at the end of the day, we all want to give patients that gold standard and if you don't have capacity, you don't have the resource, how do you?" [HCP 7, PCN] To minimise the risks of deprescribing and promote safety, HCPs also expressed the importance of adequately safety-netting patients after deprescribing. This intervention diverged from the previously discussed follow-up measures and centred on ensuring that patients were well-informed about where to seek assistance and guidance in the event of any adverse effects or concerns related to deprescribing. The initiative would also encompass contingency strategies for resuming the discontinued medication if deemed necessary.

"If [the patient] need to go back to the dose that you were on, I will have a safety net plan and I'm going to follow up with like an appointment in three weeks and then let me know what was going on." [HCP 27, PCN]

"I think, yeah, follow ups and to check how they're doing once the medication's been stopped ... And having someone to contact if they do need support in between those follow up calls or visits." [HCP 21, PCN]

6.3.2.3.2. A reverse New Medicine Service

When discussing potential roles of community pharmacists in deprescribing, the idea of community pharmacists being a safety net or involved in a follow-up system was consistently raised. An idea developed of a service where community pharmacists would follow-up with patients who had recently had a medicine deprescribed. In addition, the community pharmacy would also be a place for patients to ask questions or visit if they had issues, they believed stemmed from deprescribing. This idea was likened to the current New Medicine Service (NMS), where community pharmacists organise follow-up appointments with patients starting a new long-term medicine to check on the patient's wellbeing, as it would follow similar timelines and responsibilities of the current NMS service (NHS, 2023).

"But I definitely think there's a role for [community pharmacists] in terms of following up. So for example, if you stopped a medicine and if a service was put in place, like the NMS, NDM? newly deprescribed medicine service? And as part of that service, they would follow up the patient in four weeks and then ring them up again, just like they do in NMS, how are you getting on, has your reflux come back, you know, how's your blood pressure, come in and we'll do your BP as well." [HCP 1, PCN]

"Let's say, a medication was stopped by the GP, that could be flagged up by them to the community pharmacy for them to follow up, so it would be then

handled in a similar way as the new medicine service in terms of you would then contact the patient, okay, fine, I understand that this medication has been stopped, I'm going to just give you a series of phone calls or you can come in, we can discuss and just monitor how you're getting on. And then reassuring them as well that whatever you report, I'm going to report back to the GP just to make sure that they're aware and we're following up on issues to do with deprescribing.

So I think it would work well just the same as the new medicine service, deprescribing monitoring could work very similarly" [HCP 17, CP]

HCPs described how this would be helpful to patients because community pharmacies are accessible, and therapeutic relationships were already developed between pharmacists and patients. HCPs expressed that it is helpful that patients obtain their medicines from community pharmacies and so this could be a convenient environment and location to accommodate deprescribing conversations. It was also viewed as within the current scope of practice for pharmacists by multiple HCP roles within the interviews.

"Think that would be a good idea, absolutely. I think that's a point of call for that because, as I say, then the GP, you know, they can carry on focusing on the other clinical side of things and the patient wouldn't have to make an appointment. They could just pop in." [HCP 20, CP]

"I think that's not an outlandish idea, I think it falls within the current scope, there's already a basis for it. I think the good thing about that then as well is, I think the community pharmacist is ideally placed then to have that conversation. Now that you've stopped your painkillers, now that you've stopped your statins, now that you've stopped your muscle rubs... How are you actually feeling? Are you getting those hypos? Those conversations that you don't necessarily get to have with a GP, I think that's actually a very good idea." [HCP 23, CCG]

"Yeah, I think that'd be quite good 'cause patients usually have a good relationship with their pharmacist, they might see them if they're going to collect their medicines, things like that. It would be a good opportunity for it to be followed up that way." [HCP 21, PCN]

However, HCPs explained that it would be important for community pharmacists to be equipped to conduct the necessary monitoring for the deprescribed medicine within this service. For example, being able to take blood pressure measurements when an antihypertensive has been deprescribed, in which this form of clinical measurements already occurs in community pharmacies. However, this was as opposed to taking blood tests, which is not performed within the current NMS service or within community pharmacy in general but may be required to adequately monitor some discontinued medicines. And if an adverse reaction were to arise, community pharmacists should have a variety of tools and non-pharmacological interventions available to them to address these where possible, rather than simply recommending another medicine and re-contributing to polypharmacy or an automatic referral back to the GP.

"I suppose, the only difficulty for me is that if an answer for them is another drug, not so keen on that, whereas I think what you need is other tools in your toolbox so, you know, to help your insomnia or your bladder stuff. And so, some of that needs to have a slightly more clinical focus, I suppose, than more tablets." [HCP 10, GP]

"Yes. It would depend on the medicine, I think. But for example, if you were to stop a blood pressure medication, could a pharmacist check somebody's blood pressure? Yeah, absolutely. I think that would be a perfect role for them... Anything that really requires something like maybe a blood test or something. Something like that, the community pharmacists tend not to get involved in." [HCP 19, CP]

6.3.2.3.3. Communication and continuity of care

HCPs explained how they mitigated deprescribing safety risks through the style and content of deprescribing discussions with patients and their families. This was regarding how they delivered the decision to deprescribe to patients (and ensuring patients understand why the HCP has come to that decision), understanding patients' thoughts on the deprescribing rationale, considering what patients can expect following deprescribing and ensuring patients were central in these discussions.

"I think it's also about communication again with the patient, and letting them know what to expect, so for example, like, stopping the PPI [Protein Pump Inhibitor] it's telling them to expect a bit of a rebound of symptoms. And I think if the patient knows what's going to come, they are more likely to be on board with it and continue with it and persevere through with it." [HCP 9, GP]

"If we think about that relationship [deprescribing] *risk, it's having the discussions correctly with the person that's at the centre. So, it's all about the language you're using, the consultation style, the way you communicate*

verbally and non-verbally. But there's also an element... So, I think being safe in that manner, you know, acting as a professional." [HCP 18, CP]

HCPs stressed the significance of effective communication and continuity of care among HCPs involved in deprescribing, as it was considered integral to ensuring patient safety. Maintaining a sense of connectedness and ongoing engagement with patients during the deprescribing process, as well as preventing other HCPs from reinstating the deprescribed medicine without a clear understanding of why it was ceased, were deemed crucial. HCPs asserted that adequate documentation and seamless communication among healthcare providers were essential in achieving these objectives.

"I think with mitigating risk I think continuity of care is really important because patients often find sometimes they're quite abandoned if we stop something and then if, like, a rebound symptoms happens then they speak to somebody else or... You know, a good example is a patient that's well known to our practice who we ring every day. And we stopped so many medications, so his complications start and stop, the main thing is bowel pain and then all he does is rings out of hours and they prescribe the very same thing we stopped." [HCP 8, GP]

"So, make sure that everybody is informed about the decision that needs to be. So, the patient knows, carers know, family know, GP's aware, that it's documented well in the journal... That's what I find very difficult, is when things just get stopped and there's no explanation." [HCP 22, PC].

6.4. Discussion

6.4.1. Key findings

6.4.1.1. Overcoming the barriers to implementation

This qualitative study elucidated the factors that impede deprescribing efforts in current healthcare settings as perceived by HCPs. HCPs expressed concerns about the lack of comprehensive deprescribing guidance and resources, which contributed to a perception of deprescribing as a judgment-based practice with limited supporting information. This led to a sense of unstructured and unguided decision-making and practice, with minimal materials available to justify and substantiate deprescribing choices. The resistance to deprescribing was further exacerbated by varying opinions among HCPs, with some more senior professionals undermining deprescribing attempts. These factors contributed to clinical inertia, as HCPs found it easier to continue prescribing medicines rather than discontinuing them. Challenges in assessing the potential risks associated with ongoing medicine use, as well as fears regarding the consequences of deprescribing, including patient safety and the possibility of litigation, further influenced HCPs' initial confidence in deprescribing.

Conversely, instances where HCPs were provided with clear and concise deprescribing guidance, enabling them to structure their deprescribing approach and support their decision-making, resulted in more frequent instances of deprescribing. Additionally, collaborative efforts with other HCPs as part of an MDT in deprescribing work proved beneficial. This collaboration provided access to advice from additional HCPs, distributed the deprescribing workload, and fostered an environment of reflection and shared learning among HCPs. As HCPs gained more experience in deprescribing, their confidence in engaging with the practice increased, leading to greater involvement in deprescribing activities.

Similar findings have been identified in literature, with insufficient tools and resources for deprescribing being consistent barriers reported in deprescribing literature, especially within primary care environments (Doherty et al., 2020). This encompassed staffing difficulties such has shortages and high staff turnover rates. It is well established in literature that the effective use and deployment of HCPs is vital to ensure service delivery in terms of cost, quality and quantity (Ozcan et al., 1995). Sufficient staffing levels play a critical role in establishing a congruence between patient needs and the competencies of HCPs, thereby often resulting in enhanced patient safety outcomes (Halm, 2019). Nevertheless, it is equally important to consider

the capabilities, opportunities, and motivations of HCPs in order to comprehend their behaviours towards complex healthcare interventions (Michie et al., 2011).

Despite the extensive literature available on the impact of inadequate staffing levels and its consequential effects on patient safety and care quality, the majority of evidence is situated within the context of nursing homes when in primary care, or secondary and tertiary care settings entirely (Ree and Wiig, 2019, McKeown et al., 2019, Hariyati et al., 2022). However, there is a paucity of literature specifically investigating the influence of staffing levels on primary care services for communitydwelling patients, such as general practices. Nonetheless, it is plausible to gather insights from the findings and experiences within nursing home contexts to shed light on this aspect.

A qualitative study, exploring overprescribing of psychotropic medicines in nursing homes in Australia, investigated the organisational climate factors that influenced psychotropic medicine use. This study conducted semi-structured interviews with 40 on-site and visiting staff in various nursing homes, which included specialist medical practitioners, GPs, pharmacists, nurses, and nursing home managers. The study found that on-site staff were requesting the initiation of psychotropic medicines for patients to help cope with high workloads as a result of inadequate staffing (Sawan et al., 2017). Dose reductions and stopping psychotropic medicines was also unwelcomed by staff due to the belief this would increase behaviour disturbances and further increase staff workload (Sawan et al., 2017). Such evidence perpetuates how inadequate staffing can not only lead to the prescribing of problematic medicines, but also discourage the deprescribing of medicines due to the subsequent increase in workload. Nevertheless, it is crucial to acknowledge the limitations inherent in making direct comparisons between the context of this study and the specific focus of this doctoral research. Nursing homes offer a more intensive care service characterised by close supervision and medicines management by HCPs, which differs from the care provided to community-dwelling patients who typically manage their medicines independently. However, it is important to take into account the detrimental impact of insufficient staffing on the discouragement of medicine discontinuation and the prescribing of potentially inappropriate medications (PIMs), as well as the body of literature exploring the associations between inadequate healthcare professional staffing and resulting compromised quality of care services and patient safety concerns (Hariyati et al., 2022, Ree and Wiig, 2019).

Workforce challenges in the NHS present a threat to the efficient deployment of current and future health services, such as deprescribing. A Kings Fund report in 2018 explored the factors contributing to the current NHS workforce shortage and identified poor workforce planning as a significant contributor (The King's Fund, 2018). This report also highlighted that if staff shortages continue, healthcare providers may not have staff able to deliver commissioned additional services. For deprescribing to become routine practice, even as a commissioned service, it is important that it does not exacerbate NHS staffing shortages and can be implemented with the current available workforce, or it will continue to face difficulties in being actioned. Workforce planning, described as ensuring that '*the right people with the right competences are in the right jobs at the right time*', must be utilised to minimise further exacerbation of staffing concerns within the NHS (Willis et al., 2018). Required areas to be considered through workforce planning include defining all HCPs involved in deprescribing within primary care, what roles they would have and the resources available to fund such roles.

Adequate workforce planning would also be required to enrich MDT involvement in deprescribing in primary care. However, there is a paucity of evidence investigating MDT approaches to deprescribing in primary care involving community-dwelling patients. A study by Kua et al., investigated the effect of an MDT approach to deprescribing within older adults in primary care nursing homes in Singapore. In this multicentre stepped-wedge RCT, the MDT intervention approach involved pharmacists conducting medication reviews and identifying PIMs, discussing the feasibility of deprescribing with nurses involved in residents' care, communication through nurses to physicians to review and action deprescribing recommendations, and all three disciplines were involved in monitoring the patient post-deprescribing (Kua et al., 2021). The study found a reduction in mortality (HR 0.16, 95% CI 0.07, 0.41; p < .001) and number of hospitalised residents (HR 0.16, 95% CI 0.10, 0.26; p < .001) as a result (Kua et al., 2021). Overall, this study advocated for an MDT approach to deprescribing and was able to identify the potential benefits of such approach. This provides a challenge as evidence advocates for MDT involvement, however this must be balance with current staffing obstacles in the NHS. However, translating the findings from this study to a UK primary care context may not be simple. As previously mentioned, a nursing home environment involves different medicine management process compared those experienced by community-dwelling patients in the UK. Within this study, this included the frequent visitation by nurses, pharmacists, and doctors to residents, which would not be common in a community setting.

HCPs identified a lack of resources and guides as a barrier to deprescribing in clinical practice. However, increasing the availability of deprescribing resources may not be
sufficient alone and the importance of evaluating the use, feasibility, and impact of deprescribing resources should not be overlooked. Reeve et al., (2020) conducted a review of deprescribing tools and guidelines, highlighting their potential benefits for addressing barriers to deprescribing. The review identified seven types of tools: general deprescribing guidance, generic (non-drug specific) deprescribing frameworks, Drug-specific deprescribing guidelines/guides, electronic clinical decision support systems, tools for identifying PIMs), tools for engaging patients and others (Reeve, 2020). This variation in deprescribing resources highlighted diverse ways and domains within the deprescribing process where HCPs can be supported through the utilisation of these resources. Yet, only a few had been evaluated in practice and their effectiveness in increasing deprescribing is unclear (Reeve, 2020). Furthermore, while deprescribing tools and guidelines may help address some barriers, such as a lack of awareness of PIMs, they may not be effective for other barriers, such as time limitations (Reeve, 2020). These findings come in a timely manner where the availability of deprescribing tools and resources has been increasing and introduces the risk of ineffective deprescribing tools saturating the available choices for HCPs. Future research should continue to explore and evaluate the optimal utilisation of deprescribing resources in primary care.

6.4.1.2. Making deprescribing normalised practice

A major factor hindering the implementation of deprescribing in primary care was the pervading prescribing culture. In this study, this was identified as the phenomena whereby HCPs find it easier to prescribe compared with deprescribing due to the current pressures, influences, and structures of modern-day healthcare. Many of the drivers of polypharmacy, as described in Chapter 1, influence this culture such as an ageing population and the use of single disease clinical practice guidelines that rarely consider deprescribing (Bennett et al., 2021). The perception that patient satisfaction is dependent on whether a medicine is prescribed or not also contributes to this (Martinez et al., 2018). There is a need for a culture shift away from simply providing prescriptions and towards patient-centred care with the focus of patients being on the minimum effective number of medicines as possible.

As described within this study, a possible route away from prescription culture is through stakeholder buy-in to deprescribing interventions. The idea of 'buy-in' within healthcare typically involves personal and professional commitment to actively engage in a process, task or initiative and without this, HCPs are unlikely to commit to a level of which is needed for active engagement (French-Bravo and Crow, 2015). Stakeholder engagement has also been identified within the MRC guidance for developing complex healthcare interventions to enhance adherence and end user adoption of the intervention (Shrestha et al., 2022, Skivington et al., 2021). Within deprescribing, key stakeholders are patients, carers, HCPs, and policy makers actively engaging with the idea of deprescribing or deprescribing interventions. Understanding work needed to enrol individuals to engage, and so buy-in, with a new practice resides in the construct of cognitive participation within NPT (Finch et al., 2012). By focusing on the construct of cognitive participation in NPT, there are four theoretical domains in which stakeholder buy-in into deprescribing may be enhanced, derived from the four subconstructs of cognitive participation (Table 20).

Sub-construct	Application to deprescribing
Enrolment	Do stakeholders believe they are the
	correct people to drive forward
	deprescribing implementation in primary
	care?
Initiation	Are stakeholders willing and able to
	engage others in the implementation?
Activation	Can stakeholders identify what tasks and
	activities are required to sustain
	deprescribing in primary care?
Legitimation	Do stakeholders believe it is appropriate
	for them to be involved in deprescribing
	in primary care.

Table 20 – Subconstructs of cognitive participation and their application to deprescribing adapted from Huddlestone et al. (2020)

Under the sub-construct of enrolment, stakeholders must believe they are the correct people to drive deprescribing implementation in primary care. This presents the initial challenge in defining the stakeholders involved in deprescribing, as there are a lack of studies identifying multiple stakeholder groups in deprescribing research (Warmoth et al., 2020). Within healthcare interventions, stakeholders are typically defined as those who can affect or are affected by the intervention, which in this case is deprescribing

(Schiller et al., 2013). Using this definition, the stakeholders previously identified within deprescribing literature, and the relevant stakeholders identified within this doctoral research, the identified stakeholders involved are shown in the stakeholder map below (Warmoth et al., 2020, McCarthy et al., 2022b, Rasmussen et al., 2021, Heinrich et al., 2023).





In the stakeholder mapping exercise, stakeholders were positioned along two dimensions - power and interest - based on their potential to deprescribe or commission deprescribing services and their level of benefit or involvement in deprescribing. Those with the ability to directly influence deprescribing through their professional roles, such as PCN pharmacists and GPs, were positioned higher on the power scale due to their direct impact on deprescribing implementation (Anderson et al., 2020, Ammerman et al., 2019). Conversely, stakeholders were placed on the interest scale based on their potential benefits from deprescribing or their role in identifying and disseminating deprescribing evidence. For example, patients stood to benefit from reducing PIMs, while researchers played a crucial role in generating deprescribing evidence (Omuya et al., 2023, Thompson et al., 2019). The placement of community pharmacists on the boundaries of high and low interest was influenced by their varying involvement in deprescribing practices, their commitment to safe and effective care, and the varying opinions regarding their responsibility and involvement in deprescribing (Farrell et al., 2019, Korenvain et al., 2020). Lastly, the public was positioned at the centre of the map to underscore their potential for both high or low interest and power, depending on their level of awareness and understanding of problematic polypharmacy and buy-in to deprescribing, as highlighted by the need for public campaigns identified in the study.

It is imperative that all stakeholder groups exhibit willingness and capability to engage with other stakeholders within the intervention, particularly in relation to the initiation sub-construct. In the context of patient care, this could be achieved through the implementation of a MDT approach to deprescribing, as discussed earlier, where multiple HCPs and the patient collaborate in the deprescribing process. However, to create a deprescribing culture that permeates beyond the immediate clinical setting and involves the stakeholders identified in Figure 7, broader adoption is necessary. This entails incorporating stakeholder perspectives, views, and beliefs into the development of implementation strategies. Such an inclusive approach facilitates comprehensive stakeholder engagement and fosters a sense of ownership and commitment to the intervention's success.

The current body of literature on stakeholder engagement with deprescribing initiatives in primary care, specifically among community-dwelling patients, is limited. Most of the available research has focused on long-term care facilities, leaving a gap in understanding stakeholder perspectives in community settings. In light of this gap, it may be valuable to draw insights from the existing literature on stakeholder engagement in long-term care as a starting point. A recent study conducted by Heinrich et al., (2023) exemplifies the utilisation of stakeholder engagement, coupled with behavioural science principles, within long-term care (LTC) facilities. The study designed to design an implementation strategy to enhance HCPs engagement with deprescribing for frail older adults in LTC. This research methodology presents a valuable framework that can be adapted to identify effective methods of stakeholder engagement with the various stakeholders depicted in Figure 7, thereby fostering the development of a widespread deprescribing culture.

Initially, the study involved mapping the factors influencing deprescribing in LTC to behaviour change techniques (BCTs) using the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW) and BCT taxonomies. Subsequently, a Delphi survey was conducted, involving general practitioners, pharmacists, nurses, geriatricians, and psychiatrists, to determine the feasible BCTs that could support deprescribing efforts (Heinrich et al., 2023). To promote widescale deprescribing adoption, this methodology could be modified to include stakeholders from Figure 7, particularly those with high power and high or low interest, as well as those with high interest and low power.

The study's methodology concluded with a roundtable discussion involving the aforementioned HCPs to prioritise the factors influencing deprescribing and tailor the implementation strategies accordingly (Heinrich et al., 2023). Similarly, this aspect of the methodology could be expanded to incorporate additional high-power stakeholders from Figure 7, aiming for widescale implementation strategies across primary care. Through such stakeholder engagement approaches, stakeholders can gain a deeper understanding of their pivotal role in driving implementation (enrolment), enhance their ability and willingness to engage others by considering diverse perspectives (initiation), identify the necessary tasks to sustain deprescribing implementation (activation), and emphasise the importance of each stakeholder group's involvement in primary care deprescribing (legitimation).

6.4.1.3. Ensuring deprescribing is safe

HCPs participating in the study expressed concerns and apprehension regarding the risks associated with deprescribing, echoing the sentiments outlined in Chapter 1. However, a specific challenge raised by HCPs was the difficulty in quantifying the risk associated with both continued medicine use and discontinuation, as well as effectively communicating this risk to patients. This challenge was particularly evident when dealing with preventive medications, where HCPs acknowledged uncertainties surrounding their efficacy in older patients and the potential occurrence of ADEs following deprescribing. The deprescribing of preventive medicines can pose significant challenges, especially in cases where there is a lack of clinical markers to monitor for potential adverse events for which the medicine was initially prescribed (Reeve et al., 2018a). This can be further exacerbated by the general lack of evidence for medicine use the older patients due to a lack of representation in clinical trials, as described in Chapter 1 (Bourgeois et al., 2017). Consequently, there may be limited methods available to predict if an adverse event will occur until it manifests, thereby potentially compromising patient safety.

The ECSTATIC study conducted in 2018 aimed to assess the deprescribing of preventative cardiovascular medicines in general practice for patients with a predicted low CVD risk. This cluster randomised non-inferiority trial focused on individuals aged

40-70 without established CVD who were using antihypertensive or lipid-lowering medications as preventive treatment (Luymes et al., 2016). Among the study population subgroup of 492 participants, 319 individuals successfully had their medicine deprescribed, and 135 participants remained without the deprescribed medicine after 2 years.

The findings revealed that patients who had stopped the deprescribed preventative medicine after 2 years exhibited significantly higher systolic blood pressure (6 mmHg, p < 0.05), diastolic blood pressure (4 mmHg, p < 0.05), and total cholesterol levels (7 mg/dl, p < 0.05) compared to the usual care group (Luymes et al., 2018). The study concluded that deprescribing cardiovascular preventative medicines in low CVD risk patients was safe in the short term when regular monitoring of blood pressure and cholesterol levels was conducted. However, it is important to note that the study's follow-up period was limited to 2 years, raising questions about the long-term safety of deprescribing preventive medicines beyond this timeframe.

Furthermore, a higher proportion of participants in the study restarted the preventative medicine within the 2-year period compared to those who remained without it. Although the reasons for restarting the medicine were not reported, this aspect raises concerns regarding the feasibility of deprescribing preventive medication if the medicine is eventually resumed by the patient due to an increase in risk factors associated with ageing.

While the ECSTATIC study provided evidence supporting the safety of deprescribing preventative medicines, the lack of investigation into the long-term (beyond 2 years) risk of developing CVD after deprescribing raises important questions. Further research is needed to explore the extended safety implications of deprescribing preventive medicines and to understand the factors contributing to restarting medicines among patients.

The ECSTATIC study, as well as the findings from this doctoral research, highlight the importance of adequate monitoring in maintaining the safety of deprescribing interventions. Patient monitoring throughout the deprescribing journey was identified as a crucial element in both studies to detect any significant changes in the patient's health status and facilitate necessary clinical examinations or observations. Additionally, safety netting strategies to ensure that patients were aware of where to seek help or what actions to take in the event of health changes following deprescribing were also voiced to help maintain safety.

Existing literature also emphasises the significance of patient-centred monitoring during and after deprescribing to mitigate the associated risks and ensure patient safety. This approach recognises the need for ongoing vigilance and proactive management to promptly address any potential adverse effects or complications that may arise during the deprescribing process. By actively monitoring patients, HCPs can effectively track their progress, identify any red flags, and intervene promptly to minimise harm (Reeve et al., 2018a, Scott et al., 2015).

Implementing patient-centred monitoring practices as an integral part of the deprescribing process is essential for optimising patient safety and well-being. It serves as a critical step in deprescribing implementation, allowing healthcare providers to closely assess patient responses, address questions and concerns, and make informed decisions based on individual needs and circumstances. By adopting a comprehensive monitoring framework, HCPs can navigate the challenges associated with deprescribing and ensure that patients receive the necessary support and care throughout their deprescribing journey.

One such way of doing this was through community pharmacists in a similar fashion to the current New Medicine Service (NMS) within the NHS. The underpinning evidence for this service has highlighted an increase in patient adherence, potential for improved patient outcomes and reduced overall healthcare costs because of the NMS service (Elliott et al., 2016, Elliott et al., 2020). Therefore, it's important that a reverse NMS concept for deprescribing can learn from its predecessor to maximise its potential in primary care.

Lucas and Blenkinsopp (2015) investigated the experiences and perceptions of community pharmacists regarding the NMS using semi-structured interviews. Pharmacists reported positive experiences with the NMS, describing the service as valuable, enhancing their professional role and allowing for patient-centred care. Pharmacists could also recall positive perceptions from patients such as optimism and greater appreciation for the community pharmacist role (Lucas and Blenkinsopp, 2015). However, the study also highlighted challenges faced by community pharmacists in delivering the NMS. There was a perceived need for improved publicity of the service and of the capabilities of the community pharmacists involved, whilst collaborations with different HCPs varied across the country. In addition, administrative processes such as target setting and managing follow-up calls were seen as problematic at times (Lucas and Blenkinsopp, 2015). Overall, the study highlighted the positive influence the NMS service had, through the views of community pharmacists, and the potential areas that hindered implementation.

Utilising the knowledge gained from the NMS, there is potential for the development of a reverse NMS service. However, to effectively implement such a service, it is imperative to enhance public awareness regarding its existence and the role of community pharmacists in providing this service. This can potentially be achieved through targeted public health education initiatives focused on the benefits and necessity of deprescribing (Glanz and Bishop, 2010).

Furthermore, it is crucial to equip community pharmacists with the necessary resources and tools to carry out the reverse NMS service. This includes ensuring that they have the capacity to incorporate the service into their workload, providing the appropriate resources for effectively monitoring deprescribing outcomes, and appropriate payment for conducting such services. Adequate training and support should be provided to empower pharmacists in delivering the service with confidence and competence. Collaboration between community pharmacy and other primary care healthcare sectors should be encouraged to facilitate information sharing. This collaboration will enable HCPs to make more informed decisions and facilitate seamless referrals to other healthcare providers when necessary.

To ensure the practical implementation of the reverse NMS service within current primary care systems, further research is warranted. Feasibility studies are needed to assess the viability and effectiveness of this intervention. This research should also explore the logistical aspects of integrating the reverse NMS service into existing healthcare frameworks and identify any barriers or challenges that may arise. By addressing these considerations, it is possible to enhance the implementation of the reverse NMS service and improve deprescribing safety practices in primary care. This will ultimately contribute to improved patient outcomes and medicine management.

6.4.2. Implications for intervention design

- Community pharmacists may be ideally positioned to monitor patients after deprescribing, due to their accessibility and established relationships with patients. However, the monitoring required must be feasible with the current resources' community pharmacists have available. Monitoring that requires invasive procedures, such as blood tests, are unlikely to be practicable.
- A wide range of stakeholder perspectives should be considered when designing deprescribing implementation strategies and developing a deprescribing culture. This can subsequently improve the normalisation potential of deprescribing in primary care.

6.4.3. Chapter summary

This chapter presents the qualitative findings from three focus groups and nine interviews involving HCPs engaged in deprescribing within primary care. The discussions with HCPs revolved around the existing barriers to deprescribing, potential factors that could enhance deprescribing frequency, and the emerging consensus among HCPs regarding the importance of deprescribing. Additionally, participants recognised the significance of widespread stakeholder buy-in in shaping a deprescribing culture, while acknowledging the role of practice pharmacists as the key HCPs involved in deprescribing. Ensuring the safety of deprescribing was also a crucial aspect discussed, with HCPs emphasising the need for thorough patient monitoring during and after the deprescribing process.

These findings, in conjunction with the findings presented in Chapter 5, will serve as valuable insight for the co-design in Chapter 7. These insights will inform the collaborative development of resources and interventions aimed at normalising routine deprescribing within primary care. By leveraging the knowledge gained from this research, the co-design process will aim to create effective resources that support HCPs in their deprescribing efforts and facilitate the integration of deprescribing as a routine practice in primary care settings.

Chapter 7 – Co-design study: Developing deprescribing resources

7.1. Introduction

This chapter outlines the final study conducted for this doctoral research. It uses a codesign method, involving patients and HCPs, to identify and develop resources that may aid the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care. This builds on the findings from the scoping review (Chapter 2), systematic review (Chapter 4), patient interviews (Chapter 5), and HCP interviews (Chapter 6) which inform the codesign process. Logic modelling will then be used to conceptualise the intervention ideas identified through the co-design workshops.

7.1.1. Aims and research questions

Aims:

- To generate ideas, with patients and HCPs, to support the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care.
- To use logic modelling to further develop and conceptualise the outputs of the co-design workshops.

Research question:

• What nature of resources would aid the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care?

7.2. Methods

7.2.1. Co-design methodology

As discussed in Chapter 3, Section 3.1, co-design methodologies have gained prominence in healthcare research, particularly in ensuring that research objectives align with the needs and perspectives of those affected by the outcomes (Antonini, 2021). Within the realm of healthcare research, co-design represents a multi-stage process involving active engagement of patients, caregivers, and HCPs to identify strategies for designing and delivering enhanced healthcare services (Fylan et al., 2021). At its core, co-design facilitates collaboration among relevant stakeholders to develop and refine innovative solutions. Various iterations of co-design methodologies have been documented in the healthcare literature, demanding a thoughtful selection of the most appropriate approach for this study.

One such co-design methodology that has gained traction in healthcare research is experience-based co-design (EBCD) (Fylan et al., 2021). EBCD seeks to leverage the insights and experiences of service users and providers to identify opportunities for service improvement. This is accomplished through the exploration of patients' prior encounters with healthcare services, commonly referred to as touchpoints (Fylan et al., 2021). The key steps involved in EBCD, as outlined by Fylan et al. (2021), include:

- 1. Project setup, involving the establishment of a steering group.
- 2. Observations of service delivery and interviews conducted with patients and staff.
- 3. Staff and patient interviews to delve into their respective care experiences, aiming to identify emotional touchpoints. These interviews are often recorded.
- 4. Development of a trigger film, utilising the recorded interviews, to effectively convey the experiences and impacts of the emotional touchpoints.
- 5. Meetings with staff to review the observations and interviews, facilitating the identification of priority areas for improvement.
- 6. Meetings with patients to view the trigger film, construct an emotional map of their experiences, and collaboratively determine priorities for change.
- 7. Joint meetings involving patients and staff to collectively watch and discuss the trigger film, subsequently agreeing upon priority areas for service enhancement.
- Facilitated co-design groups with the active involvement of patients and staff, aiming to develop tools or redesign services based on the agreed-upon priorities.

9. A celebratory event to reflect on the EBCD process and acknowledge the contributions made by participants.

This meticulous and comprehensive process has yielded the development of several complex healthcare interventions and has contributed to the overall improvement in the quality of healthcare services (Fylan et al., 2021, Green et al., 2020).

The initial intention of the researcher was to employ the EBCD approach. However, subsequent deliberations with the research supervision team, coupled with considerations of remaining resources and time constraints, led to the determination that this approach was not feasible. Consequently, alternative strategies were devised, whereby select components of the EBCD process, specifically steps 7 and 8, would be incorporated to inform the co-design methods employed in this study. Additionally, it was acknowledged that steps 1, 2, and 3 of the EBCD process had already been accomplished through the qualitative investigations conducted in Chapters 5 and 6. The ensuing sections expound upon the precise methodologies implemented to facilitate this adapted co-design process.

7.2.2. Ethical approval

Traditional ethical review practices look to minimise potential harm to research participants through ensuring research methodologies are rigorous, research participants know what they are signing up to, and the potential study benefits outweigh possible risks to safety or confidentiality (Goodyear-Smith et al., 2015). Attainment of these objectives are achieved through confirming research methods and interventions are carefully defined and ensuring study protocols are strictly adhered too. However, these established processes encounter a challenge when presented with co-design research, which is characterised by its adaptive and pragmatic nature. The inherently unpredictable nature of co-design renders it unfeasible to anticipate the subsequent interventions and outcomes prior to research initiation (Goodyear-Smith et al., 2015). This has produced a grey area on the appropriateness of traditional ethical approval processes for co-design research.

The HRA decision tool, a tool produced by the UK Policy Framework for Health and Social Care Research to define research, was consulted to determine if co-design would be research requiring NHS ethical approval. However, it was recognised that the co-design did not attempt to generalise or transfer findings or outputs. Due to this, this co-design study was not assessed to be research by the HRA decision tool and, as a result, ethical approval was not required. Nevertheless, ethical principles were adhered to including ensuring patients were adequately informed on the nature of the co-design workshops using participant information sheets prior to providing consent, and the appropriate management of identifiable data such as participant names and workshop recordings, as previously discussed in Chapter 5 and 6.

7.2.3. Participants selected for workshops

As stated previously, evidence has highlighted how the involvement of patients and key stakeholders in co-design processes is important for intervention development (Boyd et al., 2012). Similarly to previous chapters, as older adults are at higher risk of problematic polypharmacy, and GPs are central to the use of medicines in primary care, both were identified to be included in this study (Dagli and Sharma, 2014). The potentially beneficial involvement of pharmacists highlighted in Chapters 2 and 4, together with the findings about how pharmacists could be involved in deprescribing in primary care from chapter 5 and 6, warranted the involvement of both primary care and community pharmacists in this study. In summary, community-dwelling older patients (≥65 years old), taking ≥5 medicines, and practicing GPs, primary care pharmacists and community pharmacists were involved.

Following discussions with the research supervision team and PPIE, it was agreed that a total of five patients and five HCPs would be recruited for two co-design workshops. To ensure equitable power dynamics between patients and HCPs during the co-design process, equal-sized groups of participants from both cohorts were employed. This approach aligns with the recommendations put forth in co-design studies, aiming to mitigate the inhibition of either patients or HCPs in contributing to the collaborative design process (Farr, 2018). In addition, a total of 10 participants was chosen to ensure participants could be split into two groups of five that could be facilitated effectively online, with an emphasis on participants feeling their input was recognised within the workshops. It was planned that the five HCPs would consist of two GPs, two primary care pharmacists and one community pharmacist.

7.2.4. Recruitment

The method of recruitment was primarily through social media, and research networks. Recruitment posters and research summaries for patients (Appendix W) and HCPs (Appendix X) were developed to disseminate information about the workshops and contact details of the researcher so potential participants could express interest. These were then shared on Twitter and sent to patients in the YH PSTRC Safety In Numbers Group (SING). As fewer participants were required for this study, in comparison to the previous qualitative work conducted for this thesis, fewer recruitment pathways were utilised to avoid over recruitment.

Once potential participants expressed interest in the study, the researcher contacted them by email and requested information regarding their age, gender, number of medicines currently taking (for patient participants), current job title (for HCP participants) and if participants could commit to attending both co-design workshops. By collecting this information, the researcher could ensure participants matched the inclusion criteria, select participants able to be involved in both co-design workshops and maximise demographic diversity in the participants selected. In addition, participants were offered an £80 voucher for each workshop attended as a token of appreciation for their involvement, in line with the NIHR payment for participation guidelines (INVOLVE, 2020).

7.2.5. Co-design workshops

In discussions with the supervisory team, it was decided that the co-design process would be conducted over two online workshops. This decision was reached because, although COVID-19 social distancing restrictions were easing at the time of the study, online workshops would not place older patients involved in the study under unnecessary COVID-19 infection risk. The nature of online workshops allowed flexibility for HCPs to participate in the workshops as they could be involved from any geographic location within the UK and so, would limit the time needed away from work. This was a necessary consideration as the workshops were scheduled during working hours (from 13:00 to 14:30). Albeit having advantages, it was important to acknowledge the limitations associated with the online co-design approach. One such limitation pertained to the potential challenges in effectively engaging participants in the collaborative process, primarily stemming from their physical absence during the sessions. To mitigate this issue, guidance was sought from the PPIE group on strategies to foster sustained participant engagement. Further details on these strategies can be found in section 7.2.6 of this chapter. Advice was also sought from fellow doctoral researchers who had incorporated online co-design into their research methods.

Each workshop was designed to be one hour and 30 minutes long, with a 10-minute break in between. The workshop duration was chosen to allow sufficient time for in-

depth discussions coupled with various workshop activities, however, looked to avoid overburdening participants with a lengthy co-design workshop. Workshops were conducted on Zoom® as the researcher was confident using the break-out rooms and screen share function to facilitate the workshops, as opposed to other online meeting systems, such as MS Teams®. Miro, an online visual collaboration platform, was selected as a tool to aid the workshop facilitation. Miro allows for users to co-produce 'boards', which allow freedom on how boards are designed and allow multiple users to use these boards to facilitate collaborative activities. Miro was chosen as it provided a suitable platform to capture key discussion points and ideas in a visually appealing format, and so could be used with the share screen function in Zoom® to show participants the key points raised during the workshops. The platform also allowed for boards to be designed in advance of the workshops, which supported the planning of the co-design study. Both workshop 1 and 2 were audio and video recorded, with participants' permission, to allow the researcher to revisit breakout room activities and ensure key points and ideas had been captured on the Miro boards.

Workshop 1 – Idea generation

The focus of workshop 1 was broad idea generation, meaning activities and discussions were centred around identifying new ideas that would aid the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care. The schedule for workshop 1 can be seen in Table 21. Workshop 1 involved initial introductions by participants and an 'icebreaker' activity where each participant was asked which animal they related to and why. This icebreaker activity was chosen to allow the research team and participants to become acquainted and has been shown to engage research participants, whilst promoting beneficial research group dynamics (Kilanowski, 2012).

Participants were then briefed on the rationale for the co-design workshops. This focused on the increase in problematic polypharmacy, the lack of routine deprescribing in primary care, and a summary of findings from Chapters 4, 5 and 6 of this doctoral research. Space for a subsequent discussion was timetabled to allow participants to express how they felt after the research presentation and to allow for emotional mapping, highlighting touch points from the co-design participants. The concept of highlighting emotional touch points is utilised in EBCD, as described previously, to identify emotionally significant points in which service users encounter a service/intervention, to develop key co-design priorities to address (Girling et al., 2022, Fylan et al., 2021). This method was incorporated within this workshop to allow

participants to discuss their general views on polypharmacy, deprescribing, and the findings from the research to formulate priorities to aid the implementation of deprescribing to be discussed within the breakout room activity.

Participants were divided into two breakout rooms, ensuring a mix of patients, pharmacists, and GPs. The researcher (acting as a facilitator) was placed in a breakout room, whilst two PPIE facilitators were placed in the other breakout room. The PPIE facilitators were briefed on the nature of the breakout room activity. The breakout room activity involved participants discussing ideas of potential interventions or resources that can aid the implementation of routine deprescribing in primary care. Ideas and discussion points were captured on a pre-designed Miro sticky note board (Figure 8), which contained prompt points to encourage guided discussions. This was utilised to ensure discussions were focused on intervention and resources solutions to implementing deprescribing, rather than re-discussions on the problem of polypharmacy. The facilitators led the discussions, using the prompts to guide the discussion, and used the blank notes to capture discussion points and ideas. After this, participants were provided with a 10-minute break, and the remaining workshop time was used to recap the discussions and ideas generated within both breakout rooms.

Following workshop 1, the researcher reviewed the workshop 1 recordings to ensure ideas and discussions had been captured on the Miro boards. The researcher then met with the research supervision team to discuss the ideas generated in workshop 1 and to identify ideas to further explore in workshop 2. The ideas chosen were based on whether they would aid deprescribing implementation, and if it was feasible for the idea to be developed within the doctoral research, considering the remaining time and resources available. The completed workshop 1 Miro boards, summary of the discussions and the chosen ideas to further explore, were circulated with the co-design participants to set an agenda and aid preparation for workshop 2.

Table 21 –	Co-design	workshop	1	schedule
------------	-----------	----------	---	----------

Session	Plan
Workshop 1	Introductions
	Presentation to introduce research (Study 1 & 2) and emotional
	mapping to highlight touch points from participants
	Setting goals and priorities for the workshops
	How workshops will work + ground rules
	Using the touch points generated, discuss resource ideas using the
	Miro post it note boards
	13:00 – 13:10: Welcome + introductions (what animal do you relate
	as?)
	13:10 – 13:30: Research presentation + space for discussion
	13:30 – 13:35: Workshop 1 goals and ground rules
	13:35 – 14:00: Breakout rooms – Miro Post-it note board
	14:00 – 14:10: BREAK
	14:10 – 14:25: Discuss breakout room activities
	14:25 – 14:30: conclusion
	Summary of ideas and discussions to be collected and shared with
	participants between workshops. Feasible ideas will be shortlisted to be developed in workshop 2



Figure 8 – Pre-designed Miro Board for workshop 1

Workshop 2 – Idea development

Workshop 2 was focused on developing the ideas selected from workshop 1, which were developing prompts patients can use to initiate medicine necessity conversations, and how community pharmacists can act as a deprescribing safety net. Based on the discussions in workshop 1, medicine necessity conversations were described as conversations between patients and HCPs on the ongoing need for medicines. This encompassed discussing why the medicine had been prescribed and whether these reasons were still relevant to the patient, or whether the medicine could be stopped as an alternative. The schedule for workshop 2 can be seen in Table 22. The discussions and ideas of workshop 1 were summarised and the ideas to be developed were

presented to the participants. It was then explained that the emphasis of workshop 2 was to further develop these ideas to understand how they might function in real-life practice. To facilitate this, two breakout room activities were designed using predesigned Miro storyboards. Participants were assigned the same breakout rooms as workshop 1.

The first activity, focused on identifying medicine necessity, featured four scenarios where a patient felt overwhelmed by their medicines and had an interaction with a GP, practice pharmacist, community pharmacist and a prescribing nurse to discuss medicine necessity. This board provided space for participants to add questions they felt patients could ask when encountering each of these four HCPs to initiate conversations on medicine necessity. There was also space on the board for participants to note what factors that would help patients feel confident to ask the identified questions, as well as any considerations needed for patients to be able to ask the identified questions. A copy of the pre-designed unpopulated board can be seen in Figure 9.

The second breakout room activity was focused on community pharmacists as a safety net to deprescribing. To facilitate this activity, a storyboard was designed that outlined the process of a medicine being deprescribed and provided possible points in which a community pharmacist could act as a safety net, based on the findings from the qualitative study 2. Participants were then able to provide more detail on how a deprescribing decision is communicated to a community pharmacy, how the pharmacist follows up with the patient, what the pharmacist might be able to do if a patient experiences adverse effects as a result of deprescribing, and how a pharmacist may feedback outcomes of deprescribing to improve the reflexive monitoring of deprescribing interventions. The latter point was incorporated due to the need for improved reflexive monitoring of deprescribing interventions to improve normalisation, as identified as a gap in the systematic review in study 1. A copy of this unpopulated storyboard can be seen in Figure 10.

After the second workshop activity participants from both breakout rooms reconvened. The researcher then summarised the discussion points from the activities, outlined the next steps for the research process, and thanked the participants for their time in the co-design workshops. At this stage, questions that patients could use to initiate conversations on medicine necessity had been identified, whilst an intervention of a community pharmacy deprescribing safety net had been outlined. Table 22 – Co-design workshop 2 schedule

Session	Plan		
Workshop 2	Recap from first meeting and the ideas taken forward		
	Discuss how to improve patient confidence to stimulate		
	conversations on the necessity of their medicines		
	Produce questions patients can used to discuss medicine necessity		
	Discuss how community pharmacists may act as a safety net and the		
	type of information they might need to collect		
	13:00 – 13:05: Welcome + introductions		
	13:05 – 13:15: Recap last workshop + which ideas taken forward		
	13:15 – 13:20: Workshop 2 goals + ground rules		
	13:20 – 13:45: Breakout rooms – Miro storyboard – identifying		
	medicine necessity		
	13:45 – 13:55: BREAK		
	13:55 – 14:20: Breakout rooms – Miro storyboard – community		
	pharmacist safety net		
	14:20 – 14:30: Discuss main exercise + conclude and thanks		



Figure 9 – Miro storyboard – identifying medicine necessity

Figure 10 – Miro Storyboard – the community pharmacy safety net



7.2.6. Logic modelling

The idea of a community pharmacy deprescribing safety net intervention had been outlined as an output of workshop 2. However, how the intervention would operate, including its mechanisms and outcomes, would still require development and a form for representation for stakeholders. Subsequently, it was decided to produce a logic model to conceptualise this intervention. Logic models are visual models used to explain how an intervention produces outcomes and can support identifying process and outcome measures for intervention evaluation (Mills et al., 2019). The logic model would also be used to describe the intervention programme theory, which is a description of how the

intervention is expected to lead to its desired effects and the conditions needed to do so (Skivington et al., 2021).

Although multiple forms of logic model exist within healthcare research, a cited shortcoming is the lack of attention to the complexity of interventions through inattention to contextual factors, such as political pressures and levels of resourcing (Onyura et al., 2021). Context consideration is pivotal to implementation research as to understand the system in which an intervention can implemented and utilised effectively (Pfadenhauer et al., 2017). Thus, due to the implementation focus of this research, a logic model with consideration to contextual factors was chosen, which was The Real-World Logic Model (RWLM).

RWLMs express complex interventions within context in order to aid research in striking a balance between context-sensitivity and scalability (Mills et al., 2022). This variation of logic modelling was developed within the premise of complex intervention implementation in healthcare research, and so was deemed ideal to be utilised within this research. In this model, it allows for the identification and discussion concerning the macro-, meso- and micro- contextual factors, the implementation strategy, mechanisms of the intervention, and the predicted outcomes. The model also allows for the distinction between proximal and distal outcomes, where distal outcomes are hypothesised, measurable trial outcomes, and proximal are the expected short to medium term outcomes of the intervention. The core of the RWLM contains the mechanisms of the intervention that are needed to produce the identified outputs.

The first author of the publication introducing the RWLM was contacted to discuss how the community pharmacy deprescribing safety net could be translated into a RWLM model. This provided expert opinion on how to produce the RWLM as well as the opportunity to discuss incorporating elements of NPT within the logic model. As this was novel in nature, such advice was vital to understand the compatibilities between NPT and RWLM. Draft versions of the model were also shared and discussed to allow for expert feedback and revisions.

A RWLM was developed using the original RWLM template developed by Dr Mills et al., (Mills et al., 2022). The components of the RWLM identified as applicable to the intervention were the intervention context (macro, meso and micro), mechanisms, implementation strategy, and outcomes. The identification of these components was a result of analysis and interpretation of the research findings derived from the scoping review, systematic review, qualitative research, and co-design activities. These findings were critically evaluated and synthesised to determine their relevance and applicability in constructing the model. Additionally, insights from discussions with the research supervision team and the consideration of external literature identified throughout the course of this doctoral research were instrumental in informing this process. NPT was employed as a theoretical framework to provide a conceptual underpinning for the implementation strategies and intervention mechanisms embedded within the RWLM. The utilisation of NPT facilitated a comprehensive understanding of the intervention activities by summarising them at a higher level, and contextualising implementation strategies within the framework of NPT constructs. This analytical process was carried out by the researcher, with valuable inputs and discussions from the research supervision team. Multiple iterations of the model were developed, and the supervision team and the first author of the RWLM provided feedback on how the model could be further improved. Finally, the model was developed with feedback incorporated including how and why each component was in the model.

7.2.7. PPIE involvement

PPIE input was necessary to ensure recruitment techniques and materials would be appropriate for potential workshop participants. Feedback was provided on recruitment posters and information sheets, and the appropriate language for the respective audiences. It was advised that the recruitment posters indicate that the researcher was taking expressions of interests (EOI) initially, so potential participants would understand that contacting the researcher would not automatically mean a place in the workshop. It would also allow the researcher to collect EOI before selecting co-design participants, so that a diverse group could be selected. It was also suggested that patient participants were compensated with money, whilst HCPs would be compensated both patients and HCPs would be compensated with vouchers as this would be more manageable, and to indirectly express that the researcher viewed both participant groups as equal.

When designing the co-design workshops, PPIE advice was sought about how to encourage engagement by participants. It was advised that the time in between workshops should not be any longer than 3 weeks, to minimise loss of engagement by participants. As a result, the workshops were scheduled for 7th July 2022 and 28th July 2022 respectively. A PPIE member had originally discouraged the idea of having HCPs and patients within the same workshops, due to the risk of inhibiting patient participants. However, due to the researcher wanting discussions between HCPs and

patients, workshops were mixed but HCP titles remained anonymous and workshop facilitators were instructed to ensure all participants were able to contribute to discussions. As breakout room functions would be used for the workshops online, it was advised that the workshops we conducted via Zoom® due to its ability to preassign breakout rooms. In addition, as two representatives of PPIE were selected to be facilitators within the co-design workshop, it was important that meeting software was chosen that they felt comfortable using which was decided as Zoom®. Feedback was also provided on the research brief presentation to ensure the content was suitable and understandable for both healthcare professionals and patients.

After the first co-design workshop, further PPIE advice was sought on how to best plan for the subsequent workshop. It was suggested that a summary of the activities and discussions should be sent to all workshop participants, as well as the ideas to be further developed at second workshop with their respective justification. This would allow the participants to understand why the chosen ideas were selected as opposed to others and allow patients to prepare to focus only on the ideas chosen.

7.2.8. Patient feedback

Following workshop 2, patient feedback was sought on the questions developed to initiate conversations on medicine necessity. This was facilitated through sending an email containing the developed questions to the patient co-design participants, Safety in Numbers Group (SING) and the PPIE members that helped facilitate the workshops. It was decided to seek feedback solely from patient participants as they would be the intended target to use the developed questions. In the feedback email, patients were asked:

- Do these questions make sense to you (Yes/No) Please describe reasons if not.
- 2. How would you change the wording of any of these questions, if at all?
- 3. Would you be comfortable asking these questions to healthcare professionals? (Yes/No). If not, any particular reasons why?
- 4. What, if anything, would prevent you from asking any of these questions?

These questions were decided on by the researcher, the supervision team and the PPIE facilitators.

7.3. Results

7.3.1. Participant characteristics

A total of five patients and five HCPs were recruited for the co-design workshops. Unfortunately, one HCP was unable to attend both workshops due to personal reasons, and so was not involved in the co-design process. Patient and HCP demographics can be seen in Table 23 and Table 24 respectively.

Patient	Age	Gender	Ethnicity
1	81	М	Bangladeshi
2	65	М	White British
3	65	F	White British
4	69	F	British Pakistani
5	65	F	British Pakistani

Table 23 - Co-design patient participant demographics

Table 24 - Co-design HCP participant demographics

НСР	Gender	Ethnicity Job role		
1	М	British Indian	PCN Pharmacist	
2	F	White Scottish	GP	
3	F	Asian Indian	Community Pharmacist	
4	F	White British	GP	

7.3.2. Output from co-design workshops

7.3.2.1. Workshop 1 output

The co-design activity in workshop 1 was the Miro sticky note board, where participants were able to note down their ideas on resources and interventions that would aid the implementation of routine deprescribing in primary care. The completed boards from both groups can be found in the appendices (Appendix Y). Within both boards, the black notes were used as discussion prompts.

Group 1 Miro board

Discussions within Group 1 commenced by exploring the communication strategies for deprescribing in patient care. Participants emphasised the need for clear and comprehensible language, ensuring consistent communication throughout the deprescribing process. A proposal emerged to raise patients' awareness about the potential for future deprescribing at the time of prescribing, distinguishing it from cost-saving measures and reinforcing that it is based on medicine safety considerations.

Subsequently, participants reached a consensus that periodic and personalised medication reviews serve as an appropriate platform for deprescribing. The importance of consistent review dates was emphasised to facilitate the review process, with a focus on ensuring patient understanding of medicine decisions and HCPs' understanding of the medicines impact on the patient's quality of life. During the discussion, patients expressed their concerns on the lack of regular medication reviews or having to initiate them themselves. Notably, instances of "paper reviews" conducted without patient involvement were identified by a HCP, highlighting the potential for misunderstanding and patient anxiety due to inconsistent review practices. Participants stressed the significance of patient understanding of deprescribing decisions to foster a sense of support throughout the process. While increasing the frequency of medication reviews could potentially facilitate deprescribing, it was acknowledged that resources may be underutilised due to nonattendance of appointments by some patients.

Another key aspect discussed was the necessity of dedicated time for deprescribing. The importance of a collaborative effort among healthcare professionals in general practice and primary care was highlighted to ensure the routine implementation of deprescribing. The involvement of community pharmacists in identifying suitable medicines for deprescribing during medication reviews was also suggested.

In terms of ensuring the safety of deprescribing, participants identified patient selfmonitoring and the establishment of safety nets as effective measures. It was observed that some patients possess the confidence to contact HCPs if they experience adverse effects following deprescribing, leveraging their understanding of their own bodies, social situations, and usual quality of life to monitor the process. Additionally, patients' self-awareness of what they consider "normal" could serve as a catalyst for deprescribing conversations.

Participants further delved into factors influencing patient confidence in deprescribing. Trust in HCPs emerged as a key determinant, with higher levels of trust associated with increased patient confidence in deprescribing. Participants recognised the need to address existing perceptions surrounding stopping medicines, as well as a "pill for every ill" culture among patients. Educating patients about the significance of deprescribing was identified as a strategic approach to tackle these challenges.

In conclusion, the final discussion focused on strategies to encourage HCPs to routinely consider deprescribing and enhance their confidence in the process. Participants suggested the development of HCPs' skills through deprescribing training to remind them to routinely evaluate the need for deprescribing in patient care.

Group 2 Miro Board

The co-design discussions centred on three prompts: 1. identifying factors that instil patient confidence during the deprescribing process, 2. determining effective modes of communication for decision-making and implementation of deprescribing, and 3. exploring strategies to ensure the safety and routine consideration of deprescribing by HCPs.

Regarding patient confidence, participants emphasised the importance of clear and consistent deprescribing communication. They highlighted the need for unambiguous information at the point of prescribing, specifically regarding medicine timelines and the potential for deprescribing. It was suggested that incorporating start and stop dates on prescriptions or patient records could facilitate routine deprescribing. The timing and nature of deprescribing communication were deemed crucial, with participants advocating for discussions face-to-face with doctors rather than relying on phone calls or other HCPs. Participants emphasised the significance of continuous, timely, and manageable deprescribing communication that includes explanations of medicine indications, benefits, risks, and shared decision-making. Recognising the role of pharmacists in providing information and addressing medicine-related queries, participants called for enhanced awareness of community pharmacists' skills and capabilities.

In the subsequent discussion, participants agreed that medication reviews, particularly when performed periodically and personalised, serve as an optimal platform for initiating deprescribing. However, they noted the need for sufficient time to conduct thorough in-depth reviews and proposed reviewing every prescription twice a year to identify potential deprescribing opportunities. Participants also highlighted the value of utilising changes in patient circumstances, such as receiving new prescriptions, as triggers for deprescribing conversations. Sharing global best practices in deprescribing

was seen as instrumental in promoting its routine consideration in healthcare. Concerns were raised about the lack of clarity regarding the responsibility for reviewing and deprescribing medicines. In response, some participants argued that deprescribing should be regarded as a prescribing decision and therefore a responsibility of every prescriber. To ensure newly qualified prescribers routinely consider deprescribing, the importance of deprescribing education for HCPs was underscored.

Patient participants expressed the need to know if their medicines were still necessary to actively participate in deprescribing. However, due to difficulties in obtaining appointments with HCPs, participants proposed alternative methods for promptly assessing medicine necessity without requiring GP visits. Developing a platform where patients can initiate conversations about stopping medicines and receive a call back from HCPs was suggested. Integrating such a platform within the existing digital healthcare infrastructure, such as the NHS app, was also considered. Additionally, participants discussed the potential benefits of providing patients with scripted lines or prompts to empower them to enquire about the necessity of their medicines without feeling confrontational. These prompts were envisioned as tools to facilitate conversations on medication necessity. Participants recognised patients as strong advocates for their own health and catalysts for deprescribing discussions. The discussions concluded by highlighting the importance of utilising various communication methods and adopting a national approach to deprescribing to avoid fragmentation and promote its routine implementation.

7.3.2.2. Workshop 2 output

After workshop 1 and subsequent discussions with the research supervision team, a consensus emerged regarding the ideas to be further developed. The selected ideas for development included the creation of patient script lines or prompts regarding medicine necessity and the intervention of community pharmacists as a deprescribing safety net. This consensus was driven by the recognition among co-design participants that patients play a vital role in advocating for their own health and can initiate deprescribing discussions. However, participants acknowledged that patients may lack awareness of their medicines' necessity and may hesitate to enquire about it, fearing that such enquiries could be seen as challenging HCPs. By assisting patients in initiating these conversations, it was anticipated that the frequency of deprescribing discussions would increase, particularly by highlighting instances when medications are no longer necessary. Consequently, this approach aimed to establish deprescribing

as a routine practice. The choice to further develop the intervention involving community pharmacists as a safety net was guided by the emphasis on safety expressed by co-design participants during workshop 1 and the findings of the qualitative research presented in Chapters 5 and 6, which aligned with the overall aims of this doctoral research.

Medicine necessity questions

Both groups used the pre-developed Miro board template (Figure 9) to guide the development of the medicine necessity questions. However, group 1 did not choose to populate their board due to time constraints but were still able to discuss the activity indepth and provide input into the development of the questions. The researcher listened to group 1's discussion for this activity in verbatim, using the workshop recording, and supplemented this with discussions with the facilitators, to merge discussions from group 1 and 2 into a single Miro board (Appendix Z).

This activity was divided into two components. One component was a storyboard where a patient, who is struggling with polypharmacy, encounters a GP, a community pharmacist, a practice pharmacist, and a prescribing nurse within clinical situations patients would typically meet such HCPs. Participants were tasked with developing questions the patient could ask each HCP regarding the necessity of the medicines. Whilst participants were developing these conversations, it was highlighted that many of the questions developed for one HCP would also apply to others, and therefore were non-specific to HCP role. As a result, the participants were able to produce a list of questions the patients could ask about the necessity of their medicines, which was not specific to HCPs:

- 1. Do I still need [medicine name]? Why am I on it still?
- 2. Are you the right person to ask if I still need all of these medicines? and is this the right time to talk about this?
- 3. Why am I taking this medicine?
- 4. I'm thinking of stopping this medicine, what would happen if I stop this now and in the long term?
- 5. Can I have a word with you about my medicines? because I think I might not need all of these/I'm fed up with taking all these tablets.

Consensus was achieved on the selection of questions through an in-depth discussion with the participants, wherein the appropriateness of all the questions suggested by participants and their inclusion were thoroughly evaluated. Only those questions that garnered collective agreement among the participants were ultimately included. Although these questions were not specific to HCPs, the participants did note that, for these conversations to be constructive with community pharmacists, a consultation room must be available to allow for privacy, and patients must understand that community pharmacist do not currently have access to full medical records, so there may be a limit to their input.

In addition, two additional questions were developed specifically for medication reviews. The reasons for this, as expressed by the participants, was to help patients set an agenda for medication reviews and bring any polypharmacy related issues or queries to the forefront of the review. HCP participants highlighted that this could help HCPs to identify when patients are struggling with polypharmacy and encourage deprescribing. These questions were:

- 1) Do I still need [medicine name], why am I on it still? to ask for each medicine on repeat prescription list.
- I wonder if we can talk about things that worry me I think I'm on too many medicines, I'm not sure if I need them all, could I stop something? -Patients can use this to set the agenda for a medication review – places focus on potential deprescribing

The second component of this activity consisted of co-design participants discussing factors that may improve patient confidence to ask the identified questions. The core discussion point was that patients find it difficult to discuss medicine necessity when they do not completely understand their medicines. This was further exacerbated by 'minor' medicine changes that could confuse patients, leading to reluctance to discuss medicine necessity as they do not want to come across as "stupid" in front of HCPs. Subsequently, ideas of how to avoid this and help patients manage medicine changes were presented. This involved helping patients keep track of letters from different healthcare providers, especially when medicines had been prescribed or changed, and ensuring patients were copied into paper trails. A resulting idea was to help patients access their full GP medical records, including letters, through the NHS App. Another idea was to help patients understand who has initiated a medicine, which could be through adding these details on a repeat prescription or on prescription directions.

Participants highlighted that, for the questions to work, patients would also need assistance in knowing which HCPs they can go to ask about medicine necessity, and so more awareness is needed about this. The final discussion points were centred around helping patients understand medicine changes, including brands vs generic medicines, and dose adjustments that might not be typically seen in practice, i.e. if the dose is not in line with typical BNF doses.

Community Pharmacist Deprescribing safety net

The following activity involved co-design participants providing detail to the unpopulated community pharmacy deprescribing safety net storyboard (Figure 10). The purpose of this activity was for participants to develop how this intervention would operate in primary care, and any significant considerations. Both groups' storyboards can be found in the appendices (Appendix AA).

The initial stage of the deprescribing safety net involved the communication of a medicine being stopped to the community pharmacist. Group 2 deliberated on the potential methods for notifying the pharmacist, such as through direct contact from the general practice or updating the patient's prescription information. The need for improved communication between general practice and community pharmacy, possibly through digital interactions, was emphasised by both groups. Group 2 also stressed the importance of developing the relationship between community pharmacists and general practice to facilitate deprescribing communication.

The subsequent step in the safety net focused on the community pharmacist's followup with the patient whose medicine had been deprescribed. Group 1 discussed the content of this follow-up, including checking on the patient's wellbeing and symptoms. Factors such as the specific medicine deprescribed, patient-related considerations, and the feasibility of monitoring in the pharmacy setting influenced the nature of the followup. Group 2 highlighted the need for the pharmacist to enquire about the patient's preferred method of contact for follow-ups, either during medicine collection or through other established communication channels.

Regarding adverse reactions following deprescribing, Group 1 recognised the importance of understanding the cause of the patient's discomfort to address the situation effectively. Group 2 suggested empowering patients with self-monitoring strategies through education on expected post-deprescribing experiences and appropriate response measures. The involvement of other HCPs in general practice was also proposed to support the community pharmacist in the safety net, considering

their accessibility compared to GPs. Group 1 emphasised the need to inform patients about the role of community pharmacists in this capacity, as patients may not be aware of the services provided by community pharmacies and may unnecessarily burden their GP.

The final stage of the storyboard focused on the information that the community pharmacist would collect and provide feedback to the HCP who initiated the deprescribing. Group 2 identified several factors to be consistently evaluated during the follow-up process, including any negative experiences, successful aspects of deprescribing, safety alerts, and patient wellbeing. Group 1 discussed recording the specific medicine deprescribed, the duration of the process, ensuring confidentiality of collected information, and clarifying the use of such information.

7.3.3. Real-World Logic Model

7.3.3.1. Development of the Real-World Logic Model

Through co-design workshops with patients and HCPs, an intervention was formulated whereby community pharmacists act as a safety net to patients who have had a medicine deprescribed in primary care. This involved community pharmacists following up with patients who have stopped a medicine, the pharmacy being a destination if patients were worried about the effects of deprescribing, and for the community pharmacists to feedback deprescribing interventions to GP practices. The next stage was to develop the intervention into a RWLM to represent how the intervention mechanisms leads to the described outcomes, and the contexts needed for such outcomes to occur. The completed Community Pharmacy Deprescribing Safety net RWLM can be seen in Figure 11.



Figure 11 – The Community Pharmacy Deprescribing Safety Net RWLM

7.3.3.2. Components of the Real-World Logic Model

Macro context

The macro context was described as current broad policy and socioeconomic factors in which the intervention operates. This included constrained resources within current healthcare that has contributed to staff and service pressures, which has been well documented within literature (Ravalier et al., 2020). The 'no decision about me without me' policy was included because of its relevance in improving patients' roles within their own care and the emphasis on patients self-monitoring within the safety net intervention. It was also identified that there are literature and policies relating to developing community pharmacists into more clinical patient-facing roles, as well as tackling problematic polypharmacy through SMRs and subsequent deprescribing (NHS Long Term Plan), which would be relevant to the safety net intervention (NHS, 2019). Therefore, this was noted in the macro context which resulted in 4 main macro considerations in the RWLM.

Meso context

The meso context comprises the institutional and organisational factors required for the intervention to operate (Richter and Dragano, 2018). Community pharmacy policies and priorities, and PCN priorities for deprescribing through SMRs were included due to the emphasis of stakeholder buy-in to enhance implementation of deprescribing interventions, highlighted in Chapter 6 and in the construct of cognitive participation within NPT. This reasoning was also applicable to the consideration of support from GP practices, which was expressed within the co-design workshops. Finally, communication between pharmacy and GP practice, and pharmacy commissioning arrangements were included due to the emphasis of this contextual factor highlighted by co-design participants, and through interviews with HCPs (Chapter 6).

Micro context

The micro context comprises contextual factors required within an immediate environment for the intervention to produce the identified outcomes. It is essential that deprescribing interventions, facilitated through SMRs, are aligned with the overarching macro policies, transition smoothly through the established priorities in the meso context, and effectively manifest within the micro context. Hence, this element was incorporated into the model to emphasise its significance. There was also a consideration that there should be flexibility in service delivery to accommodate different workflow and workloads to aid implementation, which was highlighted as a facilitator to deprescribing implementation in the systematic review in Chapter 4. Finally, the need for continuity of staff involved in the intervention, and considerations to the preference and capability of patients and careers involved in the safety net were identified from the patient interviews within Chapter 5 and within the co-design workshops.

Implementation strategy

The implementation strategy summarises approaches that would be utilised to aid the implementation of the intervention in primary care. In this section, the square box dictates a distal strategy, whilst the oval box dictates proximal strategies. Buy-in from stakeholders, financial incentives to use the intervention, raising awareness of the intervention, building the intervention into current HCP workflow, and required staff training were all identified as essential for such an intervention within the co-design workshops and qualitative studies (Chapters 5 & 6). A key distinction to highlight was that staff training referred to training needed to understand and deliver the safety net intervention (focusing on the process, systems, and resources), and the clinical training needed to understand deprescribing and its effects on patients. As these strategies were focused on implementation, they were attributed to constructs of NPT to explain the theoretical mechanisms, in which the strategies bolster implementation potential. Collaborations between community pharmacy, GP practice and PCN was selected as a distal implementation strategy due the emphasis on collaborative work which has consistently emerged in this doctoral research, and how it has been used as an implementation strategy for other community pharmacy interventions, such as the Discharge Medicine Service (NHS England, 2021).

Mechanisms

The central oval within the RWLM comprises the mechanisms of the intervention. Initially, the intervention activities derived from the co-design workshops were placed within the oval. These activities can be seen in Table 25.

Activity	Activity description		
1	Communication of deprescribed medicine from GP practice to community pharmacy		
2	Community pharmacist contacts patient and introduces the 'safety net'. Explain the purpose and agree preferred patient communication method		
3	Community pharmacist and patient to agree follow-up conversation		
4	Reiterate to patient to contact/visit pharmacy if experiencing any issues		
5	Community pharmacists to distinguish between minor ailments and withdrawal symptoms if symptoms occur – then to advise the patient or further refer onwards		
6	Community pharmacist to collect and feedback information to GP after follow-up: A. Safety alerts that occurred B. Negative aspects experienced by the patient C. Things that went well during the process D. How the patient feels		

Table 25 – Community Pharmacy Deprescribing Safety net activities

On discussion with the RLWM expert, it became apparent that the model could be improved through converting the intervention activities into mechanisms. To do so, activities were summarised at a higher level, whilst drawing on the theory that underpinned the intervention, which was NPT. This resulted in the key mechanism of the intervention being derived from the intervention activities and the constructs of NPT to produce a specific mechanism of action of the intervention. The arrows from the GP practice, community pharmacy, and patients & carers pointed towards the mechanism emphasise the involvement of each stakeholder group within this intervention.

Outcomes

Similar to the implementation strategy, the intervention outcomes were separated to proximal (oval) and distal (square) outcomes. Safe and routine deprescribing was the goal of this doctoral research, and the intervention was designed with this as a primary outcome. The optimisation of deprescribing interventions through appraisals was one
significant gap in evidence needed to improve the implementation of deprescribing in primary care, as highlighted in the systematic review in Chapter 4, which has been theorised to be achieved through the feedback mechanism of the intervention. It was also theorised that the safety net intervention would aid reducing problematic polypharmacy through maintaining deprescribing safety, whilst the self-monitoring mechanism would improve patient capacity to self-monitoring, both being current national healthcare goals (NHS, 2019). A reduction in adverse drug events and improved patient QoL and safety are long-term outcomes of deprescribing identified in the literature and theorised to occur if deprescribing safety is maintained with the safety net intervention (Kutner et al., 2015).

7.3.4. Feedback on medicine necessity questions

Patient feedback was sought to evaluate the developed medicine necessity questions, aiming to gain early insights into the acceptability of the resource. Generally, patients demonstrated a comprehensive understanding of the questions and their purpose. Some minor grammatical modifications were suggested to align with the patients' preferred communication style, without compromising the core content of the questions. Notably, some patients expressed a preference for less direct and confrontational questions compared to others, emphasising the importance of providing a range of options for patients to choose from. Furthermore, the patients emphasised that their willingness to ask the developed questions would be influenced by the level of trust and the quality of the therapeutic relationship they had with their healthcare professional. This observation aligns with the findings from the patient interviews conducted in Chapter 5, highlighting the pivotal role of trust and the therapeutic relationship in patient engagement and communication. As a result, there were minimal changes to the questions presented in 7.3.2.2.

7.4. Discussion

The final co-design study described here used the findings of the research conducted in Chapters 2, 4, 5 and 6 to develop an intervention where community pharmacists act as a deprescribing safety net, and resources for patients to initiate conversations concerning medicine necessity. It is theorised that the intervention can benefit deprescribing safety through facilitating self-monitoring by patients post-deprescribing (as described in Chapter 5), and a follow-up system where pharmacists support patients through identifying potential adverse effects, providing advice, or referring patients to another HCP. The pharmacist feedback loop incorporated within the intervention allows for appraisal of deprescribing interventions, improving the reflexive monitoring of deprescribing which is needed to continually improve normalisation within practice (Okeowo et al., 2023, Murray et al., 2010). It is also hypothesised that the medicine necessity questions will help patients and HCPs identify medicines that are no longer essential for patients, subsequently leading to deprescribing.

7.4.1. Study outputs

7.4.1.1. Medicine necessity questions

In many instances, HCPs are unaware that patients are struggling with polypharmacy and so may not broach the idea of deprescribing, as highlighted in the co-design discussions. This is exacerbated in primary care by patients not being able to recall the reasons they take their medicines, especially if taken long-term (Doherty et al., 2020). The resultant effect leads to patients not knowing about the necessity of their medicines or the reasons they were prescribed, whilst HCPs assume the lack of voicing of concerns about polypharmacy means patients do not require a clinical intervention. This disconnect between patient and HCPs views on polypharmacy coupled with patients not knowing the necessity of their medicines culminates in appropriate interventions, such as deprescribing, not being adequately utilised in practice. It comes as no surprise that surveys exploring patient views on deprescribing, such as the Patients' Attitudes Towards Deprescribing (PATD) or the Patient Perceptions of Deprescribing (PPoD) tools specifically explore patient views of the necessity of their medicines (Reeve et al., 2013a, Linsky et al., 2017b). These difficulties were highlighted within the co-design workshops as areas of practice that need to be improved to enhance deprescribing implementation in primary care.

However, the co-design participants also emphasised that patients may not ask about their medicines' necessity in fear they are perceived as challenging HCPs. The power dynamic between patients and HCPs has been previously explored in literature where HCPs were traditionally seen as power holders, whilst patients were viewed lower in the power hierarchy (Nimmon and Stenfors-Hayes, 2016). This imbalance in power can inhibit patients from voicing their concerns or be active within their own care. This power imbalance should be minimised and patients encouraged to be involved in their own care as this has be shown to improve patient outcomes (Krist et al., 2017).

As a result, the medicine necessity questions co-designed with patients and healthcare professionals aim to empower patients to initiate conversations around the need for their medicines. By providing patients with suggested questions to use, it was believed this may encourage such conversations without patients being perceived as challenging. Subsequently, this can lead to deprescribing through routine assessment of medicine indications and identification of medicines no longer necessary for patients. The additional questions focused for medication reviews then allow for patients to voice concerns with polypharmacy and set an agenda for the reviews. By doing so, this can alert HCPs of the polypharmacy-related issues a patient may be facing and consequently look to address this through deprescribing. This also addresses the barrier that HCPs perceive patients do not want to stop their medicines, as discussed in Chapter 4. Overall, this portrays why it is theorised that the developed questions will aid the implementation of deprescribing in primary care, with particular focus on making this routine.

7.4.1.2. Community pharmacy deprescribing safety net logic model

As previously discussed in Chapter 1 the process of deprescribing carries risk, mainly around the risk of return of symptoms that the medicine was originally prescribed for and adverse withdrawal events (Reeve et al., 2018a). Therefore, when discussing the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care, it is paramount that a system to promote deprescribing safety is also established. If not, safety concerns resulting from deprescribing may impact, not only the therapeutic relationship between patients and HCPs, but the confidence patients and HCP require to routinely attempt deprescribing. Similarly, utilising pharmacists in deprescribing has been discussed within deprescribing literature, particularly because of the medicines expertise they can offer to the practice of deprescribing (Farrell et al., 2019). This is furthered by recent NHS healthcare policy promoting the use of community pharmacists in patient-facing

roles to efficiently utilise primary care resources to match growing healthcare demands (NHS, 2019).

The community pharmacy deprescribing safety net intervention incorporates these considerations through its use of community pharmacists to maintain the safety of deprescribing in primary care. By developing the Real-World Logic Model, this allowed for visual incorporation of current policies that the intervention operates within, as highlighted in the macro context. This allows stakeholders to understand the relevant active policies that influenced the development of the intervention. The identified meso and micro context then aid the understanding of what is needed between and within organisations to allow the intervention to function, which were identified during this research. The proximal implementation strategies, identified within the oval, then allowed the incorporation of implementation strategies that had been acknowledged in findings from Chapters 4, 5, 6 and 7. The intervention mechanisms, derived from NPT, allow for understanding of the significance of each aspect of the intervention in providing a safety net system for patients and the normalisation of the intervention through NPT. For example, through patients and HCPs understanding the purpose of the safety net, this improves the coherence of the intervention, enhancing its normalisation potential.

A key mechanism of the intervention is the feedback system allowing community pharmacists to feedback the effects and outcomes of deprescribing to the original deprescriber. This feature addresses the gap in knowledge in appraising deprescribing interventions which can bolster reflexive monitoring, and subsequently, the normalisation of deprescribing as identified in Chapter 4. This would facilitate patients and HCPs to learn from deprescribing experiences and the frequency, or lack thereof, of safety concerns which may mitigate barriers to routine deprescribing such as a fear of withdrawal effects, (Reeve et al., 2013b).

Within current healthcare, community pharmacists are increasingly involved in ensuring the effective, safe, and efficient use of medicines in primary care (Mossialos et al., 2015, Parekh et al., 2023). As a result, community pharmacists' involvement in safe deprescribing would be a logical extension of their role and further expand their medicines management responsibilities. Community pharmacists are already established in a similar safety system when patients start new medicines, known as the New Medicine Service (NMS). Since its conception in 2011, this service has seen a range of positive patient-based outcomes such as improved adherence to medicines (Stewart et al., 2020). Its implementation into routine practice saw the intervention incorporated into daily community pharmacist routines with minimal additional

resources and a lack of evidence of impacting other responsibilities (Latif et al., 2016). Due to the similar nature of the deprescribing safety net intervention to the NMS, as highlighted by patients and HCPs in Chapter 5 and 6, it is theorised that this intervention can be implemented into current healthcare without the need for significant additional resources and disruption to current community pharmacy responsibilities. However, payment systems, like that of the NMS, would need to be considered to drive intervention implementation.

7.4.2. Chapter summary

This chapter has described the co-design methods utilised to develop an intervention and resources focused on facilitating the safe and routine implementation of deprescribing in primary care. A Real-World Logic Model of a community pharmacy deprescribing safety net intervention, as well as medicine necessity questions for patients were developed through the doctoral research findings, PPIE input and codesigned with patients and healthcare professionals. Future work should investigate the feasibility of the intervention including resources to optimise its potential for use in practice, followed by an evaluation of its cost effectiveness.

Chapter 8 – Discussion and conclusion

8.1. Research question and summary of key findings

The increasing use of medicines, including potentially inappropriate medicines (PIMs), has emerged as a significant concern for various stakeholders, encompassing patients, healthcare professionals (HCPs), policy makers, and governments worldwide. Consequently, there has been a growing emphasis on deprescribing as a viable approach to combat PIM use, particularly within primary care settings. However, despite the potential of deprescribing to address PIM use, its implementation into routine clinical practice remains limited, thereby depriving many patients of the potential benefits while potentially compromising their safety. Moreover, ensuring the safety of deprescribing practices itself is crucial to mitigate any inadvertent adverse consequences. In response to these challenges, this doctoral research sought to investigate and establish strategies for implementing deprescribing in a safe and routine manner within primary care. As such, this research was guided by the research question "How can deprescribing be safely and routinely implemented within primary care?". This research also incorporated the lens of implementation science, specifically drawing on the Normalisation Process Theory (NPT), to provide a theoretical understanding of how the normalisation of deprescribing can be achieved in the context of primary care.

8.1.1. Chapter 4 – Systematic review key findings

A substantial portion of the existing literature on deprescribing in primary care has primarily concentrated on the work needed to make deprescribing occur, primarily focusing on the deprescribing process itself. However, limited attention has been devoted to exploring the strategies for effectively and safely implement deprescribing into diverse care settings. Additionally, deprescribing studies have inadequately reported on the implementation of interventions, impeding efforts to replicate such interventions in clinical practice. To advance the understanding of deprescribing implementation and the normalisation of deprescribing practices within primary care, it is imperative to enhance the comprehension of how various stakeholders and groups appraise deprescribing interventions once they are introduced into practice. This analysis, falling within the purview of reflexive monitoring, should centre on examining how individuals attempt to modify the newly implemented interventions, how groups assess the value of deprescribing, how individuals appraise the effects of deprescribing on themselves and their work environment, and how the benefits and challenges of deprescribing are identified and measured.

8.1.2. Chapter 5 – Patient interviews key findings

The involvement of patients in this research has revealed a significant finding regarding their acceptance and engagement in deprescribing. It became evident that for patients to fully embrace and participate in deprescribing, they required conviction regarding the rationale behind deprescribing and its appropriateness towards themselves. Consequently, patients placed great emphasis on the importance of the deprescribing rationale and the effective communication of this rationale. In this context, pharmacists were identified as a particularly valuable source of advice for patients when contemplating the deprescribing rationale. Regarding safety considerations, patients did not express a specific preference for the provider of deprescribing support. However, they did emphasise their eagerness to engage in self-monitoring following deprescribing. However, this desire came with certain conditions, such as being equipped with knowledge on when to seek medical attention and having the assurance that HCPs would be readily available if needed. Throughout the patient interview study, there was a general acceptance of pharmacist involvement in the deprescribing process, albeit with the caveat that the reasons for their involvement needed to be made clear. Furthermore, patients expressed a preference for the initial involvement of GPs in the deprescribing process before potential handovers to a pharmacist. Additionally, the development of a therapeutic relationship built on trust with the clinician and the maintenance of continuity of care during the deprescribing process were deemed imperative by patients.

8.1.3. Chapter 6 – Healthcare professional interview key findings

The HCPs participating in this research expressed a growing consensus on the benefits of deprescribing in primary care, although complete unanimity had not yet been achieved. They highlighted the prevailing culture within the current healthcare system that predominantly promotes medicine continuation while offering limited consideration for discontinuation. This culture was characterised by uncertainty and ambiguous risk, compounded by a lack of guidance on how to effectively implement deprescribing in practice. In response to these challenges, the HCPs stressed the

importance of the availability of deprescribing guidance and improved collaboration among HCPs in making clinical deprescribing decisions, thereby facilitating the integration of deprescribing into routine practice. To support the implementation of deprescribing, the HCPs emphasised the necessity of securing buy-in from stakeholders involved in any capacity with deprescribing. This encompassed training HCPs to incorporate deprescribing considerations from the moment of prescribing, as well as conducting patient information campaigns aimed at educating patients about the benefits of deprescribing and its appropriateness for their individual circumstances. In the context of maintaining deprescribing safety, HCPs stressed the significance of diligent patient follow-up to monitor for adverse effects and provide appropriate safetynetting measures to address patient concerns following deprescribing. Consequently, a deprescribing safety-net intervention emerged, wherein community pharmacists would serve as a point of contact for patients seeking guidance or expressing concerns after undergoing deprescribing. The accessibility of community pharmacies, along with the existing therapeutic relationships, were identified as advantageous factors supporting the viability of such an intervention. This intervention was likened to the current NHS New Medicine Service; however, it was crucial to establish the necessary infrastructure and provide adequate training to fulfil these roles effectively.

8.1.4. Chapter 7 – Co-design key findings

The final co-design study informed patients and healthcare professional on the research key findings and focused on developing interventions and/or resources to aid the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care. Through the codesign discussions, several important insights emerged. It was recognised that patients, as active participants in their own healthcare, could serve as catalysts for promoting routine deprescribing. However, it was also acknowledged that patients may feel hesitant to initiate discussions about the necessity of their medicines through fear of being perceived as challenging HCPs. Moreover, the discussions highlighted the valuable role that community pharmacists could play as a deprescribing safety net, providing support and feedback to both patients and the originating prescriber. Consequently, because of these empirical insights, the development of medicine necessity questions took shape. These questions were designed to empower patients to initiate conversations pertaining to the ongoing need for their medicines and the possibility of deprescribing. Additionally, a Real-World Logic Model (RWLM) depicting a community pharmacy deprescribing safety net intervention was formulated. This model illustrated how community pharmacists can effectively contribute to maintaining safety

throughout the deprescribing process, while also considering the contextual factors that influence the implementation and functioning of the intervention. This culmination of research, leading to the co-design of a resource and intervention, is hypothesised to contribute to the normalisation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care. Furthermore, it suggests a viable strategy for ensuring deprescribing safety in practical healthcare settings.



Figure 12 – Summary of doctoral research, the interconnecting role of NPT and outputs

8.2. Key findings and their relationship with literature and policy

8.2.1. Implementing normalised deprescribing

8.2.1.1. Implementation considerations for deprescribing interventions

Since commencing this doctoral research, the field of deprescribing has experienced significant growth on a national and international scale. Notably, recent research endeavours have aligned with the objectives of this study by emphasising the implementation aspects of deprescribing interventions.

In this context, Wang et al., (2022) conducted a scoping review that investigated the implementation considerations of deprescribing interventions, with a specific focus on English-language publications targeting older adults (Wang et al., 2022). The following inclusion criteria were applied:

- 1. Clinical intervention trials.
- 2. Average age of patient sample \geq 65 years old.
- Study focused on deprescribing, defined as discontinuation or titration of one or more medicines.

It is noteworthy that this review did not focus itself to a particular healthcare setting or geographic region, in contrast to the primary care focus of this doctoral research in the UK. A total of 37 studies were included in the review. Within these studies, a total of 35 deprescribing interventions were identified, with prescribers and pharmacists emerging as the most involved HCPs in these interventions (Wang et al., 2022).

In terms of enhancing the implementation potential of deprescribing interventions, the review identified three significant considerations: the availability of resources within existing healthcare systems; the target patient population; the design aspects of the interventions, including their content, intensity, and duration (Wang et al., 2022). Wang et al., (2022) highlighted that the variation in healthcare providers and resources across different clinical settings and regions had a notable impact on how deprescribing evidence was translated into practice. Specifically, countries at the forefront of deprescribing research, such as the UK, Canada, and Australia, experienced certain advantages due to the presence of community pharmacists, who were readily available and had established reimbursement structures that could be leveraged to support clinical services such as medication reviews and deprescribing efforts. However, in countries such as the United States, where community pharmacy services are more limited and not covered by federal healthcare insurances accessible to older adults, the implementation of deprescribing within such healthcare systems may face limitations (Wang et al., 2022). These findings align with the support for utilising community pharmacists in deprescribing within the research presented in this thesis. Patients in this study expressed positive experiences and interactions with community pharmacists, particularly appreciating their accessibility without the need for appointments which was emphasised during the pandemic. Similarly, HCPs also acknowledged the convenience and the presence of established therapeutic relationships between community pharmacists and patients, which could be harnessed to facilitate deprescribing implementation. Although community pharmacists do not yet have a defined role in deprescribing, their presence within the UK healthcare system,

where they have existing payment structures for clinical services like the New Medicine Service, offers a potential avenue for deprescribing implementation when compared to countries lacking this resource. However, this doctoral research also uncovered barriers to the involvement of community pharmacists in deprescribing, such as their limited access to complete medical records. Thus, while an opportunity exists, further work is necessary to fully understand how to optimise the impact of community pharmacists in the context of deprescribing.

The second implementation consideration, namely target patient populations, revealed the heterogeneity observed across intervention studies in terms of the specific patient populations targeted. The authors highlighted those countries with robust home-care support systems, such as nursing homes, tend to have patient populations characterised by increased frailty, advanced age, and greater functional impairments. Within such countries, deprescribing interventions may yield more pronounced effects, as the review suggested that interventions are likely to be most efficacious when tailored to patients exhibiting high levels of frailty, co-morbidity, and extensive polypharmacy (Wang et al., 2022). While deprescribing in nursing homes lies outside the scope of the present research, multiple studies within the deprescribing literature have advocated for the necessity, advantages, and processes associated with deprescribing in long-term care settings (Holland et al., 2023, Alves et al., 2019, Baqir et al., 2017).

The third crucial implementation consideration pertains to the design of deprescribing interventions. The scoping review identified various components comprising deprescribing interventions, including educational interventions, medication reviews, assessment of target medicines for deprescribing, and communication among HCPs and/or between HCPs and patients (Wang et al., 2022). However, the review found that only a minority of studies incorporated implementation outcomes such as the feasibility and acceptability of deprescribing, the time required for deprescribing tasks, and the challenges encountered during implementation. Moreover, several studies emphasised the significance of post-deprescribing monitoring to ensure patient safety and adherence to the intervention, suggesting that follow-up interventions may enhance the effectiveness and sustainability of deprescribing. Despite these observations, most interventions were delivered as one-time events, lacking subsequent assessments of adherence or safety outcomes (Wang et al., 2022). This lack of implementation reporting in deprescribing studies aligns with the findings of the systematic review conducted in Chapter 4, underscoring how this knowledge gap hampers the reproducibility of deprescribing interventions in clinical practice.

Additionally, interviews with HCPs conducted in Chapter 6 revealed the crucial role of follow-up interventions in ensuring deprescribing safety. These findings shed light on two essential elements of deprescribing interventions – implementation strategies/reporting and follow-up procedures – that hold significant implications for translating deprescribing research into safe and routine clinical practice. However, these aspects are often overlooked in deprescribing literature, leaving a critical knowledge gap that necessitates attention to enhance deprescribing implementation in primary care. While this doctoral research addresses some of these aspects, further advancements in deprescribing research are warranted to enhance understanding in this domain.

The scoping review conducted by Wang et al., concluded by highlighting the limited and uncertain implementation potential of deprescribing interventions in clinical practice. The authors also noted a lack of involvement of multidisciplinary HCPs in deprescribing trials. Based on their findings, the authors made several recommendations to facilitate the implementation of deprescribing into routine practice. These recommendations included improvements to the interoperability of electronic health records to enhance communication between HCPs and support deprescribing efforts. Furthermore, the authors emphasised the importance of interdisciplinary collaboration to broaden the impact of deprescribing across various healthcare disciplines (Wang et al., 2022). Although Wang et al.'s review encompassed deprescribing in different healthcare settings, there are noteworthy similarities in its findings when compared to the focus of the research presented in this thesis on deprescribing in primary care.

Despite the existing gap in the literature concerning the implementation of deprescribing specifically within UK primary care, there has been a growing research focus on implementation considerations in other healthcare settings, including UK hospitals, indicating a shift in momentum (Scott et al., 2019). Moreover, recent deprescribing studies have demonstrated an enhanced recognition of the importance of implementation considerations, employing implementation theories such as NPT to facilitate a more comprehensive understanding of the implementation process.

The Supporting Prescribing in Older Adults with Multimorbidity in Irish Primary Care (SPPiRE) trial aimed to assess the impact of a GP-delivered medication review on reducing polypharmacy and potentially inappropriate prescribing (PIP) in community-dwelling older patients with multimorbidity in primary care (McCarthy et al., 2022a). This pragmatic, 2-arm cluster RCT employed GP clusters as the unit of intervention delivery, while patient-level outcomes were analysed. The intervention involved training

videos demonstrating the SPPiRE medication review process, along with an online medication review template offering a structured approach and links to alternative strategies for identified PIP. The intervention provided guidance to GPs on various aspects, including screening prescriptions for PIPs, assessing patient treatment priorities and wellbeing, reviewing each medicine with the patient, engaging in shared decision-making, and providing patients with a summary of the review and any medicine changes. The study spanned 6 to 12 months, with the control arm delivering usual care during the study period (McCarthy et al., 2017).

Interestingly, the provision of deprescribing guidance and a structured process for deprescribing, as reflected in the SPPiRE intervention, resonated with the sentiments expressed by HCPs in this doctoral research, emphasising the potential benefits of such guidance in facilitating routine deprescribing in primary care. However, the guidance discussed by HCPs in this doctoral research extended beyond the medication review itself to encompass the broader deprescribing process including monitoring. Within the SPPiRE trial, eligible GP practices included those with at least 300 registered patients aged ≥65 years utilising specific Irish GP practice management systems that enabled the use of a SPPiRE patient finder tool. Eligible patients were aged ≥65 years and prescribed ≥15 repeat medicines i.e., hyperpolypharmacy. The primary outcomes assessed in the study were the number of repeat medicines and the proportion of patients with any PIP (McCarthy et al., 2022a).

The trial recruited a total of 51 practices and 404 patients. The mean age of the patients was 76.5 years (SD 6.83), with a mean number of medicines of 17.37 (SD 3.50), and a mean number of PIPs per person of 2.52 (SD 1.48) (McCarthy et al., 2022a). The study found a reduction in the number of medicines and PIP in both the intervention and control group at follow-up. Furthermore, there was no evidence of an effect on the adjusted odds ratio of having a PIP in the intervention group compared to the control group at follow-up (OR 0.39, 95% CI: 0.140 to 1.064, p = 0.066). However, there was a small but significantly greater reduction in the number of medicines and a significant reduction in the odds of being prescribed \geq 15 medicines in the intervention compared to the control group (McCarthy et al., 2022a). These findings align with those of several deprescribing RCTs investigating deprescribing in older adult populations across various settings, which have reported a reduction in the number of medicines taken but have yielded uncertain patient-related outcomes (Omuya et al., 2023).

Although the impact of the intervention remained unclear, the study authors emphasised the importance of implementing the intervention consistently, every 6 to 12 months, as opposed to the one-off intervention seen within the study. They suggested that such implementation could potentially lead to improved patient outcomes and behavioural changes among prescribers (McCarthy et al., 2022a). This sentiment echoes the findings of this doctoral research, which discovered that HCPs expressed a need for deprescribing guidance and desired a structured approach to deprescribing to facilitate its routine practice in primary care. The provision of deprescribing training and guidance on addressing clinical deprescribing scenarios, like the SPPiRE intervention, may not only reduce the number of medicines taken, as observed in the study, but also promote the routine practice of deprescribing in primary care, particularly during medication reviews.

Furthermore, attention should be directed towards the process evaluation of the SPPiRE trial, which has yet to be completed. The study protocol for the process evaluation outlines plans to assess how the implementation of the intervention may occur on a wider scale in primary care, utilising implementation science alongside qualitative interviews with GPs. The analysis of the data will be informed by NPT, similar to the utilisation of NPT in this doctoral research (Kyne et al., 2020). Although the specific way in which NPT will be used in this process evaluation has yet to be seen, the inclusion of NPT signifies a positive step towards a heightened focus on successfully implementing and replicating deprescribing interventions within clinical practice. In line with the findings of the systematic review highlighting the scarcity of deprescribing implementation research in Chapter 4, the research presented in this thesis advocates for the inclusion of such literature to enhance our understanding in this area.

8.2.1.2. Leveraging NPT for normalised deprescribing

The use of NPT in this doctoral research holds significant value, providing a theoretical framework for examining the implementation perspective of deprescribing in primary care. Its application in the systematic review investigating the barriers and facilitators to proactive deprescribing implementation in primary care shed light on the current state of deprescribing knowledge by revealing a predominant focus on the collective action aspect of deprescribing (i.e., the deprescribing process), while highlighting a notable scarcity of knowledge pertaining to reflexive monitoring of deprescribing. Over the past decade, research efforts have predominantly centred around understanding the deprescribing process itself rather than the required actions to facilitate its implementation (Reeve et al., 2014b, Silcock et al., 2023). Consequently, it is not surprising that the deprescribing literature is saturated with evidence pertaining to the

collective action involved in deprescribing. This understanding, as elucidated through the lens of NPT, is crucial for improving the normalisation of deprescribing interventions within healthcare practices. However, it is equally important to enhance understanding of the other constructs of NPT, namely coherence, cognitive participation, and reflexive monitoring.

Currently, there remains a notable scarcity of deprescribing appraisal within deprescribing interventions, along with an absence of guidance on conducting comprehensive appraisals of such interventions. Employing the EBCD approach, Silcock et al., (2022) collaboratively designed a deprescribing pathway tailored for older adults with frailty in the UK. Notably, this pathway incorporated patients' expressed desire to provide feedback to HCPs, thereby becoming an integral component of the deprescribing process (Silcock et al., 2023). While this development presents a potential avenue for the incorporation of reflexive monitoring into the deprescribing pathway through HCP evaluation, uncertainties persist concerning the practical utilisation of such feedback to fortify reflexive monitoring and facilitate subsequent normalisation of deprescribing interventions. Deprescribing literature also lacks sufficient discourse on strategies for enhancing reflexive monitoring to facilitate the implementation of interventions within healthcare settings. Nonetheless, valuable insights can be gained from studies conducted in diverse healthcare contexts that have sought to implement complex interventions by leveraging the theoretical framework of NPT.

An example of leveraging NPT in the implementation of a complex intervention can be found in the work of Johnson et al., (2017). They conducted a prospective before-and-after intervention study in a tertiary neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) with the goal of implementing an evidence-based nutritional guideline to enhance the nutritional care of preterm infants in the south of England (Johnson et al., 2017). To enhance the implementation success of the intervention, targeted strategies were employed to address specific constructs of NPT. The study utilised a questionnaire based on the NPT online toolkit to assess the normalisation of guideline compliance during the study period. The questionnaire asked participants in the study group to anonymously rate their level of agreement with NPT-related questions, generating an aggregate score for each of the four NPT constructs. These scores were visually represented using radar plots, which revealed that over time, participants began perceiving the intervention as a normal part of their practice. However, certain aspects of implementation still exhibited room for improvement. Specifically, scores related to collective action and reflexive monitoring were initially lower, indicating that staff members did not fully recognise the

benefits of the intervention in their work. To address this, researchers disseminated the ongoing study results to NICU staff, which subsequently led to improvements in the corresponding NPT scores. The study further observed that guideline compliance and NPT scores increased progressively during the implementation phase, reaching a plateau in the post-implementation phase. The authors emphasised the significant role of reflexive monitoring by staff members in assessing implementation progress, through appraising the benefits of the intervention, as it was strongly associated with intervention compliance. Overall, the study demonstrated enhanced infant nutrition and rapid integration of the intervention into practice facilitated by the application of NPT (Johnson et al., 2017).

While acknowledging the contextual variations in clinical settings, the example above accentuates the significance of reflexive monitoring and how it was successfully augmented through the dissemination of intervention appraisal among staff members. Similar strategies could be implemented within the realm of HCPs involved in deprescribing, not only to highlight the potential positive impact on patients, but also to identify the absence of associated harms. Interestingly, HCPs expressed a similar viewpoint regarding deprescribing implementation in primary care in Chapter 6. Some HCPs reported that witnessing the effects of deprescribing and the absence of safety concerns bolstered their confidence to routinely engage in deprescribing practices. Consequently, providing feedback on deprescribing outcomes to the original prescriber may enhance the reflexive monitoring of deprescribing and further embed the intervention into routine practice. This highlights a critical aspect of the community pharmacy safety net, namely the incorporation of a feedback loop wherein community pharmacists can relay the outcomes of deprescribing to the original prescriber or the deprescribing initiator. This enhancement could be further augmented by integrating patient feedback for HCPs via community pharmacists engaging in discussions or administering surveys focused on patient satisfaction, as exemplified in the conceptualisation of the 'ideal' deprescribing pathway by Silcock et al. (Silcock et al., 2023). Theoretically, such an approach could yield a similar effect as observed in the study conducted by Johnson et al., (2017), wherein intervention appraisal, particularly the understanding and appreciation of intervention benefits, facilitated the normalisation of a complex healthcare intervention.

The integration of the feedback loop within the community pharmacy deprescribing safety net exemplifies the influence of NPT in identifying strategies for normalising deprescribing in clinical practice. However, it is important to recognise how the co-

designed medicine necessity questions also address key constructs within the NPT framework.

During patient interviews conducted in Chapter 5, the exploration of factors contributing to patient confidence in deprescribing aligns with the construct of collective action in NPT. Patients expressed the need to be sufficiently convinced of the deprescribing rationale, which revolves around discontinuing unnecessary medicines to improve patient safety and outcomes. Therefore, highlighting when medicines are no longer needed becomes crucial in fostering patient conviction towards deprescribing. Moreover, while the interview question aimed to assess patient confidence in deprescribing which is derived from the construct of collective action, the response of being convinced by the deprescribing rationale relates to the construct of 'sensemaking' or coherence within NPT. Specifically, it corresponds to the subconstruct of internalisation, wherein individuals understand the value, benefits, and significance of deprescribing. Therefore, when patients engage in discussions and are convinced of the necessity for deprescribing, it not only enhances their confidence and collective action in the intervention but also contributes to the development of coherence surrounding deprescribing. By leveraging two constructs of NPT, there is a theoretical enhancement in the normalisation potential of deprescribing in primary care settings. Patients' understanding and conviction regarding the necessity of their medicines and subsequent deprescribing rationale play a crucial role in fostering confidence, collective, and coherence with deprescribing interventions.

However, effectively convincing patients about the rationale behind deprescribing remains complex. This complexity primarily arises from the inherent uncertainties surrounding the deprescribing evidence base, compounded by the challenges in quantifying and effectively communicating the risks and benefits linked to deprescribing, as discussed in Chapter 6. Moreover, this complexity is further compounded by the need to factor in individual patient preferences, values, and treatment objectives, which can substantially diverge across patients. Consequently, a more extensive inquiry is warranted to delve into how HCPs can be better equipped to adeptly convey compelling deprescribing rationales to patients, accounting for the nuances surrounding the deprescribing process.

8.2.2. Patients as a catalyst for routine deprescribing

8.2.2.1. Patient communication in deprescribing

In the UK, the average duration of GP appointments is 9.2 minutes, falling short of the minimum recommended duration of 15 minutes by the Royal College of General Practitioners (Irving et al., 2017, Royal College of General Practitioners, 2019). Given the increasing complexity of the patient population due to the rising prevalence of age-related diseases, coupled with the already identified time constraints as a barrier to deprescribing for GPs, it is understandable that deprescribing may not always be at the forefront of their considerations during patient encounters (Doherty et al., 2020). Considering these challenges, empowering patients to initiate conversations about deprescribing may offer a potential solution in the form of deprescribing reminders. Patients can serve as reminders or catalysts for deprescribing considerations, effectively providing an avenue for deprescribing discussions within the limited appointment time (Chan et al., 2023). By taking an active role in these conversations, patients can play a proactive role in advocating for their medication management and prompting deprescribing discussions with their healthcare providers.

There has been an increased focus on the use of communication tools to facilitate deprescribing. Chan et al., (2023) recently conducted a scoping review aiming to identify and categorise existing deprescribing communication tools for HCPs and patients. Articles were included if they contained a deprescribing tool or intervention with a patient communication component and were excluded if they were not available in English or were published before 2000 (Chan et al., 2023). A total of 32 resources were included which contained 40 tools with a patient communication component (Chan et al., 2023).

The review identified deprescribing communication tools originating from the UK, United States, Australia, and Canada. Among the identified tools, the majority (60%) were designed for use in primary care settings, with a specific focus on communitydwelling adults aged \geq 65 years accounting for the most common target population (37.5%). Notably, almost half of the identified tools offered general support for deprescribing without prescribing specific medications for discontinuation. Moreover, a significant proportion of the tools lacked testing or validation, raising concerns about their reliability and efficacy. Further examination of the tool components revealed that the majority aimed to enhance deprescribing awareness, improve health literacy, and foster patient self-efficacy (Chan et al., 2023). The tools designed for patients primarily aimed to educate them on the risks and benefits associated with medicines, as well as providing guidance on initiating conversations about deprescribing. Similar to the developed medicine necessity questions, many of these tools encouraged patients to engage in discussions with HCPs regarding their medicines, offering suggested phrasing and conversation starters that were perceived to facilitate deprescribing (Chan et al., 2023). However, the process through which some of these tools were developed, as well as the involvement of patients and HCPs in their creation, remained unclear. Notably, none of the identified tools containing patient-initiated deprescribing questions originated from the UK, underscoring the novelty of the co-designed medicine necessity questions within the UK context. The authors concluded by emphasising the potential of such communication tools in increasing the frequency of deprescribing, while also highlighting the need for validation and research into their effectiveness (Chan et al., 2023). Despite the novelty of the developed medicine necessity questions, the recommendations regarding validation and effectiveness research remain applicable. Validated tools that have demonstrated effectiveness and feasibility in primary care settings are crucial. Therefore, conducting feasibility testing and further refining the medicine necessity questions would be beneficial in transforming this resource into an effective tool for patients, enhancing their understanding of medicine necessity, and identifying opportunities for deprescribing.

8.2.2.2. Enhancing patient involvement in their own care

The development of medicine necessity questions reflects the alignment with current NHS policy, which aims to empower patients to actively participate in their own care. Extensive evidence has demonstrated that patients who are involved in their care achieve improved treatment outcomes compared to those who have limited involvement (Darkins et al., 2015, Krist et al., 2017). As a result, healthcare models have increasingly focused on enhancing patient involvement and providing patient-centred care, while also striving to minimise the traditional medical hierarchy in which HCPs make decisions on behalf of patients. In line with this approach, the UK government released the policy document "Liberating the NHS: No decision about me, without me" in 2011, which emphasised the importance of shared decision-making between patients and HCPs to enhance healthcare delivery nationwide (Department of Health and Social Care, 2011). Subsequently, there has been a heightened emphasis on finding ways to effectively engage patients in their care.

The NHS Long Term Plan further reinforces this commitment by seeking to enhance support for patients to manage their own health and actively participate in decision-making processes (NHS, 2019). The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) has also provided guidance on implementing shared decision-making in all healthcare settings (The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2021). Within this guidance, it highlights the importance of supporting patients to ask questions regarding their care, particularly using prompts. Patients may hesitate to ask questions to HCPs due to perceiving them as decision-making (Katz et al., 2007).

The medicine necessity questions developed in this doctoral research are built on this premise, encouraging patients to enquire about the necessity of medicines they may not be aware of. These questions promote patient engagement in their own care, serve as a foundation for shared decision-making, and serve as a reminder to HCPs to consider the ongoing need for and potential deprescribing of unnecessary medicines. Given that patients in this research expressed a willingness and right to be involved in deprescribing decisions, the growing body of literature highlighting the importance of shared decision-making, and the healthcare system's adaptation to encourage and support patient engagement in their own care, the medicine necessity questions have the potential to act as catalysts for routine deprescribing in primary care.

8.2.3. The role of pharmacists in safe and routine deprescribing

8.2.3.1. PCN and primary care pharmacists

The inclusion of pharmacists in this research aimed to understand their perspectives on deprescribing, which was generally welcomed. Chapters 1 and 2 of this research have emphasised the active involvement of pharmacists in deprescribing interventions, which has demonstrated positive outcomes in terms of deprescribing effectiveness (Martin et al., 2018). Chapter 1 introduced the heightened emphasis on deprescribing and SMRs because of significant policy developments, namely the NHS Long Term Plan, the Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service centred on Structured Medication Reviews (SMRs), and the overprescribing report advocating for the integration of deprescribing into routine healthcare practices. These policy documents announced increased funding to support the deployment of clinical pharmacists within primary care settings, enabling the provision of medication optimisation services. Moreover, the expansion of SMR services has been advocated, with the aim of extending their benefits to a broader spectrum of patients (NHS, 2019, Department of Health and Social Care, 2021). Building upon this foundation, Chapters 5 and 6 explored the specific role of pharmacists in deprescribing. However, it should be noted that research efforts and government initiatives have continued to evolve in this area.

The transformative impact of the Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service on the landscape of primary care deprescribing was elucidated in Chapter 6. Notably, primary care staff acknowledged the pivotal role of clinical pharmacists within PCNs and general practices in driving deprescribing efforts through SMRs. This contractual arrangement clearly mandated that primary care pharmacists actively engage in deprescribing as part of the SMR process. However, it is imperative to assess the preparedness of pharmacists for deprescribing and ascertain the extent to which SMRs have been consistently implemented since their introduction. During interviews with primary care pharmacists, various factors hindering deprescribing were identified, influencing the likelihood of deprescribing.

Additionally, questions were raised about whether pharmacists had enough time to conduct SMRs and investigate deprescribing options. Furthermore, it is impossible to ignore the COVID-19 pandemic's considerable influence on SMR adoption. The implementation of SMRs may have undergone alterations as healthcare systems were forced to adapt to deal with the pandemic's requirements, with only a recent return to normalcy being seen in this regard.

A recent qualitative study by Madden et al., (2022) examined the early implementation of SMRs in the UK context and explored the factors influencing the initial rollout of SMRs through semi-structured interviews with two groups of participants: ten newly appointed pharmacists in PCNs in Northern England and ten pharmacists with established positions in GP practices across 10 PCNs throughout England (Madden et al., 2022). All the pharmacists in the study conducted SMRs remotely via telephone. Including newly appointed and experienced pharmacists allowed for a comprehensive understanding of perspectives, encompassing those who had recently joined the PCN in response to the NHS funding initiatives for clinical pharmacists in primary care.

Findings revealed that the implementation of SMRs had yet to emerge as a priority within PCNs, with individual pharmacists shouldering the responsibility for initiating the service within their respective PCNs. Experienced pharmacists highlighted that conducting SMRs was more time-consuming and challenging due to the intensive patient focus and complexity involved. One senior pharmacist expressed confusion

regarding the association of SMRs with the newly funded clinical pharmacist workforce, who might need more experience in conducting clinical reviews. Several newly appointed PCN pharmacists expressed concerns about their clinical knowledge and sought resources, such as templates, to structure their SMR discussions, mainly if they lacked previous patient-facing experience. Interestingly, pharmacists conducted medication reviews via telephone without prior notice to patients, which, while not ideal, was considered a practical approach. The study revealed a need for more alignment between SMR implementation and the ideal patient-centred practices outlined in policy documents. Instead, SMR practices tended to revert to conventional medication review procedures, undermining the specific purpose of the service (Madden et al., 2022).

The establishment of a role for primary care pharmacists in deprescribing (within the context of SMR) introduces opportunities for deprescribing in primary care. However, despite this development, the readiness of pharmacists to engage in deprescribing practices is limited. The data from interviews with HCPs in Chapter 6, as well as the early SMR implementation study conducted by Madden et al. (2022), emphasise the need for support and resources to enhance the routine consideration of deprescribing among pharmacists. This doctoral research contributes to this perspective by identifying barriers faced by primary care pharmacists in relation to deprescribing, especially considering the introduction of SMRs.

Nonetheless, further efforts are required to identify effective strategies that can enhance pharmacists' readiness to engage in deprescribing practices, particularly among newly appointed primary care pharmacists who may lack confidence in this area. By addressing these barriers and providing appropriate support, it is possible to improve the readiness of pharmacists to participate in deprescribing initiatives, thereby enhancing the overall quality of patient care in primary care settings.

8.2.3.2. Community pharmacists

Contrary to the integration of PCN and primary care pharmacists in deprescribing initiatives, community pharmacists have yet to be assigned a clearly defined role in the deprescribing process. This research proposes a novel role for community pharmacists in ensuring the safety of deprescribing practices within primary care through the implementation of a community pharmacy deprescribing safety net. As discussed in Chapter 7, this role leverages the unique strengths of community pharmacy, including established therapeutic relationships with patients and enhanced accessibility, to establish a safety net that detects and addresses potential adverse outcomes of

deprescribing, thereby safeguarding patient wellbeing. However, it is crucial to acknowledge and address the potential challenges and policy implications associated with the implementation of such a role.

In line with the NHS Long Term Plan and the new workforce implementation plan, there is a growing recognition of the potential of community pharmacists to contribute to patient care (NHS, 2019). The Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework (CPCF) for 2019/20 to 2023/24, a contractual agreement between the NHS and community pharmacies, aligns with these strategies and emphasises the shift towards a more clinical and patient-facing role for community pharmacies. This framework outlines the provision of services and funding for community pharmacies, with a focus on minor illness management, prevention, and the use of technology to enhance dispensing efficiency to allow for more pharmacist time for clinical services (NHS England, 2019a).

One notable development resulting from this contractual agreement is the Community Pharmacy Consultation Service (CPCS) which offers same-day appointments with community pharmacists for minor illnesses or urgent supply of regular medicines. This service aims to improve access to convenient treatment closer to patients' homes (NHS England, 2019b). The emergence of the CPCS coincides with the development of the community pharmacy deprescribing safety net, which leverages similar skills employed in the CPCS, such as patient symptom assessment and the identification of referral needs.

Furthermore, the community pharmacy deprescribing safety net aligns with the current NHS infrastructure and strategies for utilising the skills of community pharmacists to enhance patient care and engagement. The intervention capitalises on the existing NHS framework, although the implementation context within the RWLM require consideration. This convergence of objectives and strategies suggests that the community pharmacy deprescribing safety net is in line with the ongoing efforts of the NHS and the government to optimise the role of community pharmacists and improve patient safety outcomes.

Yet throughout the research presented in this thesis, barriers to the involvement of community pharmacists in deprescribing have consistently emerged, demanding an analysis of how these barriers translate into potential challenges for the developed safety net intervention.

A prominent barrier identified was the lack of time available to community pharmacists to contribute to interventions. In the UK, community pharmacists are involved in various activities such as dispensing and checking medicines, providing medical advice for minor ailments, and delivering clinical services like the New Medicine Service (NMS) and travel clinics. Despite the expansion of their roles beyond dispensing, it is evident that dispensing activities still consume a significant portion of their time, similar to other countries like Australia (Karia et al., 2022). Consequently, separating pharmacist time from dispensing tasks could potentially free up more time for clinical services, including the proposed intervention. The CPCF has acknowledged this issue and outlined plans to leverage technology to optimise pharmacist time. However, the timing and effectiveness of these measures remain uncertain. At the time of this doctoral research, community pharmacists continued to express concerns about the lack of time available to engage in deprescribing initiatives. To ensure the effectiveness of the community pharmacy safety net, it is crucial to provide pharmacists with dedicated time and adequate reimbursement for conducting the intervention without compromising their dispensing responsibilities.

Financial incentives are another aspect that warrants consideration for promoting participation in the developed intervention. Currently, community pharmacies are paid a fee based on their dispensing volumes, as per Part IIIA of the NHS Electronic Drug Tariff (NHS England, 2020). In Chapter 6, HCPs identified a potential conflict of interest associated with community pharmacists' involvement in deprescribing, as reducing medicine use may lead to a decrease in the number of prescriptions dispensed by community pharmacies. Additionally, the limited participation of community pharmacists in deprescribing studies, as highlighted in Chapter 2, was attributed to undisclosed competing priorities (Korenvain et al., 2020, Martin et al., 2018). While a conflict of interest is possible, it is expected that pharmacists would adhere to the professional standards set by the General Pharmaceutical Council (GPhC), which prioritises patientcentred care and professional behaviour (The General Pharmacutical Council, 2023). Furthermore, adequately reimbursing community pharmacies for their involvement in deprescribing would offset the loss from reduced dispensing volumes. The funding structure for community pharmacies has evolved over the years, moving away from a sole focus on payments based on the number of medicines dispensed, towards remuneration for providing clinical, patient-centred services. An example of this shift is the introduction of the Pharmacy Quality Scheme (PQS) as part of the CPCF in December 2016. This scheme offers financial incentives to community pharmacies for delivering quality care across three dimensions: clinical effectiveness, patient safety, and patient experience (NHS England, 2023). An example of which is pharmacists providing inhaler checks for patients recently starting a new inhaler. Evaluations of the PQS have demonstrated its positive impact on enhancing medicine safety in recent

years (Parekh et al., 2023). Financial incentives were also identified as a facilitator for deprescribing implementation in the systematic review presented in Chapter 4, as they enhance collective action in deprescribing interventions and improve the potential for normalisation, as explained through NPT. Therefore, coupling the implementation of the safety net intervention with financial incentives for participation would enhance the likelihood of engagement by community pharmacists.

8.2.3.3. Care collaboration within primary care

Lastly, it is crucial to address the level of integration of community pharmacy within primary care and the broader healthcare system, particularly in terms of information sharing and collaboration. A significant concern raised by both patients and HCPs regarding the involvement of community pharmacists in deprescribing is the limited access to complete medical records. Patients expressed apprehension that community pharmacists may not possess comprehensive knowledge of their treatment plans, while HCPs were concerned that community pharmacists might lack a holistic view of patients' medical history to provide optimal deprescribing advice. Moreover, community pharmacies have traditionally operated in isolation, with limited sharing of activities or access to information from other NHS providers (Goundrey-Smith, 2018). This current nature of community pharmacy does not align with the requirements of the safety net intervention, as improved access to complete medical records and collaboration with the wider healthcare system can enhance community pharmacists' understanding of potential adverse effects related to deprescribing and enable effective collaboration with other HCPs to address these concerns.

In the UK, community pharmacists currently have access to Summary Care Records (SCR), which contain patient information such as prescribed medicines and allergies, derived from GP records. However, these records lack detailed information, and only GPs have the authority to update them. As a result, recent acute events such as hospital admissions and discharges are not accurately recorded in these records (Greenhalgh et al., 2010). Additionally, it is crucial for community pharmacists to effectively communicate with the HCPs responsible for deprescribing, whether to refer patients for recommencement of medicine or to provide feedback on deprescribing outcomes as part of the intervention's appraisal feedback loop.

The poor interoperability of medical records and the isolation of community pharmacy have long been persistent issues within the NHS (Goundrey-Smith, 2018). Recent initiatives have attempted to establish communication systems with community

pharmacies, such as the Discharge Medicines Service. The NHS Discharge Medicines Service, introduced in 2021 across England, is an essential service for community pharmacies. Its purpose is to improve communication of changes in patient medicines upon hospital discharge to primary care, with the aim of reducing avoidable harm. After patients leave the hospital, they are referred to a community pharmacist who receives information regarding medicine changes made during their hospital stay. This allows the community pharmacist to collaborate with patients and other healthcare professionals in primary care to support patients with their new medicine regimen (NHS England, 2021). The implementation of this service necessitates collaboration between hospitals, community pharmacies, PCNs, and general practices, with electronic communication systems playing a vital role in facilitating this. Throughout this doctoral research, the need for collaboration among HCPs in primary care has been emphasised to facilitate deprescribing. Similarly, the safety net intervention developed from this research relies on collaborative working between community pharmacies and HCPs in general practices. Therefore, exploring the development of electronic communication systems between community pharmacy and wider primary care is essential to assess how it may enhance the adoption of routine deprescribing and the safety net intervention, like the approach taken in the Discharge Medicines Service.

Parallel to the establishment of PCNs to enhance collaborative working, the formation of Integrated Care Systems (ICS) has replaced Clinical Commissioning Groups since July 2022. ICSs are partnerships consisting of the NHS, local councils and authorities, community and voluntary organisations, local residents, patients, and carers, aimed at planning and delivering coordinated healthcare services (NHS England, 2022). The creation of ICSs and PCNs has been driven by the objective of improving collaborative working in primary care, focusing on a systems approach to interventions rather than an individual approach previously utilised. Hence, leveraging these care groups for deprescribing interventions, such as the safety net developed in this research, would be beneficial. This could involve planning the implementation of interventions within these groups or selecting a PCN or ICS to conduct feasibility studies of deprescribing intervential platforms for HCPs to work together, supporting the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care.

8.3. Research outputs and dissemination plans

8.3.1. Research papers and conferences

The research generated from this doctoral project has provided novel and valuable insights that address gaps in the deprescribing evidence-base. As such, it is valuable for the key findings identified to be appropriately disseminated and communicated to the relevant stakeholders. Research dissemination is an integral part of the research project and aids in increasing visibility of research outputs, whilst enhancing the social, political, and economic impact (Marín-González et al., 2017). There is also a moral obligation to those involved within the research study, with many interested in seeing deprescribing as routine practice for their own personal reasons, to see the impact of their involvement in research within the wider world. This may encourage more patients and HCPs to be involved in research and enhance science and innovation within the country.

For these reasons, a dissemination plan was developed to enhance the visibility and impact of this research. Firstly, the researcher and supervision team discussed elements of the doctoral research which would be publishable, as well as identifying journals in which the research would fit within their remit. The journal publishing plan can be seen in Table 26 presents the research publication plan, with its updated progress.

Research	Journal	Current update	
Barriers and	International Journal	Accepted and published:	
facilitators of	of Pharmacy Practice	doi.org/10.1093/iipp/riad001	
implementing	(IJPP)		
proactive			
deprescribing within			
primary care: a			
systematic review			
Study 2 – Patient	BMC Geriatrics	Writing manuscript	
Interviews			
Study 2 –	BJGP Open	Writing manuscript	
Healthcare			

Table 26 – Research publication plan

professional		
interviews		
Developing	BMC Primary Care	Writing manuscript
deprescribing		
resources for older		
people with		
polypharmacy living		
in primary care:		
using co-design and		
logic modelling		
Combining	Implementation	Writing manuscript
Normalisation	Science	
Process Theory and		
Real-World Logic		
Modelling		

In conjunction to publishing research within journals, an additional aspect of the dissemination plan consists of presenting findings of this research at research conferences. This provides an opportunity to present research outputs, receive constructive feedback on areas the research can be strengthened and network with fellow researchers, patients, and healthcare professionals. Table 27 highlights research conferences in which the researcher has, presented outputs from the doctoral research.

Conference	Research	Outcome
North-East Postgraduate	Stopping Harmful	Oral presentation
(NEPG) Conference 2020	Medicines (Deprescribing)	
	in Primary Care	
NIHR Patient Safety	Barriers and facilitators to	Oral presentation
Translational Research	the routine	
Centres (PSTRC) 2021	implementation of	
symposium		

1 able 21 - 1 contenent unserning automation in contenences

	deprescribing in primary	
	care – A systemic review	
NIHR Patient Safety Translational Research Centres PhD Network event 2021 Health Services Research & Pharmacy Practice Conference (HSRPP) 2022	Stopping harmful medicines (deprescribing) in primary care – Qualitative methods in a pandemic Routinely implementing safe deprescribing in primary care: a scoping review	Oral Presentation Oral presentation Oral presentation Abstract published online in International Journal of Pharmacy Practice (IJPP) doi:
		10.1093/ijpp/riac021.006
NIHR Patient Safety Translational Research Centres (PSTRC) 2022 symposium Health Services Research & Pharmacy Practice Conference (HSRPP) 2023	Barriers and facilitators of implementing proactive deprescribing within primary care: a systematic review Patient perspectives of safe and routine deprescribing for older people living with polypharmacy: an interview study	Poster presentation Oral presentation – 2 nd place prize winner Abstract published online in International Journal of Pharmacy Practice (IJPP) DOI: 10.1093/ijpp/riad021.042
Health Services Research & Pharmacy Practice Conference (HSRPP) 2023	Developing deprescribing resources for older people with polypharmacy living in primary care: using co- design and logic modelling	Poster presentation Abstract published online in International Journal of Pharmacy Practice (IJPP) DOI: 10.1093/ijpp/riad021.041

8.3.2. National collaboration with The Academic Health Service Network

The outputs of this doctoral research have also influenced national attempts to combat problematic polypharmacy within the UK. The Academic Health Service Network (AHSN) is the innovative arm of the NHS, consisting of 15 networks across the country, focuses on disseminating a variety of innovation within the NHS, from new technologies to service improvements (The AHSN Network, 2023). Due to the potential effects of problematic polypharmacy to patient safety and healthcare resource utilisation, the AHSN have initiated a polypharmacy programme looking to address increases in problematic polypharmacy through three pillars: 1) Population Health data, 2) Education and Training, and 3) Public Behaviour Change. The systematic review conducted in Chapter 4 provided evidence that underpinned the successful AHSN bid for the polypharmacy programme.

Pillar 3, which centres on public behaviour change, aims to employ a variety of publicfacing campaigns to shift public perceptions away from a culture of "pill for every ill", and instead encourage patients to engage in open discussions about their medicines. In line with this objective, the Yorkshire and Humber AHSN plans to incorporate the medicine necessity questions developed in this study, particularly in conjunction with a medicines campaign called Me and My Medicines. The Me and My Medicines campaign, led by patients, is focused on empowering patients to raise concerns about their medicines through a communication charter designed to facilitate conversations about medicines between patients and HCPs (Me and My Medicines, 2023). Initial discussions with the Yorkshire and Humber AHSN have explored the possibility of integrating the Me and My Medicines charter to encourage patients to discuss their medicines, while equipping patients with the medicine necessity questions to prompt enquiries about the ongoing need for their medicines. The plan is to pilot the use of the medicine necessity questions across the Yorkshire and Humber region to assess whether this approach is feasible in primary care, leads to an increase in discussions regarding the necessity of patients' medicines and, consequently, a reduction in problematic polypharmacy.

Furthermore, the Lead AHSN for the National Polypharmacy Program and NHS England National Clinical Director for Prescribing (responsible for implementing the action plans from the Overprescribing Review) has also expressed interest in the medicine necessity questions developed. Within the context of public behaviour change, the Lead AHSN have developed materials that support patients attending a SMR. Consequently, they used a SMR invitation letter, previously developed by researchers at the NIHR YH PSTRC, with the medicine necessity questions (Appendix AB). The SMR invitation letter provides patients with information about the nature and purpose of SMRs, as well as questions they may want to think about and ask during the SMR. Given the nature of the medicine necessity questions, particularly their relevance to the deprescribing process, it was crucial to evaluate the appropriateness of each question for patients before attending an SMR. After careful consideration, it was decided to include selected questions in the SMR invitation letter, as some questions were deemed more applicable to patients who already felt burdened by polypharmacy, which may not be the case for every patient attending an SMR. Additionally, certain questions overlapped with existing questions in the SMR invitation letter and were modified to avoid duplication. To summarise, the following questions were included:

- Why am I taking these medicines?
- Do I still need all my medicines?

Currently, the SMR materials are being developed and will be disseminated across England. In addition, the invitation letter has been translated into eight languages and incorporated into the SMR template in Leeds, rendering it accessible to clinicians throughout the city. The invite letter has also been hosted by the Primary Care Pharmacy Association (PCPA), a national entity that extends support to primary care pharmacists. Additionally, it has been featured in the PrescQIPP bulletin, an initiative funded by the NHS, which is dedicated to the enhancement of quality and optimise prescribing practices by providing easily accessible and evidence-based resources.

8.4. Implications for research, practice, and future research plans

8.4.1. Implications for research

As elucidated in Chapter 4, there is a clear need for increased research in the implementation of deprescribing practices. This encompasses exploring factors relevant to implementation across diverse healthcare settings and improving the reporting of implementation factors within deprescribing studies. While much of the existing deprescribing evidence focuses on the process itself, there is now a crucial shift required towards implementation research to facilitate the implementation of deprescribing into routine care. Although the need for deprescribing implementation research has been acknowledged in the literature, there remains a paucity of evidence in this area (Thompson et al., 2019). By undertaking such research, the implementation

of deprescribing interventions can be well promoted in real-world healthcare settings (Peters et al., 2013). Moreover, this research should be underpinned by implementation science to consider the essential contextual factors associated with deprescribing in various healthcare settings, examine how these factors may hinder or promote intervention delivery, and enhance the uptake of interventions (Bauer and Kirchner, 2020).

As also emphasised in Chapter 4, there is a scarcity of research on the appropriate appraisal, and specifically reflexive monitoring, of deprescribing interventions. The appropriate appraisal of deprescribing interventions by relevant stakeholders may enhance the potential for deprescribing to become normalised, as explained through the lens of the NPT. However, due to the lack of research in this domain, it remains unclear what constitutes a feasible and effective approach to appraising deprescribing for both patients and HCPs. Within the framework of reflexive monitoring in NPT, it is important to examine how individuals attempt to modify newly implemented interventions, how groups assess the value of deprescribing, how individuals appraise the effects of deprescribing on themselves and their work environment, and how the benefits and challenges of deprescribing are identified and measured.

This doctoral research has presented evidence advocating for the involvement of community pharmacists in deprescribing. However, barriers still exist that may impede their participation in deprescribing, particularly regarding limited access to medical records and lack of integration with wider primary care. Community pharmacists represent a valuable and unique resource that can contribute to the successful implementation of health interventions, including deprescribing (Wang et al., 2022). Therefore, to fully leverage this resource, further research should explore strategies to optimise the role of community pharmacists in deprescribing. These roles include providing the necessary support outlined in the deprescribing. Such research should also address how to overcome the barriers associated with limited access to medical records and how to improve the integration of community pharmacy with the broader healthcare system.

Finally, while practice pharmacists play a role in deprescribing within primary care through SMRs, it is important to ensure that pharmacists themselves are prepared for deprescribing. Numerous barriers still exist that hinder pharmacists from effectively conducting deprescribing during SMRs. Given that pharmacists are ideally positioned to engage in deprescribing practices, it is crucial to support their readiness in this regard. As highlighted in Chapter 6, this requires minimising identified barriers, such as

the lack of available deprescribing guidance, while enhancing facilitators, such as improving MDT collaboration with respect to deprescribing. Further research is needed to explore how these objectives can be achieved and actively assist pharmacists in real-world practice settings.

8.4.2. Implications for practice

Chapter 6 emphasises the significance placed by patients on being sufficiently convinced by the rationale behind deprescribing. This understanding of the benefits and reasons for deprescribing is crucial in instilling confidence in patients. When introducing deprescribing to patients, HCPs should allocate adequate time and care to effectively communicate this information. Furthermore, the communication should be tailored to meet the individual needs of each patient, promoting effective patient-centred communication and increasing the likelihood of patient satisfaction and improved treatment outcomes as a result (Ruben et al., 2020). Importantly, a convincing deprescribing rationale, leveraging multiple aspects of NPT as discussed in section 8.3.2, can further contribute to the normalisation of deprescribing practices in primary care.

HCPs also highlighted the importance of maintaining deprescribing safety through appropriate follow-ups and providing sufficient safety nets for patients, ensuring they know when to seek help after deprescribing. Therefore, it is essential not to overlook this aspect of deprescribing and to allocate adequate time and resources to monitoring procedures. As patients did not show a preference for who provides such support, there may be an opportunity to involve the wider MDT in this process, particularly if the HCP who initiated the deprescribing does not have the capacity to provide ongoing monitoring. However, if another HCP is introduced to provide monitoring support, it is essential to effectively communicate this to patients, as underlined in Chapter 5. Furthermore, where feasible, HCPs can consider engaging patients in self-monitoring, when appropriate, to enhance their involvement in their own care.

The benefits of MDT collaboration in deprescribing have consistently emerged throughout this doctoral research and should not be underestimated. Research has explored and advocated for the use of a MDT approach to deprescribing, particularly within hospital settings (Heinrich et al., 2023). Therefore, it is imperative to involve an MDT approach to deprescribing in primary care, encompassing all relevant HCPs who can contribute to the deprescribing process. This includes GPs, pharmacists, nurses, and other primary care HCPs such as social prescribers, who can address the

psychological needs of patients post-deprescribing, as suggested in Chapter 5. However, more work is needed to identify a feasible yet effective MDT approach to deprescribing in primary care, drawing on the benefits already identified in research, while avoiding unnecessary involvement of HCPs (Seto et al., 2022).

The involvement of community pharmacists in deprescribing has been extensively explored in this and other research studies (Korenvain et al., 2020, Farrell et al., 2019). However, for this role to be fully realised, it is essential to free up their time to allow capacity for such interventions, as proposed in the CPCF. This research aligns with this proposal and suggests that there needs to be a shift in practice away from dispensing roles, enabling more clinical and patient-facing roles for community pharmacists. Furthermore, current payment structures such as the PQS should be leveraged further to expand financial incentives for community pharmacists to participate in interventions such as the deprescribing safety net, enabling their valuable input to enrich these interventions while minimising the potential perception of a conflict of interest stemming from reduced dispensing volumes.

8.4.3. Future research plans

The development of the community pharmacy deprescribing safety net intervention presents an opportunity for community pharmacists to maintain deprescribing safety in primary care. However, it is important to note that this is in the early stages of intervention development. The RWLM depicts the programme theory of how the intervention is expected to lead to outcomes. Following the framework of the UK Medical Research Council (MRC), the subsequent phases of intervention development involve feasibility testing, evaluation, and implementation (Skivington et al., 2021). Therefore, the next step is to assess the feasibility and acceptability of the intervention in a manner that employs predefined progression criteria related to intervention feasibility and putative outcomes. This assessment should be conducted through collaborations with stakeholders to establish the expected desirable outcomes of the intervention, the data to be collected for process and outcome assessment, and the available options for designing the evaluation (Skivington et al., 2021). Thus, the next research steps involve designing and subsequently conducting an appropriate feasibility study for the deprescribing safety net intervention in collaboration with relevant stakeholders. It is expected that the RWLM will be further refined based on the findings of the feasibility study, as demonstrated in other studies that have utilised this approach (Mills et al., 2022).

Similarly, it is important to recognise the need for further work on the medicine necessity questions. Although these questions were co-designed with patients and HCPs, they require additional testing and validation to ensure their usability in practice. As noted by Chan et al. (2023), there are numerous non-validated or untested deprescribing communication tools available, which raises concerns about their reliability and efficacy (Chan et al., 2023). To address these potential limitations, further work will be undertaken to evaluate the medicine necessity questions. This may involve feasibility testing, as described for the deprescribing safety net intervention, or conducting field tests within focus groups consisting of patients and HCPs, a method previously used to validate other deprescribing interventions (Martin et al., 2013). Furthermore, it is important to ensure that the medicine necessity questions are useful for a diverse range of patients, considering the diverse patient demographics encountered in healthcare settings, as well as culturally appropriate (O'Toole et al., 2019). Therefore, it would be valuable to explore the translation of the questions into multiple commonly spoken languages within the UK and consider adaptations for patients with learning disabilities or varying ages and levels of health literacy.

8.5. Research reflexivity

8.5.1. Strength, limitations, and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

The methods employed in this doctoral research have several strengths that have significantly enhanced the study. To the best of the researcher's knowledge, the scoping review conducted represents the first comprehensive review of deprescribing focused specifically on patient support, education, training, and barriers/facilitators to implementation in primary care. By utilising search terms synonymous with deprescribing, the review ensured the inclusion of studies that adopted a deprescribing approach even without explicitly using the terminology.

A novel strength of the systematic review is its incorporation of implementation theory to provide theoretical context for understanding implementation barriers and facilitators. This theoretical application offers a clearer understanding of the factors that contribute to the success or failure of interventions in healthcare settings (Nilsen, 2015). The utilisation of the NPT enriched the review by providing valuable insights into barriers and facilitators through its constructs and sub-constructs. Furthermore, by following the

PRISMA guidelines for reporting systematic reviews, this provided a rigorous structure and transparency when conducting and writing the systematic review. Additional involvement of the wider supervision team in screening search results and discussing data extraction also aided in enhancing the rigour of the systematic review.

The qualitative studies conducted in Chapters 5 and 6 provided valuable insights into patients' perspectives on deprescribing implementation in primary care. These studies shed light on the information patients desired, the support they expected, and their views on the HCPs involved in deprescribing. Additionally, the studies explored the perspectives of HCPs on deprescribing, including its implementation, safety considerations, and the role of pharmacists. A noteworthy strength of the qualitative methods employed was the use of framework analysis to analyse the interview and focus group transcripts. As previously discussed in Chapter 3, framework analysis is a well-established and rigorous method for analysing qualitative data, particularly in healthcare research (Gale et al., 2013, Furber, 2010). This approach facilitated a systematic extraction of key themes from the collected data. Moreover, the involvement of the research supervision team in reviewing codes, comparing them to their own coding and interpretation of the data using example transcripts, further strengthened the analysis process. Furthermore, research findings were disseminated back to research participants as good practice and to also confirm the findings, allowing participants to highlight potential areas they disagreed with, if present. However, this was not the case, with multiple participants content with the findings and being involved in the research.

Another strength of the qualitative studies was the incorporation of NPT in the interview and focus group guides. By asking questions related to patient confidence and involvement in deprescribing, derived from the sub-constructs of relational integration and legitimation in NPT, a deeper theoretical understanding was gained regarding the factors that support patient confidence and involvement in deprescribing, and their significance in the process of normalising deprescribing practices. Similarly, by posing questions derived from multiple constructs of NPT to healthcare professionals, theoretical insights were gained into their perceptions of their involvement in deprescribing, strategies to enhance engagement in deprescribing, the prevailing consensus on deprescribing among HCPs, the nature of deprescribing training required, and the available support to promote deprescribing practices in primary care.

Maintaining a research journal throughout the qualitative studies, documenting thoughts, impressions, and ideas from data collection to analysis, added to the reflexivity within the qualitative studies. One such example was reflecting on and
appreciating that a minority of the patient responses in Chapter 5 were from participants who were consistently involved in in patient research (NIHR People in Research), and so may be more knowledgeable on healthcare matters in comparison to other patients. As a result, the doctoral researcher reflected on how such views may not be common with the average patient but are still significant as they are from an NHS patient. This practice of reflexivity deepened the researcher's understanding of the topics under investigation and enhanced the credibility of the research (Dodgson, 2019).

Within the final study, the use of co-design methodology was a fundamental strength. Literature has shown misalignment between researcher aims and patient needs is a major cause of research waste, however the use of co-design can reduce this misalignment by providing a patient and HCP focus (Slattery et al., 2020). The input that patient and HCP participants provided allowed for key stakeholder views to be core within the intervention development to ensure outputs produced are relevant to current patient and HCP needs. Furthermore, the novel use of a RWLM allowed for thorough consideration of the intervention context, which is needed to understand and guide intervention scale-up outside of the initial research settings (Mills et al., 2019). By combining the use of RWLM and NPT in a novel approach, it is hypothesised this will improve the scalability and normalisation of the intervention within primary care. Furthermore, seeking feedback on the medicine necessity questions developed highlighted the potential benefits that patient identified from the resource, but also potential areas that could be further developed through research and further feasibility studies.

However, it is important to acknowledge certain limitations in the doctoral research methods. In the scoping review, only the thesis author assessed the entire search results, which introduces the possibility of missed studies. Nevertheless, a second reviewer assessed 10% of the search results, and the thorough search strategy instils confidence that the most relevant literature was identified. Additionally, the review was limited to English language articles, potentially overlooking relevant studies in other languages. Furthermore, no formal quality appraisal of the literature was conducted, although this is not customary in a scoping review approach.

Similarly, the systematic review included only English language articles, again potentially overlooking relevant studies in other languages. While multiple authors participated in the screening process, only the doctoral researcher screened all identified articles and mapped barriers and facilitators to NPT constructs. However, the research team extensively discussed examples and subjected 10% of the shortlisted articles to a full-text double-screening process to minimise this limitation.

Within the gualitative studies, several limitations should be considered, some of which directly resulted from the COVID-19 pandemic. To comply with social distancing restrictions, interviews and focus groups were conducted online or via telephone. This may have excluded patients who were not comfortable with these methods. Efforts were made to minimise this limitation by providing assistance to patients on how to connect online or via telephone for interviews. The use of online data collection has increased in qualitative research during the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly in medical, nursing, and psychology domains (Torrentira, 2020, Salvador et al., 2020). In one comparative analysis study, a comparison was conducted between online and inperson qualitative interview methods within the healthcare research. Interview data was collected through both online and in-person, subsequently undergoing a comparative assessment. The study's findings demonstrated a marginal superiority of in-person interviews over online video calls in terms of participants expressing themselves with a greater word count. However, it was noted that both interview formats generated similar themes and a comparable word count (Krouwel et al., 2019). Online or telephone methods can facilitate participant interaction and understanding of social perceptions on the research topic. However, moderation of interviews and focus groups can be challenging, requiring skilled facilitators, and data security on online platforms must be considered. Ensuring participant confidentiality may also present challenges (Hensen et al., 2021). These limitations were addressed during the study design by involving research supervisors and PPIE to co-facilitate focus group sessions to promote discussions, using the recommended video conferencing program (Microsoft Teams®), and minimising the use of participant names whenever possible. Nevertheless, potential participants needed to meet technological and logistical requirements, which introduces the risk of only involving participants who could fulfil these requirements (Lobe et al., 2020).

During the pandemic, the UK experienced multiple lockdowns, and many HCPs provided remote care to adhere to social distancing guidelines. Reduced access to HCPs during this period may explain why patients emphasised the importance of seeing and/or speaking with HCPs during deprescribing. This emphasis could lead patients to favour the involvement of community pharmacists in deprescribing, as community pharmacies remained open and accessible during the pandemic. However, it is well-documented that patients face challenges in accessing care services, particularly in primary care, even before the pandemic (Campbell and Salisbury, 2015).

The accessibility of community pharmacists has also been noted in the literature prior to the pandemic (Todd et al., 2015). Therefore, it can be argued that discussions regarding accessibility to HCPs during deprescribing would have emerged regardless of the COVID-19 pandemic. A limitation of the study sample was the lack of ethnic diversity, which introduces the risk of missing the views of those from other ethnic races or communities. Finally, it was observed that some patients recruited through the NIHR People of Research website frequently participate in healthcare research and may possess a higher level of healthcare knowledge compared to the general population. Although this was evident in some interviews, the number of patients recruited through the NIHR People of Research was less than a quarter of the total study population.

Regarding the limitations of the co-design methods employed, while patients from diverse demographic backgrounds contributed to the development of the medicine necessity questions, they were all proficient in English during the workshops. Patients who have a native language other than English or have limited literacy capabilities may encounter difficulties in understanding or formulating questions. Another limitation to consider is that the feasibility of using the medicine necessity questions and the deprescribing safety net intervention has not been explored. Thus, implementing them into practice may require adaptations to ensure their feasibility for patients and HCPs. It is worthwhile also acknowledge that the online nature of the co-design groups may have inhibited participation of patients who were not confident in using technology, and thus the resources developed could potentially be more skewed to those who are.

As previously mentioned, much of the research methods, including the reviewed articles and the generated outputs, were conducted in English. This decision was based on practicality, as the researcher is fluent in English and the study was conducted in the English-speaking country of the UK. However, it is essential to consider the equity of the research and its outputs. Health equity aims to achieve the highest possible standard of health for all individuals, with particular attention to those at the highest risk of poor health due to social conditions (Castillo and Harris, 2021). Consequently, underrepresentation of minority populations in healthcare research, who often experience poorer health outcomes, can result in insufficient research data on how to best support these patients (Farooqi et al., 2022). One approach to improving equity in research is to include non-English speakers in research studies and provide adequate support for their participation. This includes ensuring that study materials are accessible in multiple languages and designing recruitment approaches that facilitate the inclusion of non-English speaking participants (Castillo and Harris, 2021). Although

resource limitations prevented the implementation of such strategies in this doctoral research, their importance is acknowledged, and future research conducted by the researcher will strive to incorporate these approaches to enhance the equity of healthcare research in the future.

8.5.2. Reflecting on the use of NPT in research

As discussed in previous chapters, the underpinning of this doctoral research with NPT has proven valuable in achieving a comprehensive theoretical understanding of the contextual factors influencing the normalisation of deprescribing in primary care. Through this approach, gaps in knowledge regarding the potential for normalisation have been identified, while also elucidating how the developed outputs can contribute to the enhancement of deprescribing normalisation. The utilisation of NPT in research, especially for the development and evaluation of complex health interventions in UK primary care, has gained considerable traction since the commencement of this doctoral research (Huddlestone et al., 2020).

Moreover, the novel integration of NPT with RWLM techniques has been undertaken, which has not been previously explored. This integration has allowed for the utilisation of RWLM's advantages, particularly its focus on contextual factors and their influence on the intervention, alongside the theoretical understanding of how intervention mechanisms and implementation strategies can enhance the normalisation of the intervention itself. The heightened attention to the intervention context facilitated by RWLM is essential for improving the scalability of the intervention and advancing implementation processes (May et al., 2016, Edwards and Barker, 2014). Simultaneously, the presence of NPT constructs within the RWLM offers an opportunity to identify intervention components that can be further leveraged to enhance normalisation potential. For instance, if implementers encounter difficulties in sensemaking regarding the safety net intervention during implementation, this issue may be addressed by intensifying efforts in implementation strategies such as raising awareness of the intervention and providing staff training. Similarly, additional emphasis can be placed on the initial step of the intervention mechanism, i.e., enhancing patients' and healthcare professionals' understanding of the purpose of the safety net intervention.

To the best of the authors' knowledge, only one other example in the literature has attempted to combine NPT with logic modelling. This is was a doctoral thesis exploring the theory-practice gap in health interventions and the potential of NPT to facilitate knowledge transfer into practice (Jones, 2020). However, several key distinctions exist between that work and the present doctoral research, including the diverse range of NPT applications within this research, particularly in the systematic review, the adoption of RWLM instead of a traditional linear logic model for enhanced contextual considerations, and the inclusion of NPT constructs within the RWLM framework itself.

In summary, this doctoral research has advanced applied healthcare research methodology, specifically of NPT and RWLM, introducing novelty in their application and highlighting the benefits of their integration in the context of deprescribing implementation. Furthermore, NPT has demonstrated its flexibility as a framework, as intended by its authors, effectively aiding the researcher in achieving deeper understandings of deprescribing in primary care (May et al., 2018).

It is important to also acknowledge the challenges encountered in the use of NPT. One notable challenge pertains to mapping contextual and intervention factors to NPT constructs, which sometimes resulted in overlaps across multiple constructs and subconstructs of NPT. This issue of overlapping constructs has been acknowledged as a challenge in NPT use, particularly in qualitative data analysis employing a framework approach (May et al., 2018). In the absence of explicit guidance on how to address such situations, an executive decision was made to allow for these overlaps. This approach aimed to demonstrate how factors may influence multiple NPT constructs and ensure a consistent approach to enhance research rigour.

Another challenge related to the difficulty in identifying techniques to enhance intervention components within the constructs of NPT. NPT is described as a normative idealised model that identifies how things should be, indicates the direction toward implementation success, and assesses what is favourable in implementation terms (Alharbi et al., 2014). While NPT effectively highlights areas for improving the implementation of interventions, it provides limited guidance on specific strategies for doing so. For example, in this research, the identification of the lack of reflexive monitoring associated with deprescribing in Chapter 4 indicates the need for increased appraisal of deprescribing interventions, but it does not offer detailed guidance on how to modify interventions to achieve this. Additionally, there is a scarcity of studies specifically investigating how to leverage NPT constructs to improve intervention normalisation (May et al., 2018). Having more guidance on effectively enhancing intervention studies of NPT would facilitate the production of specific recommendations to guide the implementation of deprescribing in primary care.

Lastly, NPT was employed in the qualitative phase of this research through the use of a coding framework adapted from previous literature and to inform interview questions aimed at identifying key deprescribing implementation factors (Mair et al., 2012, Morris et al., 2016, Glynn et al., 2018, O'Connor et al., 2016). While these methods were valuable in identifying key findings, it is worth noting that they were derived from research conducted by authors who were not originally involved in the development of NPT, raising questions about their appropriateness and the availability of guidance. In response to this concern, the authors of NPT have since developed an NPT coding manual specifically for qualitative research. The coding manual was created through a process of content analysis of literature on NPT development, utilisation, and restructuring of constructs, as well as piloting the coding manual with interview data and empirical evidence. The outcome of this process was a readily available coding manual that consolidated previous advancements in NPT, simplified its application in qualitative research, and facilitated transparent data analysis processes (May et al., 2022). Although this research was unable to incorporate the coding manual due to its timing, its use would be carefully considered in future implementation research.

8.5.3. Reflection on the doctoral research journey

As an early-career researcher, the doctoral research process has been a challenging journey. Balancing my role as a pharmacist with the demands of the doctoral program required careful consideration to prevent personal assumptions and biases from influencing the data collection and analysis process. However, my dedication to providing patient-centred care and my first-hand experience of speaking to patients distressed by polypharmacy served as constant motivation throughout the research.

Throughout the course of this research, I consistently encountered patients and members of the public who shared concerns about polypharmacy. Whether it was their own experience or that of a family member burdened by a long list of medicines, the urgent need to address problematic polypharmacy resonated strongly with these individuals. It became evident that the issue of problematic polypharmacy is widespread, yet rarely discussed in everyday conversations, leaving many people silently suffering. This realisation further fuelled my determination to work diligently on this project for the benefit of those who may be impacted.

Initially, the concept of deprescribing appeared straightforward, with the naive assumption that discontinuing a medicine is as simple as initiating it. However, through my interactions with various HCPs, it became apparent how current healthcare

systems may unintentionally prioritise prescribing, driven by service pressures and the challenges posed by a growing population and workforce shortages. Consequently, even HCPs who recognise the problems associated with polypharmacy may feel unsupported in their efforts to take action, while patients may believe that every prescribed medicine is intended for lifelong use, considering any deviation from this notion as non-compliance.

Consequently, this research not only motivated me to complete my doctoral studies but also instilled a personal passion to advocate for safe deprescribing throughout my career until it becomes as commonplace as prescribing. Despite facing numerous challenges during this doctoral research, particularly during the uncertain times of the COVID-19 pandemic, which involved personal losses and extended periods of social isolation, my drive and passion consistently reminded me of the significance of this research. Moreover, engaging in discussions with my supervisors, academics, fellow PhD students, patients, and HCPs regarding this research provided hope that healthcare systems can undergo positive transformations, with this work serving as a foundation for meaningful change in the NHS.

8.6. Conclusion

This doctoral research has yielded novel findings that have contributed to the current understanding of deprescribing implementation in primary care. It has identified gaps in the existing deprescribing literature, particularly in relation to the normalisation of deprescribing practices. In response, the research has developed deprescribing resources aimed at promoting the safe and routine implementation of deprescribing in primary care. The research design employed pragmatic methods, guided by the MRC guidance for complex intervention development, and complemented by the involvement of PPIE to maintain a patient-centred approach. NPT has also been utilised to provide a comprehensive underpinning theoretical framework for understanding the normalisation process of deprescribing in primary care.

Four key contributions stemmed from this research. First is the contribution to the domain of knowledge. Through the systematic review conducted in Chapter 4, this research has contributed enhanced understanding of the barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing in primary care. Particularly utilising the lens of implementation science with NPT. Next are the contributions to the domain of practice. The development of the medicine necessity questions, and the community pharmacy

deprescribing safety net introduced novel ways in which deprescribing conversations can be initiated, and an intervention to promote safety following deprescribing in practice. Finally, contributions to methodology. The approach of combining NPT with RWLM has furthered the field of implementation science and provides a novel way in which intervention development can be contextualised to bolster implementation success.

In conclusion, this research has made significant and novel contributions to the field of deprescribing in primary care, offering insights into its implementation and providing valuable resources to potentially facilitate safe and routine deprescribing practices. Furthermore, it has advanced the understanding of the NPT and the RWLM, while also offering recommendations for clinical practice, policy development, and future research.

References

- AGGARWAL, P., WOOLFORD, S. J. & PATEL, H. P. 2020. Multi-Morbidity and Polypharmacy in Older People: Challenges and Opportunities for Clinical Practice. *Geriatrics (Basel)*, 5.
- AGUILUZ, J., ÁLVAREZ, M., PIMENTEL, E., ABARCA, C. & MOORE, P. 2018. How to face a patient with benzodiazepine dependence in primary health care? Strategies for withdrawal. *Medwave*, 18, e7159.

AILABOUNI, N. J., NISHTALA, P. S., MANGIN, D. & TORDOFF, J. M. 2016. Challenges and Enablers of Deprescribing: A General Practitioner Perspective. *PLOS ONE*, 11, e0151066.

- ALHARBI, T. S., CARLSTRÖM, E., EKMAN, I. & OLSSON, L.-E. 2014. Implementation of person-centred care: management perspective. *J Hosp Admin*, 3, 107.
- ALMEIDA, F., FARIA, D. & QUEIRÓS, A. 2017. Strengths and Limitations of Qualitative and Quantitative Research Methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 3, 369-387.
- ALSHAMMARI, H., AL-SAEED, E., AHMED, Z. & ASLANPOUR, Z. 2022. Prevalence and Predictors of Potentially Inappropriate Medications Among Patients Aged ≥65 Years on Hospital Admissions in Kuwait. *Clin Interv Aging*, 17, 1025-1036.
- ALVES, A., GREEN, S. & JAMES, D. H. 2019. Deprescribing of Medicines in Care Homes—A Five-Year Evaluation of Primary Care Pharmacist Practices. *Pharmacy*, 7, 105.
- AMERICAN GERIATRICS SOCIETY 2019. American Geriatrics Society 2019 Updated AGS Beers Criteria® for Potentially Inappropriate Medication Use in Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc, 67, 674-694.
- AMMERMAN, C. A., SIMPKINS, B. A., WARMAN, N. & DOWNS, T. N. 2019. Potentially Inappropriate Medications in Older Adults: Deprescribing with a Clinical Pharmacist. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 67, 115-118.
- ANDERSON, C. 2000. Health promotion in community pharmacy: the UK situation. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 39, 285-291.
- ANDERSON, K., FOSTER, M., FREEMAN, C., LUETSCH, K. & SCOTT, I. 2017. Negotiating "Unmeasurable Harm and Benefit": Perspectives of General Practitioners and Consultant Pharmacists on Deprescribing in the Primary Care Setting. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 1936-1947.
- ANDERSON, K., FREEMAN, C., FOSTER, M. & SCOTT, I. 2020. GP-Led Deprescribing in Community-Living Older Australians: An Exploratory Controlled Trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 68, 403-410.
- ANDERSON, K., FREEMAN, C., ROWETT, D., BURROWS, J., SCOTT, I. & RIGBY, D. 2015. Polypharmacy, deprescribing and shared decision-making in primary care: the role of the accredited pharmacist. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research*, 45, 446-449.
- ANDERSON, K., STOWASSER, D., FREEMAN, C. & SCOTT, I. 2014. Prescriber barriers and enablers to minimising potentially inappropriate medications in adults: a systematic review and thematic synthesis. *BMJ Open*, 4, e006544.
- ANNEY, V. N. 2014. Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of emerging trends in educational research and policy studies,* 5, 272-281.
- ANTIMISIARIS, D. & CUTLER, T. 2017. Managing Polypharmacy in the 15-Minute Office Visit. *Prim Care*, 44, 413-428.
- ANTONINI, M. 2021. An Overview of Co-Design: Advantages, Challenges and Perspectives of Users' Involvement in the Design Process. *Journal of Design Thinking*, 2, 45-60.
- ARKSEY, H. & O'MALLEY, L. 2005. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8, 19-32.

- ATKINS, L., FRANCIS, J., ISLAM, R., O'CONNOR, D., PATEY, A., IVERS, N., FOY, R., DUNCAN, E. M., COLQUHOUN, H., GRIMSHAW, J. M., LAWTON, R. & MICHIE, S. 2017. A guide to using the Theoretical Domains Framework of behaviour change to investigate implementation problems. *Implementation Science*, 12, 77.
- AVERY, A. J. & BELL, B. G. 2019. Rationalising medications through deprescribing. *BMJ*, 364, I570.
- AYLETT, M., CREIGHTON, P., JACHUCK, S., NEWRICK, D. & EVANS, A. 1999. Stopping drug treatment of hypertension: experience in 18 British general practices. *Br J Gen Pract*, 49, 977-80.
- BACH-MORTENSEN, A. M., LANGE, B. C. L. & MONTGOMERY, P. 2018. Barriers and facilitators to implementing evidence-based interventions among third sector organisations: a systematic review. *Implementation Science*, 13, 103.
- BAHAT, G., ILHĂN, B., BAY, I., AVCI, S., TUFAN, F., KILIC, C. & KARAN, M. 2017. COMPARING THE EXPLICIT TOOLS VS. IMPLICIT EVALUATION AMONG TURKISH GERIATRIC OUTPATIENTS. *Innovation in Aging*, 1, 1048-1048.
- BALDUCCI, L. 2014. 63 Cancer in the Elderly: Biology, Prevention, and Treatment. *In:* NIEDERHUBER, J. E., ARMITAGE, J. O., DOROSHOW, J. H., KASTAN, M.
 B. & TEPPER, J. E. (eds.) *Abeloff's Clinical Oncology (Fifth Edition).*Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone.
- BAQIR, W., HUGHES, J., JONES, T., BARRETT, S., DESAI, N., COPELAND, R., CAMPBELL, D. & LAVERTY, A. 2017. Impact of medication review, within a shared decision-making framework, on deprescribing in people living in care homes. *European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 24, 30-33.
- BAUER, M. S. & KIRCHNER, J. 2020. Implementation science: What is it and why should I care? *Psychiatry Research*, 283, 112376.
- BEMBEN, N. M. 2016. Deprescribing: An Application to Medication Management in Older Adults. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*, 36, 774-780.
- BENNETT, F., FERNER, R. & SOFAT, R. 2021. Overprescribing and rational therapeutics: Barriers to change and opportunities to improve. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 87, 34-38.
- BIRKEN, S. A., POWELL, B. J., PRESSEAU, J., KIRK, M. A., LORENCATTO, F., GOULD, N. J., SHEA, C. M., WEINER, B. J., FRANCIS, J. J., YU, Y., HAINES, E. & DAMSCHRODER, L. J. 2017. Combined use of the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) and the Theoretical Domains Framework (TDF): a systematic review. *Implementation Science*, 12, 2.
- BJERRUM, L. 1998. Pharmacoepidemiological Studies of Polypharmacy: Methodological Issues, Population Estimates, and Influence of Practice Patterns: Ph. D. Thesis, Odense University.
- BOKHOF, B. & JUNIUS-WALKER, U. 2016. Reducing Polypharmacy from the Perspectives of General Practitioners and Older Patients: A Synthesis of Qualitative Studies. *Drugs Aging*, 33, 249-66.
- BOSMAN, R. C., HUIJBREGTS, K. M., VERHAAK, P. F., RUHÉ, H. G., VAN MARWIJK, H. W., VAN BALKOM, A. J. & BATELAAN, N. M. 2016. Long-term antidepressant use: a qualitative study on perspectives of patients and GPs in primary care. *British Journal of General Practice*, 66, e708-e719.
- BOURGEOIS, F. T., ORENSTEIN, L., BALLAKUR, S., MANDL, K. D. & IOANNIDIS, J. P. A. 2017. Exclusion of Elderly People from Randomized Clinical Trials of Drugs for Ischemic Heart Disease. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 65, 2354-2361.
- BOYD, H., MCKERNON, S., MULLIN, B. & OLD, A. 2012. Improving healthcare through the use of co-design. *N Z Med J*, 125, 76-87.

- BRADLEY, F., SESTON, E., MANNALL, C. & CUTTS, C. 2018. Evolution of the general practice pharmacist's role in England: a longitudinal study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 68, e727-e734.
- BRAUN, V. & CLARKE, V. 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3, 77-101.
- BRYMAN, A. 2016. Social research methods, Oxford university press.
- BUSETTO, L., WICK, W. & GUMBINGER, C. 2020. How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, 2, 14.
- CAMPBELL, A. J., ROBERTSON, M. C., GARDNER, M. M., NORTON, R. N. & BUCHNER, D. M. 1999. Psychotropic medication withdrawal and a homebased exercise program to prevent falls: a randomized, controlled trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 47, 850-3.
- CAMPBELL, J. L. & SALISBURY, C. 2015. Research into practice: accessing primary care. *British Journal of General Practice*, 65, e864-e868.
- CANE, J., O'CONNOR, D. & MICHIE, S. 2012. Validation of the theoretical domains framework for use in behaviour change and implementation research. *Implementation Science*, **7**, 37.
- CAPEWELL, S., FORD, E. S., CROFT, J. B., CRITCHLEY, J. A., GREENLUND, K. J. & LABARTHE, D. R. 2010. Cardiovascular risk factor trends and potential for reducing coronary heart disease mortality in the United States of America. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 88, 120-130.
- CARAYON, P., SCHOOFS HUNDT, A., KARSH, B. T., GURSES, A. P., ALVARADO, C. J., SMITH, M. & FLATLEY BRENNAN, P. 2006. Work system design for patient safety: the SEIPS model. *Qual Saf Health Care*, 15 Suppl 1, i50-8.
- CARAYON, P., WOOLDRIDGE, A., HOONAKKER, P., HUNDT, A. S. & KELLY, M. M. 2020. SEIPS 3.0: Human-centered design of the patient journey for patient safety. *Appl Ergon*, 84, 103033.
- CARRIER, H., ZAYTSEVA, A., BOCQUIER, A., VILLANI, P., VERDOUX, H., FORTIN, M. & VERGER, P. 2019. GPs' management of polypharmacy and therapeutic dilemma in patients with multimorbidity: a cross-sectional survey of GPs in France. *British Journal of General Practice*, 69, e270-e278.
- CASSELS, A. 2017. 'Can I stop even one of these pills?' The development of a tool to make deprescribing easier. *European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 24, 3-4.
- CASTILLO, E. G. & HARRIS, C. 2021. Directing Research Toward Health Equity: a Health Equity Research Impact Assessment. *J Gen Intern Med*, 36, 2803-2808.
- CHALMERS, I. & GLASZIOU, P. 2009. Avoidable waste in the production and reporting of research evidence. *Lancet*, 374, 86-9.
- CHAN, B., ISENOR, J. E. & KENNIE-KAULBACH, N. 2023. Categorization of deprescribing communication tools: A scoping review. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology*, n/a, 1-13.
- CHANG, Z., GHIRARDI, L., QUINN, P. D., ASHERSON, P., D'ONOFRIO, B. M. & LARSSON, H. 2019. Risks and Benefits of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder Medication on Behavioral and Neuropsychiatric Outcomes: A Qualitative Review of Pharmacoepidemiology Studies Using Linked Prescription Databases. *Biological Psychiatry*, 86, 335-343.
- CHLOROS, G. D., PRODROMIDIS, A. D. & GIANNOUDIS, P. V. 2022. Has anything changed in Evidence-Based Medicine? *Injury*.
- CHO, H. J., CHAE, J., YOON, S. H. & KIM, D. S. 2022. Aging and the Prevalence of Polypharmacy and Hyper-Polypharmacy Among Older Adults in South Korea: A National Retrospective Study During 2010-2019. *Front Pharmacol*, 13, 866318.
- CHOUDHURY, A. B., DAWSON, C. M., KILVINGTON, H. E., ELDRIDGE, S., JAMES, W.-Y., WEDZICHA, J. A., FEDER, G. S. & GRIFFITHS, C. J. 2007. Withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids in people with COPD in primary care: a randomised controlled trial. *Respiratory Research*, 8, 93.

- CLARK, C. M., LAVALLEY, S. A., SINGH, R., MUSTAFA, E., MONTE, S. V. & WAHLER, R. G., JR. 2020. A pharmacist-led pilot program to facilitate deprescribing in a primary care clinic. *J Am Pharm Assoc (2003)*, 60, 105-111.
- CLARKE, A. L., JHAMB, M. & BENNETT, P. N. 2019. Barriers and facilitators for engagement and implementation of exercise in end-stage kidney disease: Future theory-based interventions using the Behavior Change Wheel. Seminars in Dialysis, 32, 308-319.
- CLYNE, B., SMITH, S. M., HUGHES, C. M., BOLAND, F., BRADLEY, M. C., COOPER, J. A. & FAHEY, T. 2015. Effectiveness of a Multifaceted Intervention for Potentially Inappropriate Prescribing in Older Patients in Primary Care: A Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial (OPTI-SCRIPT Study). Ann Fam Med, 13, 545-53.
- CLYNE, B., SMITH, S. M., HUGHES, C. M., BOLAND, F., COOPER, J. A. & FAHEY, T. 2016. Sustained effectiveness of a multifaceted intervention to reduce potentially inappropriate prescribing in older patients in primary care (OPTI-SCRIPT study). *Implement Sci*, 11, 79.
- COLE, J. N., MATHUR, R. A. & HULL, S. A. 2020. Reducing the use of inhaled corticosteroids in mild-moderate COPD: an observational study in east London. *npj Primary Care Respiratory Medicine*, 30, 34.
- COOK, J. M., MARSHALL, R., MASCI, C. & COYNE, J. C. 2007. Physicians' Perspectives on Prescribing Benzodiazepines for Older Adults: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22, 303-307.
- CORONADO-VÁZQUEZ, V., GÓMEZ-SALGADO, J., CEREZO-ESPINOSA DE LOS MONTEROS, J., AYUSO-MURILLO, D. & RUIZ-FRUTOS, C. 2019. Shared Decision-Making in Chronic Patients with Polypharmacy: An Interventional Study for Assessing Medication Appropriateness. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8, 904.
- COULTER, A. & OLDHAM, J. 2016. Person-centred care: what is it and how do we get there? *Future Hosp J*, 3, 114-116.
- COUVÉE, J. E., TIMMERMANS, M. A. & ZITMAN, F. G. 2002. The long-term outcome of a benzodiazepine discontinuation programme in depressed outpatients. *J Affect Disord*, 70, 133-41.
- COYLE, C., SYMONDS, R., ALLAN, J., DAWSON, S., RUSSELL, S., SMITH, A., DAFF, C. & KOTZE, H. 2019. Sustained proton pump inhibitor deprescribing among dyspeptic patients in general practice: a return to self-management through a programme of education and alginate rescue therapy. A prospective interventional study. *BJGP Open*, 3, bjgpopen19X101651.
- CRESSWELL, K. M., PANESAR, S. S., SALVILLA, S. A., CARSON-STEVENS, A., LARIZGOITIA, I., DONALDSON, L. J., BATES, D. & SHEIKH, A. 2013. Global research priorities to better understand the burden of iatrogenic harm in primary care: an international Delphi exercise. *PLoS Med*, 10, e1001554.
- CRESWELL, J. W. 2011. Controversies in mixed methods research. *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*, 4, 269-284.
- CRESWELL, J. W. & CLARK, V. L. P. 2017. *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research*, SAGE Publications.
- CROTTY, M. 1998. The Foundations of Social Research: Meaning and Perspective in the Research Process, SAGE Publications.
- CURRAN, H. V., COLLINS, R., FLETCHER, S., KEE, S. C., WOODS, B. & ILIFFE, S. 2003. Older adults and withdrawal from benzodiazepine hypnotics in general practice: effects on cognitive function, sleep, mood and quality of life. *Psychol Med*, 33, 1223-37.
- DAGLI, R. J. & SHARMA, A. 2014. Polypharmacy: a global risk factor for elderly people. *J Int Oral Health,* 6, i-ii.
- DAMSCHRODER, L. J. 2020. Clarity out of chaos: Use of theory in implementation research. *Psychiatry Research*, 283, 112461.

- DANIELA, A. R., MARIA TERESA, H., ADOLFO, F., PAULA, C. & FÁTIMA, R. 2020. Elderly and Polypharmacy: Physiological and Cognitive Changes. *In:* SARA, P. (ed.) *Frailty in the Elderly.* Rijeka: IntechOpen.
- DARKINS, A., KENDALL, S., EDMONSON, E., YOUNG, M. & STRESSEL, P. 2015. Reduced cost and mortality using home telehealth to promote self-management of complex chronic conditions: a retrospective matched cohort study of 4,999 veteran patients. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 21, 70-76.
- DE BRÚN, T., O'REILLY-DE BRÚN, M., O'DONNELL, C. A. & MACFARLANE, A. 2016. Learning from doing: the case for combining normalisation process theory and participatory learning and action research methodology for primary healthcare implementation research. *BMC Health Services Research*, 16, 346.
- DE GIER, N., GORGELS, W., LUCASSEN, P., OUDE VOSHAAR, R., MULDER, J. & ZITMAN, F. 2010. Discontinuation of long-term benzodiazepine use: 10-year follow-up. *Family Practice*, 28, 253-259.
- DE JONG, M. R., VAN DER ELST, M. & HARTHOLT, K. A. 2013. Drug-related falls in older patients: implicated drugs, consequences, and possible prevention strategies. *Ther Adv Drug Saf*, 4, 147-54.
- DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 2011. Liberating the NHS: No decision about me, without me. London.
- DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE. 2021. Good for you, good for us, good for everybody: a plan to reduce overprescribing to make patient care better and safer, support the NHS, and reduce carbon emissions [Online]. [Accessed 2021].
- DICKINSON, R., KNAPP, P., HOUSE, A. O., DIMRI, V., ZERMANSKY, A., PETTY, D., HOLMES, J. & RAYNOR, D. K. 2010. Long-term prescribing of antidepressants in the older population: a qualitative study. *British Journal of General Practice*, 60, e144-e155.
- DJATCHE, L., LEE, S., SINGER, D., HEGARTY, S. E., LOMBARDI, M. & MAIO, V. 2018. How confident are physicians in deprescribing for the elderly and what barriers prevent deprescribing? *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 43, 550-555.
- DODGSON, J. E. 2019. Reflexivity in Qualitative Research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 35, 220-222.
- DOHERTY, A. J., BOLAND, P., REED, J., CLEGG, A. J., STEPHANI, A. M., WILLIAMS, N. H., SHAW, B., HEDGECOE, L., HILL, R. & WALKER, L. 2020. Barriers and facilitators to deprescribing in primary care: a systematic review. *BJGP Open*, 4.
- DONALD, M., PARTANEN, R., SHARMAN, L., LYNCH, J., DINGLE, G. A., HASLAM, C. & VAN DRIEL, M. 2021. Long-term antidepressant use in general practice: a qualitative study of GPs' views on discontinuation. *British Journal of General Practice*, 71, e508-e516.
- DRIEVER, E. M., TOLHUIZEN, I. M., DUVIVIER, R. J., STIGGELBOUT, A. M. & BRAND, P. L. P. 2022. Why do medical residents prefer paternalistic decision making? An interview study. *BMC Medical Education*, 22, 155.
- DRUSCH, S., ZUREIK, M. & HERR, M. 2023. Potentially inappropriate medications and polypharmacy in the older population: A nationwide cross-sectional study in France in 2019. *Therapies*.
- DUERDEN, M., AVERY, T. & PAYNE, R. 2013. *Polypharmacy and medicines optimisation: Making it safe and sound* [Online]. The King's Fund, 11–13 Cavendish Square, London W1G 0AN: The King's Fund. [Accessed].
- DUNCAN, P., CABRAL, C., MCCAHON, D., GUTHRIE, B. & RIDD, M. J. 2019. Efficiency versus thoroughness in medication review: a qualitative interview study in UK primary care. *British Journal of General Practice,* 69, e190-e198.
- DUNCAN, P., DUERDEN, M. & PAYNE, R. A. 2017. Deprescribing: a primary care perspective. *European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 24, 37-42.

- DYE, C., WILLOUGHBY, D., AYBAR-DAMALI, B., GRADY, C., ORAN, R. & KNUDSON, A. 2018. Improving Chronic Disease Self-Management by Older Home Health Patients through Community Health Coaching. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15, 660.
- ECCLES, M. P. & MITTMAN, B. S. 2006. Welcome to Implementation Science. *Implementation Science*, 1, 1.
- EDWARDS, N. & BARKER, P. M. 2014. The Importance of Context in Implementation Research. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 67, S157-S162.
- ELBEDDINI, A., SAWHNEY, M., TAYEFEHCHAMANI, Y., YILMAZ, Z., ELSHAHAWI, A., VILLEGAS, J. J. & CRUZ, J. D. 2021. Deprescribing for all: a narrative review identifying inappropriate polypharmacy for all ages in hospital settings. *BMJ Open Quality*, 10, e001509.
- ELLIOTT, R. A., BOYD, M. J., SALEMA, N. E., DAVIES, J., BARBER, N., MEHTA, R. L., TANAJEWSKI, L., WARING, J., LATIF, A., GKOUNTOURAS, G., AVERY, A. J., CHUTER, A. & CRAIG, C. 2016. Supporting adherence for people starting a new medication for a long-term condition through community pharmacies: a pragmatic randomised controlled trial of the New Medicine Service. *BMJ Qual Saf*, 25, 747-58.
- ELLIOTT, R. A., BOYD, M. J., TANAJEWSKI, L., BARBER, N., GKOUNTOURAS, G., AVERY, A. J., MEHTA, R., DAVIES, J. E., SALEMA, N. E., CRAIG, C., LATIF, A., WARING, J. & CHUTER, A. 2020. 'New Medicine Service': supporting adherence in people starting a new medication for a long-term condition: 26week follow-up of a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Qual Saf*, 29, 286-295.
- ELLIOTT, R. A., CAMACHO, E., JANKOVIC, D., SCULPHER, M. J. & FARIA, R. 2021. Economic analysis of the prevalence and clinical and economic burden of medication error in England. *BMJ Quality & amp; Safety,* 30, 96-105.
- EPURE, M. 2012. Population ageing a demographic trend with various consequences. *Review of applied socio-economic research,* 4, 97-107.
- EVELEIGH, R., MUSKENS, E., LUCASSEN, P., VERHAAK, P., SPIJKER, J., VAN WEEL, C., OUDE VOSHAAR, R. & SPECKENS, A. 2018. Withdrawal of unnecessary antidepressant medication: a randomised controlled trial in primary care. *BJGP Open*, 1, bjgpopen17X101265.
- EVELEIGH, R., SPECKENS, A., VAN WEEL, C., OUDE VOSHAAR, R. & LUCASSEN, P. 2019. Patients' attitudes to discontinuing not-indicated long-term antidepressant use: barriers and facilitators. *Therapeutic advances in psychopharmacology*, 9, 2045125319872344.
- EWBANK, L., OMOJOMOLO, D., SULLIVAN, K. & MCKENNA, H. 2018. The rising cost of medicines to the NHS. *The Kings Fund*, 2018-04.
- FANG, L., WU, L., HAN, S., CHEN, X. & YU, Z. 2021. Quality Improvement to Increase Breastfeeding in Preterm Infants: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 9.
- FAROOQI, A., JUTLLA, K., RAGHAVAN, R., WILSON, A., UDDIN, M. S., AKROYD, C., PATEL, N., CAMPBELL-MORRIS, P. P. & FAROOQI, A. T. 2022.
 Developing a toolkit for increasing the participation of black, Asian and minority ethnic communities in health and social care research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 22, 17.
- FARR, M. 2018. Power dynamics and collaborative mechanisms in co-production and co-design processes. *Critical Social Policy*, 38, 623-644.
- FARRELL, B., BLACK, C., THOMPSON, W., MCCARTHY, L., ROJAS-FERNANDEZ, C., LOCHNAN, H., SHAMJI, S., UPSHUR, R., BOUCHARD, M. & WELCH, V. 2017. Deprescribing antihyperglycemic agents in older persons: Evidencebased clinical practice guideline. *Can Fam Physician*, 63, 832-843.

- FARRELL, B., CLARKIN, C., CONKLIN, J., DOLOVICH, L., IRVING, H., MCCARTHY, L. & RAMAN-WILMS, L. 2019. Community pharmacists as catalysts for deprescribing: An exploratory study using quality improvement processes. *Canadian Pharmacists Journal / Revue des Pharmaciens du Canada*, 153, 37-45.
- FIALOVÁ, D., TOPINKOVÁ, E., GAMBASSI, G., FINNE-SOVERI, H., JÓNSSON, P. V., CARPENTER, I., SCHROLL, M., ONDER, G., SØRBYE, L. W., WAGNER, C., REISSIGOVÁ, J., BERNABEI, R. & ADHOC PROJECT RESEARCH GROUP, F. T. 2005. Potentially Inappropriate Medication Use Among Elderly Home Care Patients in Europe. JAMA, 293, 1348-1358.
- FINCH, T. L., MAIR, F. S., O'DONNELL, C., MURRAY, E. & MAY, C. R. 2012. From theory to 'measurement' in complex interventions: Methodological lessons from the development of an e-health normalisation instrument. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 12, 69.
- FRENCH-BRAVO, M. & CROW, G. 2015. Shared Governance: The Role of Buy-in in Bringing About Change. *Online J Issues Nurs*, 20, 8.
- FURBER, C. 2010. Framework analysis: a method for analysing qualitative data. *African Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health,* 4, 97-100.
- FYLAN, B., TOMLINSON, J., RAYNOR, D. K. & SILCOCK, J. 2021. Using experiencebased co-design with patients, carers and healthcare professionals to develop theory-based interventions for safer medicines use. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 17, 2127-2135.
- GALDAS, P. 2017. Revisiting Bias in Qualitative Research:Reflections on Its Relationship With Funding and Impact. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16, 1609406917748992.
- GALE, N. K., HEATH, G., CAMERON, E., RASHID, S. & REDWOOD, S. 2013. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 13, 117.
- GALLAGHER, P., LANG, P. O., CHERUBINI, A., TOPINKOVÁ, E., CRUZ-JENTOFT,
 A., MONTERO ERRASQUÍN, B., MÁDLOVÁ, P., GASPERINI, B., BAEYENS,
 H., BAEYENS, J. P., MICHEL, J. P. & O'MAHONY, D. 2011. Prevalence of
 potentially inappropriate prescribing in an acutely ill population of older patients
 admitted to six European hospitals. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 67, 1175-88.
- GALLAGHER, P. & O'MAHONY, D. 2008. STOPP (Screening Tool of Older Persons' potentially inappropriate Prescriptions): application to acutely ill elderly patients and comparison with Beers' criteria. *Age and Ageing*, 37, 673-679.
- GALLAGHER, P., RYAN, C., BYRNE, S., KENNEDY, J. & O'MAHONY, D. 2008. STOPP (Screening Tool of Older Person's Prescriptions) and START (Screening Tool to Alert doctors to Right Treatment). Consensus validation. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther, 46, 72-83.
- GALLI, T. B., REIS, W. C. & ANDRZEJEVSKI, V. M. 2016. Potentially inappropriate prescribing and the risk of adverse drug reactions in critically ill older adults. *Pharmacy Practice (Granada),* 14.
- GAO, L., MAIDMENT, I., MATTHEWS, F. E., ROBINSON, L., BRAYNE, C., FUNCTION, O. B. O. T. M. R. C. C. & STUDY, A. 2017. Medication usage change in older people (65+) in England over 20 years: findings from CFAS I and CFAS II. Age and Ageing, 47, 220-225.
- GAZARIN, M., DEVIN, B., TSE, D., MULLIGAN, E., NACIUK, M., DUNCAN, S., BURNETT, S., HALL, L. & ELBEDDINI, A. 2020. Evaluating an inpatient deprescribing initiative at a rural community hospital in Ontario. *Canadian Pharmacists Journal / Revue des Pharmaciens du Canada*, 153, 224-231.
- GIBSON, C. J., LI, Y., JASUJA, G. K., KEYHANI, S. & BYERS, A. L. 2022. Long-term Psychoactive Medications, Polypharmacy, and Risk of Suicide and Unintended Overdose Death Among Midlife and Older Women Veterans. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 37, 770-777.

- GILLESPIE, R., MULLAN, J. & HARRISON, L. 2018. Deprescribing for older adults in Australia: factors influencing GPs. *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, 24, 463-469.
- GILLESPIE, R., MULLAN, J. & HARRISON, L. 2019. Attitudes towards deprescribing and the influence of health literacy among older Australians. *Prim Health Care Res Dev*, 20, e78.
- GIRLING, M., LE COUTEUR, A. & FINCH, T. 2022. Experience-based co-design (EBCD) with young people who offend: Innovating methodology to reach marginalised groups. *PLOS ONE*, 17, e0270782.
- GLANZ, K. & BISHOP, D. B. 2010. The Role of Behavioral Science Theory in Development and Implementation of Public Health Interventions. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 31, 399-418.
- GLYNN, L. G., GLYNN, F., CASEY, M., WILKINSON, L. G., HAYES, P. S., HEANEY, D. & MURPHY, A. W. M. 2018. Implementation of the SMART MOVE intervention in primary care: a qualitative study using normalisation process theory. *BMC Family Practice*, 19, 48.
- GODDARD, W. & MELVILLE, S. 2004. Research Methodology: An Introduction, Juta.
- GOODYEAR-SMITH, F., JACKSON, C. & GREENHALGH, T. 2015. Co-design and implementation research: challenges and solutions for ethics committees. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 16, 78.
- GORGELS, W. J., OUDE VOSHAAR, R. C., MOL, A. J., VAN DE LISDONK, E. H., VAN BALKOM, A. J., BRETELER, M. H., VAN DEN HOOGEN, H. J., MULDER, J. & ZITMAN, F. G. 2006. Predictors of discontinuation of benzodiazepine prescription after sending a letter to long-term benzodiazepine users in family practice. *Fam Pract*, 23, 65-72.
- GORGELS, W. J., OUDE VOSHAAR, R. C., MOL, A. J., VAN DE LISDONK, E. H.,
 VAN BALKOM, A. J., VAN DEN HOOGEN, H. J., MULDER, J., BRETELER, M.
 H. & ZITMAN, F. G. 2005. Discontinuation of long-term benzodiazepine use by sending a letter to users in family practice: a prospective controlled intervention study. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 78, 49-56.
- GOUNDREY-SMITH, S. 2018. The Connected Community Pharmacy: Benefits for Healthcare and Implications for Health Policy. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 9.
- GREEN, T., BONNER, A., TELENI, L., BRADFORD, N., PURTELL, L., DOUGLAS, C., YATES, P., MACANDREW, M., DAO, H. Y. & CHAN, R. J. 2020. Use and reporting of experience-based codesign studies in the healthcare setting: a systematic review. *BMJ Quality & amp; Safety, 29, 64-76.*
- GREENHALGH, T., ROBERT, G., MACFARLANE, F., BATE, P. & KYRIAKIDOU, O. 2004. Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. *Milbank Q*, 82, 581-629.
- GREENHALGH, T., STRAMER, K., BRATAN, T., BYRNE, E., RUSSELL, J., HINDER, S. & POTTS, H. 2010. The Devil's in the Detail. *Final Report of the Independent Evaluation of the Summary Care Record and Healthspace Programmes. University College London, London.*
- GREIVER, M., DAHROUGE, S., O'BRIEN, P., MANCA, D., LUSSIER, M. T., WANG, J., BURGE, F., GRANDY, M., SINGER, A., TWOHIG, M., MOINEDDIN, R., KALIA, S., ALIARZADEH, B., IVERS, N., GARIES, S., TURNER, J. P. & FARRELL, B. 2019. Improving care for elderly patients living with polypharmacy: protocol for a pragmatic cluster randomized trial in communitybased primary care practices in Canada. *Implement Sci*, 14, 55.
- GRIX, J. 2002. Introducing Students to the Generic Terminology of Social Research. *Politics*, 22, 175-186.
- GUTHRIE, B., MAKUBATE, B., HERNANDEZ-SANTIAGO, V. & DREISCHULTE, T. 2015. The rising tide of polypharmacy and drug-drug interactions: population database analysis 1995-2010. *BMC Med*, 13, 74.

- HAJJAR, E. R., CAFIERO, A. C. & HANLON, J. T. 2007. Polypharmacy in elderly patients. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother*, 5, 345-51.
- HALM, M. 2019. The Influence of Appropriate Staffing and Healthy Work Environments on Patient and Nurse Outcomes. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 28, 152-156.
- HARIYATI, R. T. S., SEKARSARI, R. & PAKASI, T. A. 2022. The Factor Associated With Missed Nursing Care in Hospital: A Systematic Review. *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences*.
- HARRISON, R., JONES, B., GARDNER, P. & LAWTON, R. 2021. Quality assessment with diverse studies (QuADS): an appraisal tool for methodological and reporting quality in systematic reviews of mixed- or multi-method studies. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21, 144.
- HEAVEN, A., BROWN, L., YOUNG, J., TEALE, E., HAWKINS, R., SPILSBURY, K., MOUNTAIN, G., YOUNG, T., GOODWIN, V., HANRATTY, B., CHEW-GRAHAM, C., BRUNDLE, C., MAHMOOD, F., JACOB, I., DAFFU-O'REILLY, A. & CLEGG, A. 2019. Community ageing research 75+ study (CARE75+): an experimental ageing and frailty research cohort. *BMJ Open*, 9, e026744.
- HEINRICH, C. H., MCHUGH, S., MCCARTHY, S., CURRAN, G. M. & DONOVAN, M. D. 2023. Multidisciplinary DEprescribing review for Frail oldER adults in longterm care (DEFERAL): Implementation strategy design using behaviour science tools and stakeholder engagement. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*.
- HEMPEL, S., SHEKELLE, P. G., LIU, J. L., SHERWOOD DANZ, M., FOY, R., LIM, Y.-W., MOTALA, A. & RUBENSTEIN, L. V. 2015. Development of the Quality Improvement Minimum Quality Criteria Set (QI-MQCS): a tool for critical appraisal of quality improvement intervention publications. *BMJ Quality & amp; Safety*, 24, 796-804.
- HENSEN, B., MACKWORTH-YOUNG, C. R. S., SIMWINGA, M., ABDELMAGID, N., BANDA, J., MAVODZA, C., DOYLE, A. M., BONELL, C. & WEISS, H. A. 2021. Remote data collection for public health research in a COVID-19 era: ethical implications, challenges and opportunities. *Health Policy and Planning*, 36, 360-368.
- HESER, K., POHONTSCH, N. J., SCHERER, M., LÖFFLER, A., LUCK, T., RIEDEL-HELLER, S. G., MAIER, W., PARKER, D., HAENISCH, B. & JESSEN, F. 2018. Perspective of elderly patients on chronic use of potentially inappropriate medication – Results of the qualitative CIM-TRIAD study. *PLOS ONE*, 13, e0202068.
- HINDI, A., SCHAFHEUTLE, E. I. & JACOBS, S. 2017. Patient and Public Perspectives of Community Pharmacies in the United Kingdom: A Systematic Review. *Health Expectations*.
- HOBBS, F. D. R., BANKHEAD, C., MUKHTAR, T., STEVENS, S., PERERA-SALAZAR, R., HOLT, T. & SALISBURY, C. 2016. Clinical workload in UK primary care: a retrospective analysis of 100 million consultations in England, 2007–14. *The Lancet*, 387, 2323-2330.
- HODDINOTT, P., POLLOCK, A., O'CATHAIN, A., BOYER, I., TAYLOR, J., MACDONALD, C., OLIVER, S. & DONOVAN, J. L. 2018. How to incorporate patient and public perspectives into the design and conduct of research. *F1000Res*, 7, 752.
- HOFFMANN, T. C., GLASZIOU, P. P., BOUTRON, I., MILNE, R., PERERA, R., MOHER, D., ALTMAN, D. G., BARBOUR, V., MACDONALD, H., JOHNSTON, M., LAMB, S. E., DIXON-WOODS, M., MCCULLOCH, P., WYATT, J. C., CHAN, A.-W. & MICHIE, S. 2014. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ* : *British Medical Journal*, 348, g1687.

- HOLDEN, R. J. & CARAYON, P. 2021. SEIPS 101 and seven simple SEIPS tools. *BMJ Quality & amp; Safety,* 30, 901-910.
- HOLDEN, R. J., CARAYON, P., GURSES, A. P., HOONAKKER, P., HUNDT, A. S., OZOK, A. A. & RIVERA-RODRIGUEZ, A. J. 2013. SEIPS 2.0: a human factors framework for studying and improving the work of healthcare professionals and patients. *Ergonomics*, 56, 1669-86.
- HOLLAND, R., BOND, C., ALLDRED, D. P., ARTHUR, A., BARTON, G., BIRT, L.,
 BLACKLOCK, J., BLYTH, A., CHEILARI, S., DAFFU-O'REILLY, A.,
 DALGARNO, L., DESBOROUGH, J., FORD, J., GRANT, K., HARRY, B., HILL,
 H., HUGHES, C., INCH, J., MASKREY, V., MYINT, P., NORRIS, N., POLAND,
 F., SHEPSTONE, L., SPARGO, M., TURNER, D., WATTS, L., ZERMANSKY,
 A. & WRIGHT, D. 2023. Evaluation of effectiveness and safety of pharmacist
 independent prescribers in care homes: cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, 380, e071883.
- HONG, Q. N., PLUYE, P., FÀBREGUES, S., BARTLETT, G., BOARDMAN, F., CARGO, M., DAGENAIS, P., GAGNON, M.-P., GRIFFITHS, F. & NICOLAU, B. 2018. Mixed methods appraisal tool (MMAT), version 2018. *Registration of copyright*, 1148552.
- HUDDLESTONE, L., TURNER, J., EBORALL, H., HUDSON, N., DAVIES, M. & MARTIN, G. 2020. Application of normalisation process theory in understanding implementation processes in primary care settings in the UK: a systematic review. *BMC Family Practice*, 21, 52.
- IBRAHIM, K., COX, N. J., STEVENSON, J. M., LIM, S., FRASER, S. D. S. & ROBERTS, H. C. 2021. A systematic review of the evidence for deprescribing interventions among older people living with frailty. *BMC Geriatrics*, 21, 258.
- INVOLVE, N. 2020. Involvement Cost Calculator [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.invo.org.uk/resource-centre/payment-and-recognition-for-public-involvement/involvement-cost-calculator/</u> [Accessed].
- IOANNIDIS, J. P. A. 2016. Why Most Clinical Research Is Not Useful. *PLOS Medicine*, 13, e1002049.
- IRVING, G., NEVES, A. L., DAMBHA-MILLER, H., OISHI, A., TAGASHIRA, H., VERHO, A. & HOLDEN, J. 2017. International variations in primary care physician consultation time: a systematic review of 67 countries. *BMJ Open*, 7, e017902.
- JANSEN, J., NAGANATHAN, V., CARTER, S. M., MCLACHLAN, A. J., NICKEL, B., IRWIG, L., BONNER, C., DOUST, J., COLVIN, J., HEANEY, A., TURNER, R. & MCCAFFERY, K. 2016. Too much medicine in older people? Deprescribing through shared decision making. *BMJ*, 353, i2893.
- JOHNSON, M. J., LEAF, A. A., PEARSON, F., CLARK, H. W., DIMITROV, B. D., POPE, C. & MAY, C. R. 2017. Successfully implementing and embedding guidelines to improve the nutrition and growth of preterm infants in neonatal intensive care: a prospective interventional study. *BMJ Open*, 7, e017727.
- JONES, S. E. 2020. Exploring the Theory-Practice Gap in Public Health interventions: a critical assessment of the potential for Normalisation Process Theory to aid knowledge transfer into practice, using the evaluation of a complex smoking cessation in pregnancy initiative. Teesside University.
- JORDAN, M., YOUNG-WHITFORD, M., MULLAN, J., STEWART, A. & CHEN, T. F. 2022. A pharmacist-led intervention to improve the management of opioids in a general practice: a qualitative evaluation of participant interviews. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 44, 235-246.
- KALISCH, L. M., CAUGHEY, G. E., ROUGHEAD, E. E. & GILBERT, A. L. 2011. The prescribing cascade. *Australian Prescriber*, 34, 162-166.
- KARIA, A., NORMAN, R., ROBINSON, S., LEHNBOM, E., LABA, T.-L., DURAKOVIC, I., BALANE, C., JOSHI, R. & WEBSTER, R. 2022. Pharmacist's time spent:

Space for Pharmacy-based Interventions and Consultation TimE (SPICE)—an observational time and motion study. *BMJ Open*, 12, e055597.

- KATZ, M. G., JACOBSON, T. A., VELEDAR, E. & KRIPALANI, S. 2007. Patient literacy and question-asking behavior during the medical encounter: a mixed-methods analysis. *J Gen Intern Med*, 22, 782-6.
- KAUSHIK, V. & WALSH, C. A. 2019. Pragmatism as a Research Paradigm and Its Implications for Social Work Research. *Social Sciences*, 8, 255.
- KEITH, S. W., MAIO, V., DUDASH, K., TEMPLIN, M. & DEL CANALE, S. 2013. A Physician-Focused Intervention to Reduce Potentially Inappropriate Medication Prescribing in Older People. *Drugs & Aging*, 30, 119-127.
- KENNIE-KAULBACH, N., CORMIER, R., KITS, O., REEVE, E., WHELAN, A. M., MARTIN-MISENER, R., BURGE, F., BURGESS, S. & ISENOR, J. E. 2020.
 Influencers on deprescribing practice of primary healthcare providers in Nova Scotia: An examination using behavior change frameworks. *Medicine Access* @ Point of Care, 4, 2399202620922507.
- KILANOWSKI, J. F. 2012. Breaking the ice: a pre-intervention strategy to engage research participants. *J Pediatr Health Care*, 26, 209-12.
- KINGSTON, A., ROBINSON, L., BOOTH, H., KNAPP, M., JAGGER, C. & PROJECT, M. 2018. Projections of multi-morbidity in the older population in England to 2035: estimates from the Population Ageing and Care Simulation (PACSim) model. *Age and ageing*, 47, 374-380.
- KORENVAIN, C., MACKEIGAN, L. D., DAINTY, K. N., GUILCHER, S. J. T. & MCCARTHY, L. M. 2020. Exploring deprescribing opportunities for community pharmacists using the Behaviour Change Wheel. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 16, 1746-1753.
- KRIST, A. H., TONG, S. T., AYCOCK, R. A. & LONGO, D. R. 2017. Engaging Patients in Decision-Making and Behavior Change to Promote Prevention. *Stud Health Technol Inform*, 240, 284-302.
- KRISTENSEN, N., NYMANN, C. & KONRADSEN, H. 2016. Implementing research results in clinical practice- the experiences of healthcare professionals. *BMC Health Serv Res*, 16, 48.
- KROUWEL, M., JOLLY, K. & GREENFIELD, S. 2019. Comparing Skype (video calling) and in-person qualitative interview modes in a study of people with irritable bowel syndrome – an exploratory comparative analysis. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19, 219.
- KUA, C.-H., YEO, C. Y. Y., TAN, P. C., CHAR, C. W. T., TAN, C. W. Y., MAK, V., LEONG, I. Y.-O. & LEE, S. W. H. 2021. Association of Deprescribing With Reduction in Mortality and Hospitalization: A Pragmatic Stepped-Wedge Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 22, 82-89.e3.
- KUA, K. P., SAW, P. S. & LEE, S. W. H. 2019. Attitudes towards deprescribing among multi-ethnic community-dwelling older patients and caregivers in Malaysia: a cross-sectional questionnaire study. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 41, 793-803.
- KUNTZ, J. L., KOUCH, L., CHRISTIAN, D., HU, W. & PETERSON, P. L. 2019. Patient Education and Pharmacist Consultation Influence on Nonbenzodiazepine Sedative Medication Deprescribing Success for Older Adults. *The Permanente journal*, 23, 18-161.
- KUTNER, J. S., BLATCHFORD, P. J., TAYLOR, D. H., JR, RITCHIE, C. S., BULL, J.
 H., FAIRCLOUGH, D. L., HANSON, L. C., LEBLANC, T. W., SAMSA, G. P.,
 WOLF, S., AZIZ, N. M., CURROW, D. C., FERRELL, B., WAGNER-JOHNSTON, N., ZAFAR, S. Y., CLEARY, J. F., DEV, S., GOODE, P. S.,
 KAMAL, A. H., KASSNER, C., KVALE, E. A., MCCALLUM, J. G.,
 OGUNSEITAN, A. B., PANTILAT, S. Z., PORTENOY, R. K., PRINCE-PAUL,
 M., SLOAN, J. A., SWETZ, K. M., VON GUNTEN, C. F. & ABERNETHY, A. P.

2015. Safety and Benefit of Discontinuing Statin Therapy in the Setting of Advanced, Life-Limiting Illness: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 175, 691-700.

- KYNE, K., MCCARTHY, C., KIELY, B., SMITH, S., CLYNE, B. & NULL, N. 2020. Study protocol for a process evaluation of a cluster randomised controlled trial to reduce potentially inappropriate prescribing and polypharmacy in patients with multimorbidity in Irish primary care (SPPiRE) [version 2; peer review: 2 approved]. *HRB Open Research*, 2.
- LADER, M., TYLEE, A. & DONOGHUE, J. 2009. Withdrawing benzodiazepines in primary care. CNS Drugs, 23, 19-34.
- LATIF, A. 2017. Community pharmacy Medicines Use Review: current challenges. Integr Pharm Res Pract, 7, 83-92.
- LATIF, A., WARING, J., WATMOUGH, D., BARBER, N., CHUTER, A., DAVIES, J., SALEMA, N.-E., BOYD, M. J. & ELLIOTT, R. A. 2016. Examination of England's New Medicine Service (NMS) of complex health care interventions in community pharmacy. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 12, 966-989.
- LAU, R., STEVENSON, F., ONG, B. N., DZIEDZIC, K., TREWEEK, S., ELDRIDGE, S., EVERITT, H., KENNEDY, A., QURESHI, N., ROGERS, A., PEACOCK, R. & MURRAY, E. 2016. Achieving change in primary care--causes of the evidence to practice gap: systematic reviews of reviews. *Implement Sci*, 11, 40.
- LEE, S. W. H., MAK, V. S. L. & TANG, Y. W. 2019. Pharmacist services in nursing homes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 85, 2668-2688.
- LEE, Y. 2008. Design participation tactics: the challenges and new roles for designers in the co-design process. *CoDesign*, 4, 31-50.
- LINSKY, A., METERKO, M., BOKHOUR, B. G., STOLZMANN, K. & SIMON, S. R. 2019. Deprescribing in the context of multiple providers: understanding patient preferences. *Am J Manag Care*, 25, 192-198.
- LINSKY, A., METERKO, M., STOLZMANN, K. & SIMON, S. R. 2017a. Supporting medication discontinuation: provider preferences for interventions to facilitate deprescribing. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17, 447.
- LINSKY, A., SIMON, S. R. & BOKHOUR, B. 2015. Patient perceptions of proactive medication discontinuation. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 98, 220-225.
- LINSKY, A., SIMON, S. R., STOLZMANN, K. & METERKO, M. 2017b. Patient Perceptions of Deprescribing: Survey Development and Psychometric Assessment. *Med Care*, 55, 306-313.
- LINSKY, A., SIMON, S. R., STOLZMANN, K. & METERKO, M. 2018. Patient attitudes and experiences that predict medication discontinuation in the Veterans Health Administration. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003), 58, 13-20.
- LOBE, B., MORGAN, D. & HOFFMAN, K. A. 2020. Qualitative Data Collection in an Era of Social Distancing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1609406920937875.
- LOCKETT, J., SAUMA, S., RADZISZEWSKA, B. & BERNARD, M. A. 2019. Adequacy of Inclusion of Older Adults in NIH-Funded Phase III Clinical Trials. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67, 218-222.
- LOPEZ-PEIG, C., MUNDET, X., CASABELLA, B., DEL VAL, J. L., LACASTA, D. & DIOGENE, E. 2012. Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program managed by primary care nurses in Spain. *BMC Research Notes*, 5, 684.
- LÓPEZ-SEPÚLVEDA, R., GARCÍA LIROLA, M., ESPÍNOLA GARCÍA, E., MARTÍN SANCES, S., ANAYA ORDÓÑEZ, S., JURADO MARTÍNEZ, J. M. & CABEZA BARRERA, J. 2017. Effects of a primary care intervention to improve the quality of zolpidem prescriptions in elderly patients. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 73, 455-461.

- LUCAS, B. & BLENKINSOPP, A. 2015. Community pharmacists' experience and perceptions of the New Medicines Service (NMS). *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 23, 399-406.
- LUIG, T., ASSELIN, J., SHARMA, A. M. & CAMPBELL-SCHERER, D. L. 2018. Understanding Implementation of Complex Interventions in Primary Care Teams. *J Am Board Fam Med*, 31, 431-444.
- LUYMES, C. H., BOELHOUWER, N. J., POORTVLIET, R. K., DE RUIJTER, W., REIS, R. & NUMANS, M. E. 2017. Understanding deprescribing of preventive cardiovascular medication: a Q-methodology study in patients. *Patient preference and adherence*, 11, 975-984.
- LUYMES, C. H., POORTVLIET, R. K. E., VAN GELOVEN, N., DE WAAL, M. W. M., DREWES, Y. M., BLOM, J. W., SMIDT, N., ASSENDELFT, W. J. J., VAN DEN HOUT, W. B., DE RUIJTER, W. & NUMANS, M. E. 2018. Deprescribing preventive cardiovascular medication in patients with predicted low cardiovascular disease risk in general practice – the ECSTATIC study: a cluster randomised non-inferiority trial. *BMC Medicine*, 16, 5.
- LUYMES, C. H., VAN DER KLEIJ, R. M. J. J., POORTVLIET, R. K. E., DE RUIJTER, W., REIS, R. & NUMANS, M. E. 2016. Deprescribing Potentially Inappropriate Preventive Cardiovascular Medication:Barriers and Enablers for Patients and General Practitioners. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 50, 446-454.
- MA, J. B. 2000. Planning for change: developing a policy framework for nursing labour markets. *International Nursing Review*, 47, 199-206.
- MADDEN, M., MILLS, T., ATKIN, K., STEWART, D. & MCCAMBRIDGE, J. 2022. Early implementation of the structured medication review in England: a qualitative study. *Br J Gen Pract*, 72, e641-8.
- MAGIN, P., GOODE, S. & POND, D. 2015. GPs, medications and older people: A qualitative study of general practitioners' approaches to potentially inappropriate medications in older people. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 34, 134-139.
- MAHER, R. L., HANLON, J. & HAJJAR, E. R. 2014. Clinical consequences of polypharmacy in elderly. *Expert opinion on drug safety*, 13, 57-65.
- MAIR, F. S., MAY, C., O'DONNELL, C., FINCH, T., SULLIVAN, F. & MURRAY, E. 2012. Factors that promote or inhibit the implementation of e-health systems: an explanatory systematic review. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 90, 357-364.
- MANGIN, D., LAMARCHE, L., AGARWAL, G., ALI, A., CASSELS, A., COLWILL, K., DOLOVICH, L., BROWN, N. D., FARRELL, B., FREEMAN, K., FRIZZLE, K., GARRISON, S. R., GILLETT, J., HOLBROOK, A., JURCIC-VRATARIC, J., MCCORMACK, J., PARASCANDALO, J., RICHARDSON, J., RISDON, C., SHERIFALI, D., SIU, H., BORHAN, S., TEMPLETON, J. A., THABANE, L. & TRIMBLE, J. 2023. Team approach to polypharmacy evaluation and reduction: feasibility randomized trial of a structured clinical pathway to reduce polypharmacy. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, 9, 84.
- MANTELLI, S., JUNGO, K. T., ROZSNYAI, Z., REEVE, E., LUYMES, C. H., POORTVLIET, R. K. E., CHIOLERO, A., RODONDI, N., GUSSEKLOO, J. & STREIT, S. 2018. How general practitioners would deprescribe in frail oldestold with polypharmacy — the LESS study. *BMC Family Practice*, 19, 169.
- MARÍN-GONZÁLEZ, E., MALMUSI, D., CAMPRUBÍ, L. & BORRELL, C. 2017. The Role of Dissemination as a Fundamental Part of a Research Project. *Int J Health Serv*, 47, 258-276.
- MARTIN, P., TAMBLYN, R., AHMED, S. & TANNENBAUM, C. 2013. An educational intervention to reduce the use of potentially inappropriate medications among older adults (EMPOWER study): protocol for a cluster randomized trial. *Trials*, 14, 80.
- MARTIN, P., TAMBLYN, R., BENEDETTI, A., AHMED, S. & TANNENBAUM, C. 2018. Effect of a Pharmacist-Led Educational Intervention on Inappropriate

Medication Prescriptions in Older Adults: The D-PRESCRIBE Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, 320, 1889-1898.

- MARTIN, P. & TANNENBAUM, C. 2017. A realist evaluation of patients' decisions to deprescribe in the EMPOWER trial. *BMJ Open*, 7, e015959.
- MARTIN, P. & TANNENBAUM, C. 2018. A prototype for evidence-based pharmaceutical opinions to promote physician-pharmacist communication around deprescribing. *Can Pharm J (Ott)*, 151, 133-141.
- MARTINEZ, K. A., ROOD, M., JHANGIANI, N., KOU, L., BOISSY, A. & ROTHBERG, M. B. 2018. Association Between Antibiotic Prescribing for Respiratory Tract Infections and Patient Satisfaction in Direct-to-Consumer Telemedicine. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 178, 1558-1560.
- MASNOON, N., SHAKIB, S., KALISCH-ELLETT, L. & CAUGHEY, G. E. 2017. What is polypharmacy? A systematic review of definitions. *BMC geriatrics*, 17, 230-230.
- MASNOON, N., SHAKIB, S., KALISCH-ELLETT, L. & CAUGHEY, G. E. 2018. Tools for Assessment of the Appropriateness of Prescribing and Association with Patient-Related Outcomes: A Systematic Review. *Drugs & Aging*, 35, 43-60.
- MAY, C. R., ALBERS, B., BRACHER, M., FINCH, T. L., GILBERT, A., GIRLING, M., GREENWOOD, K., MACFARLANE, A., MAIR, F. S., MAY, C. M., MURRAY, E., POTTHOFF, S. & RAPLEY, T. 2022. Translational framework for implementation evaluation and research: a normalisation process theory coding manual for qualitative research and instrument development. *Implementation Science*, 17, 19.
- MAY, C. R., CUMMINGS, A., GIRLING, M., BRACHER, M., MAIR, F. S., MAY, C. M., MURRAY, E., MYALL, M., RAPLEY, T. & FINCH, T. 2018. Using Normalization Process Theory in feasibility studies and process evaluations of complex healthcare interventions: a systematic review. *Implement Sci*, 13, 80.
- MAY, C. R., JOHNSON, M. & FINCH, T. 2016. Implementation, context and complexity. *Implementation Science*, 11, 141.
- MAY, C. R., MAIR, F., FINCH, T., MACFARLANE, A., DOWRICK, C., TREWEEK, S., RAPLEY, T., BALLINI, L., ONG, B. N., ROGERS, A., MURRAY, E., ELWYN, G., LÉGARÉ, F., GUNN, J. & MONTORI, V. M. 2009. Development of a theory of implementation and integration: Normalization Process Theory. *Implementation Science*, 4, 29.
- MCBAIN, H., SHIPLEY, M. & NEWMAN, S. 2015. The impact of self-monitoring in chronic illness on healthcare utilisation: a systematic review of reviews. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15, 565.
- MCCARTHY, C., CLYNE, B., BOLAND, F., MORIARTY, F., FLOOD, M., WALLACE, E., SMITH, S. M. & FOR THE, S. S. T. 2022a. GP-delivered medication review of polypharmacy, deprescribing, and patient priorities in older people with multimorbidity in Irish primary care (SPPiRE Study): A cluster randomised controlled trial. *PLOS Medicine*, 19, e1003862.
- MCCARTHY, C., CLYNE, B., CORRIGAN, D., BOLAND, F., WALLACE, E., MORIARTY, F., FAHEY, T., HUGHES, C., GILLESPIE, P. & SMITH, S. M. 2017. Supporting prescribing in older people with multimorbidity and significant polypharmacy in primary care (SPPiRE): a cluster randomised controlled trial protocol and pilot. *Implementation Science*, 12, 99.
- MCCARTHY, L. M., FARRELL, B., HOWELL, P. & QUAST, T. 2022b. Supporting deprescribing in long-term care: An approach using stakeholder engagement, behavioural science and implementation planning. *Exploratory Research in Clinical and Social Pharmacy*, 7, 100168.
- MCDONALD, E. G., WU, P. E., RASHIDI, B., FORSTER, A. J., HUANG, A., PILOTE, L., PAPILLON-FERLAND, L., BONNICI, A., TAMBLYN, R., WHITTY, R., PORTER, S., BATTU, K., DOWNAR, J. & LEE, T. C. 2019. The MedSafer Study: A Controlled Trial of an Electronic Decision Support Tool for

Deprescribing in Acute Care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67, 1843-1850.

- MCEVOY, R., BALLINI, L., MALTONI, S., O'DONNELL, C. A., MAIR, F. S. & MACFARLANE, A. 2014. A qualitative systematic review of studies using the normalization process theory to research implementation processes. *Implementation Science*, 9, 2.
- MCKEAN, M., PILLANS, P. & SCOTT, I. A. 2016. A medication review and deprescribing method for hospitalised older patients receiving multiple medications. *Internal Medicine Journal*, 46, 35-42.
- MCKEE, M., PAGEL, C. & GURDASANI, D. 2021. The NHS is complex, and that's why we should be worried. *BMJ*, 375, n3128.
- MCKEOWN, M., THOMSON, G., SCHOLES, A., JONES, F., BAKER, J., DOWNE, S., PRICE, O., GREENWOOD, P., WHITTINGTON, R. & DUXBURY, J. 2019. "Catching your tail and firefighting": The impact of staffing levels on restraint minimization efforts. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 26, 131-141.
- ME AND MY MEDICINES. 2023. *Me and My Medicines* [Online]. Available: <u>www.meandmymedicines.org.uk/</u> [Accessed 2023].
- METHLEY, A. M., CAMPBELL, S., CHEW-GRAHAM, C., MCNALLY, R. & CHERAGHI-SOHI, S. 2014. PICO, PICOS and SPIDER: a comparison study of specificity and sensitivity in three search tools for qualitative systematic reviews. *BMC Health Services Research*, 14, 579.
- MICHIE, S., VAN STRALEN, M. M. & WEST, R. 2011. The behaviour change wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implement Sci,* 6, 42.
- MIDDELAAR, T. V., IVENS, S. D., PEET, P. G. V., POORTVLIET, R. K. E., RICHARD, E., POLS, A. J. & CHARANTE, E. P. M. V. 2018. Prescribing and deprescribing antihypertensive medication in older people by Dutch general practitioners: a qualitative study. *BMJ Open*, 8, e020871.
- MILLS, T., LAWTON, R. & SHEARD, L. 2019. Advancing complexity science in healthcare research: the logic of logic models. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 19, 55.
- MILLS, T., SHANNON, R., O'HARA, J., LAWTON, R. & SHEARD, L. 2022. Development of a 'real-world' logic model through testing the feasibility of a complex healthcare intervention: the challenge of reconciling scalability and context-sensitivity. *Evaluation*, 28, 113-131.
- MOEN, J., BOHM, A., TILLENIUS, T., ANTONOV, K., NILSSON, J. L. & RING, L. 2009. "I don't know how many of these [medicines] are necessary.." a focus group study among elderly users of multiple medicines. *Patient Educ Couns*, 74, 135-41.
- MORRIS, R. L., ASHCROFT, D., PHIPPS, D., BOWER, P., O'DONOGHUE, D., RODERICK, P., HARDING, S., LEWINGTON, A. & BLAKEMAN, T. 2016. Preventing Acute Kidney Injury: a qualitative study exploring 'sick day rules' implementation in primary care. *BMC Family Practice*, 17, 91.
- MORSE, J. M., BARRETT, M., MAYAN, M., OLSON, K. & SPIERS, J. 2002. Verification Strategies for Establishing Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 1, 13-22.
- MOSSIALOS, E., COURTIN, E., NACI, H., BENRIMOJ, S., BOUVY, M., FARRIS, K., NOYCE, P. & SKETRIS, I. 2015. From "retailers" to health care providers: Transforming the role of community pharmacists in chronic disease management. *Health Policy*, 119, 628-639.
- MUHLACK, D. C., HOPPE, L. K., STOCK, C., HAEFELI, W. E., BRENNER, H. & SCHÖTTKER, B. 2018. The associations of geriatric syndromes and other patient characteristics with the current and future use of potentially

inappropriate medications in a large cohort study. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 74, 1633-1644.

- MULDER-WILDEMORS, L. G. M., HERINGA, M., FLOOR-SCHREUDERING, A., JANSEN, P. A. F. & BOUVY, M. L. 2020. Reducing Inappropriate Drug Use in Older Patients by Use of Clinical Decision Support in Community Pharmacy: A Mixed-Methods Evaluation. *Drugs Aging*, 37, 115-123.
- MURIE, J., ALLEN, J., SIMMONDS, R. & DE WET, C. 2012. Glad you brought it up: a patient-centred programme to reduce proton-pump inhibitor prescribing in general medical practice. *Qual Prim Care*, 20, 141-8.
- MURRAY, E., TREWEEK, S., POPE, C., MACFARLANE, A., BALLINI, L., DOWRICK, C., FINCH, T., KENNEDY, A., MAIR, F., O'DONNELL, C., ONG, B. N., RAPLEY, T., ROGERS, A. & MAY, C. 2010. Normalisation process theory: a framework for developing, evaluating and implementing complex interventions. *BMC Medicine*, 8, 63.
- MUTH, C., KIRCHNER, H., VAN DEN AKKER, M., SCHERER, M. & GLASZIOU, P. P. 2014a. Current guidelines poorly address multimorbidity: pilot of the interaction matrix method. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 67, 1242-1250.
- MUTH, C., VAN DEN AKKER, M., BLOM, J. W., MALLEN, C. D., ROCHON, J., SCHELLEVIS, F. G., BECKER, A., BEYER, M., GENSICHEN, J., KIRCHNER, H., PERERA, R., PRADOS-TORRES, A., SCHERER, M., THIEM, U., VAN DEN BUSSCHE, H. & GLASZIOU, P. P. 2014b. The Ariadne principles: how to handle multimorbidity in primary care consultations. *BMC Medicine*, 12, 223.
- NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR CLINICAL EXCELLENCE 2016. Medicines optimisation. Quality standard [QS120].
- NEHRA, A. K., ALEXANDER, J. A., LOFTUS, C. G. & NEHRA, V. 2018. Proton Pump Inhibitors: Review of Emerging Concerns. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 93, 240-246.
- NG, W. L., TAN, M. Z. W., KOH, E. Y. L. & TAN, N. C. 2017. Deprescribing: What are the views and factors influencing this concept among patients with chronic diseases in a developed Asian community? *Proceedings of Singapore Healthcare*, 26, 172-179.
- NHS. 2019. The NHS Long Term Plan [Online]. Available: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/ [Accessed].
- NHS. 2023. New Medicine Service (NMS) [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/prescriptions-and-pharmacies/pharmacies/new-medicine-service-nms/</u> [Accessed 2023].
- NHS DIGITAL. 2018. Prescriptions Dispensed in the Community Statistics for England, 2007-2017 [Online]. Available: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/statistical/prescriptions-dispensed-in-thecommunity/prescriptions-dispensed-in-the-community-england---2007---2017 [Accessed].</u>
- NHS ENGLAND. 2013. *Medicines Optimisation* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/medicines-2/medicines-optimisation/</u> [Accessed].
- NHS ENGLAND 2019a. Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework 2019–2024.
- NHS ENGLAND. 2019b. NHS Community Pharmacist Consultation Service (CPCS) integrating pharmacy into urgent care [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/pharmacy/pharmacy-integration-</u> fund/community-pharmacist-consultation-service/ [Accessed 2023].
- NHS ENGLAND. 2020. Part IIIA Professional Fees (Pharmacy Contractors) [Online]. Available: http://www.drugtariff.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/#/00784645-DC/DC00784513/Part%20IIIA%20-

%20Professional%20Fees%20(Pharmacy%20Contractors) [Accessed 2023].

NHS ENGLAND. 2021. *NHS Discharge Medicines Service* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/pharmacy/nhs-discharge-medicines-</u> <u>service/</u> [Accessed 2023].

- NHS ENGLAND. 2022. *What are integrated care systems?* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care/</u> [Accessed 2023].
- NHS ENGLAND. 2023. *Pharmacy Quality Scheme* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/pharmacy-quality-scheme-guidance/</u> [Accessed 2023].
- NILSEN, P. 2015. Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. *Implementation Science*, 10, 53.
- NIMMON, L. & STENFORS-HAYES, T. 2016. The "Handling" of power in the physician-patient encounter: perceptions from experienced physicians. *BMC Med Educ,* 16, 114.
- NIXON, M. & KOUSGAARD, M. B. 2016. Organising medication discontinuation: a qualitative study exploring the views of general practitioners toward discontinuing statins. *BMC health services research*, 16, 226-226.
- NIXON, M. S. & VENDELØ, M. T. 2016. General practitioners' decisions about discontinuation of medication: an explorative study. *J Health Organ Manag*, 30, 565-80.
- O'CONNOR, S., HANLON, P., O'DONNELL, C. A., GARCIA, S., GLANVILLE, J. & MAIR, F. S. 2016. Understanding factors affecting patient and public engagement and recruitment to digital health interventions: a systematic review of qualitative studies. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 16, 120.
- O'TOOLE, J. K., ALVARADO-LITTLE, W. & LEDFORD, C. J. W. 2019. Communication with Diverse Patients: Addressing Culture and Language. *Pediatr Clin North Am*, 66, 791-804.
- OCAMPO, C. C., GARCIA-CARDENAS, V., MARTINEZ-MARTINEZ, F., BENRIMOJ, S. I., AMARILES, P. & GASTELURRUTIA, M. A. 2015. Implementation of medication review with follow-up in a Spanish community pharmacy and its achieved outcomes. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 37, 931-940.
- ODENTHAL, D. R., PHILBRICK, A. M. & HARRIS, I. M. 2020. Successful deprescribing of unnecessary proton pump inhibitors in a primary care clinic. *J Am Pharm Assoc (2003)*, 60, 100-104.
- OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS. 2015. *How has life expectancy changed over time?* [Online]. Available: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarria

<u>ges/lifeexpectancies/articles/howhaslifeexpectancychangedovertime/2015-09-</u> <u>09</u> [Accessed].

- OJO, S. O., BAILEY, D. P., BRIERLEY, M. L., HEWSON, D. J. & CHATER, A. M. 2019. Breaking barriers: using the behavior change wheel to develop a tailored intervention to overcome workplace inhibitors to breaking up sitting time. *BMC Public Health*, 19, 1126.
- OKEOWO, D., PATTERSON, A., BOYD, C., REEVE, E., GNJIDIC, D. & TODD, A. 2018. Clinical practice guidelines for older people with multimorbidity and lifelimiting illness: what are the implications for deprescribing? *Therapeutic Advances in Drug Safety*, 9, 619-630.
- OKEOWO, D. A., ZAIDI, S. T. R., FYLAN, B. & ALLDRED, D. P. 2022. Routinely implementing safe deprescribing in primary care: a scoping review. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 30, i4-i5.
- OKEOWO, D. A., ZAIDI, S. T. R., FYLAN, B. & ALLDRED, D. P. 2023. Barriers and facilitators of implementing proactive deprescribing within primary care: a systematic review. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*.
- OMAR, M. S., ARIANDI, A. H. & TOHIT, N. M. 2019. Practical Problems of Medication Use in the Elderly Malaysians and Their Beliefs and Attitudes Toward Deprescribing of Medications. *J Res Pharm Pract*, 8, 105-111.

- OMUYA, H., NICKEL, C., WILSON, P. & CHEWNING, B. 2023. A systematic review of randomised-controlled trials on deprescribing outcomes in older adults with polypharmacy. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*.
- ONYURA, B., MULLINS, H. & HAMZA, D. M. 2021. Five ways to get a grip on the shortcomings of logic models in program evaluation. *Can Med Educ J*, 12, 96-99.
- OSANLOU, R., WALKER, L., HUGHES, D. A., BURNSIDE, G. & PIRMOHAMED, M. 2022. Adverse drug reactions, multimorbidity and polypharmacy: a prospective analysis of 1 month of medical admissions. *BMJ Open*, 12, e055551.
- OWEN, L., MORGAN, A., FISCHER, A., ELLIS, S., HOY, A. & KELLY, M. P. 2011. The cost-effectiveness of public health interventions. *Journal of Public Health*, 34, 37-45.
- OZAVCI, G., BUCKNALL, T., WOODWARD-KRON, R., HUGHES, C., JORM, C., JOSEPH, K. & MANIAS, E. 2021. A Systematic Review of Older Patients' Experiences and Perceptions of Communication About Managing Medication Across Transitions of Care. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*.
- OZCAN, S., TARANTO, Y. & HORNBY, P. 1995. Shaping the health future in Turkey: a new role for human resource planning. *Int J Health Plann Manage*, 10, 305-19.
- PAGE, A. T., CLIFFORD, R. M., POTTER, K., SCHWARTZ, D. & ETHERTON-BEER, C. D. 2016. The feasibility and effect of deprescribing in older adults on mortality and health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 82, 583-623.
- PAGE, M. J., MCKENZIE, J. E., BOSSUYT, P. M., BOUTRON, I., HOFFMANN, T. C., MULROW, C. D., SHAMSEER, L., TETZLAFF, J. M., AKL, E. A., BRENNAN, S. E., CHOU, R., GLANVILLE, J., GRIMSHAW, J. M., HRÓBJARTSSON, A., LALU, M. M., LI, T., LODER, E. W., MAYO-WILSON, E., MCDONALD, S., MCGUINNESS, L. A., STEWART, L. A., THOMAS, J., TRICCO, A. C., WELCH, V. A., WHITING, P. & MOHER, D. 2021. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*, 372, n71.
- PALMER, V. J., WEAVELL, W., CALLANDER, R., PIPER, D., RICHARD, L., MAHER, L., BOYD, H., HERRMAN, H., FURLER, J., GUNN, J., IEDEMA, R. & ROBERT, G. 2019. The Participatory Zeitgeist: an explanatory theoretical model of change in an era of coproduction and codesign in healthcare improvement. *Medical Humanities*, 45, 247-257.
- PAREKH, S., LIVINGSTONE, C. & JANI, Y. H. 2023. Evaluation of the England Community Pharmacy Quality Scheme (2018–2019 and 2019–2020) in reducing harm from NSAIDs in older patients. *BMJ Open Quality*, 12, e002002.
- PAYNE, R. A., ABEL, G. A., AVERY, A. J., MERCER, S. W. & ROLAND, M. O. 2014. Is polypharmacy always hazardous? A retrospective cohort analysis using linked electronic health records from primary and secondary care. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 77, 1073-82.
- PETERS, D. H., ADAM, T., ALONGE, O., AGYEPONG, I. A. & TRAN, N. 2013. Implementation research: what it is and how to do it. *BMJ : British Medical Journal*, 347, f6753.
- PETERSON, G. M., NAUNTON, M., DEEKS, L. S., KOSARI, S., JACKSON, S. L. & BOOM, K. 2018. Practice pharmacists and the opportunity to support general practitioners in deprescribing in the older person. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research*, 48, 183-185.
- PFADENHAUER, L. M., GERHARDUS, A., MOZYGEMBA, K., LYSDAHL, K. B., BOOTH, A., HOFMANN, B., WAHLSTER, P., POLUS, S., BURNS, J., BRERETON, L. & REHFUESS, E. 2017. Making sense of complexity in context and implementation: the Context and Implementation of Complex Interventions (CICI) framework. *Implementation Science*, 12, 21.
- PIRMOHAMED, M., JAMES, S., MEAKIN, S., GREEN, C., SCOTT, A. K., WALLEY, T. J., FARRAR, K., PARK, B. K. & BRECKENRIDGE, A. M. 2004. Adverse drug

reactions as cause of admission to hospital: prospective analysis of 18 820 patients. *BMJ*, 329, 15-19.

- POTTIE, K., THOMPSON, W., DAVIES, S., GRENIER, J., SADOWSKI, C. A., WELCH, V., HOLBROOK, A., BOYD, C., SWENSON, R., MA, A. & FARRELL, B. 2018. Deprescribing benzodiazepine receptor agonists: Evidence-based clinical practice guideline. *Can Fam Physician*, 64, 339-351.
- PRASAD, N., DAVEY, P. G., WATSON, A. D., PEEBLES, L. & MACDONALD, T. M. 1997. Safe withdrawal of monotherapy for hypertension is poorly effective and not likely to reduce health-care costs. *Journal of Hypertension*, 15, 1519-1526.
- RASMUSSEN, A. F., POULSEN, S. S., OLDENBURG, L. I. K. & VERMEHREN, C. 2021. The Barriers and Facilitators of Different Stakeholders When Deprescribing Benzodiazepine Receptor Agonists in Older Patients—A Systematic Review. *Metabolites*, 11, 254.
- RAVALIER, J. M., MCVICAR, A. & BOICHAT, C. 2020. Work Stress in NHS Employees: A Mixed-Methods Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 17.
- REE, E. & WIIG, S. 2019. Employees' Perceptions of Patient Safety Culture in Norwegian Nursing Homes and Home Care Services. *BMC Health Services Research*.
- REEVE, E. 2020. Deprescribing tools: a review of the types of tools available to aid deprescribing in clinical practice. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research*, 50, 98-107.
- REEVE, E., GNJIDIC, D., LONG, J. & HILMER, S. 2015. A systematic review of the emerging definition of 'deprescribing' with network analysis: implications for future research and clinical practice. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 80, 1254-68.
- REEVE, E., MORIARTY, F., NAHAS, R., TURNER, J. P., KOULADJIAN O'DONNELL, L. & HILMER, S. N. 2018a. A narrative review of the safety concerns of deprescribing in older adults and strategies to mitigate potential harms. *Expert Opin Drug Saf*, 17, 39-49.
- REEVE, E., SHAKIB, S., HENDRIX, I., ROBERTS, M. & WIESE, M. 2014a. The benefits and harms of deprescribing. *The Medical journal of Australia*, 201, 386-389.
- REEVE, E., SHAKIB, S., HENDRIX, I., ROBERTS, M. S. & WIESE, M. D. 2013a. Development and validation of the patients' attitudes towards deprescribing (PATD) questionnaire. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 35, 51-56.
- REEVE, E., SHAKIB, S., HENDRIX, I., ROBERTS, M. S. & WIESE, M. D. 2014b. Review of deprescribing processes and development of an evidence-based, patient-centred deprescribing process. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 78, 738-747.
- REEVE, E., THOMPSON, W. & FARRELL, B. 2017. Deprescribing: A narrative review of the evidence and practical recommendations for recognizing opportunities and taking action. *European Journal of Internal Medicine*, 38, 3-11.
- REEVE, E., TO, J., HENDRIX, I., SHAKIB, S., ROBERTS, M. S. & WIESE, M. D. 2013b. Patient Barriers to and Enablers of Deprescribing: a Systematic Review. *Drugs & Aging*, 30, 793-807.
- REEVE, E., WOLFF, J. L., SKEHAN, M., BAYLISS, E. A., HILMER, S. N. & BOYD, C. M. 2018b. Assessment of Attitudes Toward Deprescribing in Older Medicare Beneficiaries in the United States. *JAMA Intern Med*, 178, 1673-1680.
- RENSKERS, L., RONGEN-VAN DARTEL, S. A., HUIS, A. M. & VAN RIEL, P. L. 2020. Patients' experiences regarding self-monitoring of the disease course: an observational pilot study in patients with inflammatory rheumatic diseases at a rheumatology outpatient clinic in The Netherlands. *BMJ Open*, 10, e033321.
- RICHTER, M. & DRAGANO, N. 2018. Micro, macro, but what about meso? The institutional context of health inequalities. *Int J Public Health*, 63, 163-164.
- RIECKERT, A., BECKER, A., DONNER-BANZHOF, N., VINIOL, A., BÜCKER, B., WILM, S., SÖNNICHSEN, A. & BARZEL, A. 2019a. Reduction of the long-term

use of proton pump inhibitors by a patient-oriented electronic decision support tool (arriba-PPI): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, 20, 636.

- RIECKERT, A., REEVES, D., ALTINER, A., DREWELOW, E., ESMAIL, A., FLAMM, M., HANN, M., JOHANSSON, T., KLAASSEN-MIELKE, R., KUNNAMO, I., LÖFFLER, C., PICCOLIORI, G., SOMMERAUER, C., TRAMPISCH, U. S., VÖGELE, A., WOODHAM, A. & SÖNNICHSEN, A. 2020. Use of an electronic decision support tool to reduce polypharmacy in elderly people with chronic diseases: cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, 369, m1822.
- RIECKERT, A., TEICHMANN, A.-L., DREWELOW, E., KRIECHMAYR, C., PICCOLIORI, G., WOODHAM, A. & SÖNNICHSEN, A. 2019b. Reduction of inappropriate medication in older populations by electronic decision support (the PRIMA-eDS project): a survey of general practitioners' experiences. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association,* 26, 1323-1332.
- ROCHON, P. A. & GURWITZ, J. H. 1997. Optimising drug treatment for elderly people: the prescribing cascade. *Bmj*, 315, 1096-9.
- RODRIGUES, D. A., PLÁCIDO, A. I., MATEOS-CAMPOS, R., FIGUEIRAS, A., HERDEIRO, M. T. & ROQUE, F. 2022. Effectiveness of Interventions to Reduce Potentially Inappropriate Medication in Older Patients: A Systematic Review. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 12.
- ROGERS, E. M. 2003. Diffusion of Innovations, 5th Edition, Free Press.
- ROGNSTAD, S., BREKKE, M., FETVEIT, A., DALEN, I. & STRAAND, J. 2013. Prescription peer academic detailing to reduce inappropriate prescribing for older patients: a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Br J Gen Pract,* 63, e554-62.
- ROYAL COLLEGE OF GENERAL PRACTITIONERS 2019. Fit for the future: a new plan for GPs and their patients.
- RUBEN, M. A., BLANCH-HARTIGAN, D. & HALL, J. A. 2020. Communication Skills to Engage Patients in Treatment. *The Wiley Handbook of Healthcare Treatment Engagement.*
- SACKETT, D., STRAUS, S., SCOTT RICHARDSON, W., ROSENBERG, W. & HAYNES, R. 2000. Evidence-Based Medicine: How to Practice and Teach EBM, 2nd edn Edinburgh and London: Churchill Livingstone.
- SAEED, D., CARTER, G. & PARSONS, C. 2022. Interventions to improve medicines optimisation in frail older patients in secondary and acute care settings: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials and non-randomised studies. *Int J Clin Pharm*, 44, 15-26.
- SALVADOR, P. T. C. D. O., ALVES, K. Y. A., RODRIGUES, C. C. F. M. & OLIVEIRA, L. V. E. 2020. Online data collection strategies used in qualitative research of the health field: a scoping review. *Revista Gaúcha de Enfermagem*, 41.
- SANDBÆK, A., MØLLER, M. C. R., BRO, F., HØJ, K., DUE CHRISTENSEN, L. & MYGIND, A. 2022. Involving patients in medicines optimisation in general practice: a development study of the "PREparing Patients for Active Involvement in medication Review" (PREPAIR) tool. *BMC Primary Care,* 23, 122.
- SARAMUNEE, K., KRSKA, J., MACKRIDGE, A., RICHARDS, J., SUTTAJIT, S. & PHILLIPS-HOWARD, P. 2014. How to enhance public health service utilization in community pharmacy?: general public and health providers' perspectives. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 10, 272-284.
- SAWAN, M., JEON, Y.-H., FOIS, R. A. & CHEN, T. F. 2017. Exploring the link between organizational climate and the use of psychotropic medicines in nursing homes: A qualitative study. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 13, 513-523.
- SCHILLER, C., WINTERS, M., HANSON, H. M. & ASHE, M. C. 2013. A framework for stakeholder identification in concept mapping and health research: a novel

process and its application to older adult mobility and the built environment. *BMC Public Health*, 13, 428.

- SCHULING, J., GEBBEN, H., VEEHOF, L. J. & HAAIJER-RUSKAMP, F. M. 2012. Deprescribing medication in very elderly patients with multimorbidity: the view of Dutch GPs. A qualitative study. *BMC Fam Pract*, 13, 56.
- SCOTT, I. A., GRAY, L. C., MARTIN, J. H. & MITCHELL, C. A. 2012. Minimizing Inappropriate Medications in Older Populations: A 10-step Conceptual Framework. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 125, 529-537.e4.
- SCOTT, I. A., HILMER, S. N., REEVE, E., POTTER, K., LE COUTEUR, D., RIGBY, D., GNJIDIC, D., DEL MAR, C. B., ROUGHEAD, E. E., PAGE, A., JANSEN, J. & MARTIN, J. H. 2015. Reducing Inappropriate Polypharmacy: The Process of Deprescribing. JAMA Internal Medicine, 175, 827-834.
- SCOTT, S. 2021. Deprescribing: a call for research that supports implementation in practice. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 29, 525-526.
- SCOTT, S., TWIGG, M. J., CLARK, A., FARROW, C., MAY, H., PATEL, M., TAYLOR, J., WRIGHT, D. J. & BHATTACHARYA, D. 2019. Development of a hospital deprescribing implementation framework: A focus group study with geriatricians and pharmacists. *Age and Ageing*, 49, 102-110.
- SETO, H., ISHIMARU, N., OHNISHI, J., KANZAWA, Y., NAKAJIMA, T., SHIMOKAWA, T., IMANAKA, Y. & KINAMI, S. 2022. Multidisciplinary Team Deprescribing Intervention for Polypharmacy in Elderly Orthopedic Inpatients: A Propensity Score-matched Analysis of a Retrospective Cohort Study. *Intern Med*, 61, 2417-2426.
- SHRESTHA, A., TAMRAKAR, D., SHRESTHA, B., KARMACHARYA, B. M., SHRESTHA, A., PYAKUREL, P. & SPIEGELMAN, D. 2022. Stakeholder engagement in a hypertension and diabetes prevention research program: Description and lessons learned. *PLOS ONE*, 17, e0276478.
- SILCOCK, J., MARQUES, I., OLANIYAN, J., RAYNOR, D. K., BAXTER, H., GRAY, N., ZAIDI, S. T. R., PEAT, G., FYLAN, B., BREEN, L., BENN, J. & ALLDRED, D. P. 2023. Co-designing an intervention to improve the process of deprescribing for older people living with frailty in the United Kingdom. *Health Expectations*, 26, 399-408.
- SIROIS, C., OUELLET, N. & REEVE, E. 2017. Community-dwelling older people's attitudes towards deprescribing in Canada. *Res Social Adm Pharm*, 13, 864-870.
- SIRRIYEH, R., LAWTON, R., GARDNER, P. & ARMITAGE, G. 2012. Reviewing studies with diverse designs: the development and evaluation of a new tool. *J Eval Clin Pract,* 18, 746-52.
- SKIVINGTON, K., MATTHEWS, L., SIMPSON, S. A., CRAIG, P., BAIRD, J., BLAZEBY, J. M., BOYD, K. A., CRAIG, N., FRENCH, D. P., MCINTOSH, E., PETTICREW, M., RYCROFT-MALONE, J., WHITE, M. & MOORE, L. 2021. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ*, 374, n2061.
- SLATTERY, P., SAERI, A. K. & BRAGGE, P. 2020. Research co-design in health: a rapid overview of reviews. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 18, 17.
- SOLEY-BORI, M., ASHWORTH, M., BISQUERA, A., DODHIA, H., LYNCH, R., WANG, Y. & FOX-RUSHBY, J. 2021. Impact of multimorbidity on healthcare costs and utilisation: a systematic review of the UK literature. *British Journal of General Practice*, 71, e39-e46.
- STACEY, D., LÉGARÉ, F., LEWIS, K., BARRY, M. J., BENNETT, C. L., EDEN, K. B., HOLMES-ROVNER, M., LLEWELLYN-THOMAS, H., LYDDIATT, A., THOMSON, R. & ET AL. 2017. Decision aids for people facing health treatment
- or screening decisions. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. STEEN, M. Co-design and pragmatism. Biennial Conference of the Society for Philosophy and Technology, 2009. 3-9.

- STEEN, M., MANSCHOT, M. & DE KONING, N. 2011. Benefits of co-design in service design projects. *International Journal of Design*, 5.
- STERNE, J. A. C., SAVOVIĆ, J., PAGE, M. J., ELBERS, R. G., BLENCOWE, N. S., BOUTRON, I., CATES, C. J., CHENG, H.-Y., CORBETT, M. S., ELDRIDGE, S. M., EMBERSON, J. R., HERNÁN, M. A., HOPEWELL, S., HRÓBJARTSSON, A., JUNQUEIRA, D. R., JÜNI, P., KIRKHAM, J. J., LASSERSON, T., LI, T., MCALEENAN, A., REEVES, B. C., SHEPPERD, S., SHRIER, I., STEWART, L. A., TILLING, K., WHITE, I. R., WHITING, P. F. & HIGGINS, J. P. T. 2019. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ*, 366, I4898.
- STEWART, D., WHITTLESEA, C., DHITAL, R., NEWBOULD, L. & MCCAMBRIDGE, J. 2020. Community pharmacist led medication reviews in the UK: A scoping review of the medicines use review and the new medicine service literatures. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 16, 111-122.
- STRAAND, J., FUGELLI, P. & LAAKE, K. 1993. Withdrawing long-term diuretic treatment among elderly patients in general practice. *Fam Pract,* 10, 38-42.
- STRAAND, J. & SANDVIK, H. 2001. Stopping long-term drug therapy in general practice. How well do physicians and patients agree? *Family Practice*, 18, 597-601.
- STUHEC, M., GORENC, K. & ZELKO, E. 2019. Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists in primary care community settings in elderly patients on polypharmacy in Slovenia: a cohort retrospective study reveals positive evidence for implementation. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19, 118.
- TANGIISURAN, B., RAJENDRAN, V., SHA'ABAN, A., DAUD, N. A. A. & NAWI, S. N. M. 2022. Physicians' perceived barriers and enablers for deprescribing among older patients at public primary care clinics: a qualitative study. *Int J Clin Pharm*, 44, 201-213.
- TANNENBAUM, C., MARTIN, P., TAMBLYN, R., BENEDETTI, A. & AHMED, S. 2014. Reduction of Inappropriate Benzodiazepine Prescriptions Among Older Adults Through Direct Patient Education: The EMPOWER Cluster Randomized Trial. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 174, 890-898.
- TASHAKKORI, A. & TEDDLIE, C. 1998. *Mixed methodology: Combining qualitative and quantitative approaches*, sage.
- TASHAKKORI, A. & TEDDLIE, C. 2010. SAGE Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social & Behavioral Research. 2 ed. Thousand Oaks, California.
- TAZZYMAN, A., FERGUSON, J., HILLIER, C., BOYD, A., TREDINNICK-ROWE, J., ARCHER, J., DE BERE, S. R. & WALSHE, K. 2017. The implementation of medical revalidation: an assessment using normalisation process theory. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17, 749.
- TEAL, S., RICKETTS, L., BELTON, A., ALLSOPP, G., SILCOCK, J. & WRIGHT, D. J. 2011. How effective are pharmacists who work with medical practitioners? A study of interventions intended to influence prescribing. *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 10, 185-190.
- THE AHSN NETWORK. 2023. Your local AHSN [Online]. Available: www.ahsnnetwork.com/about-us/your-local-ahsn/ [Accessed 2023].
- THE GENERAL PHARMACUTICAL COUNCIL. 2023. Standards for pharmacy professionals [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.pharmacyregulation.org/standards/standards-for-pharmacy-</u> professionals [Accessed 2023].
- THE KING'S FUND 2018. The health care workforce in England: make or break?
- THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND CARE EXCELLENCE. 2021. Shared decision making [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng197</u> [Accessed 2023].

- THE WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. 2022. Ageing and health [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health</u> [Accessed].
- THIO, S. L., NAM, J., VAN DRIEL, M. L., DIRVEN, T. & BLOM, J. W. 2018. Effects of discontinuation of chronic medication in primary care: a systematic review of deprescribing trials. *British Journal of General Practice*, 68, e663-e672.
- THIRSK, L. M. & CLARK, A. M. 2017. Using Qualitative Research for Complex Interventions:The Contributions of Hermeneutics. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16, 1609406917721068.
- THOMPSON, W., LE, J. V., HAASTRUP, P., NIELSEN, J. B., PEDERSEN, L. B. & JARBØL, D. E. 2020. Exploring how GPs discuss statin deprescribing with older people: a qualitative study. *BJGP Open*, bjgpopen20X101022.
- THOMPSON, W., REEVE, E., MORIARTY, F., MACLURE, M., TURNER, J.,
 STEINMAN, M. A., CONKLIN, J., DOLOVICH, L., MCCARTHY, L. & FARRELL,
 B. 2019. Deprescribing: Future directions for research. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 15, 801-805.
- THORELL, K., MIDLÖV, P., FASTBOM, J. & HALLING, A. 2020. Use of potentially inappropriate medication and polypharmacy in older adults: a repeated cross-sectional study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 20, 73.
- TILYARD, M. 2010. A practical guide to stopping medicines in older people. *BPJ*, 27, 10-23.
- TINETTI, M. E., COSTELLO, D. M., NAIK, A. D., DAVENPORT, C., HERNANDEZ-BIGOS, K., VAN LIEW, J. R., ESTERSON, J., KIWAK, E. & DINDO, L. 2021. Outcome Goals and Health Care Preferences of Older Adults With Multiple Chronic Conditions. *JAMA Network Open*, 4, e211271-e211271.
- TODD, A., COPELAND, A., HUSBAND, A., KASIM, A. & BAMBRA, C. 2015. Access all areas? An area-level analysis of accessibility to general practice and community pharmacy services in England by urbanity and social deprivation. *BMJ Open,* 5, e007328.
- TOMLINSON, J., MEDLINSKIENE, K., CHEONG, V. L., KHAN, S. & FYLAN, B. 2019. Patient and public involvement in designing and conducting doctoral research: the whys and the hows. *Res Involv Engagem*, 5, 23.
- TONG, A., SAINSBURY, P. & CRAIG, J. 2007. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 19, 349-357.
- TORRENTIRA, M. C., JR. 2020. ONLINE DATA COLLECTION AS ADAPTATION IN CONDUCTING QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE RESEARCH DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC. *2020*, 7.
- TUNIS, S. R., STRYER, D. B. & CLANCY, C. M. 2003. Practical Clinical TrialsIncreasing the Value of Clinical Research for Decision Making in Clinical and Health Policy. *JAMA*, 290, 1624-1632.
- TURNER, J. P., RICHARD, C., LUSSIER, M.-T., LAVOIE, M.-E., FARRELL, B., ROBERGE, D. & TANNENBAUM, C. 2018. Deprescribing conversations: a closer look at prescriber-patient communication. *Therapeutic advances in drug safety*, 9, 687-698.
- TURNER, J. P. & TANNENBAUM, C. 2017. Older Adults' Awareness of Deprescribing: A Population-Based Survey. *J Am Geriatr Soc,* 65, 2691-2696.
- UHLIG, K., LEFF, B., KENT, D., DY, S., BRUNNHUBER, K., BURGERS, J. S., GREENFIELD, S., GUYATT, G., HIGH, K., LEIPZIG, R., MULROW, C., SCHMADER, K., SCHUNEMANN, H., WALTER, L. C., WOODCOCK, J. & BOYD, C. M. 2014. A framework for crafting clinical practice guidelines that are relevant to the care and management of people with multimorbidity. *J Gen Intern Med*, 29, 670-9.

- VAN DE STEEG-VAN GOMPEL, C. H., WENSING, M. & DE SMET, P. A. 2009. Implementation of a discontinuation letter to reduce long-term benzodiazepine use--a cluster randomized trial. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 99, 105-14.
- VAN DER MEER, H. G., WOUTERS, H., TEICHERT, M., GRIENS, F., PAVLOVIC, J., PONT, L. G. & TAXIS, K. 2019. Feasibility, acceptability and potential effectiveness of an information technology-based, pharmacist-led intervention to prevent an increase in anticholinergic and sedative load among older community-dwelling individuals. *Ther Adv Drug Saf,* 10, 2042098618805881.
- VAN DUIJN, H. J., BELO, J. N., BLOM, J. W., VELBERG, I. D. & ASSENDELFT, W. J. 2011. Revised guidelines for cardiovascular risk management time to stop medication? A practice-based intervention study. *Br J Gen Pract*, 61, e347-52.
- VAN MARUM, R. J. 2020. Underrepresentation of the elderly in clinical trials, time for action. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 86, 2014-2016.
- VAN MIDDELAAR, T. & MOLL VAN CHARANTE, E. P. 2018. Deprescribing preventive medication in older patients. *Br J Gen Pract*, 68, 456-457.
- VANDENBERG, A. E., ECHT, K. V., KEMP, L., MCGWIN, G., PERKINS, M. M. & MIRK, A. K. 2018. Academic Detailing with Provider Audit and Feedback Improve Prescribing Quality for Older Veterans. *J Am Geriatr Soc,* 66, 621-627.
- VICENS, C., BEJARANO, F., SEMPERE, E., MATEU, C., FIOL, F., SOCIAS, I., ARAGONÈS, E., PALOP, V., BELTRAN, J. L., PIÑOL, J. L., LERA, G., FOLCH, S., MENGUAL, M., BASORA, J., ESTEVA, M., LLOBERA, J., ROCA, M., GILI, M. & LEIVA, A. 2014. Comparative efficacy of two interventions to discontinue long-term benzodiazepine use: cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. *Br J Psychiatry*, 204, 471-9.
- VICENS, C., LEIVA, A., BEJARANO, F., SEMPERE, E., RODRÍGUEZ-RINCÓN, R. M., FIOL, F., MENGUAL, M., AJENJO, A., DO PAZO, F., MATEU, C., FOLCH, S., ALEGRET, S., COLL, J. M., MARTÍN-RABADÁN, M. & SOCIAS, I. 2019. Intervention to reduce benzodiazepine prescriptions in primary care, study protocol of a hybrid type 1 cluster randomised controlled trial: the BENZORED study. *BMJ Open*, 9, e022046.
- VICENS, C., SEMPERE, E., BEJARANO, F., SOCIAS, I., MATEU, C., FIOL, F., PALOP, V., MENGUAL, M., FOLCH, S., LERA, G., BASORA, J. & LEIVA, A. 2016. Efficacy of two interventions on the discontinuation of benzodiazepines in long-term users: 36-month follow-up of a cluster randomised trial in primary care. *Br J Gen Pract*, 66, e85-91.
- VISSER, A. G. R., SCHOLS, J. M. G. A., PREVOO, M. A. L. M., JANKNEGT, R. & WINKENS, B. 2021. Deprescribing Statins and Proton Pump Inhibitors in Nursing Home Residents; a Pragmatic Exploratory Study. *Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine*, 7, 23337214211050807.
- WALLACE, E., SALISBURY, C., GUTHRIE, B., LEWIS, C., FAHEY, T. & SMITH, S. M. 2015. Managing patients with multimorbidity in primary care. *Bmj*, 350.
- WALLIS, K. A., ANDREWS, A. & HENDERSON, M. 2017. Swimming Against the Tide: Primary Care Physicians' Views on Deprescribing in Everyday Practice. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 15, 341-346.
- WALSH, K., KWAN, D., MARR, P., PAPOUSHEK, C. & LYON, W. K. 2016. Deprescribing in a family health team: a study of chronic proton pump inhibitor use. *J Prim Health Care*, 8, 164-71.
- WANG, J., SHEN, J. Y., CONWELL, Y., PODSIADLY, E. J., CAPRIO, T. V., NATHAN, K., YU, F., RAMSDALE, E. E., FICK, D. M., MIXON, A. S. & SIMMONS, S. F. 2022. Implementation considerations of deprescribing interventions: A scoping review. J Intern Med.
- WANI, T. & ALI, S. 2015. Innovation Diffusion Theory Review & Scope in the Study of Adoption of Smartphones in India. *Journal of General Management Research*, 3, 101-118.

- WARMOTH, K., DAY, J., COCKCROFT, E., REED, D. N., POLLOCK, L., COXON, G., HENEKER, J., WALTON, B. & STEIN, K. 2020. Understanding stakeholders' perspectives on implementing deprescribing for older people living in long-term residential care homes: the STOPPING study protocol. *Implementation Science Communications*, 1, 73.
- WESTERLUND, A., SUNDBERG, L. & NILSEN, P. 2019. Implementation of Implementation Science Knowledge: The Research-Practice Gap Paradox. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs,* 16, 332-334.
- WHITE, R., HAYES, C., BOYES, A. W., CHIU, S. & PAUL, C. L. 2019. General practitioners and management of chronic noncancer pain: a cross-sectional survey of influences on opioid deprescribing. *J Pain Res*, 12, 467-475.
- WILLIS, G., CAVE, S. & KUNC, M. 2018. Strategic workforce planning in healthcare: A multi-methodology approach. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 267, 250-263.
- WONG, A. P. Y., TING, T. W., CHARISSA, E. J. M., BOON, T. W., HENG, K. Y. & LENG, L. L. 2021. Feasibility & Efficacy of Deprescribing rounds in a Singapore rehabilitative hospital- a randomised controlled trial. *BMC Geriatrics*, 21, 584.
- WOODWARD, M. C. 2003. Deprescribing: Achieving Better Health Outcomes for Older People through Reducing Medications. *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research*, 33, 323-328.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. 2017. The third WHO Global Patient Safety Challenge: Medication Without Harm [Online]. Available: https://www.who.int/patientsafety/medication-safety/en/ [Accessed].
- WORLEY, M. M., SCHOMMER, J. C., BROWN, L. M., HADSALL, R. S., RANELLI, P. L., STRATTON, T. P. & UDEN, D. L. 2007. Pharmacists' and patients' roles in the pharmacist-patient relationship: Are pharmacists and patients reading from the same relationship script? *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 3, 47-69.
- WRIGHT, A., AARON, S., SEGER, D. L., SAMAL, L., SCHIFF, G. D. & BATES, D. W. 2018. Reduced Effectiveness of Interruptive Drug-Drug Interaction Alerts after Conversion to a Commercial Electronic Health Record. J Gen Intern Med, 33, 1868-1876.
- YOUNG, F. & MAGUIRE, S. 2019. Physiology of ageing. *Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine*, 20, 735-738.
- YVONNE FEILZER, M. 2010. Doing Mixed Methods Research Pragmatically: Implications for the Rediscovery of Pragmatism as a Research Paradigm. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 4, 6-16.
- ZHANG, N., SUNDQUIST, J., SUNDQUIST, K. & JI, J. 2020. An Increasing Trend in the Prevalence of Polypharmacy in Sweden: A Nationwide Register-Based Study. *Front Pharmacol*, 11, 326.
- ZHANG, X., YU, P., YAN, J. & TON, A. M. S. I. 2015. Using diffusion of innovation theory to understand the factors impacting patient acceptance and use of consumer e-health innovations: a case study in a primary care clinic. *BMC Health Serv Res*, 15, 71.
- ZHANG, Y. Z., TURNER, J. P., MARTIN, P. & TANNENBAUM, C. 2018. Does a Consumer-Targeted Deprescribing Intervention Compromise Patient-Healthcare Provider Trust? *Pharmacy (Basel)*, 6.
- ZITMAN, F. G. & COUVÉE, J. E. 2001. Chronic benzodiazepine use in general practice patients with depression: an evaluation of controlled treatment and taper-off: report on behalf of the Dutch Chronic Benzodiazepine Working Group. *Br J Psychiatry*, 178, 317-24.

Appendices

Appendix A – Search strategy for scoping review

Coch	Cochrane Search Strategy		
#1	Deprescrib*		
#2	MeSH descriptor: [Deprescriptions] explode all trees		
#3	medic* cessation		
#4	medic* withdrawal		
#5	Stopping medic*		
#6	Drug discontinuation		
#7	Treatment withdrawal		
#8	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)		
#9	?Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop*)		
#10	Cessation of medic*		
#11	Stopping of medic*		
#12	MeSH descriptor: [Withholding Treatment] explode all trees		
#13	#1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11		
	OR #12		
#14	Primary Care		
#15	Community Health Cent*		
#16	MeSH descriptor: [Community Health Services] explode all trees		
#17	Community Medic*		
#18	MeSH descriptor: [Community Medicine] explode all trees		
#19	MeSH descriptor: [General Practice] explode all trees		
#20	General Practice		
#21	Addiction		

#22	Secondary Care	
#23	Hospital	
#24	Withdrawal Symptoms	
#25	Abuse	
#26	Pharmaco*	
#27	Pharmacodynamic*	
#28	Smoking	
#29	Alcohol	
#30	#13 NOT #21 NOT #22 NOT #23 NOT #24 NOT #25 NOT #26 NOT #27 NOT	
	#28 NOT #29	
#31	#14 OR #15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20	
#32	#30 AND #31	
PubMed Search Strategy		
#1	(((((General practice[MeSH Terms]) OR Primary Health Care) OR Community	
	Medic*)) AND (((((((Deprescriptions[Mesh]) OR Deprescrib*) OR medic*	
	cessation) OR medic* Withdrawal) OR Stopping Medic*) OR treatment	
	withdrawal) OR Drug discontinuation)) NOT ((((hospital) OR secondary care)	
	OR addiction) OR withdrawal symptoms)	
Web of Science		
#1	TS=Deprescrib*	
#2	TS=medic* withdrawal	
#3	TS=treatment withdrawal	
#4	TS=medic* cessation	
#5	TS=Drug discontinuation	
#6	TS=Stopping Medic*	
#7	TS= Deprescriptions	
#8	7 OR #6 OR #5 OR #4 OR #3 OR #2 OR #1	
#9	TS=General Practice	

#10	TS=Primary Care	
#11	TS=community Medic*	
#12	#11 OR #10 OR #9	
#13	TS=Addiction	
#14	TS=Secondary Care	
#15	TS=Hospital	
#16	TS=Withdrawal Symptoms	
#17	TS=Abuse	
#18	TS= Smoking	
#19	TS=Alcohol	
#20	#8 NOT #13 NOT #14 NOT #15 NOT #16 NOT #17 NOT #18 NOT #19	
#21	#20 AND #12	
Emba	Embase	
#1	Primary Care.tw	
#2	Community Medic*.tw.	
#3	General Practice.tw.	
#4	Community Health Services/	
#5	Deprescription/	
#6	"Medic* cessation".tw.	
#7	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.	
#8	"drug discontinuation".tw.	
#9	Treatment withdrawal.tw.	
#10	Stopping Medic*.tw.	
#11	Stopping of Medic*.tw	
#12	Cessation of Medic*.tw	
#14	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)	
-------	---	
#15	?Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop*)	
#16	Community Medicine/	
#17	treatment withdrawal/	
#18	General Practice/	
#19	Addiction.tw.	
#20	Secondary Care.tw.	
#21	Hospital.tw	
#22	Withdrawal symptoms.tw.	
#23	Abuse.tw.	
#24	Smoking.tw	
#25	Alcohol.tw	
#26	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 16 or 18	
#27	5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 17	
#38	26 and 27	
#31	19 or 20 or 21 or 22 or 23 or 24 or 25	
#32	28 not 29	
Medli	ne	
#1	General Practice/	
#2	Community Medic*.tw.	
#3	deprescriptions/	
#4	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.	
#5	"Medic* Cessation".tw.	
#6	Deprescrib*.tw.	
#7	"Drug discontinuation".tw.	
#8	"Treatment withdrawal".tw.	

#9	"Stopping medic*".tw.
#10	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)
#11	?Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop*)
#12	Cessation of medic*.tw
#13	Stopping of medic*.tw
#14	Community Health Services/
#15	Primary Care.tw
#16	General Practice.tw.
#17	Primary Health Care/
#18	Community Dwelling .tw.
#19	1 or 2 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18
#20	3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13
#21	19 and 20
#22	Addiction.tw
#23	Hospital.tw
#24	21 not 22 not 23
Intern	ational Pharmaceutical Abstracts
#1	Deprescrib*.tw.
#2	deprescriptions.tw.
#3	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.
#4	"Medic* cessation".tw.
#5	Stopping medic*.tw.
#6	Stopping of medic*.tw
#7	Cessation of medic*.tw
#8	Drug discontinuation.tw.
#9	Treatment withdrawal.tw.

#10	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)
#11	?Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop*)
#12	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11
#13	Primary care.tw.
#14	General Practice.tw.
#15	Community medic*.tw.
#16	Primary Health Care.tw.
#17	13 or 14 or 15 or 16
#18	12 and 17

Appendix B – Study characteristics for intervention studies

Author &	Study	Aim	Population	Intervention type	Pre/Intervention	Follow-up &
Country	Design				education	type
Vicen et al.	RCT	Compare the	Patients, 18-80	SIF & SIW groups:	3-hour workshop on	SIF group:
2014	Cluster	effectiveness of	years, taking	educational interview &	structured interviews,	support every
Spain	level	two interventions	BZD daily for at	stepped BZD dose	individualised patient	2-3 weeks
		with usual care on	least 6 months	reduction. SIF group	information & training in	(SF)
		the discontinuation	N = 523	included follow-up whilst	managing discontinuation.	
		of long term BZD		SIW group received written	SIF group attended 30min	All
		use in primary care		instructions reinforcing	workshop about follow ups	reviewed at 12
				educational material		months (MF)
Martin et al.	RCT	Determine	Patient, 65	Pharmacies issued patient	None reported	6 months (MF)
2018	Cluster	effectiveness of a	years ≤, who	educational brochures and		
Canada	level	pharmacist-led	filled for 1 of 4	provided physicians with		
		intervention to	PIMS for ≥ 3	pharmaceutical opinions		
		educate older	months	recommending		
		adults and	N = 489	deprescribing		
		physicians about				
		reducing PIMs				

Gompel et	RCT	Determine the	Community	CP in active arm received	CP's provided with	8 months (MF)
al. 2009	Cluster	effectiveness of an	pharmacies	study manual, meeting, and	education manual about	
Netherlands	level	intensive support	N = 79	phone calls for aid. BZD	project and resources, an	
		programme for		discontinuation letter,	interactive educative	
		CP's to send		signed by CP and GP, sent	meeting and phone calls as	
		discontinuation		to patients long term BZD	reminders for intervention	
		letters in		users in all groups	and support	
		cooperation with				
		GPs				
Zitman &	RCT	Compare efficacy	Patients (daily	Patients transferred onto	Participating doctors were	Average 2.3
Couvée	Patient	of paroxetine and	use ≥ 3	diazepam, randomised to	trained in applying MINI	years (MF)
2001	level	placebo for	months), major	receive paroxetine, then	interview and the Hamilton	
Netherlands		treatment of major	depression and	gradual BZD taper	rating scale for depression.	
		depression, in	18≤ years		Booster training used during	
		tapering off BZD	N = 230		the study	
		and to evaluate				
		long-term efficacy				
		of programme				
Curran et al.	RCT	To determine if	Patients, 65	Group A: BZD gradually	None reported	52 weeks
2003	Patient	withdrawal from	years ≤, taking	tapered over 8/9 weeks,		(MF)
UK	level	BZD leads to	BZD (≥ 6	group B: continued normal		
		changes in patients	months)	BZD use. Tasks used to		

		cognitive functions,	N = 138	assess cognition, alertness		
		quality of life, mood		and psychomotor speed		
		and sleep		and kept a sleep diary.		
				Group C did not withdraw		
				BZD and partook in same		
				tasks.		
Kuntz et al.	RCT	Evaluate the	Patients, 64	Patients randomised to Ed	Educational brochure,	6 months
2019	Patient	impact of direct-to-	years ≤,	and Ed+ group received a	physician letter and quiz	(MF)
USA	level	patient education	received 2-3	brochure, physician letter	focused on harms of Z-drug	
		among older	dispensing's of	and quiz. A pharmacist	use, reconsidering Z-drug	
		patients against	a Z drug during	called Ed+ group, 4 weeks	use, alternatives and a	
		usual care	2016	after receiving material to	tapering schedule	
			N = 149	provide additional support		
				on tapering medicines.		
Eveleigh et	RCT	Evaluate the	Patients using	Patient specific letter	Letter to GP included	1 year (SF &
al.	Cluster	effectiveness of a	antidepressants	containing discontinuation	information on	MF)
2018	level	recommendation to	(≥9 months)	recommendation sent to	antidepressant tapering and	
Netherlands		cease	without suitable	GP. GP to invite patient,	discontinuation syndrome	
		antidepressant	indication	discuss letter and return slip		
		treatment	N = 146	sent to ascertain patients		
				intentions to comply		

Choudhury	RCT	Examine the effect	Patients, 40	Patients randomised to ICS	Patients taught how to use	Every 3
et al.	Patient	of withdrawing ICS	years ≤, history	or placebo. GP's managed	diary cards	months (SF)
2007	level	in people with	of smoking,	exacerbations based on		for 1 year (MF)
UK		COPD in primary	prescribed ICS	usual guidelines. Patients		
		care	≥6 months	given diary card to record		
			N = 260	exacerbations.		
Tannenbau	RCT	Compare the effect	Patients, 65	Active arm received a	Empowerment included a	6 months (MF)
m et al.	Cluster	of the effect of	years ≤,	deprescribing patient	self-assessment component	
2014	level	direct consumer	receiving long	empowerment with a	about BZD risks, medicine	
Canada		educational	term BZD (\geq 3	tapering protocol. The	interactions, peer champion	
		intervention against	months) and a	control received UC. All	stories and suggestions for	
		UC on BZD	minimum of 5	patients encouraged to	alternatives.	
		therapy	active Rx	speak to		
		discontinuation in	N = 303	pharmacists/physicians to		
		older adults		discuss deprescribing		
Clyne et al.	RCT	Investigate the	Patients, 70	Academic detailing with a	Intervention involved 30 min	4-6 months
2015	Cluster	effectiveness of a	years ≤,	pharmacist on how GP's	GP education by	(MF)
Ireland	level	multifaceted	receiving PIP	can review patients	pharmacist on PIP, patient	
		intervention on	N = 196	medicines, alternative	information leaflet and web	
		reducing PIP in		treatment algorithm for PIP	based treatment algorithm.	
		older people in		and tailored patient		
		primary care		information leaflet		

Luymes et	RCT	Evaluate whether	Patients, 40-70	Research nurse advised	Two hour workshop about	12 weeks – 6
al. 2018	Cluster	deprescribing	years, without	patients to contact GP	the background, aim and	months (SF)
Netherlands	level	preventative	established	about deprescribing	intervention of the study,	
		cardiovascular	CVD, using	preventative medicines.	delivered to GP's	17-32 months
		medicine in low risk	potentially	GP's followed predefined		(MF)
		patients without	inappropriate	deprescribing guideline		
		indication is safe	preventative			
		and cost effective	medicine (\geq 1			
			year)			
			N = 1386			
Campbell et	RCT	Assess the	Patients, 65	Patients visited at home	None reported	44 weeks (MF)
al.	Patient	effectiveness of	years ≤,	and were randomised to		
1999	level	psychotropic	currently taking	either: gradual psychotropic		
New		medicine	hypnotic,	withdrawal and/or home		
Zealand		withdrawal and an	antidepressant	based exercise programme.		
		exercise	or tranquiliser			
		programme in	N = 93			
		reducing falls in				
		older people				
Martin &	Post-hoc	Examine whether	Patients, 65	As of Tannenbaum et al.	As of Tannenbaum et al.	6 months (MF)
Tannenbau	analysis	cognitive status	years ≤,	2014. MoCA used to asses	2014.	
m		affected the	receiving long	cognition		

2017		comprehension	term BZD (≥ 3			
Canada		and success rates	months) and a			
		of the EMPOWER	minimum of 5			
		educational	active Rx			
		approach to	N = 261			
		deprescribe BZD				
Vicens et al.	Follow	Assess the 3-year	Patients, 18-80	As per previous study	As per previous study	36 months
2016	up of	efficacy of two	years, taking			(MF)
Spain	Vicen et	primary care	BZD daily for at			
	al. 2014	interventions	least 6 months			
		delivered by GPs	N = 523			
		on cessation of				
		BZD use in long-				
		term users				
Clyne et al.	Follow	Determine whether	Patients from	Outcome data collected 1	None reported	1 year (MF)
2016	up of	improvement in	previous study	year post intervention		
Ireland	Clyne et	PIP short term was	N = 186	completion		
	al. 2015	sustained at 1 year				
		follow up				
De Gier et	Follow	Describe the 10-	Patients that	Follow up with patients and	None reported	10 years (MF)
al. 2010	up of	year follow-up of	had stopped	calculate defined daily		
Netherlands	Gorgels	short term quitters	BZD after 3			

	et al.	and identify	months in	doses to determine BZD		
	2005	determinants of	previous trial	use		
		successfully	N = 194			
		maintaining				
		discontinuation				
Couvée et	Follow	Assess	Patients from	Researcher accessed	None reported	Average 2.4
al. 2002	up to	longitudinally the	previous study	medical records of patients		years (MF)
Netherlands	Zitman &	Rx of psychotropic	N = 189	and assessed for		
	Couvée	drugs in depressed		psychoactive medication		
	2001	patients after				
		participation in				
		BZD discontinue				
		programme				
Ammerman	Cohort	Compare the	Veterans, 80	The GeriPact team (inter-	None reported	Patients in
et al.	study	effects of a	years ≤, who	disciplinary team) including		GeriPact team
2019		Geriatric Patient-	have filled a PIM	a clinical pharmacy		averaged 2.7
USA		Aligned Care team	N = 568	specialist followed patients		visits vs 3.7 in
		(GeriPact) on		over a period of time		usual care
		deprescribing of				(MF)
		PIMs in older				
		adults with UC in				
		VA setting.				

Prasad et al.	Cohort	Evaluate	Patients taking	ABPM and clinic BP	Advice on non-	52 weeks
1997	Study	withdrawal of	monotherapy for	readings taking during	pharmacological measures	(MF)
UK		antihypertensive	hypertension	treatment. If daytime ABPM	to lower BP given to all	
		treatment in	N = 36	\leq 150/90 mmHg, treatment	patients	
		primary care		was stopped.		
				Measurements taken week		
				4, 8, 12, 26, 39, and 52		
				unless ABPM > 150/90		
				mmHg, where treatment		
				would restart		
Aylett et al.	Cohort	Determine the	Patients, 40-69	Patients with optimal blood	Each practice received	3 years (MF)
1999	Study	proportion of	years,	pressure selected and	educational material on BP	
UK		hypertensive	hypertensive	provided with information	measurement. Patient	
		patients that can	N = 224	sheet. Medicine withdrawal	information sheet explained	
		withdraw medicine		followed a protocol.	care they would receive and	
		without relapse and		Medicine restarted if BP	emphasised lifelong follow	
		seek factors		rose to level indicated	up even if medicine	
		associated with		treatment, at the patients	stopped. Information on BP	
		withdrawal success		physicians discretion.	risk factors provided.	
Gorgels et	QET	Assess long term	Patients taking	Letter sent with advice to	None reported	21 months
al. 2006		effects of BZD	$BZD, \geq 3$	gradually discontinue BZD		(MF)
Netherlands		discontinuation				

		letter followed by	months, within 3	then invite 3 months later to		
		evaluation	months of study	discuss BZD use		
		consultation in a	N = 3383			
		family practice				
Gorgels et	Logistic	Identify predictors	Patients taking	Logistic regression	NA	6 months and
al. 2005	regressio	of short/long-term	BZD, ≥ 3			21 months
Netherlands	n of	discontinuation of	months, within 3			(MF)
	Gorgels	BZD and relapse in	months of study			
	et al.	use after a minimal	N = 1707			
	2005	intervention				
Anderson et	QET	Assess feasibility,	Patients, 65	Deprescribing consultations	5-hour face-to-face	18 weeks (MF)
al. 2019		effectiveness and	years≤,	with between patients and	deprescribing workshop for	
Australia		safety of a GP-led	community	GP's with a comprehensive	clinicians, centred on cease	
		intervention to	living, taking 5≤	medicines review using a	deprescribing principles	
		minimise PIP	medicines,	software template		
			proficient in			
			English			
			N = 145			
Straand et	QET	Elaborate,	Patients, 75	Patients were stepped	None reported	3, 6, 12, 16
al. 1993		implement and	years \leq , living	down from diuretic therapy		and 26 weeks
Norway		evaluate a strategy	at home	followed by diuretic		for 6 months
		for discontinuation	N = 33	withdrawal		(MF)

		of long term				
		diuretics in elderly				
		patient in general				
		practice				
Coyle et al.	QET	Determine if a	Patients, 18-90	Patients invited to 20 min	Patient education was in	Follow up
2019		nurse-led	years, active	visit. Structured history	verbal and written form.	offered
UK		educational	PPI repeat Rx,	taken and patient given	Education was about	according to
		programme and	treated with PPI	education. Alcohol	patient's condition,	need (SF)
		rescue therapy	\geq 2 months	intervention and smoking	alternative treatment, and	
		helps patients	N = 6249	cessation offered. Action	triggers.	1 year (MF)
		achieve sustained		plan agreed and patients		
		reduction in PPI		received alginate for		2 years for 3
		use		rebound symptoms		GP's (MF)
Duijn et al.	QET	Explore the	Patients, 25-75,	At visit, nurse would	None reported	Follow up
2011		feasibility and	no known target	calculate patients 10 year		based on
Netherlands		consequences of a	organ damage,	cardiovascular mortality		patient risk
		re-evaluation	receiving	risk. If risk low, patient		(SF)
		programme for	medicine for	invited to discuss medicine		
		patients without	hypertension	with GP and provided with		1 – 12 weeks
		target organ	and/or	medicine tapering schedule		(SF) and
		damage being	hypercholesterol	if willing to stop. Follow up		6 months (MF)
		treated for		consisted of clinical		

		hypertension	aemia in the	measurements and possible		
		and/or	past year.	ADR		
		hypercholesterolae	N = 562			
		mia				
Walsh et al.	QI	Evaluate a tool &	Patients, 18	PPI deprescribing tool	Patient handout contained	10 weeks (MF)
2016	project	process to guide	years ≤, taking	developed from current	information about harms of	
Canada		reassessment &	$PPI \ge 8$ weeks,	guidelines, EMR reminder	long term PPI use, the taper	
		deprescribing of	with upcoming	to assess PPI use in	process and management	
		PPI's	health	upcoming appointment sent	of rebound symptoms	
		Assess	examination	to PCP, patient handout		
		utility/barriers of	n = 46	supplied if needed		
		implementing				
		deprescribing				
		process				
Farrell et al.	QI	Build CP capacity	Community	Use of deprescribing	Each site received support	5 months (MF)
2019	Project	to integrate	Pharmacies	guidelines. Trained	and educational resources	
Canada		deprescribing into	N = 4	observers provided	including project orientation	
		daily practice		potential activities and	video. Advisory group	
		through training		opportunities. Pharmacies	formed to provide direction	
		and workflow		selected their own	on deprescribing work flow.	
		strategies		implementation strategies,		
				PDSA cycles used to show		

				how interventions		
				implemented		
Odenthal et	Service	Develop,	Patients, 18	Patients identified by	Pharmacist provided	8 weeks (MF)
al.	Evaluatio	implement and	years ≤, taking	pharmacist who organised	education to patients about	
2020	n	evaluate the	PPI longer than	meeting with physician	risks of long term PPI use,	
USA		effectiveness of a	8 weeks without	where possible. During	alternatives treatment. After	
		pharmacist-	valid indication	visits pharmacist managed	visit information given	
		managed PPI	N = 50	PPI deprescribing protocol,	reinforcing education	
		deprescribing		involving gradual tapering	material	
		protocol in a				
		primary care clinic				
Greiver et al.	Study	Evaluate the	Patients, 65	Practices within the	Practices will have	Na
2019	Protocol	impact of the	years ≤,	intervention will become	collaborative learning	
Canada		SPIDER model	reciving ≥ 10	part of a collaborative	opportunities to develop	
		compared to UC in	different	group, work with QI	medicines management	
		the management of	prescription	coaches, review EMRs and		
		PIPs	medicines over	develop and implement		
			the past year	changes to medicines		
Vicen et al.	Study	Analyse the	Primary health	GP's within the intervention	Two hour educational	Na
2019	Protocol	effectiveness of an	care centres	will receive a workshop,	workshop will involve	
Spain		intervention		feedback around their BZD	rationale for prescribing	
		targeted to GPs to		prescribing practices and	BZD prescription and	

		reduce BZD		access to a support web	strategies for BZD	
		prescription and		page	deprescribing. Support web	
		evaluate the			page will reiterate BZD best	
		implementation			practices and provide self-	
		process			help educational leaflet for	
					patients	
Rieckert et	Study	Evaluate the	Patients, 18	GP's within the intervention	Study staffs provide training	Na
al.	Protocol	effectiveness of the	years ≤, taking	will have access to the tool	to GP's and nurses about	
2019		arriba-PPI tool	$PPI \ge 6 months$	to be used with patients.	the use of PPI, shared	
Germany				The tool provides guidance	decision making, withdrawal	
				on whether stopping PPI is	of medicines and how to	
				recommended. GP's are to	use the arriba-PPI tool.	
				discuss this with patients	Patients will receive	
				and make a decision	information about long term	
				regarding use	effects of the medicine,	
					withdrawal plan and follow	
					up appointments.	

Appendix C – Paper characteristics for non-intervention studies and commentaries

Study	Type of	Aim	Population	Themes Identified
	study			
Reeve et al.	Survey	Explore the attitudes of older	Medicare beneficiaries	Majority of older adults willing to have a medicine
2018		adults towards deprescribing	65 years ≤	deprescribed if their doctor said it was possible.
USA		and understand whether	N = 1981	Two thirds want to reduce number of medicines
		clinical & demographic		they are taking
		characteristics are associated		
		with this		
Gillespie et	Survey	Explore the attitudes regarding	Independent older adults	Older adults with polypharmacy are comfortable
al.		polypharmacy & deprescribing	65 years ≤, taking 5≤	with medicines with little concerns however may
2019		among community living older	medicines	express interest in stopping medicines.
Australia		adults taking 5≤ medicines & if	N = 187	Costs, experiencing side effects or believing
		health literacy capabilities		medications is unnecessary may result in desire to
		influences this		reduce medicines. Higher health literacy scores
				associated with involvement in decision making &
				willingness to stop
Sirois et al.	Survey	Describe community-dwelling	Older adults 65 years \leq	Older individuals within community are eager to
2017		older adults attitudes towards	taking $1 \le$ medicines,	undertake deprescribing, especially if taking a large
Canada		deprescribing	attending selected	

			community	number of medicines, experiencing side effects or
			pharmacy/centre	they do not consider medicines necessary anymore
			N = 129	
Linsky et al.	Survey	Identify patient characteristics,	Veterans taking 5≤	Majority disagreed medicines were unimportant or
2018		attitudes and healthcare	medicines for minimum	overused but were interested in stopping
USA		experiences associated with	of 28 days	medicines. 53% recall being told to stop medicine
		medicines discontinuation	N = 803	by doctor and 55% reported they had asked their
				doctor to stop a medicine but 34.1% reported
				having stopped a medicine. Higher education and
				prior experience of stopping associated with
				increased likelihood in stopping. Taking 5 \leq
				medicines, higher trust in PCP and seeing a VA
				pharmacist in the past year reduced likelihood.
Zhang et al.	Survey	Determine whether a patient-	Adults (65 years \leq) with	Most participants had no change or increased
2018		focused educational	chronic use (\geq 3 months)	overall trust in their doctor and pharmacist 6
Canada		intervention to reduce	of PIMs	months after a deprescribing intervention
		inappropriate medications	N = 352	
		compromises trust between		
		older adults and their		
		healthcare providers		
Linsky et al.	Survey	Determine prescribers	VA clinical providers with	Including medicine indication on all Rx was the
2017		preferences for interventions	prescribing privileges	highest ranked choice to support clinical providers

USA		that would improve their ability	N = 411	in discontinuing medicines. This was followed by
		to discontinue medicines		increased team work monitoring patients post
				deprescribing and including patients in decision
				making
Straand and	Survey	Measure the extent of which	GPs discontinuing a	The majority of patients were at least satisfied with
Sandvik		patients physicians agree upon	medicine (3 months use	the decision to discontinue medicine. Physicians
2001		information communicated	\leq) and the corresponding	considered it easy to discontinue medicine in
Norway		when a drug is withdrawn	patient	majority of cases. There was 100% agreement
			N = 272 doctors and 272	between physician and patient on which medicine
			patients	had been stopped. Some patients felt anxious
				about discontinuing due to being told on medicine
				initiation that it would be for life
Linsky et al.	Survey	To characterise patients'	Veterans taking 5≤	The most common theme was that patients did not
2019		willingness to accept	medicines	want their primary care provider or pharmacist
USA		deprescribing of medicines by	N = 803	stopping medicines initiated by a specialist.
		different providers		Patients with greater medicines concerns were
				more likely to be comfortable with their primary
				care provider or pharmacist discontinuing specialist
				initiated medicines
Martin &	Survey	Develop a prototype of an	Primary care physicians	Majority of physicians preferred patient specific
Tannenbaum		evidence based	N = 32	information, source of deprescribing advice to be
2018		pharmaceutical opinion that	Pharmacists	cited and alternates suggested. Pharmacist queried

Canada		promotes physician-	N = 61	the opinions length and requested space for
		pharmacist communication		physician response. A standardised opinion seen
		around deprescribing		as easier to use, more evidence based, time
				efficient and more likely to lead to deprescribing
Cook et al.	Telephone	Identify patients characteristics	Patients, 60 years ≤,	Higher frequency of daily BZD intake and anxiety
2007	survey	of long term BZD users to	currently taking anxiolytic	sensitivity associated with those less willing to
USA		identify likelihood of	BZD (\geq 3 month period	consider BZD taper. Patients with higher education
		discontinuation	N = 46	level was not significant on willingness to taper
				BZD
Gillespie et	Cross-	Explore factors that influence	GP's	GP's recognised the effect of polypharmacy on
al.	sectional	GP's attitudes and practices	N = 85	QoL, but indicated insufficient time to review
2018	survey	towards deprescribing in		medicines during consultations. Most GP's agreed
Australia		community-dwelling older		they have sufficient information and could explain
		adults		to patients to guide deprescribing. Most GP's
				agreed older patients were capable of engaging in
				decision making about deprescribing yet fewer
				discussed patients deprescribing preference.
Kua et al.	Cross-	Explore the attitudes of older	Adults 60 years≤ or	Most older adults satisfied with current treatment
2019	sectional	people regarding drug	caregivers, visiting	regimens
Malaysia	survey	management	primary care health clinic	Majority willing to reduce one or more medicines if
			1	
		Explore willingness of older	& community pharmacies	doctors said it was possible

		deprescribed & patients		
		characteristics which could		
		affect this		
White et al.	Cross-	Determine the proportion of	GPs registered on the	77% GP's reported lack of effective alternative
2019	sectional	GP's who hold attitudes	Australian primary health	treatment would make them less likely to start
Australia	survey	congruent with local pain	network	weaning regime. Patients preference and fear of
		stewardship, describing their	N = 681	process or outcome heavily impacts GP's
		deprescribing decisions and		deprescribing decision.
		determine whether type of		
		POA influences deprescribing		
Carrier et al.	Cross-	Understand GP's attitudes	GP's in private practice	91.4% felt at least fairly comfortable deprescribing
2019	sectional	about de/prescribing	N = 1183	PIM for patients with multimorbidity but only 34.7%
France	survey	medicines for patients with		declared doing so often. Majority expressed
		multimorbidity and/or		patients might take deprescribing as abandonment
		polypharmacy and factors		of care
		associated with their decisions		
Djatche et al.	Cross-	Determine physician	Primary care physicians	Majority confident deprescribing in elderly, in favour
2018	sectional	perceptions of deprescribing in	N = 160	of deprescribing preventative medicines in elderly
Italy	survey	elderly patients and assess		with poor life expectancy, and no difficulty
		perceived barriers		motivating this group to deprescribe. 39% agreed
				lack of evidence and fear of ADR barrier to
				deprescribe.

Ng et al.	Cross-	Elucidate patients attitudes	Patients, 45-84 years,	Although majority were comfortable with their
2017	sectional	towards number of medicines	receiving treatment for	medicines, seeing it as a necessity, 93.4% of
Singapore	survey	they were taking and identify	1< chronic condition,	patients willing to stop a medicine if advised by
		factors influencing acceptance	taking 5≤ medicines	their doctor. A quarter of respondents felt they were
		to deprescribing	N = 136	taking a medicine they do not need and 73% had a
				desire to reduce number of medicines.
Mantelli et	Cross-	Determine whether, how and	GPs	Main factors important when consider
al.	sectional	why GP's deprescribing in frail	N = 157	deprescribing were risk and benefit of a medication,
2018	survey	old patients with multimorbidity		quality of life and life expectancy of the patient. In
Switzerland		and polypharmacy and identify		the case vignette, majority would deprescribe
		factors that influence their		
		decision to deprescribe		
Omar et al.	Cross-	Evaluate elderly patients belief	Older adults (65 years	Majority of patients experience at least one
2019	sectional	and attitude towards	\leq), with at least one	practical problem with medicines use. Patients with
Malaysia	Survey	deprescribing	chronic condition, taking	higher number of medicines considered their
			long term medicine	medicines a burden. Increase in burden factor, age
			N = 182	and number of medicines increased willingness to
				deprescribe
Turner &	Cross-	Determine older adults	Community dwelling	65.2% were aware some Rx medicines could be
Tannenbaum	sectional	awareness of medicines	older adults, 65 years \leq ,	harmful and 41.8% reported initiating a
2017	telephone	induced harm and the term	French or English	deprescribing conversation with healthcare provider
Canada	survey	deprescribing.	speaking	but only 6.9% understood the term deprescribing.

			N = 2665	Women and those younger than 80 were more
				likely to initiate deprescribing conversation
Nixon and	Semi-	Investigate how GP's decision	GPs	GP's face ambiguity when considering
Vendelø	structured	about discontinuation of	N = 24	discontinuation and are reluctant to deprescribe.
2016	interviews	medicines are influenced by		Reasons are guidelines provide dominating triggers
Denmark	and	institutional context		to prescribe, do not encourage discontinuing and
	observations			they underscore a cognitive constraint against
				discontinuation.
Eveleigh et	Semi-	Explore participants barriers	Patients using	Barriers: Attribution, fear and prior attempts.
al.	structured	and facilitators for stopping	antidepressants (≥9	Patients attributed medicine as need, or suffer from
2019	interviews	long-term antidepressant use	months) without suitable	chronic condition and so medicine is life-long. Fear
Netherlands		without proper indication	indication	associated with relapse of symptoms.
			N = 16	Facilitators: information, fear and self-confidence in
				success. Discussing the limited duration of the
				medicine was a facilitator, as was fear of addiction
				and improving patients confidence in success of
				discontinuation
Middelaar et	Semi-	Explore GPs routines and	GP's	Some GP's reported increase QoL in patient after
al.	structured	consideration on	N = 15	deprescribing however fear of adverse drug
2018	interview	de/prescribing		reactions influenced willingness to deprescribe.
Netherlands		antihypertensive medicines in		The terminal phase was considered rational to
		older patients, usability of		deprescribe in but the impression of giving up care

		current guidelines and needs		or depriving patients of a sense of control in BP
		for future support		caused hesitation.
Nixon and	Semi-	Examine when and how	GPs	Discontinuation institutionally recommended
Kousgaard	structured	medicines are discontinued in	N = 24	medicines, such as statins, was rare. Different
2016	interviews	GP and how GP's make		discontinuation cues crease dissonance that can
Denmark	and	decisions regarding this		lead to a GP considering discontinuation. Ambiguity
	observations			was seen as a reason to act and trial discontinuing.
				Discontinuation of medicines is more likely to occur
				when organised proactively.
Korenvain et	Telephone	Explore CP current	Pharmacists providing	Themes: understanding which medicines should be
al.	interviews	involvement in deprescribing	direct patient care in a	stopped and by whom, influence of access to
2020		and identify strategies to	community pharmacy (\geq	information on participants' sense of responsibility,
Canada		enhance this	3 hours a week for at	and tensions between competing priorities in
			least one year)	community pharmacy practice. Recommendations:
			N = 17	education to expand pharmacists understanding of
				deprescribing, contributing to deprescribing despite
				practice challenges and defining the CP
				deprescribing role
Turner et al.	Observations	Describe patterns of	Patients, 65 years \leq , 1	PPI users who received prior education had a
2018		deprescribing conversations	\leq active BZD or PPI Rx	higher frequency of patient-initiated deprescribing
Canada		between patients and	N = 24	themes than those who did not. No difference
		healthcare providers when		observed in BZD group.

		educational intervention is		
		delivered before/after a		
		primary care encounter		
Luymes et	Observations	Identify barriers and enablers	Patients with low CVD	Patients were positive to deprescribing, relying on
al.		of deprescribing potentially	risk	GP's expertise to justify decision and follow up, and
2016		inappropriate preventative	N = 49	being able to restart medicine helped. GP's
Netherland		cardiovascular medicine	GP's	considered additional risk factors and specialist
		experienced by GP's and	N = 10	advice on whether to start/stop medicines.
		patients		
Anderson et	Focus	Explore the views of GP's and	GP's with primary care	Themes regarding deprescribing were working
al.	groups	consultant pharmacists about	experience managing	through uncertainties and perceived risk as a frame
2017		inappropriate polypharmacy,	older adults (65 years \leq)	of reference. Inadequate research on older poly-
Australia		reasoning for deprescribing in	with polypharmacy.	medicated patients adds to uncertainties and
		primary care and identify	Consultant pharmacists	deprescribing seen as time intensive process. A
		factors that support and inhibit	with experience	gradual taper process and deferring to patients to
		this cognitive process	conducting HMR's	decide on deprescribing helped to mitigate
			N = 47	uncertainty. Deprescribing outcome trajectory seen
				as a risk. Pharmacists felt lack of knowledge about
				patient prevents deprescribing.
Linsky et al.	Focus	Identify key patient elements	Veterans taking 5≤	Majority expressed overall desire to take fewer
2015	groups	that contribute to share clinical	medicines	medicines. Patient provider relationships influenced
USA			N = 27	whether patients trusted clinicians suggestions.

		decisions about intentional		Some patients prefer shared decision making
		medication discontinuation		whereas some are happy for doctor to decide.
				Limited experience of discontinuation discouraged
				some patients.
Schuling et	Focus	Explore how experienced GPs	GP's (5 years'	GP's support patient-centred management as best
al.	Groups	feel about deprescribing	experience \leq) and active	practice. Deprescribing of preventative medicine
2012		medication in older patients	as GP trainers, GP	seen as more difficult due to lack of benefit/risk
Netherlands		with multimorbidity and to what	trainers with a third-year	information for patients. GP's tend to avoid
		extent they involve these	trainee	discussing withdrawal of preventative medicines
		patients	N = 29	with elderly patients
Bokhof and	Meta-	Synthesise qualitative studies	Qualitative studies, older	Patient feel insecure and unprepared to deal with
Walker	ethnography	exploring the perspectives and	patients (65 years \leq ,	complex medicines regime. Deprescribing
2016		experiences of GPs and older	multi-morbidity,	decisions seen as not easy, particular with no
Germany		patients in reducing	community dwelling),	guidance available. Patients reactions to
		polypharmacy and discover	primary care/GPs,	deprescribing also considered as some patients
		approaches being practiced	Polypharmacy,	may value their medicines or see deprescribing as
			Discontinuing/deprescribi	sign of abandonment
			ng medicines	
			N = 14	
Luymes et	Q-	Identify viewpoints of low risk	Patients (40-70 years),	Three main viewpoints. Controlling view point -
al. 2017	methodology	CVD about preventative	without established CVD,	patients had strong belief in monitoring BP and
Netherland			using potentially	cholesterol by their GP. Autonomous viewpoint -

		cardiovascular whether they	inappropriate	patients showed dislike for medicine. Afraid
		relate to deprescription	preventative medicine (\geq	viewpoint – patients were afraid of developing CVD
			1 year)	and were happy to see suitable test results
			N = 33	
Clyne et al.	Process	A process evaluation exploring	General Practices from	Despite standardised academic detailing, there was
2016	evaluation	the implementation of the	previous study	variation in implementation delivery. Medicines
Ireland		intervention and experiences	N = 17	more likely to be stopped when patient present for
		of participants	Patients from previous	reviews.
			study	
			N = 11	
Van	Review	Encourage practicing GP's to	Na	Older population underrepresented in preventative
Middelaar	Paper	consider deprescription as part		medicine trials. GP's would value organisational
2018		of their clinical routine		support to facilitate deprescribing. A multi-
Netherlands				disciplinary approach is an important determinant
				of deprescribing success.
Duncan et	Review	Describe trends in	Na	GP's well positioned to deprescribe but other roles,
al. 2017	Paper	polypharmacy and why, outline		such as community pharmacists can help. Majority
UK		harms associated with		of patients willing to stop at least one medicines.
		overtreatment, outline rationale		Further research needed ensuring deprescribing
		for deprescribing, describe		maintains or improves health outcomes.
		approaches to deprescribing		
		within GP's, make		
1	1	1		

		recommendations for future		
		practice		
Anderson et	Review	Discussing the role of the	Na	Pharmacist may help to overcome prescriber and
al.	Paper	accredited pharmacist within		patient barriers to deprescribing through
2015		the context of polypharmacy,		collaborative medicine reviews, exploring patient
Australia		deprescribing and shared-		beliefs and providing recommendations but must
		decision making		be integrated within GP practice.
Peterson et	Review	Discussing the opportunity of	Na	Practice pharmacists have clinical data readily
al.	Paper	practice pharmacists to		available to allow for deprescribing
2018		support GPs in deprescribing		recommendations. They may also enhance
Australia		for older people		relationships with CP, assisting with on going
				medicines management. There are opportunities
				for practice pharmacist to improve deprescribing.
Antimisiaris	Review	Discussing the need for	Na	Thorough medication reconciliation and
and Cutler	Paper	optimal polypharmacy and		management should be performed at least
2017		strategies on how to achieve		annually. PIMs identifying tools may help in identify
USA		this		medicines appropriate on deprescription
Lader et al.	Review	Outline the most relevant	Na	Minimal intervention outcomes, consisting of simple
2009	Paper	studies outline the most		advice by letter or consultations were more
UK		relevant studies regarding		effective than UC. Method of withdrawal must
		withdrawing BZD, with		include tapering, however how to do this is
		assessment on their		

Study &	Barriers	Facilitators
Country		
Vicen et al.	-	GP proposals to the patients for the withdrawal
2014		programme lead to most patients participating
Spain		
Martin et al.	Significant number of pharmacies didn't participate	Pre-set computer algorithm allowed for time efficient
2018	due to undisclosed competing priorities	identification of at risk patients by pharmacists, with 1
Canada	 Difficulty recruiting patients taking NSAIDs and antihistamines as this is a OTC medicine and would not reflect in the EMR 	simple recommendation for patients
Gompel et al.	Sufficient personal to accomplish standard tasks	Feeling forced by the insurance company to
2009	Encouragement of technicians to attend	participate in research
Netherlands	pharmaceutical care classesParticipation in a pharmacy chain or franchise	 Being randomly assigned to experimental group
Zitman &	 Patients unwilling to take part in the study. 	_
Couvée		

Appendix D – Barriers and facilitators to implementing deprescribing (scoping review)

2001		
Netherlands		
Kuntz et al.	-	Intervention did not require a large amount of
2019		resources
USA		Pharmacists could switch patients to safer sleep
		medicines, reducing prescriber time and effort
Eveleigh et al.	Majority of patients didn't comply with discontinue	-
2018	recommendation for unknown reasons.	
Netherlands		
Tannenbaum	Significant number of pharmacies didn't participate	-
et al.	due to undisclosed competing priorities.	
2014	Physician disagreement of medicine	
Canada	discontinuation recommendations	
	Community pharmacists were solicited less to	
	discuss BZD therapy discontinuation	
Clyne et al.	Varied intervention delivery between practices	Medicine reviews with the patient present
2015	caused by organisational factors (e.g. workload	Positive aspirations to improve care
	and resources)	

Ireland	Lack of GP time	Focusing on a select number of PIPs decreases
	Lack of remuneration	workload barrier
Luymes et al.	Difficult to identify medicine use by checking EMRs	-
2018	only	
Netherlands		
Campbell et al.	 Lack of support provided may have led to patients 	-
1999	discontinuing the study	
New Zealand		
Prasad et al.	Patient preference to not withdraw medicine	-
1997		
UK		
Aylett et al.	Incomplete data due to non-attendance (problem of	-
1999	practice rather than patient compliance)	
UK		
Anderson et	-	Intervention did not require greater number of GP
al. 2019		appointments or medical reviews by the pharmacist
Australia		

		Codesigning of the intervention with GPs encouraged
		adoption of intervention by GPs
Staand et al.	Complicated inclusion criteria (allowed for inclusion of patients that should have been evaluated)	-
Norway	or patients that should have been excluded)	
Coyle et al. 2019 UK	 Non-attendance to follow-up 	-
Duijn et al. 2011 Netherlands	 Variation in advice to stop medicine use due to individual nurses and GPs (may not be fully convinced about advantage of stopping) 	_
Walsh et al. 2016 Canada	 Patient unwillingness to stop PPI Lack of time Incorrect EMR use led to the unnecessary reassessment of patients that were not still talking PPI 	 Primary care providers performed the reassessment of PPI use as existing relationship and knowledge of patient helped to facilitate efficiency and success EMR reminder to reassess PPI use was most useful to prescribers Deprescribing tool helped guide assessment

		 The tools provided guided discussion with patients and implementation of recommendations Inter-professional project team that engaged the impacted clinicians lead to notable uptake of the project Having an evidenced based deprescribing tool likely increased PCP's confidence in applying recommendations to patients
Farrell et al. 2019	 Staff turnover and new staff training Limited understanding of pharmacist role in 	 To build capacity to integrate deprescribing, each pharmacy received individualised support,
2019 Canada	 Limited understanding of pharmacist role in medication management Competing workload demands and time Communication delays/lack of response from healthcare providers Patients resistant to change Medicine deliveries or use of multiple pharmacies to dispense medicines 	 educational resources, tools and videos Owner/company buy-in is key to successful implementation Iterative PDSA cycles improved feasibility Supportive and motivated staff and students Onsite educative initiatives Standard templates to reduce time on pharmaceutical opinions

	Workspace limitations for deprescribing	
	discussions	
	 Inadequate compensation for time required in deprescribing events 	
Odenthal et al.	Time constraints/pharmacist availability	-
2020	Patients deviating from taper protocol	
USA		

Appendix E – Search strategy for systematic review

Medl	Medline		
#1	deprescriptions/		
#2	Inappropriate Prescribing/pc [Prevention & Control]		
#3	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.		
#4	"Medic* Cessation".tw.		
#5	inappropriate* Prescri*.tw.		
#6	Deprescrib*.tw.		
#7	Inappropriate* medication*.tw		
#8	"Treatment withdrawal".tw.		
#9	"Stopping medic*".tw.		
#10	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)		
#11	Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop* or withdraw*)		
#12	Cessation of medic*.tw		
#13	Stopping of medic*.tw		
#14	General Practice/		
#15	Community Medic*.tw.		
#16	Community Health Services/		
#17	Primary Care.tw		
#18	General Practice.tw.		
#19	GP*.tw		
#20	General Practitioner*.tw.		
#21	Primary Health Care/		
#22	Community Dwelling .tw.		
#23	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13		
-----	---		
#24	14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22		
#25	23 and 24		

Cochr	Cochrane Search Strategy		
#1	Deprescrib*		
#2	MeSH descriptor: [Deprescriptions] explode all trees		
#3	medic* cessation		
#4	medic* withdrawal		
#5	Stopping medic*		
#6	inappropriate* Prescri*		
#7	Inappropriate* medication*		
#8	Treatment withdrawal		
#9	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)		
#10	Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop* or withdrawal)		
#11	Cessation of medic*		
#12	Stopping of medic*		
#13	MeSH descriptor: [Withholding Treatment] explode all trees		
#14	Primary Care		
#15	Community Health Cent*		
#16	MeSH descriptor: [Community Health Services] explode all trees		
#17	Community Medic*		
#18	MeSH descriptor: [Community Medicine] explode all trees		
#19	MeSH descriptor: [General Practice] explode all trees		
#20	General Practice		
#21	GP*		

#22	General Practitioner*
#23	Barrier*
#24	Obstruc*
#25	Restrict*
#26	Restrain*
#27	Challenge*
#28	Facilitat*
#29	Enabl*
#30	Motivat*
#31	Promot*
#32	Influen*
#33	#1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR
	#13
#34	#14 OR #15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22
#35	#23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28 OR #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR # 32
#36	#33 AND #34 AND #35
#37	Hospital
#38	Addiction
#39	Drug Abuse
#40	Secondary Care
#41	Withdrawal symptoms
#42	#37 OR #38 OR # 39 or #40
#43	#36 NOT #42

Web of Science	
#1	TS=Deprescrib*

#2	TS=medic* withdrawal
#3	TS=treatment withdrawal
#4	TS=medic* cessation
#5	TS=Drug discontinuation
#6	TS=Stopping Medic*
#7	TS= Deprescriptions
#8	TS=General Practice
#9	TS=Primary Care
#10	TS=community Medic*
#11	TS=Barrier*
#12	TS=Obstruct*
#13	TS=Restrict*
#14	TS=Restrain*
#15	TS=Challenge*
#16	TS=Facilitat*
#17	TS=Enabl*
#18	TS=Motivat*
#19	TS=Promot*
#20	TS=Influen*
#21	7 OR #6 OR #5 OR #4 OR #3 OR #2 OR #1
#22	#11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20
#23	TS= GPS*
#24	TS=General Practitioner*
#25	#24 OR #23 OR #10 OR #9 OR #8
#26	#25 AND #22 AND #21

Emba	Embase		
#1	Primary Care.tw		
#2	Community Medic*.tw.		
#3	General Practice.tw.		
#4	Community Health Services/		
#5	Community Medicine/		
#6	General Practice/		
#7	GP*.tw		
#8	General Practitioner*.tw		
#9	Deprescription/		
#10	Inappropriate Prescribing/pc [Prevention & Control]		
#11	"Medic* cessation".tw.		
#12	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.		
#13	Inappropriate* Prescri*.tw		
#14	Inappropriate* medication*.tw.		
#15	Treatment withdrawal.tw.		
#16	Stopping Medic*.tw.		
#17	Stopping of Medic*.tw		
#18	Cessation of Medic*.tw		
#19	Deprescrib*.tw.		
#20	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)		
#21	Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop* or withdraw*)		
#22	treatment withdrawal/		
#23	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8		
#24	9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19 or 20 or 21 or 22		
#25	23 and 24		

Inter	International Pharmaceutical Abstracts		
#1	Deprescrib*.tw.		
#2	deprescriptions.tw.		
#3	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.		
#4	"Medic* cessation".tw.		
#5	Stopping medic*.tw.		
#6	Stopping of medic*.tw		
#7	Cessation of medic*.tw		
#8	Inappropriate* Prescri*.tw		
#9	Inappropriate* medication*.tw		
#10	Treatment withdrawal.tw.		
#11	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)		
#12	Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop* or withdraw*)		
#13	Primary care.tw.		
#14	General Practice.tw.		
#15	Community medic*.tw.		
#16	Primary Health Care.tw.		
#17	GP*.tw		
#18	General Practitioner*.tw.		
#19	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12		
#20	13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18		
#21	19 and 20		

PubMed Search Strategy

#1	(((((General practice[MeSH Terms]) OR Primary Health Care) OR Community Medic*))	
	AND ((((((Deprescriptions[Mesh]) OR Deprescrib*) OR medic* AND cessation) OR	
	medic* AND Withdrawal) OR Stopping Medic*) OR treatment withdrawal) OR Drug	
	discontinuation) NOT ((((hospital) OR secondary care) OR addiction) OR withdrawal	
	symptoms)	

CINA	CINAHL		
#1	Deprescrib*		
#2	Inappropriate medication		
#3	Medic* withdrawal		
#4	Medic* cessation		
#5	Stopping Medic*		
#6	Inappropriate* prescribe*		
#7	Stopping of medic*		
#8	Cessation of medic*		
#9	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)		
#10	Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop* or withdraw*)		
#11	Treatment withdrawal		
#12	General practice		
#13	Community medic*		
#14	Community health services		
#15	Primary care		
#16	GP		
#17	Primary health care		
#18	Community dwelling		
#19	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11		
#20	12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18		

#21	19 and 20

Psyc	PsychInfo		
#1	Depresciptions.tw.		
#2	"Medic* withdrawal".tw.		
#3	"Medic* Cessation".tw.		
#4	inappropriate* Prescri*.tw.		
#5	Deprescrib*.tw.		
#6	Inappropriate* medication*.tw		
#7	"Treatment withdrawal".tw.		
#8	"Stopping medic*".tw.		
#9	discontin* adj3 (medication* or prescription* or drug*)		
#10	Medic* adj2 (Cessation or stop* or withdraw*)		
#11	Cessation of medic*.tw		
#12	Stopping of medic*.tw		
#13	Primary Health Care/		
#14	General practice.tw.		
#15	Community medic*.tw.		
#16	Community dwelling.tw.		
#17	GP*.tw.		
#18	General practitioners/		
#19	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12		
#20	13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18		
#21	19 and 20		

Appendix F – Data collection form

Study 1 Data Collection Form

Article Details Article Name: Authors: Year: Country: Methodology (Quant, Qual, Mixed, Multi): Study Design: Study Population:

 Barriers and Facilitators

 Article focus:
 General Deprescribing

Deprescribing intervention

Factors that supported deprescribing implementation:

- •
- •
- •
- •
- •
- •

Factors that hindered deprescribing implementation:

- •
- •
- •
- •
- •
- •

Appendix G – Quality appraisal of studies

Author	MMAT
	Score
Anderson et al 2020	4
Bosman et al 2016	5
Campbell et al 1999	3
Carrier et al 2019	4
Clark et al 2019	2
Cole, Mather and Hull	5
2020	
Cook et al 2017	5
Coronado-Vázquez	3
et al 2019	
Dickinson et al 2010	5
Djatche et al 2018	5
Donald et al 2021	5
Duncan et al 2019	5
Eveleigh et al 2017	2
Gillespie et al 2018	4
Heser et al 2018	5
Jordan et al 2022	5
Keith et al 2013	2
Kennie-Kaulbach et	5
al 2020	
Korenvain et al 2020	5

Kuntz et al 2019	3
Linsky et al 2017	4
Linsky et al 2019	4
Linksy, Simon and	5
Bokhour et al 2015	
Lopez-Peig et al	2
2012	
López-Sepúlveda et	2
al 2017	
Luymes et al 2016	5
Luymes et al 2017	2
Luymes et al 2018	1
Magin, Goode, and	5
Pond 2015	
Mantelli et al 2018	5
Martin and	5
Tannenbaum 2017	
Martin et al 2018	5
Mulder-Wildemors et	0
al 2020	
Murie et al 2012	2
Nixon and Kousgaard	4
2016	
Nixon and Vendelo	3
2016	
Ocampo et al 2015	4

Odenthal, Philbrick,	1
and Harris 2020	
Rieckert et al 2019	3
Rieckert et al 2020	3
Rognstad et al 2013	2
Schuling et al 2012	4
Stuhec et al 2019	2
Tangiisuran et al	5
2022	
Tannenbaum et al	5
2014	
Teal et al 2002	1
Thompson et al 2020	3
Turner et al 2018	1
Van De Steeg-van	2
Gompel et al 2009	
Van der Meer et al	1
2018	
Vicens et al 2018	4
Wallis, Andrews, and	5
Henderson 2017	
White et al 2019	2

Author	QI-MQCS	
	score	
Farrell et al 2019	9	

Vandenberg et al	10
2018	
Walsh et al 2016	13

Appendix H – Study 1 barriers and facilitators mapped onto NPT

Author and title	Barriers (B) and facilitators (F)	NPT application
	extracted	
Anderson,	Deprescribing performed by	F1 – Cognitive
Freeman, Foster,	patients' usual GPs whose tacit	participation
et. al., 2020	knowledge and ongoing	(Enrolment)
	therapeutic relationship was	
GP-Led	necessary for engaging patients	F2 – Cognitive
Deprescribing in	In deprescribing (F1)	participation
Community-Living		(Enrolment)
Older Australians:	Involving GPs in co-designing	
An Exploratory	elements of the intervention	
Controlled Trial	encouraged adoption of the	
	intervention by other GPs (F2)	
Bosman,	Supportive guidance for patients	F1 – Collective
Huijbreats	during discontinuation (F1)	action (contextual
rajbregis,		
Verhaak, et. al.,		integration)
Verhaak, et. al., 2016	Discrepancies between patient	integration)
Verhaak, et. al., 2016	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to	integration) B1 – Coherence
Verhaak, et. al., 2016	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1)	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1)	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification)
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term antidepressant use:	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1)	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification)
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term antidepressant use: a qualitative study	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1) Discrepancies between patient	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification)
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term antidepressant use: a qualitative study on the perspectives	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1) Discrepancies between patient and GP on how to meet	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification) B2 – Coherence
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term antidepressant use: a qualitative study on the perspectives of patients and GPs	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1) Discrepancies between patient and GP on how to meet perceived need of care (B2)	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification) B2 – Coherence (communal specification)
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term antidepressant use: a qualitative study on the perspectives of patients and GPs in primary care	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1) Discrepancies between patient and GP on how to meet perceived need of care (B2)	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification) B2 – Coherence (communal specification)
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term antidepressant use: a qualitative study on the perspectives of patients and GPs in primary care	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1) Discrepancies between patient and GP on how to meet perceived need of care (B2) Large variations between	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification) B2 – Coherence (communal specification)
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term antidepressant use: a qualitative study on the perspectives of patients and GPs in primary care	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1) Discrepancies between patient and GP on how to meet perceived need of care (B2) Large variations between practices in patient-GP contact	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification) B2 – Coherence (communal specification) B4 – Coherence
Verhaak, et. al., 2016 Long-term antidepressant use: a qualitative study on the perspectives of patients and GPs in primary care	Discrepancies between patient and GP on ability of GPs to provide supportive guidance (B1) Discrepancies between patient and GP on how to meet perceived need of care (B2) Large variations between practices in patient-GP contact regarding antidepressants (B3)	integration) B1 – Coherence (communal specification) B2 – Coherence (communal specification) B4 – Coherence (communal

	Unawareness of the different expectations of patients and GPs on who is responsible for initiating discussions about antidepressant discontinuation (B4)	specification) and Cognitive Participation (legitimation)
Campbell, Robertson, Gardner, et. al., 1999	Patients would discontinue intervention (medicine withdrawal) at times of stress or sleep disturbances (B1)	
Psychotropic Medication Withdrawal and a Home-Based Exercise Program to Prevent Falls: A Randomized, Controlled Trial		
Carrier, Zaytseva, Bocquier, et. al., 2019	Majority of GPs considered that patients might perceive deprescribing as abandonment of care (B1)	B1 – Coherence (internalisation)
GPs' management of polypharmacy and therapeutic dilemma in patients with multimorbidity:		

a cross-sectional		
survey of GPs in		
France		
Clark,	Provider education on proactive	F1 – Coherence
LaValley,	deprescribing (F1)	(All)
Singh, et. al., 2019		
	Targeting patients most likely to	F3 – Cognitive
A pharmacist-led pilot program to	benefit from deprescribing (F2)	participation (enrolment)
facilitate	All parties being involved in the	
deprescribing in a	development and implementation	B1 – Collective
primary care clinic	of deprescribing intervention (F3)	action (skill set
		workability)
	Lack of awareness of all clinic	
	staff to the roles and	B2 – Collective
	responsibilities of entire staff (B1)	action
		(Interactional
		workability,
		contextual
	depresseribing recommendations	integration)
	(B2)	B3 – Cognitive participation
	Medicines reconciliation normally	(initiation)
	performed by nurses who	
	might've been reluctant to	
	relinquish task to pharmacist (B3)	B4 – Collective
		action (contextual
	Lack of pharmacist access to	integration)
	EMR limited their ability to make	

	deprescribing recommendations	B5 – Collective
	(B4)	action (contextual
		integration)
	Look of documentation on	
	Lack of documentation on	
	patients chart may affecting	
	providers ability to address	
	recommendations (B5)	
	Providers unwilling to attempt	
	deprescribing in situations which	
	patients were not complaining of	
	adverse effects (B6)	
Cole, Mathur, &	Provision of clinical guidance and	F1 – Coherence
Hull 2020	education (F1)	
Deductor the use	Durisian END reminders for	F2 – Collective
Reducing the use	Provision EWR reminders for	Geterestienel
or innaled	eligible patients (F2)	
		workability)
(ICS) in mild-	Financial incentives to	
moderate COPD:	deprescribe (F3)	F3 – Collective
an observational		action (contextual
study in east		integration)
London		
Cook, Marshall,	Lack of discontinuation	B1 – Reflexive
Masci et al., 2007	strategies/alternative treatments	Monitoring
	available perceived as harsh to	(communal
Physicians'	patients (B1)	appraisal)
Perspectives on		
Prescribing	Previous experience failing to	
Benzodiazenines	deprescribe (B2)	
Bonzouluzopinos		

for Older Adults: A		B3 – Cognitive
Qualitative Study	Anticipation that patients will	participation
	resist deprescribing (B3)	(enrolment)
	······································	
	Limited physician time (B4)	B4 – Collective
		action (contextual
		integration)
Coronado-	Use of a shared decision-making	F1 – Collective
Vázquez, Gómez-	tool allowed for a greater number	action (contextual
Salgado, Cerezo-	of medicines withdrawn (F1)	integration)
Espinosa de los		
Monteros et al.,		
2019		
Shared Decision-		
Making in Chronic		
Patients with		
Polypharmacy: An		
Interventional Study		
for Assessing		
Medication		
Appropriateness		
Dickinson, Knapp,	Pre-warning patients of the	B3 – Coherence
House et al., 2010	limited duration of prescription	(internalisation)
	(F1)	
Long-term		
prescribing of	Tapering doses with patient	
antidepressants in	support (F2)	
the older		
population: a		
qualitative study		

Timing any discontinuation	
around springtime (F3)	
Pessimism – patients felt unable	
to plan to remove obstacles in life	
to achieve better condition so	
accept and internalise their	
condition seeing medicines as	
long-term solution (B1)	
Patient reluctance to discontinue	
influenced by previous	
experience withdrawing	
medicines (B2)	
Plans to withdraw medicine were	
seen as threatening to current	
stable condition with fear of	
distancing patients (B3)	
Uncertainty regarding the	
consequences of long-term anti-	
depressant use but in the	
absences of evidence of specific	
adverse effects there was little	
concern (B4)	

Djatche, Lee,	Fear of the recurrence of	B2 – Coherence
Singer et al., 2018	previous conditions or adverse	(internalisation)
	effects (B1)	
How confident are		B3 – Cognitive
physicians in	Patient and/or caregiver belief in	participation
deprescribing for	continuation of medicines (B2)	(legitimation)
the elderly and		
what barriers		
prevent	Medicine initially prescribed by	B5 – Collective
deprescribing?	another physician (B3)	action (contextual
		integration)
	Lack of evidence in discontinuing	
	medications (B4)	
	Lack of time (B5)	
Donald, Partanen,	Reassuring patients that they are	F1 – Cognitive
Sharman et al.,	not alone in their discontinuation	participation
2021	journey (F1)	
		F2 – Coherence
l ona-term	Reflecting on why medicine	(internalisation)
antidepressant use	initially initiated with patient (F2)	(internalioation)
in general practice:	······································	
a qualitative study		F3 – Cognitive
of GPs' views on	Strong patient and GP	participation
discontinuation	relationship (F3)	
		F7 – Collective
	Use of tools for identifving	action (all)
	symptom changes to aid	····/
	discussions (F4)	
	discussions (F4)	

Gradual discontinuing of	B2 - Cognitive
medicine (F5)	participation
	(legitimation)
Being proactive in relapse	
planning (F6)	B3 – Coanitive
	narticipation
Regular reviews during	
discontinuation (F7)	B4 – Collective
	action
	(Interactional
Highlighting limited duration of	workability
script on commencement (F8)	,
Decision to depreseribe is	B5 – Coherence
Decision to deprescribe is	(all)
complex (B1)	
Patient reluctance to	
deprescribing (B2)	
Poor Patient and GP relationship	
(B3)	
Dropprihing and repart	
Prescribing and repeat	
prescribing seen as easier than	
deprescribing (B4)	
Lack of evidence to support	
deprescribing (B5)	

Duncan, Cabral,	Deprescribing required patient	B1 – Collective
McCahon et al.,	involvement and generates work	action
2019	so it's easier to continue	(interactional
	medicines than stop (B1)	workability)
Efficiency versus thoroughness in medication review: a qualitative interview study in UK primary care	 Fear of causing problems (B2) Not wanting to stop medicines started by a hospital specialist (B3) Lack of evidence and guidelines on stopping medicines (B4) Patients were reluctant or have no incentive to stop a medicine (B5) 	 B2 – Collective action (relational integration) B3 – Cognitive participation (legitimation) B5 – Cognitive Participation (enrolment)
Eveleigh, Muskens,	Many patients rejected the	B1 – Cognitive
Lucassen et al.,	deprescribing recommendation or	participation
2017	accepted and did not following	(enrolment)
	through (B1)	
Withdrawal of unnecessary antidepressant medication: a randomised controlled trial in primary care	GPs apprehensive to discontinue medicines (B2)	B2 – Cognitive participation (enrolment)

Farrell, Clarkin,	Deprescribing discussions best	F3 – Collective
Conklin et al., 2020	initiated in person (F1)	action (contextual
		Integration)
	Deprescribing had to be	E4 Collective
pharmacists as	conceptualised as part of routine	F4 – Collective
catalysts for	practice rather than extra service	action (contextual
exploratory study	(F2)	Integration)
using quality	Access to deprescribing	F5 – Collective
Improvement	resources and supports	action (contextual
processes	workload (E3)	Integration)
	Enhancing patient's awareness and education regarding risks and options to reassess (F4)	F6 – Coherence (internalisation)
	Standard templates to reduce time spent on each pharmaceutical opinion (F5)	F7 – Collective action (interactional workability)
	Approaches to draw patients into the pharmacy and having all staff trained for field questions (F6)	B2 – Cognitive participation (enrolment)
	A lower number of completed medicine reviews than expected (B1)	B3 – Cognitive participation (initiation)

	Mixed reception to deprescribing	B4 – Collective
	by patients (B2)	action (contextual
		integration)
	Prescribers unresponsive to	
	deprescription pharmaceutical	B5 – Conerence
	opinion (B3)	(communal
		specification)
	Time constraints and competing	
	workload (B4)	B7 – Collective
		action (contextual
		integration)
	Limited understanding of	
	pharmacists role in medicine	
	management (B5)	B8 – Collective
		action (contextual
	Staff turnover and new staff	integration)
	training (B6)	
	Inadequate compensation	
	models for the time required in	
	deprescribing events (B7)	
	Workspace limitations for	
	deprescribing discussions (B8)	
Gillospia Mullan 8	GPs wore confident they had	E2 Collective
Harrison 2018	onough information on the	rz – Collective
1101130112010	riske/benefite of modicines use	integration)
	and could evolain these to guide	
Deprescribing for	deprescribing decisions (F1)	
older adults in		

Australia: factors	GPs were confident they could	F6 – Collective
influencing GPs	determine when a patient was	action (contextual
	having difficulty understanding	integration)
	information regarding	
	deprescribing (F2)	D4 Callesting
		BT – Collective
		action (contextual
	Conducting medicine reviews by	integration)
	themselves or via pharmacists	
	(F3)	B2 – Collective
		action (contextual
	Arranging longer consultations	integration)
	(F4)	0 /
	Conducting annual health	
	assessments (F5)	
	Seeking support for	
	deprescribing decisions from	
	others, such as deriatricians or	
	specialists (F6)	
	GPs less certain other	
	prescribers respect deprescribing	
	decisions and communication	
	with other prescribers is poor	
	(B1)	
	Lack of time to review medicines	
	during consultation (B2)	

Heser, Scherer &	Patient resistance against the	B1 – Cognitive
Loffler et al., 2018	cessation of the medicine or	participation
	alternative treatments (B1)	(Enrolment)
Perspective of		
elderly patients on	Fear of relapse or withdrawal	B4 – Coherence
chronic use of	symptoms (B2)	(internalisation)
potentially		and Cognitive
inappropriate	Providua failed discontinuation of	participation
medication - results	a modicina (R2)	(Legitimation,
of the qualitative		enrolment)
cim-triad study		
	Ageism by patients – different	B5 – Coherence
	medication-based efforts or	(internalisation)
	alternations we not worthwhile	
	due to their own age or due to	
	impairments (B4)	B6 – Coherence
		(internalisation)
	PIM is not rated as problematic	and Cognitive
	medication (B5)	participation
		(Enrolment)
	Patient does not care about side	
	effects of PIM (B6)	
Jordan, Young-	Pharmacist involvement in	F1 – Collective
Whitford, Mullan et	medicine management (F1)	action (relational
al., 2021		integration)
	Endorsement of practice-wide	
A pharmacist-led	policy supported by education,	F2 – Collective
	resources and pharmacists (F2)	action (contextual
improve the		integration)
management of		

opioids in a general	Influential individuals to influence	F3 – Cognitive
practice: a	practice of others (F3)	participation
qualitative		(initiation)
evaluation of		
participant	Engagement of patients through	
interviews	by delivering education (F4)	F4 – Cognitive
		participation
	Encouraging a patient-centred	
	approach in medicine	F5 – Cognitive
	management (F5)	participation
	Ineffective communication	B1 – Coherence
	regarding intervention specifics	
	(B1)	
Keith, Maio &	The mixture of educational	F1 – Cognitive
Dudash et al., 2013	strategies, including material	participation
	dissemination, and reminders,	(enrolment)
	group educational outreach and	
Focusod	peer-to-peer interactions in	E2 Collective
Intervention to	combination with a non-punitive	
Reduce Retentially	approach, was effective in	(interactional
	engaging physicians (F1)	
Modication		workability
Brossribing in Older	Characteristics of the list of PIMs	
Prescribing in Older		
Italian Brospective	focus on particular PIMs and	
Ranaf, Prospective,		
FIUUI-UI-CONCEPT		
Study		
	recommendations (F2)	

	Overall, the whole intervention	
	was effective in improving GPs	
	drug prescribing (F3)	
	The intervention did not place substantial burdens on participating GPs (F4)	
Kennie-Kaulbach,	Use of a systematic process of	F1 – Collective
Cormier, Kits et al.,	deprescribing ensured	action
2020	deprescribing is consistent (F1)	(interactional
		workability)
Influencers on	Patients could be a positive effect	
deprescribing	due to wanting to be on fewer	F2 – Cognitive
practice of primary	medicines (F2)	participation
healthcare		(enrolment)
providers in Nova	Collectives when they have the	
Scotia: An	Colleagues when they have the	
examination using	same mindset toward	F3 – Conerence
behavior change	deprescribing (F3)	(communal
frameworks		specification)
	Available deprescribing	
	resources (F4)	F4 – Collective
		action (contextual
	Having prompts built into EMR systems (F5)	integration)
		F5 – Collective
	Access to updated and accurate patient and medication information (F6)	action (contextual integration)

Optimal use of staff e.g.	F6 – Collective
pharmacy technicians in	action (contextual
community pharmacy or access	integration)
to a pharmacist in collaborative	
practices (F7)	F7 – Collective
	action (contextual
Practice standards for routine	integration)
medicine reviews (F8)	
	F9 – Collective
Dedicated remuneration for	action (contextual
deprescribing would be an	integration)
incentive (F9)	
	E10 Cohoronoo
Participants reporting	(individual
depreseribing is part of their	
scope of practice (E10)	
	narticipation
Building trusting relationships	(legitimation)
with their patients (F11)	
	F12 – Coherence
Belief about consequences of	(internalisation)
taking medicines and that some	
medicines may be inappropriate	B2 – Cognitive
(F12)	participation
	(enrolment)
Lack of consistent process for	
deprescribing (B1)	B3 – Coherence
······································	(communal
	specification)

Patient attitude as some patients	
reluctant to accept deprescribing especially for certain medicines or if medication was prescribed by another specialist (B2)	B8 – Collective action (contextual integration)
Colleagues when they have a different mindset toward deprescribing (B3)	B9 – Collective action (contextual integration)
Working with multiple prescribers (B4)	B10 – Collective action (contextual integration)
Inheriting patients with multiple prescriptions (B5)	B11 – Collective action (contextual integration)
Lack of collaboration between organisations (i.e. lack of communication systems) (B6)	B12 – Collective action (contextual integration)
Lack of deprescribing tools for younger patients (B7)	
Pharmacists having a lack of access to updated, accurate patient information limits their ability to support deprescribing (B8)	

	Lack of adequate staffing (B9)	
	Lack of deprescribing workflow (B10)	
	Lack of time, including the limited patient visit time and time required for reviewing medical records and monitoring and follow-up appointments (B11)	
	Lack of reimbursement for pharmacists (B12)	
	Awareness of other prescribers' practice territory and not wanting to step on toes (B13)	
Korenvain, MacKeigana, Dainty et al., 2020	Medicine expertise to identify PIMs and advise patient to stop (F1)	F1 – Coherence F2 – Cognitive participation
Exploring deprescribing opportunities for community pharmacists using the Behaviour Change Wheel	Patient sharing information with pharmacists due to trust in medicine expertise (F2) Adequately compensating pharmacies for deprescribing (F3)	F3 – Collective action (contextual integration) F4 – Coherence

Education to expand pharmacists	F5 – Collective
understanding of deprescribing	action (contextual
(F4)	integration)
Contributing to steps in	F6 – Coherence
deprescribing process e.g.	(communal
identifying PIMs of motoring (F5)	specification)
Define community pharmacists	B1 – Coherence
role in deprescribing (F6)	(individual
	specification)
Uncertainty on what	
deprescribing entails (B1)	B2 – Cognitive
	participation
Lack of belief that it's not	(legitimation)
pharmacist responsibility (B2)	
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	B3 – Collective
	action and
Gaps in deprescribing knowledge	Cognitive
and available resources (B3)	participation
Lack of information regarding	
medicine use (B4)	B5 – Collective
	action
	(interactional
Competing priorities within	workability)
community pharmacy (B5)	
Loss of revenue to community	
nharmacies (R6)	

Kuntz, Kouch,	Patients receiving deprescribing	F1 – Coherence
Christian et al.,	education materials (F1)	(internalisation)
2019		and Cognitive
		participation
	Intervention did not require a	(legitimation)
Patient Education	large amount of resources to	
and Pharmacist	Implement (F2)	
Consultation		F2 - Collective
Influence on	Pharmacist able to switch	action (contextual
Nonbenzodiazepine	patients to safer medicines where	integration)
Sedative	appropriate saving time and effort	
Medication	(F3)	F3 – Collective
Deprescribing	(10)	action
Success for Older		(interactional
Adults		workability)
		workdomty
Linsky, Meterko,	Requiring all medicine	F1 – Collective
Stolzmann et al.,	prescriptions to have an	action
2017	associated indication for use (F1)	(interactional
		workability)
Supporting	Assistance with follow-up of	
medication	patients as they taper or	F2 – Collective
discontinuation:	discontinue medications is	action (contextual
provider	performed by another member of	integration)
preferences for	the Patient Aligned Care Team	
interventions to	(F2)	
facilitate		
deprescribing		
	Increased patient involvement in	
	prescribing decisions (F3)	
Linsky, Meterko,	Majority of respondents would	
Bokhour et al.,	not want a medicine prescribed	
2019	by a specialist to be deprescribed	

	by a pharmacist or primary care	
Deprescribing in	provider (B1)	
the Context of		
Multiple Providers:		
Understanding		
Patient Preferences		
Linsky, Simon, &	Strengthening patient-provider	F1 – Cognitive
Bokhour 2015	relationships to encourage	participation
	patients to speak up on their	(initiation)
Patient perceptions	interests to deprescribe (F1)	
of proactive		F2 – Cognitive
medication	Patient desire to take fewer	participation
discontinuation	medicines (F2)	(Enrolment)
	Limited patient experience with	
	medicine discontinuation (B1)	
Lopez-Peig,	Nurse provision of education to	F1 – Coherence
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program managed by	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program managed by primary care nurses	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program managed by primary care nurses in Spain	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program managed by primary care nurses in Spain López-Sepúlveda,	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation) F1 – Coherence
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program managed by primary care nurses in Spain López-Sepúlveda, Lirola, García et al.,	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1) Provision of education to GPs on proper use of benzodiazepines	F1 – Coherence (internalisation) F1 – Coherence (Internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program managed by primary care nurses in Spain López-Sepúlveda, Lirola, García et al., 2017	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1) Provision of education to GPs on proper use of benzodiazepines and Z-drugs (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation) F1 – Coherence (Internalisation)
Lopez-Peig, Mundet, Casabella et al., 2012 Analysis of benzodiazepine withdrawal program managed by primary care nurses in Spain López-Sepúlveda, Lirola, García et al., 2017	Nurse provision of education to patients on the risks and benefits of long-term benzodiazepine consumption, side effects, and possible dependence (F1) Provision of education to GPs on proper use of benzodiazepines and Z-drugs (F1)	F1 – Coherence (internalisation) F1 – Coherence (Internalisation)

Effects of a primary	Individualised feedback on	F2 – Reflexive
care intervention to	prescribing for GPs (F2)	monitoring
improve the quality		(individual
of zolpidem	Financial in continue to reduce	appraisal)
prescriptions in	Financial incentive to reduce	
elderly patients	nazardous prescribing (F3)	
		action (contextual
		Integration)
Luymes, van der	Patient knowing follow-up care is	F1 – Collective
Kleij, Poortvliet et	available (F1)	action (contextual
al., 2016		integration)
	Patient knowing the medicine can	
Doproscribing	ho rostartod (E2)	E3 Collective
Potontially	be restance (1 2)	action (relational
		integration)
Broventive	GP knowledge that there	integration)
Cardioveceular	possibilities to handle side effects	
Madiaatian	(F3)	F6 – Collective
Regional and		action (relational
		integration)
Dationts and	Other support available for	
	patients (family or processes)	
General	(F4)	F7 – Collective
Practitioners		action (contextual
	Step by step withdrawal of	integration
	medicine (F5)	
		B1 – Collective
		action (contextual
	Lack of fear of deprescribing	integration)
	consequences from GPs (F6)	5 /

	Deprescribing consultations not	B2 – Coherence
	necessarily time consuming (F7)	(individual
		specification)
	Patient-centred discussion (F8)	
	Lack of primary care physician	
	support/time (B1)	
	Unknown how to	
	cease/conflicting information (B2)	
	Need for appropriate timing for	
	cessation (B3)	
	Dations foor accorded with	
	Patient rear associated with	
	effects (R4)	
	Previous bad experience with	
	stopping medicine (B5)	
Luymes,	Start deprescribing	
Boelhouwer,	implementation with patients with	
Poortvliet et al.,	an autonomous view point –	
2017	these are patients that know a lot	
	about medication and healthy	
	lifestyles, little fear for	
Understanding	cardiovascular disease and	
aeprescribing of	negative toward medication use	
preventive	(F1)	
cardiovascular		

medication: A Q-		
methodology study		
in patients		
Luymes, Poortvliet,	Continuous monitoring of	F1 – Collective
Geloven et al.,	patients' blood pressure and	action (contextual
2018	cholesterol during and after	integration)
	stopping medicine (F1)	
Deprescribing		B1 – Cognitive
preventive	Unexplained low adherence to	participation
cardiovascular	deprescribing recommendation	(activation)
medication in	by patients (B1)	
patients with		
predicted low		
cardiovascular		
disease risk in		
general practice –		
the ECSTATIC		
study: a cluster		
randomised non-		
inferiority trial		
Magin, Goode, &	GPs felt it was difficult to stop a	B1 – Cognitive
Pond 2015	medicine prescribed by a	participation
	specialist (B1)	(legitimation)
GPs, medications		
and older people: A	Perceived clinical problems in	
qualitative study of	medicine cessation e.g. difficulty	
general	deprescribing benzodiazepines	
practitioners'	(B2)	
approaches to		
potentially		
inappropriate		
medications in		
--------------------------------------	---	---------------------------------
older people		
Mantelli, Jungo, Rozsnyai et al.,	High willingness to deprescribe preventative cardiovascular	F1 – Cognitive participation
2018	disease medicine by GPs (F)	(Enrolment)
How general	When considering deprescribing,	
practitioners would	expenditure of time for	
oldest-old with	dispensation of medicines in GP	
polypharmacy —	office were considered less	
the LESS study	important (F)	
Martin &	Provision of new knowledge on	F1 – Coherence
Tannenbaum 2017	medicine harms improving	(Internalisation)
	patient motivation and intent to	and Cognitive
A realist evaluation	deprescribe (F1)	participation
of patients'		(Enrolment)
decisions to	Use of a tapering tool (F2)	
deprescribe in the		F2 – Collective
EMPOWER trial		action
	Stable patient health status (F3)	(interactional
		workability,
	Support or encouragement from	contextual
	a healthcare provider (F4)	integration)
	Certainty and confidence about	F4 – Cognitive
	tapering (postintervention) (F5)	participation
		(Initiation)
	Patient positive outlook on	
	ageing (Fb)	

Increased patient self-efficacy to reduce medicine (F7)	F5 – Collective action (relational integration)
Reduced patient belief in the necessity of benzodiazepines (F8)	F7 – Cognitive participation (legitimation)
Increased patient concerns about taking benzodiazepines (F9)	B1 – Cognitive participation (Initiation)
High concerns (including greater perception of risk (F10)	B3 – Coherence (differentiation, internalisation)
Lack of support from HCP including undermining of attempt to deprescribe (B1)	B5 – collective action (relational integration)
Being in poor health (B2) Previous reassurance about the safety of benzodiazepines (B3)	B7 – Coherence (internalisation)
Psychological attachment to medicine (B4)	
Loss of confidence to complete the tapering process (B5)	

	Intolerance to recurrence of symptoms/withdrawal effects (B6)	
	Lack of perception of personal risk (B7)	
	Unquestioning patient belief in their physician (B8)	
Martin, Philippe,	Pre-set computer algorithms	F1 – Collective
Tamblyn et al.,	allowing for time efficient	action
2018	identification of at-risk patients	(Interactional
	with one simple	workability)
Effect of a	recommendations (F1)	
Pharmacist-Led		F2 – Cognitive
Educational	Educational brochure leading to	participation
Intervention on	initiation of deprescribing	(enrolment)
Inappropriate	conversation with doctor (F2)	
Medication		
Prescriptions in		F3 – Cognitive
Older Adults: The	Pharmacist providing	participation
D-PRESCRIBE	pharmaceutical opinion on	(Initiation)
Randomized	deprescribing (F3)	
Clinical Trial		F5 – Collective
	Pharmacist-led educational	action
	intervention (F4)	(Interactional
		workability)
		• •
	Pharmacist exposure to the	
	evidenced-based template (F5)	

		F6 – Collective
	Provision of financial incentives for pharmacists (F6)	action (contextual integration)
	Significant number of pharmacies excluded due to competing priorities or not interested (B1)	B1 – Cognitive Participation (Enrolment)
	Intolerance to ADWE (B2)	B3 – Coherence (Internalisation)
	Lack of concerns of harms of medicine (B3)	B5 – Cognitive participation
	Medicine dependence (B4)	(initiation)
	HCP discouragement for initiating tapering (B5)	
	Patient comfortable with taking small dose (B6)	
Mulder-Wildemors, Heringa, Floor- Schreudering et al.,	Good relationship between pharmacist and GP (F1)	F1 – Coherence (differentiation, individual
2020	Good accessibility of the prescriber (F2)	specification, internalisation)
Reducing Inappropriate Drug Use in Older	Prior agreement on the clinical decision rules (F3)	

Patients by Use of		F3 – Collective
Clinical Decision	Patient trusts pharmacists and/or	action (contextual
Support in	GP (F4)	integration)
Community		
Pharmacy: A		
Mixed-Methods	Agreement of the healthcare	F4 – Collective
Evaluation	professional with the PIM	
	guideline underlying the clinical	integration)
	decision rule (F5)	
		F5 – Cognitive
	Medicine alert not relevant as	participation
	medicine being used for different	(legitimation,
	indication (B1)	enrolment,
		initiation)
	Prescriber being a specialist and	P2 Cognitivo
	not a GP (B2)	B2 - Cognitive
	Lack of collaboration between	(legilimation)
	pharmacist and GP (B3)	
		B3 – Cognitive
		Participation
	Lack of time (B4)	(initiation)
	Patient anxious about medicine	R4 Collective
	changes (B5)	D4 - Conective
		integration)
		integration)
	Patient used to current medicine	
	(B6)	B8 – Collective
		action

	Presence of many prescribers	(interactional
	and prescribers who had not	workability
	previously been receptive to	
	pharmacists advice (B7)	
	Difficulty integrating aliginal	
	decision rules into current	
Murie, Allen,	Provision of formal patient	F1 – Coherence
Simmonds et al.,	education on patients' conditions,	(differentiation,
2012	therapeutic management options	individual
	and potential lifestyle	specification,
Glad you brought it	modifications (F1)	internalisation)
un: a natient-		
centred programme	Empowering nationts to self-	F3 – Collective
to roduce programme	manage their symptoms with	
	aiginates (F2)	integration)
general medical	Use of at least one face-to-face	F4 – Collective
practice	follow-up appointment within 3	action (contextual
	months (F3)	integration)
	The availability of flexible support	F5 – Cognitive
	offered to patients during the	Participation
	initial vulnerable period (F4)	(legitimation,
		enrolment,
		initiation)
	involving patients with a patient	
	centred approach (F5)	

Nixon & Kousgaard	Discontinuation conversations	F3 – Cognitive
2016	happened more often in certain	participation
	situations e.g. check-up	(initiation)
Oracaisian	consultations or consultations	
medication	with new patients (F1)	F5 – Collective
discontinuation: a		
qualitative study	Patient based or record based	integration and
exploring the views	cues for medicine discontinuation	Interactional
of general	(F2)	workability)
practitioners toward		
discontinuing statins	GP proactively identifying patient's medicine needs and examining the necessity of new prescriptions (F3)	B3 – Cognitive participation (activation or initiation)
	Patient being present for scheduled medicine check-ups (F4)	B5 – Cognitive participation (Initiation)
	Use of a risk score tool to reduce ambiguity around deprescribing (F5)	B7 – Coherence (all constructs)
	Ambiguity seen as reason to trial discontinuation (F6)	
	Trialling discontinuation rather than committing to the process indefinitely (F7)	

Discontinuing medicine is more likely to occur when organised proactively, rather than reactively (F8)	
Eliciting patients experiences with taking medicines (patient- based cues) (F9)	
Discontinuing of medicine perceived as not a very organised practice (B1)	
Routine of prescribing is strong meaning a lot of effort needed to raise the possibility of stopping a medicine (B2)	
GP forget to mention about discontinuing medicine, especially if patient doesn't mention it (B3)	
GPs found it difficult to find the right time to discuss stopping a medicine (B4)	

	Lack of proactively inviting	
	patients for check-ups makes it	
	harder to identify and monitor	
	patients who would benefit from	
	medicine discontinuation (B5)	
	Renewal of repeat prescriptions	
	without the patient knowing (B6)	
	Lack of agreement and	
	conflicting information about	
	when to prescribe or deprescribe	
	(B7)	
	Ambiguity seen as reason to	
	continue treatment (B8)	
Nixon & Vendelø	Institutional Dominating triggers	B1 – Collective
2016	in the form of a prescribing	action (contextual
	imperative (B1)	integration)
General		
practitioners'	Clinical guidelines focus GP	B2 – Collective
decisions about	attention on patient risks and	action (contextual
discontinuation of	possible treatments rather than	integration)
medication: an	patient experience and possibility	
explorative study	of discontinuation (B2)	
		action (contextual
	Cimical guidelines only suggest	integration)
	discontinuation in the most	

		B4 – Collective
	GPs unaware of depreseribing	action (skill set
		workability)
	cue so not guided towards an	• /
	imperative (B4)	
	Difficulty iustifying deprescribing	
	in the face of ambiguity (B5)	
Ocampo, Garcia-	Provision of medicine review with	
Cardenas,	follow up allowed for	
Martinez-Martinez	deprescribing problematic	
et al., 2015	medicine (F1)	
Implementation of	Intervention focused on patient	
	intervention locused on patient	
medication review	outcomes rather than medicine	
with follow-up in a	use (F2)	
Spanish community		
pharmacy and its		
achieved outcomes		
Odenthal, Philbrick,	Pharmacists seeing each patient	F1 – Cognitive
Harris 2020	(F1)	participation
Successful	Pharmacist providing education	F2 – Coherence
deprescribing of	on ADRs and why to taper (F2)	(Internalisation)
unnecessary proton		
pump inhibitors in a	Dhoumpoint and idia a written	D4 Collective
primary care clinic	Pharmacist providing written	
	tapering protocol (F3)	action (contextual
		integration)

	Pharmacist calling patients for a	B2 – Collective
	follow up (F4)	action (contextual
		integration)
	Lack of staff availability (B1)	
	Time constraints (B2)	
	Other appointment priorities (B3)	
Rieckert	Discussing discontinuation	E1 - Cognitive
Toichmann	recommendation with the notiont	
Drawalaw at al	recommendation with the patient	participation (All)
Drewelow et al.,	(patient involvement) (F1)	
2019		B3 – Cognitive
	Perceived necessity of the	participation
Reduction of	medicine for the GP (B1)	(Legitimation)
inappropriate		(
medication in older		
nonulations by	Prior trial of suggested alternative	B4 – Coherence
electronic decision	medicine (B2)	(differentiation)
support (the		
PRIMA-eDS	Specialist being involved in	B5 – Collective
project): a survey of	prescribing the medicine (B3)	action (contextual
general		integration)
practitioners	The perceived deviation from	
experiences	standard therapy (B4)	B7 - Collective
		action
		(interactional
	Time requirements to perform	
	comprehensive medicine review	workability)
	for UK GPs (B5)	

	GPs deem recommendations as	
	unpracticable (B6)	
	The effort required to make	
	changes to medicines (B7)	
Rieckert, Reeves,	Use of an electronic decision	F1 – Collective
Altiner et al., 2020	support tool for comprehensive	action (contextual
	medicine review (F1)	integration,
		interactional
Use of an electronic		workability)
decision support	The electronic support tool not	
tool to reduce	always being used as intended	
polypharmacy in	(B2)	B1 – Reflexive
elderly people with		monitoring
chronic diseases:		(reconfiguration)
cluster randomised		
controlled trial		
Rognstad, Brekke,	Use of a multifaceted educational	F1 – Coherence
Fetveit et al., 2013	intervention focused on teaching	(all)
	GPs on PIPs (F1)	
Proscription poor		E2 Cognitivo
	Lies of a CB to taggh other CBs	narticipation (all)
	use of a GF to teach other GFs	participation (all)
	possible positively affected	
	participation and perception of	
prescribing for older	relevance of the intervention (F2)	
patients: a cluster		
randomised		
controlled trial		
Schuling, Gebben,	Taking a positive approach to	F1 – Cognitive
Veehof et al., 2012	stopping preventative medicine	participation
	(F1)	(enrolment)

Deprescribing		
medication in very	Lack of benefit/risk information	B1 – Coherence
elderly patients with	concerning deprescribing	
multimorbidity: the	preventative medicines (B1)	
view of Dutch GPs.		B2 – Coherence
A qualitative study		
	Lack of evidence of the effects of	B3 – Collective
	preventative medicine in the very	action (relational
	elderly (B2)	integration, skill
		set workability)
	Lack confidence communicating	
	risk and information not helpful	
	for shared decision making (B3)	B4 – Cognitive
		participation
	GPs consider patients to have no	B6 – Coherence
	problem with polypharmacy or	(internalisation)
	medicine burden (B4)	
	GPs unaware of patient	B8 – Cognitive
	treatment goals and preferences	participation and
	(B5)	Collective action
	Patiante appear to cling to their	memaisation
	extensive medicine list (B6)	
		B9 – Collective
		action (contextual
	In the GPs view, patients	integration)
	underreport ADE's so difficult to	
	be aware of issues (B7)	P10 Collective
		intogration
		integration)

	GPs reluctant to initiate	
	deprescribing discussion	
	because fear this may be	
	interpreted as a sign of giving up	
	(B8)	
	GPs feel forced by current	
	guidelines to prescribe many	
	different medicines (B9)	
	ODe feel quilty if they are not	
	GPS leel guilty if they are not	
	adherent to guidelines (BTU)	
	Inadequate overview of new	
	patients' medicines (B11)	
Stuhec, Gorenc &	Use of a clinical pharmacist to	F1 – Collective
Zelko 2019	provide medicine reviews and	action (skill set
	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evelvetien of a	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists in primary care	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists in primary care community settings	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists in primary care community settings in elderly patients	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists in primary care community settings in elderly patients on polypharmacy in	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists in primary care community settings in elderly patients on polypharmacy in Slovenia: a cohort	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)
Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists in primary care community settings in elderly patients on polypharmacy in Slovenia: a cohort retrospective study	recommendations to GP (F1)	workability)

evidence for		
implementation		
Tangiisuran,	Conducting medicine reviews	F2 – Cognitive
Rajendran,	regularly (F1)	participation
Sha'aban et al.,		
2022	Effect patient-physician communication (F2)	F3 – Coherence
Physicians' perceived barriers and enablers for	Availability of empirical evidence	F4 – Collective action (skill set workability)
deprescribing	··· g	
among older patients at public primary care clinics: a qualitative study	Pharmacist provision of information to patients (F4)	F5 – Collective action (skill set workability)
	Involvement of pharmacists in	
	multiple areas of medicines	B3 – Collective
	management (F5)	action (relational integration)
	Fear of litigation (B1)	
		B4 – Collective
	Fear of clinical consequences (B2)	integration)
	Lack of confidence (B3)	B5 – Collective action
	Lack of time (B4)	B6 – Coherence (internalisation)

	Fragmented care (B5)	
	Patient belief in continuation of	
	medicine (B6)	
Tannenbaum,	Direct-to-consumer education	F1 – Cognitive
Martin, Tamblyn et	promoting patient buy-in for	participation
al., 2014	discontinuation at an early stage	(enrolment)
	(F1)	
Reduction of		F2 – Cognitive
	Patient empowerment to initiate	
Denzediazenine	depresseribing conversation (F2)	
Benzoulazepine	deprescribing conversation (F2)	(initiation,
Prescriptions		legitimation,
Among Older	Physician discouraged	enrolment)
Adults Through	benzodiazepine deprescribing	
Direct Patient	due to perceived absence of	B1 – Coherence &
Education The	benzodiazepine side effects (B1)	cognitive
EMPOWER Cluster		participation
Randomized Trial		(internalisation
	Substitution of deprescribed	initiation)
	medicine with equally harmful	initiationy
	drug (B2)	
		B4 – Coherence
		(internalisation)
	Patient fear of withdrawal	
	symptoms (B3)	
		B5 – Cognitive
	Look of potient concern regarding	participation
	Lack of patient concern regarding	(enrolment)
	benzoolazepine consumption	
	(В4)	

	Common reasons for	
	nonparticipation of community	
	pharmacists was lack of interest	
	in participating and competing	
	priorities (B5)	
Teal, Ricketts,	Incorporation of a pharmacist into	F1 – Collective
Belton et al., 2002	GP actions: audit, individual	action (skill set
	patient review via paper or face	workability)
How effective are	to face interview, patient letters,	
pharmacists who	therapeutic review, protocol	F2 – Collective
work with medical	development and	action (skill set
practitioners? A	implementation, patient	workability)
study of	information packs, specific clinics	.,
interventions	and prescriber education (F1)	
intended to		B1 – Collective
influence	Pharmacists provided better	action (contextual
prescribing	identification of PIMs and	integration,
	medicine duplication/compliance	Interactional
	issues (F2)	workability)
	GPs happy to make dose	
	changes and review patients (E3)	
	Pharmacist interventions led to	
	additional reviews that would	
	nave increased GP workload	
	(DI)	
	GPs less willing to discontinue	
	sedative medicine (B2)	

Thompson, Le,	GP initiating deprescribing	F1 – Cognitive
Haastrup et al.,	conversation when reviewing	participation
2020	medicines (F1)	(initiation)
Exploring how GPs	Patient related ques to initiate	F3 – Coherence
discuss statin	conversation e.g. patient taking	(internalisation)
deprescribing with	many meds or trouble swallowing	
older people: a	(F2)	B1 – Cognitive
qualitative study		participation
	Discussing lack of evidence for	(initiation)
	modicing continuation for aldest	
	adulta (E2)	
	adults (FS)	B2 – Collective
		action and
	GP unlikely to initiate	reflexive
	conversation if patient fit and	monitoring
	healthy (B1)	(relational
		integration,
		communal
	Uncertainty regarding the effect	appraisal)
	of taking action vs not taking	
	action (B2)	
Turner, Richard,	Greater proportion of	F1 – Cognitive
Lussier et al., 2018	conversation themes initiated by	participation
	PPI patients when they received	(enrolment,
	prior PPI education (F1)	legitimation)
Deprescribing		
conversations: a		
closer look at	Higher proportion of	F2 – Cognitive
prescriber-patient	conversations were dialogue	participation
communication	(rather than healthcare	(enrolment,
	professional monologue) for PPI	legitimation)

	patients that received education	
	(F2)	
Van do Stoog van	Eacling forced by the health	E1 Cognitivo
	incurrence to porticipate in the	
Gompei, wensing	insurance to participate in the	
& De Smet 2009	study (F1)	(initiation)
Implementation of a	Participation in a pharmacy chain	
discontinuation	(B1)	
long-term	Prior focus on benzodiazepine	
benzodiazepine	use by the pharmacy (B2)	
use—A cluster		
randomized trial		
	Sufficient personnel to	
	accomplish standard task (B3)	
	Encouragement of technicians to	
	attend pharmaceutical care	
	classes (B4)	
Van der Meer,	Pharmacists able to identify a	F1 - Collective
Wouters, Teichert	considerable number of older	action
et al., 2018	patients in need of medicine	(Interactional
	optimisation with the IT based	workability)
	tool (F1)	
Feasibility,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
acceptability and		F4 – Collective
potential	Intervention tool (IT Based) seen	action
effectiveness of an	as meaningful, practical, clear	(interactional
information	and educational (F2)	integration)
technology-based,		
pharmacist-led		
intervention to		

prevent an increase	Targeting newly initiated	
in anticholinergic	anticholinergic/sedative	
and sedative load	medicines (F3)	
among older		
community-dwelling individuals	Intervention designed for the convenience of the pharmacist who could adapt as they see fit (F4)	
Vandenberg, Echt,	Pharmacist and patient-aligned	F1 – Collective
Kemp et al., 2018	care teams seen as valued clinic	action (contextual
	resources that could facilitate	integration)
Academic Detailing	intervention (F1)	
with Provider Audit		F2 – Coherence
and Feedback	Education to PCP's and	(internalisation)
Improve	pharmacists raising awareness of	
Prescribing Quality for Older Veterans	PIMS (F2)	F3 – Coherence (internalisation)
	Provision of patient education	
	material (F3)	F5 – Collective action (skill set
	Individualised audit and	workability)
	prescribing feedback (F4)	
	Patients referred to pharmacist for structured medicine reviews (F5)	B2 – Cognitive participation (legitimation)
	Incomplete medicine lists (B1)	B5 – Collective action (contextual integration)

	Hesitancy to discontinue	
	medicines started by a specialist	
	(B2)	
	Absence of routine pharmacy	
	review (B3)	
	Low awareness of tools to	
	improve safe prescribing (B4)	
	The first start and the life of	
	I me investment needed for a	
	comprehensive medicine review	
	and education (B5)	
Vicens, Bejarano,	GP proposal of deprescribing to	F1 – Cognitive
Sempere et al.,	patients (F)	participation
2018		(Initiation)
	Structured education and training	
Comparative	on benzodiazepine deprescribing	F2 – Coherence
efficacy of two	(F)	(all)
interventions to		
discontinue long-		
term		
benzodiazenine		
use: cluster		
randomised		
controlled trial in		
primary care		
Wallis, Andrews, &	Only incentive to deprescribe is	F2 – Collective
Henderson 2017	the duty to do what is right –	action
	beneficence (F1)	
1		

Swimming Against		(interactional
the Tide: Primary	Computer alerts to prompt	workability)
Care Physicians'	physician memories (F2)	
Views on	p.,	
Deprescribing in		F3 – Collective
Everyday Practice	Targeted funding for annual	action (contextual
	medicine reviews (F3)	integration)
	Computer systems to improve	F4 – Collective
	information sharing botwoon	action (contextual
		integration)
	Improved access to non-	F6 – Coherence
	pharmaceutical therapies (F5)	
		F7 – Collective
	Education and training (E6)	action (contextual
		integration)
	Ready access to expert advice	
	and user-friendly decision	F8 – Collective
	support (F7)	action (contextual
		integration)
	Lindating guidalings to include	
	advice on when to consider	F9 – Collective
	doproscribing (E9)	action (contextual
	deprescribing (Fo)	integration)
		/
	Guidelines for management of	
	common co-morbidities (F9)	F10 – Collective
		action –
		(contextual
		integration)

Tools and resources to assist in	
communicating risks to patients	F11 – Coanitive
(F10)	participation
	(enrolment.
	legitimation)
Activating patients to become	,
more involved in medicine	
management and alert to the	B1 – Coherence
possibility that less might be	(internalisation,
better (F11)	differentiation)
Patient expectations "Pill for	
every ill" (B1)	B3 – Collective
	action
Medical culture of prescribing	workability and
(B2)	contextual
	integration)
Prescribing seen as easy option	
whilst deprescribing is time	B4 – Collective
consuming (B3)	action (contextual
	integration)
	C <i>i</i>
Uncertainty around which	
medicines patients are taking and	B5 – Collective
why because of poor information	action (contextual
sharing (B4)	integration)
	B7 – Coherence
Uncertainty and lack of evidence	(internalisation)
regarding best prescribing	(แก้เอากิดแจลแบก)
practices (B5)	

	I Incertainty lead to fear of	B8 - Cognitive
		Bo – Cognitive
	preventable adverse outcomes	participation
	following deprescribing (B6)	(legitimation)
	Fear deprescribing seen as sign	B9 – Collective
	of chandenment and manay	
	of abandonment and money	
	saving exercise (B7)	integration)
	Professional etiquette leaving	B10 – Collective
	physicians reluctant to stop	action (contextual
	medicines initiated by others (B8)	integration)
		B11 – Collective
	Fact page and compating	action (contextual
	Fast pace and competing	integration)
	demands of practice (B)	
	Fragmentation of care and poor	
	flow of information (B)	
	Single disease specific guidelines	
	promote prescribing not	
	deprescribing (B)	
Walsh, Kwan, Marr	EMR reminders that an upcoming	F1 – Collective
et al., 2016	appointment would be an	action
	opportunity to reassess therapy	(interactional
	(F1)	workability)
Deprescribing in a		
family health team:		
a study of chronic	PPI deprescribing tool in the	F2 – Collective
proton pump	EMR to as a reminder during the	action
inhibitor use	appointment and to support	

	reassessment and deprescribing	(interactional
	and the tapering (F2)	workability)
	Deprescribing tool helped guide	F3 – Collective
	discussions with patients and	action
	implement recommendations	(interactional
	(F3)	workability)
	Tool helped quide reassessment	F4 – Collective
	of medicines and taper process	action
	(F4)	(interactional
		workability)
		workdomyy
	Lack of time (B1)	
		B1 – Collective
		action (contextual
Patient unwillingness to stop		integration)
	(B2)	
		B2 – Cognitive
		participation
		(enrolment)
White, Hayes,	Patient having poor psychological	
Boyes et al., 2019	health (F1)	
Conorol	Obscing requests for obiside (Γ_2)	
Derietal		
practitioners and		
management of	Lack of therapeutic response to	
cnronic noncancer	opioids (F3)	
pain: a cross-		
sectional survey of		

influences on opioid	Lack of effective alternate	
deprescribing	treatment would make them less	
	likely to deprescribe (B1)	
	Patient preference to stay on	
	opioid or fear of the process or	
	outcome of weaning (B2)	

Appendix I – Ethical considerations highlighted in REC review and responses

			facilitators present. There is also a risk of
			sensitive information being shared by
			participants. This will be communicated
			to participants who must agree to not
			disclose information discussed in the
			focus group/interview with others outside
			the focus group/interview.
2	Amend the protocol and PIS	٠	Added to 8. in protocol: As this study is
	to add the following		facilitated online with the use of Microsoft
	information provided by the		Teams, IT support will be offered for
	applicants in response to the		participants. Once participants have
	PR committee requests:		registered onto the study and provided
	a step-by-step guide on how		consent, Daniel Okeowo will share a
	to join Microsoft Teams		step-by-step guide on how to join
	meetings using different		Microsoft Teams meetings using
	devices including a landline		different devices including a landline or
	or mobile telephone would		mobile telephone. This information will
	be shared. If participants did		be generated from the Microsoft Teams
	not feel confident using		support page
	Microsoft Teams, Mr Daniel		(https://support.microsoft.com/en-
	Okeowo would organise a		us/office/join-a-meeting-in-teams-
	'trial run' meeting where he		<u>1613bb53-f3fa-431e-85a9-</u>
	could test if participants		d6a91e3468c9#ID0EAABAAA=Desktop).
	could join the meeting, speak		If participants do not feel confident using
	and be heard, and leave the		Microsoft Teams, Daniel Okeowo will
	meeting without any		organise a 'trial run' meeting where he
	technical difficulties. If		will test if participants can join the
	participants needed		meeting, speak and be heard, and leave
	someone by them for IT		the meeting without any technical
	support, they must agree to		difficulties. If participants need someone
	and would be bound to the		by them during focus groups/interviews
	confidentiality rules as set up		for IT support, this can be
	in the consent form. Submit		accommodated however this said person
	the revised documentation		must agree to and will be bound to the
	for review.		confidentiality rules as set up in the
			consent form.

		•	Added to patient PIS: Once you have
			provided consent to this study, we will let
			you know how to join the focus group
			and support you with this. If you need
			someone with you during the focus
			group or interview, for example, to
			provide computer support, then that is
			okay but they will need to agree not to
			share anything they hear.
		•	Added to Professional PIS: Once you
			have provided consent to this study, we
			will let you know how to join the focus
			group and support you with this.
3	Amend the PIS, protocol and	•	Added to 8.6 in protocol: Audio of the
	consent forms accordingly to		focus group/interview needed for
	reflect the information		transcription will be securely sent to the
	provided by the applicants in		transcription service using their own
	response to the PR		secure file upload system. No other
	committee: clarify that only		personal identifiable data will be shared
	the audio recordings of the		with the transcription company.
	groups/interview would be		Transcripts will be fully anonymised. The
	shared with the transcription		transcription protocol will mandate
	company. No other personal		anonymisation at the source, for
	identifiable data would be		example any name or local details
	shared with the transcription		mentioned by participants during
	company. Clear wording		interviews/focus groups will be replaced
	would be included in the		during transcription with codes.
	PISs that 'Audio of the focus		Anonymisation will then be checked by
	group/interview will be		Daniel Okeowo. Participants will be
	securely sent to the		briefed prior to the start of the focus
	transcription service using		groups to only use first names and to
	their secure file upload		avoid saying their own or other
	system'. Information to the		participant's surnames
	Pls would state 'We will	•	Added to 3. in patient and professional
	ensure that transcripts are		consent forms: I agree for my focus

	anonymised'. The		group/interview to be audio or video
	transcription protocol would		recorded, for the audio to be transcribed
	mandate anonymisation at		by a transcription service company
	the source, for example any	•	Added to patient & professional PIS: The
	name or local details		audio of the focus groups/interviews will
	during interviews/focus groups would be replaced during transcription with codes. Anonymisation would then be checked by Mr Okeowo. Participants would be briefed prior to the start of the focus groups to only use first names and to avoid saying their own or other		be securely sent to a university approved company to be written up, using their secure file upload system. No other personal identifiable data or contact details will be shared with the transcription company We will ensure transcripts are anonymised
	participant's surnames.		
	Submit the amended		
	documents for review.		
4	Amend the protocol and PIS	•	Added to 7.3.2 in protocol: Participants
	to include the information		may take and send a picture of their
	provided by the applicants in		consent forms (e.g. using their mobile
	response to the PR		phone) and return this providing all 4
	committee: participants could		corners of the document and all texts
	take and send a picture of		can be read from the picture As
	their consent form (using		consent is an ongoing process, Daniel
	their mobile phone), that		Okeowo will go through the items on the
	showed all 4 corners of the		consent form during the briefing prior to
	document and all text could		the focus group commencing to ensure
	be read from the picture, that		informed, consent is still valid.
	would be accepted. Verbal consent would be taken if that was not possible and as consent was an ongoing	•	Added to patient & professional PIS: You may also take and send a picture of the signed consent form (e.g. using a mobile

	consent form during the		document can be seen and the text can
	briefing prior to the focus		be read from the photo.
	group commencing to ensure		
	informed, consent was still		
	valid. Submit the amended		
	protocol and PIS for review.		
5	Provide clarification in the protocol and PISs with regards to conducting a telephone interview if participants did not have a suitable device for accessing Microsoft Teams. Submit the revised documents for review.	•	Added to 5. In protocol: If participants do not have access to the necessary IT equipment to join an online focus group or interview, i.e. computer with Internet access or mobile phone, or would prefer a telephone interview, this can be requested once consent has been taken. <u>Added to patient & Professional PIS:</u> If you would prefer a one-to-one online interview or a telephone interview, then please contact Daniel Okeowo (details below) so that can be arranged
6	Provide further information as to the process of assessing capacity to consent in the protocol and submit for review.		Added to 7.3.2 in protocol:DanielOkeowo will assess participants'capacity to consent through their abilityto understand, retain and respond to theinformation provided within the PIS.Daniel Okeowo has attended theIntroduction to Research Ethics trainingwhich includes capacity to consent,provided by University of Leeds. DanielOkeowo has previous professionalexperience of interacting with olderpatients with and without capacitythrough his role as a registeredpharmacist and has completed theSafeguarding children and vulnerableadults: Level 1 & 2 training by The

		Centre for Pharmacy Postgraduate
		Education (CPPE). Daniel Okeowo will
		use the HRA best practice on informing
		participants and seeking consent and the
		principles within the Mental Capacity Act
		2005 as guidance in assessing capacity
		(https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-
		improving-research/best-
		practice/informing-participants-and-
		seeking-consent/ &
		https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-
		improving-research/policies-standards-
		legislation/mental-capacity-act/). As
		defined in the Mental Capacity Act 2005,
		we will ensure it is clear that all
		participants are able to do the following
		before consent is accepted:
		 understand the information relevant to
		consenting for this study
		consenting for this study
		retain the information
		 use or weigh the information
		communicate his or her decision
		As consent is an ongoing process, Daniel
		Okeowo will go through the items on the
		consent form during the briefing prior to the
		focus group commencing to ensure informed,
		consent is still valid.
_		
7	Provide clearer information	Added to 5. In protocol: Where two
	with regards to facilitating;	facilitators are present within a focus
	managing discussions; risks	group, the first facilitator (Daniel
	and sateguards for	Okeowo) will set the ground rules, ask
		questions to participants and round
	interviews/focus groups in	up/thank participants at the end of the

	the protocol and PISs. The		session. The second facilitator will help
	revised documents should		to bring in participants who wish to speak
	be submitted for review.		whilst keeping an eye on the "hand up
	Need for 2 nd facilitator due to		function" and chat box within MS teams
	lack of experience		to help organise discussions. Although
			both facilitators share this responsibility,
			the second facilitator will be looking out
			for anyone who is uncomfortable or signs
			of participants being upset and
			distressed. If this occurs, a break will be
			introduced, and we will contact that
			individual privately to discuss and make
			a decision as to whether to continue with
			the discussion or not. Where only one
			facilitator is present e.g. one-to-one
			interview, they will manage all these
			responsibilities.
		•	Although we value the recommendation
			to include more details regarding
			facilitation within the PIS, in order not to
			overburden the participants with
			information, this information will be
			included in the focus group briefing.
8	Provide clearer information	•	Added to 8.1 in protocol: Should the
	in the protocol regarding the		researcher experience difficulties during
	debriefing process should		the focus group or interviews, there will
	the researcher experience		be an opportunity to debrief this
	difficulties during the focus		experience with the academic
	group.		supervisors immediately afterwards. At
			least one supervisor will ensure they are
			available immediately following focus
			groups or interviews. This will allow for
			the researcher to discuss any problems
			or difficulties they have encountered and

		for the academic supervisors to identify
		any necessary follow-up action.
9	Provide a rationale for not informing GP's about their patient taking part in the study	This qualitative research study does not involve making any recommendations or changes to participants' treatment or care, and in particular, we will not be making any recommendations on patients' medicines. We will not know who the participant's GPs are, particularly those we recruit through social media and patient groups and we feel it would be intrusive and unnecessary to collect this data and inform their GPs. If participants express a desire to discontinue their medicines, they will be advised to speak to their GP about this as per normal systems. Consequently , we do not deem it necessary or appropriate to inform participants GP's about their taking part.
10	Provide written clarification as to whether participants could still take part in the focus group/interviews if they did not consent to audio/video recording of the session, as stated in No.3 on the consent form	 Participants will not be able to take part in the study if they do not consent to audio/video recordings as this is needed for data analysis. <u>Added to professional PIS:</u> You will not be able to participate in this research if you do not consent to audio/video recordings of the interview/focus group. This is because these recordings are needed to analyse the data. <u>Added to patient PIS:</u> You will not be able to participate in this research if you do not consent to audio/video recordings are needed to analyse the data. <u>Added to patient PIS:</u> You will not be able to participate in this research if you do not consent to audio/video recordings of the interview/focus group. This is because these recordings are needed to analyse the data.

11	The following	•	11.1 – added to patient & Professional
	changes/revisions should be		PIS: If you would prefer an one-to-one
	made to the Participant		online interview or a telephone interview,
	Information Sheet (PIS):		then please contact Daniel Okeowo
	11.1. Add clear information		(details below) so that can be arranged.
	regarding how a participant	•	11.2 - not applicable as Microsoft Teams
	could request to take part in		software is not needed. We will send
	a one-to-one interview rather		participants a guide on how to join focus
	than a focus group		groups without the software.
	discussion (e.g. 'If it's not	٠	11.3 - changed on the patient &
	possible to gather other		Professional PIS: It would help us if you
	patients to the focus group		kept your camera on during the focus
	logether then a one-to-one		group, but if you would prefer, you may
			turn off your camera and just keep your
	will be organised).		microphone on during interviews and
	11.2. If applicable, insert		focus groups
	clearer information that	•	11.4 – We agree it is a good idea to
	participants would be		provide the ground rules in advance of
	required to have access to		the focus groups. However, we are also
	Microsoft Teams software on		mindful of overburdening participants
	their device in order to take		and extending the PIS further given it is
	part in the focus group		already 4 pages long. We therefore
	discussions.		propose to send the Focus group rules
	11.3. Page 2 stated 'You		along with the MS Teams guide once
	may turn off your camera		consent is received so that, as
	and just keep your		suggested, participants receive them in
	microphone on if you wish to		written form. In addition these will
	for one-to-one online		displayed and verbally reiterated prior to
	interviews' and requested		the focus group commencing.
	that clear information was		
	inserted to clarify whether		
	participants could turn off		
	their camera during the focus		
	group discussions.		

	11.4. It was noted that there		
	were several rules included		
	at the start of the focus		
	group topic guide and		
	requested that the first 5		
	rules were included in the		
	PIS so that participants		
	received them in writing as		
	well as verbally		
	The following	•	Added to professional recruitment
	changes/revisions should be		poster: This will involve focus
	made to the adverts:		groups/interviews around the topic of
	12.1. Review the sentence		deprescribing in primary care.
	in the professional advert		
	'We would like to hear your		
	views and opinions on how		
	best to implement		
	deprescribing in primary		
	care', to make it clear what		
	the study involved, as it		
	could be perceived that the		
	study involved patient		
	deprescribing.		
13	The following	٠	Added to 5. In patient & professional
	changes/revisions should be		consent forms: I agree for the named
	made to the consent forms:		researcher to use my personal data
	13.1. Insert clearer		(name, age, gender, ethnicity, job title,
	information as to what		telephone number and email address) in
	personal data in statement 5		order to organise the study (e.g. arrange
	would be used 'I agree for		focus groups), to contact me regarding
	the named researcher to use		the results of the study and to use them
	my personal data in order to		anonymously when reporting the results
	organise the study (for		of the research.
	example, arrange focus		
	groups) and to contact me		
	regarding the results of the		
----	---	--	
	study.		
14	Recommendation (not	Thank you for this suggestion, we will explore	
	Recommendation (not	manic you for this suggestion, we will explore	
	required to achieve a	how this could be practically implemented and	
	Favourable Opinion)	discuss with our PPI representative.	
	The Committee suggested that participants could be provided with a pseudonym to use during the focus group/interviews rather than using their real name.		

Appendix J – Study 2 ethical approval document



Appendix K – Patient recruitment poster



Appendix L – Patient information sheet

School of Healthcare/Faculty of Medicine and Health

01/03/2021 Version 0.2 IRAS no: 288393

Safely Stopping Unnecessary Medicines: a research study

Patient Information Sheet

You have been invited to take part in a research project, and it is important that you understand everything that is being asked of you. This document will provide you with the key details. If you have any further questions, please do not hesitate to contact the researcher (Daniel Okeowo).

What is the study's purpose?

Medicines are usually necessary and beneficial for patients. However, sometimes, medicines can become a problem. For example, they may cause side effects or they may no longer be needed because the patient has got better. We (the research team and its sponsor, University of Leeds) are interested in how we can make sure that patients are not taking medicines that they no longer need. We would like your views on how this can be done in a way that is safe and supportive. We will also be separately asking GPs and pharmacists how they think this should be done.

Who will be involved in this research?

This research will involve:

Patients taking at least 5 different medicines and who are at least 65 years old

What would taking part involve?

We would like you to take part in an online interview with a group of other patients. This is called a 'focus group' and we aim to have 5 – 8 participants in each group. We would like you to share your views on ways healthcare professionals can help patients to stop taking medicines they do not need anymore. You would be expected to attend one online group interview which will last no longer than 90 minutes. The focus group will be video recorded. We will not be asking you about your own medicines and we will not be suggesting that you stop taking any of your medicines. Each focus group will consist of two interviewers who are researchers from University of Leeds or the NIHR Patient Safety Translational Research Centre. If it's not possible to gather other patients to the focus group together then a one-to-one online or telephone interview will be organised and recorded, lasting no longer than 60 minutes. If you would prefer a one-to-one online interview or a telephone interview, then please contact Daniel Okeowo (details below) so that can be arranged. It would help us if you kept your camera on during the focus group, but if you would prefer, you may turn off your camera and just keep your microphone on during interviews and focus groups.

What are the requirements?

You should be 65 years or older and taking five or more medicines that have been prescribed by your GP. You must have a good level of English speaking ability and be able to provide consent. To join an online focus group or interview, you will need a computer with access to the Internet, a working microphone and speaker, OR a mobile telephone/landline. You will only need a telephone to take part in a telephone interview.



Once you have provided consent to this study, we will let you know how to join the focus group and support you with this. If you need someone with you during the focus group or interview, for example, to provide computer support, then that is okay but they will need to agree not to share anything they hear.

What about my confidentiality?

To gain a better picture of the people taking part in the focus group and to help organise interviews, we will ask for your age, gender, ethnicity, number of medicines you take, telephone number and email address. All your personal information will be kept confidential. We will be publishing information about the people who took part e.g. age range, gender balance but this will be anonymous. It will not be possible to identify you from what you say, but we will say that the response was from a patient. Your contact details will be kept until the end of the study to let you know what we found out. Once the study has finished and we share the study findings, your contact details will be securely disposed of.

Confidentiality within the focus group is limited as there will be other patients and researchers present. Only you, the researchers, and the other people in the group will know what you say in this focus group. However, if you say anything that concerns the interviewer about you or someone else's safety, they might have to tell someone who could help. The interviewer will talk to you privately about this before they tell anyone else. There is a risk that sensitive information may be shared by other participants. You must not share what has been said in the focus group or interview with anyone outside of the focus group or interview.

The audio of the focus groups/interviews will be securely sent to a university approved company to be written up, using their secure file upload system. No other personal identifiable data or contact details will be shared with the transcription company. The transcription company will only have access to the recordings for the time needed to write down what was said and no longer, and they will also sign a data processing agreement to confirm this. We will ensure transcripts are anonymised.

What will you do with my responses?

Your responses will be important in understanding how we can help make sure that patients are not taking unnecessary medicines. This will be used to design tools to help healthcare staff in stopping medicines that are not needed. Anonymous quotes from what you say may be published in journals and used with other responses to teach others, for example, they may be used as part of a presentation.

How will we use information about you?

We will need to use information from you for this research project. This information will include your name, age, gender, ethnicity, number of medicines taken, telephone number and email address. We will keep all information about you safe and secure. Once we have finished the study, we will keep some of the data so we can check the results. We will write our reports in a way that no-one can work out that you took part in the study. Once the audio recording of your focus group/interview has been transcribed, the original recording will be



kept and stored for 1 year on a password-protected drive on the University of Leeds server. After this, the recording will be destroyed and irretrievable.

Your anonymous quotes may be shared with other researchers or be used in future research for learning. To accommodate this, these anonymous quotes may be stored in the Research Data Leeds Repository. This is a research data repository for the University of Leeds that aims to enable data discovery and data sharing. Only anonymous quotes and the data from this will be stored in the repository, no personal or identifiable information will be stored here. This will allow for your anonymous quotes on safely stopping unnecessary medicines to be shared and used by future researchers.

What to expect during the consent process

A consent form will be emailed to you. This form must be signed and returned before you can take part in the study. This can be electronically signed or hand-written and returned via email. You may also take and send a picture of the signed consent form (e.g. using a mobile phone) providing all four corners of the document can be seen and the text can be read from the photo. If you are unable to email this back or there is no time to before the study starts, we will ask for your verbal consent and record this over the phone or on the online call. You will not be able to participate in this research if you do not consent to audio/video recordings of the interview/focus group. This is because these recordings are needed to help us understand your views on stopping unnecessary medicines.

What if I no longer want to be part of the study?

You may withdraw from the study at any point up until the focus group has been completed. After this time, we will not be able to separate your responses from the other patients in the group. You may withdraw from one-to-one interviews at any point and may withdraw your data from these interviews up until it has been analysed.

What are your choices about how your information is used?

You can stop being part of the study at any time as mentioned above, without giving a reason, but we will keep information about you that we already have. We need to manage your records in specific ways for the research to be reliable. This means that we won't be able to let you see or change the data we hold about you.

Are there any risks involved?

We don't think there are any risks in taking part. It is possible that some people may get upset when talking about their medicines and health. If this happens, then we can take a break and offer you support.

Who is funding this research?

This study is funded by The National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) and situated within the NIHR Yorkshire and Humber Patient Safety Translational Centre. This study is sponsored by University of Leeds.

Will I be reimbursed for my time?

Yes, you will receive a £20 Amazon voucher for your time.



Where can you find out more about how your information is used?

The link to the University privacy statement for research participants is: <u>https://dataprotection.leeds.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/48/2019/02/Research-Privacy-Notice.pdf</u>.

You can find out more about how we use your information

- at www.hra.nhs.uk/information-about-patients/
- our leaflet available from https://dataprotection.leeds.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/48/2020/08/My data and research.pdf
- by asking one of the research team or
- □ by sending an email to the University Data Protection Officer dpo@leeds.ac.uk

What if I have further questions?

Please do not hesitate to contact the research team:

Daniel Okeowo



Prof David Alldred (supervisor)

Email: <u>umdao@leeds.ac.uk</u> Telephone: 07534425861

Email: <u>d.p.alldred@leeds.ac.uk</u> Telephone: (0113) 343 1805

Appendix M – Patient recruitment infographic



Appendix N – Consent form

T:41 -		Linnananan Madi		
Nan	ne of Researcher: Daniel Ok	connecessary medic		Y OF LI
			Please	initial box
1.	I confirm that I have read the above study. I have ha questions and have had the	he information shee d the opportunity to ese answered.	t dated 01/03/2021 (version 0.2) for consider the information, ask	
2.	I understand that taking pa I have participated in the a analysed, without giving ar affected.	nt is voluntary and the located focus group ny reason, without m	hat I am free to withdraw, until o or my interview data has been ny medical care or legal rights being	
3.	I agree for my focus group be transcribed by a transcr to be used in future publica	/interview to be audi ription service comp ations, research and	io or video recorded, for the audio to any and for my anonymised quotes I shared with other researchers.	
4.	l agree for my anonymised Data Leeds Repository.	I quotes to be stored	I in the University of Leeds Researc	^{:h}
5.	I agree for the named rese ethnicity, number of medic address) in order to organi contact me regarding the r reporting the results of the	archer to use my perines currently taking se the study (for exa esults of the study a research.	ersonal data (name, age, gender, I, telephone number and email ample, arrange focus groups), to and to use them anonymously when	
6.	I agree not to disclose info anyone outside of the focu	rmation discussed d s group/interview.	luring the focus group/interview to	
7.	I agree to take part in the a	above study.		

Appendix O – Interview topic guides

Interview topic guides - Patients

Welcome and introductions -

Hello, my name is Daniel and I would like to welcome you to this interview. Thank you very much for providing your consent to be interviewed. . This is an opportunity for you to have a say on how we make sure that medicines that are no longer needed can be safely stopped. This can only work if you share your opinions and ideas so please do not feel like you can't. If you find yourself repeating a point you've already said before, please don't worry about this as it will still be valuable to us and can give us more information. As it mentions in the information we gave you, we will not be making any recommendations about your medicines today and if you have any concerns about your medicines, you should contact your GP.

Deprescribing - overview

- □ So to start off with, how do you feel about taking medicines in general?
- □ Have you ever had a regular medicine stopped?
 - If so, how was this like for you?
 - 1 How was the idea of stopping a medicine introduced to you
 - Did you have any concerns or questions?
 - What could have been done to improve you experience?
 - If not, have you ever had a conversation with your GP/Pharmacist about stopping a regular medicine?
 - Did you attempt stopping the medicine with your doctor?
 - Was there any reason why the medicine could not be stopped?

A scenario will then be introduced and explained for discussion

Scenario: "Let's say your doctor recently reviewed your medicines and believes you might benefit from stopping one of you regular medicines..."

Patient education

First of all, I would like to know what sort of information you would want from your doctor about the plan to stop the medicine

- □ How would you want the idea of stopping a medicine introduced to you?
 - What would be important for you to know about stopping a medicine?
 - Why would this information be important to you?
 - \circ $\;$ How would you like to receive this information?
 - In what forms?
 - Is there any information that you would want to take home?
 How would you like to take this information home?
- Would it be important for you to know the risks and benefits of stopping a medicine?
 - How would you like for someone to explain the risks and benefits of you stopping a medicine?
 - Who would you like to explain the risks and benefits to you? e.g. your GP, a pharmacist at your local chemist or nurse?

- □ If not, why not ?
- Would there be anything you would want someone to speak to your family, or perhaps anyone else who helps you with your medicines, about stopping a medicine?
 - Why would this information be important for them to know?
- □ NPT Cognitive participation (Legitimation) Do you think you should be involved in decisions about stopping a medicine, and how to go about it?
 - Do you think you could be involved in the decision to stop a medicine?
 If not, why not?
 - Is there any reason why you don't think you should or could be involved in stopping a medicine.
- □ Taking the scenario into account, are there any other questions you would want to ask?
 - If so, what are they?

Reintroduce scenario:

"You and your doctor have agreed for you to stop taking the medicine and you have agreed to a plan to slowly reduce your doses until it's safe to take you off the medicine completely..."

Patient support

Now I want to discuss the type of support you may want or need from your doctor, nurse or pharmacist while you are stopping a medicine. By support, I mean anything a healthcare professional may say or do, after the initial agreement to stop a medicine, that helps you to feel comfortable whilst stopping a medicine.

- □ Taking this into account, is there anything additional you would want your doctor to do or provide to help you with stopping a medicine? E.g. written information about what to look out for
 - Why do you think this is needed?
 - How would you want this support provided?
 - How often would you want someone to check up on you whilst you are stopping a medicine?
 - Which healthcare professionals would you be happy with to do this?
 e.g. your GP, a pharmacist at your local chemist or nurse?
 - How often would you want someone to check up on you after stopping the medicine?
 - Which healthcare professionals would you be happy with to do this?
 e.g. your GP, a pharmacist at your local chemist or nurse?
- What could other healthcare professionals do to help you with stopping a medicine?
 - Why would this be important to you?
- □ NPT Collective action (relational Integration) What would make you feel confident about stopping a medicine? If anything?
 - Why is this the case?
 - If nothing, why do you feel you can't be confident about stopping a medicine?

The role of pharmacists (leave remaining 15 - 20 mins for this)

I'd like to move on to talking about the role of pharmacists in helping you stop unnecessary medicines. The type of pharmacists we will be talking about are community pharmacists (the pharmacist at your local chemist) and GP pharmacists (pharmacists that work closely with your GP and are part of the GP practice, but not in a chemist within a GP)

- With this scenario, we imagined your doctor being the one to start and oversee you stopping a medicine, how would you feel if it was a GP pharmacist that stopped a medicine with you, whilst your GP oversees this?
 - \circ $\;$ How about if they have the qualification to prescribe or not?
- How do you think your local pharmacy (i.e. at the chemist) could help with stopping a medicine?
 - Why would your local chemist be best suited for this role?
 - If nothing, why don't you think your local chemist could help?
 - What's your experience of talking to your community pharmacist about your medicines?

I have pulled out some tasks pharmacists could do to help you stop a medicine, based on what we have found out so far.

How would you feel if a GP pharmacist was to:

- Look at your medicines to highlight suitable medicines to stop?
- Provide recommendations of suitable medicines to stop to your GP?
- Stop a medicine themselves in agreement with you, on behalf of and supported by your GP?
- Provide information on the risks and benefits of your medicine and of stopping that medicine?

How would you feel if a community pharmacist was to:

- Provide recommendations of suitable medicines to stop to your GP?
- Provide information on the risks and benefits of your medicine and of stopping that medicine?
- Be a point of contact for if you have any issues or questions about stopping a medicine?
- Help to check up on you to make sure everything is okay?

Closing the session

Thank you for your time and giving your opinions here today. It has been really insightful and valuable. We will contact you soon regarding your £20 Amazon voucher as compensation for you time. We will also contact you about the study findings once we have completed all the focus groups and interview.

Appendix P – Example Study 2 patient analytical framework

Name and codes	Description
Nature of patient support	Patient describes patient support they want/expect
Ability to contact a HCP	
Patient wants to be able to receive advice during deprescribing	Patient wants to be able to receive advice from any relevant healthcare professional during the deprescribing process
Patient wants to contact their Dr specifically if symptoms occur	Patient specifically wants access to their own doctor if symptoms occur
Ability to restart medicine	Patient places emphasis on the ability to restart a medicine during deprescribing
Clinical monitoring during deprescribing	
Clinical monitoring after deprescribing	Patient discusses any monitoring they deem necessary after deprescribing
Patient self-monitoring	Patient placed emphasis on self-monitoring themselves where possible
Frequency of Support	
No need for frequent support unless indicated	
Patient preference on HCP	
No preference	Patient had no specific preference for who provided support, as long as they were best equipped to do so
Pharmacist support	Patient would prefer pharmacist to provide support
GP support	Patient would prefer GP consultations for education or support
Patient would leave nature of support to Dr	Patient would leave the support needed for the Dr to decide

Appendix Q – COREQ for Chapter 5 and Chapter 6

Chapter 5

COREQ (COnsolidated criteria for REporting Qualitative research) Checklist

A checklist of items that should be included in reports of qualitative research. You must report the page number in your manuscript where you consider each of the items listed in this checklist. If you have not included this information, either revise your manuscript accordingly before submitting or note N/A.

Торіс	Item No.	Guide Questions/Description	Reported on Page No.	
Domain 1: Research team				
and reflexivity				
Personal characteristics				
Interviewer/facilitator	1	Which author/s conducted the interview or focus group?	117	
Credentials	2	What were the researcher's credentials? E.g. PhD, MD	N/A	
Occupation	3	What was their occupation at the time of the study?	257	
Gender	4	Was the researcher male or female?	N/A	
Experience and training	5	What experience or training did the researcher have?	257	
Relationship with				
participants			~	
Relationship established	6	Was a relationship established prior to study commencement?	116	
Participant knowledge of	7	What did the participants know about the researcher? e.g. personal	200 402	
the interviewer		goals, reasons for doing the research	399 - 402	
Interviewer characteristics	8	What characteristics were reported about the inter viewer/facilitator?	257 200 402	
		e.g. Bias, assumptions, reasons and interests in the research topic	257, 399 - 402	
Domain 2: Study design				
Theoretical framework				
Methodological orientation	9	What methodological orientation was stated to underpin the study? e.g.		
and Theory		grounded theory, discourse analysis, ethnography, phenomenology,	118	
		content analysis		
Participant selection	•			
Sampling	10	How were participants selected? e.g. purposive, convenience,		
		consecutive, snowball	115 - 116	
Method of approach	11	How were participants approached? e.g. face-to-face, telephone, mail,	115 116	
		email	115-116	
Sample size	12	How many participants were in the study?	121	
Non-participation 13		How many people refused to participate or dropped out? Reasons?	NA	
Setting				
Setting of data collection	14	Where was the data collected? e.g. home, clinic, workplace	117	
Presence of non-	15	Was anyone else present besides the participants and researchers?	101	
participants			121	
Description of sample	16	What are the important characteristics of the sample? e.g. demographic	121 122	
		data, date	121-122	
Data collection				
Interview guide	17	Were questions, prompts, guides provided by the authors? Was it pilot	116 - 117	
		tested?	110-117	
Repeat interviews	18	Were repeat inter views carried out? If yes, how many?	121	
Audio/visual recording	19	Did the research use audio or visual recording to collect the data?	117	
Field notes	20	Were field notes made during and/or after the inter view or focus group?	118	
Duration	21	What was the duration of the inter views or focus group?	121	
Data saturation	22	Was data saturation discussed?	116	
Transcripts returned	23	Were transcripts returned to participants for comment and/or	121	

Topic	Item No.	Guide Questions/Description	Reported on	
			Page No.	
		correction?		
Domain 3: analysis and				
findings				
Data analysis				
Number of data coders	24	How many data coders coded the data?	118	
Description of the coding	25	Did authors provide a description of the coding tree?	1.00	
tree			122	
Derivation of themes	26	Were themes identified in advance or derived from the data?	122	
Software	27	What software, if applicable, was used to manage the data?	118	
Participant checking	28	Did participants provide feedback on the findings?		
Reporting				
Quotations presented	29	Were participant quotations presented to illustrate the themes/findings?	100 100	
		Was each quotation identified? e.g. participant number	122 - 139	
Data and findings consistent	30	Was there consistency between the data presented and the findings?		
Clarity of major themes	31	Were major themes clearly presented in the findings?		
Clarity of minor themes 32 Is there a description of diverse cases or discussion of minor themes?		122 -139		

Chapter 6

COREQ (COnsolidated criteria for REporting Qualitative research) Checklist

A checklist of items that should be included in reports of qualitative research. You must report the page number in your manuscript where you consider each of the items listed in this checklist. If you have not included this information, either revise your manuscript accordingly before submitting or note N/A.

Торіс	Item No.	Guide Questions/Description	Reported on Page No.	
Domain 1: Research team				
and reflexivity				
Personal characteristics				
Interviewer/facilitator	1	Which author/s conducted the interview or focus group?	153	
Credentials	2	What were the researcher's credentials? E.g. PhD, MD	N/A	
Occupation	3	What was their occupation at the time of the study?	257	
Gender	4	Was the researcher male or female?	N/A	
Experience and training	5	What experience or training did the researcher have?	257	
Relationship with				
participants				
Relationship established	6	Was a relationship established prior to study commencement?	151	
Participant knowledge of	7	What did the participants know about the researcher? e.g. personal		
the interviewer		goals, reasons for doing the research	414 - 417	
Interviewer characteristics	8	What characteristics were reported about the inter viewer/facilitator?		
		e.g. Bias, assumptions, reasons and interests in the research topic	257, 414 - 417	
Domain 2: Study design	1		1	
Theoretical framework				
Methodological orientation	9	What methodological orientation was stated to underpin the study? e.g.		
and Theory		grounded theory, discourse analysis, ethnography, phenomenology,	153	
		content analysis		
Participant selection				
Sampling	10	How were participants selected? e.g. purposive, convenience,		
		consecutive, snowball	151 - 152	
Method of approach	11	How were participants approached? e.g. face-to-face, telephone, mail,	151 150	
		email	151-152	
Sample size 12 How many participants were in the study?		How many participants were in the study?	154	
Non-participation 13		How many people refused to participate or dropped out? Reasons?	NA	
Setting				
Setting of data collection 14		Where was the data collected? e.g. home, clinic, workplace	153	
Presence of non-	15	Was anyone else present besides the participants and researchers?	154	
participants		154		
Description of sample	16	What are the important characteristics of the sample? e.g. demographic	154 155	
		data, date	154 - 155	
Data collection				
Interview guide	17	Were questions, prompts, guides provided by the authors? Was it pilot	152 - 152	
		tested?	152-155	
Repeat interviews	18	Were repeat inter views carried out? If yes, how many?	154	
Audio/visual recording	19	Did the research use audio or visual recording to collect the data?	153	
Field notes	20	Were field notes made during and/or after the inter view or focus group?	153	
Duration	21	What was the duration of the inter views or focus group?	154	
Data saturation	22	Was data saturation discussed?	152	
Transcripts returned	23	Were transcripts returned to participants for comment and/or	154	

Торіс	ltem No.	Guide Questions/Description	Reported on	
		correction?	Tuge No.	
Domain 3: analysis and				
findings				
Data analysis				
Number of data coders	24	How many data coders coded the data?	118	
Description of the coding	25	Did authors provide a description of the coding tree?	150	
tree			156	
Derivation of themes 26 Were themes identified in advance or derived from the data?		155		
Software 27 What		What software, if applicable, was used to manage the data?	153	
Participant checking	28	Did participants provide feedback on the findings?	154	
Reporting				
Quotations presented	29	Were participant quotations presented to illustrate the themes/findings?	155 176	
		Was each quotation identified? e.g. participant number	155 - 176	
Data and findings consistent 30 Was there consistency between the data prese		Was there consistency between the data presented and the findings?	155 - 176	
Clarity of major themes 31 Were maj		Were major themes clearly presented in the findings?	155 - 176	
Clarity of minor themes	32	Is there a description of diverse cases or discussion of minor themes?	155 - 176	

Appendix R – Recruitment Poster



Appendix S – Information Sheet

School of Healthcare/Faculty of Medicine and Health

01/03/2021 Version 0.2 IRAS no: 288393



Deprescribing in Primary Care: Identifying and Developing Deprescribing Implementation Resources

Professional Information Sheet

You have been invited to participate in a research project about implementing deprescribing for problematic polypharmacy in primary care. This information sheet provides information about the study including what would be expected from you if you agree to take part. If you have any questions after reading this, please do not hesitate to contact the primary researcher, Daniel Okeowo.

Purpose of the study

Polypharmacy, the concurrent use of 5 or more medicines, may become problematic when multiple medicines are prescribed inappropriately or the intended benefit of the medicine is not realised. Problematic polypharmacy is increasing in older people and deprescribing is one potential solution. However, there is little evidence on how deprescribing should be safely implemented within primary care, and what the optimal role of GPs and pharmacists should be. This study will investigate how deprescribing can be safely implemented through the views of relevant stakeholders. We (the research team and its sponsor, University of Leeds) then intend to develop resources to support deprescribing implementation in primary care.

Who is conducting and funding the study

This study will be conducted by Daniel Okeowo as part of his doctoral studies at the University of Leeds. This study is sponsored by University of Leeds and will be supervised by Prof David Alldred (School of Healthcare), Dr Syed Tabish Zaidi (School of Healthcare), Dr Beth Fylan (School of Psychology). The study funder is The National Institute for Health Research (NIHR).

Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen because you are a member of one of the below professional groups and involved in deprescribing/medicine management. This research will involve:

- GPs
- □ PCN/Practice Pharmacists who have patient-facing roles
- Community Pharmacists

□ Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) staff who have roles in prescribing/the use of medicines The views of patients will also be explored separately.

What is expected from me?

We would like you to participate in an online focus group to explore and discuss your views on how best to implement deprescribing within primary care, and the role of GPs and pharmacists in doing so. There will be one online focus groups consisting of 4 - 6 healthcare professionals lasting up to 90 minutes. This will be video recorded and transcribed. Each focus group will consist of two facilitators who are researchers from University of Leeds or the NIHR Patient Safety Translational Research Centre. If focus groups cannot be organised due to availability constraints, individual online or telephone interviews will be undertaken lasting no longer than 60 minutes. Individual online interviews will be video recorded and transcribed. If you would prefer a one-to-one online interview or a telephone interview, then please contact Daniel Okeowo (details below) so that can be arranged. It would help us if you kept your camera on during the



focus group, but if you would prefer, you may turn off your camera and just keep your microphone on during interviews and focus groups.

What are the requirements?

You must meet the inclusion criteria above. To join an online focus group or interview, you will need a computer with access to the Internet, a working microphone and speaker, OR a mobile telephone/landline. You will only need a telephone to take part in a telephone interview.

Once you have provided consent to this study, we will let you know how to join the focus group and support you with this.

How will my information be kept confidential?

To gain a better understanding of the participants recruited and to help organise interviews, we will ask for your age, gender, job title, telephone number and email address. All information gathered about you during this study will be kept confidential and will be stored in the University of Leeds password-protected servers or locked within the University premises. This will be in accordance with the University of Leeds data management code of practice (<u>https://dataprotection.leeds.ac.uk/data-protection-code-of-practice/</u>), the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation. We will be publishing information about the people who took part in this study e.g. age range but this will be anonymous. It will not be possible to identify you from your responses, however we will state that the response was from a participant with your job role (e.g. GP, pharmacist, CCG staff etc). Contact details will be kept until the end of the study and data analysis in order to notify you of the results. Once the study has concluded and the findings have been shared, your contact details will be securely disposed of.

Confidentiality within the focus group is limited as there will be other healthcare professionals and researchers present. What is said within the focus group / interview will be treated as confidential and the data will be anonymised, however if you reveal anything which raises safeguarding or similar concerns, this may have to be discussed with the appropriate people. However, this will be discussed with you privately before anyone else is involved. There is a risk that sensitive information may be shared by other participants. You must not share what has been said in the focus group or interview with anyone outside of the focus group or interview.

A transcription service will be used to produce transcripts of the focus group or interview. The audio of the focus groups/interviews will be securely sent to a university approved company to be written up, using their secure file upload system. No other personal identifiable data or contact details will be shared with the transcription company. The transcription company will only have access to the recordings for the time needed to write down what was said and no longer, and they will also sign a data processing agreement to confirm this. We will ensure transcripts are anonymised.

How will the research data be used?

Your focus group / interview responses will be the primary research data used within this study. Your responses will be used to help identify strategies and resources that aid the implementation of deprescribing in primary care to be further developed in the future. In addition, your responses will provide valuable insight on how to optimise deprescribing as a key stakeholder. Your anonymised responses may be published in journals and used in presenting information e.g. conference posters and presentations.



How will we use information about you?

We will need to use information from you for this research project. This information will include your name, age, gender, job title, telephone number and email address. We will keep all information about you safe and secure. Once we have finished the study, we will keep some of the data so we can check the results. We will write our reports in a way that no-one can work out that you took part in the study.

Once the audio recording of your focus group/interview has been transcribed, the original recording will be kept and stored for 1 year on a password-protected drive on the University of Leeds server. After this, the recording will be destroyed and irretrievable.

Your anonymous quotes may be shared with other researchers or be used in future research for learning. To accommodate this, these anonymous quotes may be stored in the Research Data Leeds Repository. This is a research data repository for the University of Leeds that aims to facilitate data discovery and data sharing. Only anonymous quotes and the data from this will be stored in the repository, no personal or identifiable information will be stored here. This will allow for your anonymous quotes on deprescribing in primary care to be shared and used by future researchers.

What to expect during the consent process?

A consent form, detailing your agreement to the study, will be emailed to you. This form must be signed and returned before you can participate in the study. This can be electronically signed or hand-written and returned via email. You may also take and send a picture of the signed consent form (e.g. using a mobile phone) providing all four corners of the document can be seen and the text can be read from the photo. If email contact is unavailable or time constraints make this impractical, your verbal consent will be requested and recorded. You will not be able to participate in this research if you do not consent to audio/video recordings of the interview/focus group. This is because these recordings are needed to analyse the data.

What if I no longer want to be part of the study?

You may withdraw from the study at any point until focus group completion. This is because, as your response will be anonymous, it will not be possible to withdraw it from other responses. You may withdraw from one-to-one interviews at any point and may withdraw your data from these interviews up until it has been analysed.

What are your choices about how your information is used?

You can stop being part of the study at any time as described above, without giving a reason, but we will keep information about you that we already have. We need to manage your records in specific ways for the research to be reliable. This means that we won't be able to let you see or change the data we hold about you.

Where can you find out more about how your information is used?

The link to the University privacy statement for research participants is: <u>https://dataprotection.leeds.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/48/2019/02/Research-Privacy-Notice.pdf</u>.

You can find out more about how we use your information

- □ by asking one of the research team or
- by sending an email to the University Data Protection Officer <u>dpo@leeds.ac.uk</u>

What if I have further questions?

Please do not hesitate to contact the primary investigator:

01/03/2021 Version 0.2 IRAS no: 288393 Daniel Okeowo





Prof David Alldred (supervisor) Email: <u>d.p.alldred@leeds.ac.uk</u> Telephone: (0113) 343 1805

Email: <u>umdao@leeds.ac.uk</u> Telephone: 07534425861

Appendix T – Consent form

School of Healthcare/Faculty of Medicine and Health 01/03/2021 Version 0.2 IRAS ID: 288393

CONSENT FORM

Title of Project: Deprescribing in Primary Care: Identifying and Developing Deprescribing Implementation Resources

Name of Researcher: Daniel Okeowo

			Plea	ase initial box			
1.	I confirm that I have read the information sheet dated 01/03/2021 (version 0.2) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered.						
2.	I understand that taking part is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw, until I have participated in the focus group or my interview data has been analysed, without giving any reason.						
3.	. I agree for my focus group/interview to be audio or video recorded, for the audio to be transcribed by a transcription service company and for my anonymised quotes to be used in future publications, research and shared with other researchers.						
4.	I agree for my anonymised quotes to be stored in the University of Leeds Research Data Leeds Repository.						
5.	I agree for the name job title, telephone no (e.g. arrange focus g use them anonymou	d researcher to use my p umber and email addres proups), to contact me re sly when reporting the re	personal data (name, age, gender, ethnic ss) in order to organise the study egarding the results of the study and to esults of the research.	sity,			
6.	I agree not to disclos outside of the focus	e information discussed group/interview.	I during the focus group/interview to anyc	ne			
7.	I agree to take part ir	n the above study.					
Nam	ne of Participant	Date	Signature				
Nam takir	ne of Person ng consent	Date	Signature				

Appendix U – HCP Interview topic guide

10/05/2021 Version 2.0 IRAS no: 288393

Focus group topic guides – Practice Pharmacist

Facilitator (Daniel Okeowo): My name is Daniel and I would like to welcome you to this interview and thank you for providing consent. This is an opportunity for you to have a say on how medicines can be safely stopped (i.e. deprescribing) in your patients, but can only work if you share your opinions and ideas so please do not feel like you can't. In addition, you may find yourself repeating a point you've already said before, please don't worry about this as this is still valuable to us and can give us more clarification.

Initial warm-up conversations

So before we start, I wanted to take a moment to clarify what type of deprescribing we want to discuss. Deprescribing can be either "reactive" or "proactive". Reactive deprescribing is the discontinuing of a medicine in response to an adverse clinical trigger, such as a side effect, for example, somebody having a ulcer with an NSAID. Proactive deprescribing is stopping a medicine if future gains are unlikely to outweigh future harms. An example of proactive deprescribing might be stopping a statin for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in a frail, older patient.

Further discussion this afternoon, we would like to focus on proactive deprescribing.

□ To start off, When you think about your deprescribing experiences what's the first thing that comes to mind?

Deprescribing - barriers and facilitators to implementation

So, thinking about implementing deprescribing in primary care,

- □ Is there anything that stops you from routinely deprescribing?
 - Why do you think this is the case?
 - Can you give examples of this in your practice?
 - How could these barriers be overcome?
- □ So, on the other side of the coin, Is there anything that helps you to routinely deprescribe?
 - Why is this the case?

0

- Can you recall examples from your own experience?
 - Which medicines would you say are important to deprescribe?
 - Which medicines do you regularly deprescribe? Why?
 - Which medicines do you rarely deprescribe? Why?
- □ NPT Coherence (Internalisation) Do you think there is a consensus in your profession on the value and importance of deprescribing in primary care?
 - \circ $\;$ Why do you think this consensus has formed?
 - If not, why do you think there isn't a consensus
 - Do you think there is a consensus in other professions on the value and importance of deprescribing in primary care?
 - How do these opinions differ from your own profession?
 - Why do these opinions differ?
 - If there is no consensus within other professions, why do you think this the case?

10/05/2021 Version 2.0 IRAS no: 288393

- How do your patients respond to deprescribing conversations or the idea of stopping a medicine?
 - What reactions have you had?
 - What do you think has contributed to this reaction?
 - Would this perception affect how you introduce deprescribing to patients?
- □ NPT Coherence (Internalisation) **Do you think your patients see deprescribing as** something important or beneficial to themselves?
 - If not, why not?
 - Do you have any suggestions on how to improve patients' understanding on the value and importance of deprescribing?
- □ NPT Cognitive Participation (legitimation) **Do you think patients believe it is right** for them to be involved in decisions about the deprescription of their medicines?
 - Is this belief important?
 - How could we engage patients to feel it is right for them to be involved?
- NPT Cognitive Participation (legitimation) Do you think clinicians within your practice/pharmacy (or other pharmacies)/organisation believe it is right for them to be involved in deprescribing in primary care?
 - What would engage others in your practice/pharmacy/organisation to believe they should be involved?
 - Do you think any other primary care clinicians should believe it's right for them to be involved in deprescribing?
 - If so, how could deprescribing involvement be promoted in this profession?
- NPT Cognitive participation (enrolment) What needs to be done to improve the overall engagement of patients, clinicians, and policy makers to deprescribing in primary care?

Role of the pharmacist

Now, I want to take some time to discuss the role of pharmacists in deprescribing in primary care.

- □ What roles do practice pharmacists have in deprescribing?
 - What benefits would this (or has this) role provide(ed) to your own practice?
 deprescribing in general?
 - What are the possible drawbacks?
 - If there are no roles for primary care pharmacists, why is this the case?

What roles do you see for community pharmacists to have in deprescribing?

- What benefits would this (or has this) role provide(ed) to your own practice?
 deprescribing in general?
- What are the possible drawbacks?
- \circ If there are no roles for community pharmacists, why is this the case
- What knowledge, skills or abilities can pharmacists (community or primary care) offer to aid the implementation of safe and routine deprescribing in primary care?

10/05/2021 Version 2.0 IRAS no: 288393

Patient Safety

Now I would like to discuss patient safety in relation to proactive deprescribing in primary care

- □ Are there any risks associated with deprescribing in primary care?
 - Have you had any experiences of safety concerns during deprescribing?
 - \circ $\;$ How do you anticipate what the risks are for each individual patient?
 - \circ $\;$ How do you mitigate such risks?
- Reflecting on your own practice, What do you do to make sure deprescribing is done safely?
 - \circ $\;$ How did this practice start?
 - What influenced this safety practice
 - Do you have any specific patient examples?
- □ Do you do anything to monitor and follow up with patients after deprescribing?
 - Does anything stop you from be able to monitor and follow up with a patient?
- □ What could be done to make it safer?
 - How could we make it routinely safer?
 - Could we implement these safety measure into primary care right now?
 - How could we overcome such barriers if any?

Organisational support

Next I would like to discuss the type of support patients and clinicians might need during and after the deprescribing process

- NPT Collective action (Contextual integration) What organisational support (from your own practice/pharmacy, CCG or the NHS) is currently available to implement and sustain deprescribing in primary care? (e.g. resources, guides or incentives?)
 - o Is there anything further you feel you need?
- What support, if any, do you think is necessary for the patient during and after the deprescribing process and why?
 - How feasible is it to provide this kind of support in current primary care?
 - How would you implement this support in your own practice?
- □ Can you provide examples of support that you might have given to patients when you have been deprescribing?
 - How beneficial do you believe this support was?
 - How would you change this support, if possible, to better patient safety and experience?
- Does the availability of patient support that you can offer to patients affect the likelihood of deprescribing occurring?

Education & Training

Now, I would like to discuss patient education and clinician training.

- □ What information do you think patients need to be able to safely stop a medicine?
 - \circ $\;$ How would you convey this information to patients (what type of format)?
 - o Can you recall experiences of this?

10/05/2021 Version 2.0 IRAS no: 288393

- If so, how would you make this experience better for the patient?
- □ Can other professions help in conveying this information to patients?
 - If so, what would be their roles?
 - Why do you believe they are suited for this?
- Following back to the first question in this section, what information is currently feasible to provide to patients to help them safely stop a medicine?
 - Is there any information that you feel patients need to safely stop a medicine, but cannot currently provide for any particular reason?
- □ NPT Collective action (skill set workability) What type of education or training, if any, would your role require for routine and safe proactive deprescribing?
 - Why would is this education or training be needed?
 - What about other staff that you work with?
 - Again, why would this education or training be needed?

Closing the session

Thank you all for you time and giving your opinions here today. It has been really insightful and valuable. We will contact you about the study findings once we have completed all the focus groups and interview. There may also be a few who haven't sent back their demographics information, could you please get this back to me as soon as possible.

Appendix V – Example Study 2 Healthcare professional analytical framework

Name and codes	Description
Common deprescribing scenarios	HCPs describe current common scenarios where deprescribing occurs
Consensus on deprescribing	Various factors influencing the consensus of HCPs on deprescribing
Clinical inertia affecting consensus of deprescribing	
Deprescribing importance yet to reach all HCPs	
Deprescribing not seen as a prescribing decision	
Deprescribing viewed more as an area of practice	
Expanding role of practice pharmacists conducting deprescribing	Involvement of practice pharmacists conducting SMRs and subsequent deprescribing
Lack of consensus on deprescribing implementation	A lack of agreement on the specific implementation of deprescribing
Lack of prescribing duties a barrier to deprescribing consensus	HCPs not involved in prescribing so do not have a view on deprescribing
More focus on acute problems rather than long-term goals	
National focus on polypharmacy forming consensus on benefits	Increased national focus on risks of problematic polypharmacy

Appendix W – Co-design patient recruitment poster and

research summary



Lay research summary

Medicines are prescribed to benefit patients by treating their illnesses. However, sometimes, medicines can become a problem. For example, they may cause side effects, or they may no longer be needed because the patient has got better. We are interested in how we can make sure that patients are not taking medicines that they no longer need.

Our research, so far, has shown how important it is that healthcare professionals explain why they might recommend stopping a medicine. It has also shown the importance of patients being supported when stopping a medicine, and the potential role of pharmacists (especially local pharmacies) in doing this. We now want to bring all these ideas together.

We want to create ideas on how we can make stopping unnecessary medicines happen easier and safer. We also want to make sure that this works for patients and healthcare professionals. We will be hosting online workshops where we bring together patients, GPs, and pharmacists (also known as co-design workshops) to discuss and produce ideas that make it safe and easy to stop unnecessary medicines.

Appendix X – Co-design HCP recruitment poster and research

summary



Medicines are prescribed to benefit patients, however, can become problematic. For example, they may cause adverse drug reactions or be no longer indicated. We are interested in how we can make sure that patients are not taking unnecessary medicines through the use of deprescribing.

Our research, so far, has shown the importance of establishing the rationale when proposing deprescribing to patients. It has also shown the importance of patients being supported during deprescribing, and the potential role of pharmacists (especially community pharmacists) in doing this. We now want to bring all these ideas together.

We want to create ideas on how we can make deprescribing occur safely and routinely. We also want to make sure that this works for patients and healthcare professionals. We will be hosting online codesign workshops where we bring together patients, GPs, and pharmacists to develop ideas that make it safe and easy to deprescribe medicines in primary care.



Appendix Y – Co-design Workshop 1 Miro boards



Appendix Z – Co-design Workshop 2 Medicine necessity

questions boards



Appendix AA – Co-design workshop 2 community pharmacy

safety net boards




Appendix AB – AHSN SMR Invite letter

Text box for GP practice name and address



Dear <name of patient>

Reviewing your medicines

The practice is running a new service to help you with your medicines - this is called a medication review.



A medication review is a chance to check that your medicines are the best ones for you.

What will happen at the review?

- You will have a face-to-face appointment or telephone call with the practice pharmacist or GP.
- They will check your medicines are working
 - and not causing side effects.
- It is also a chance for you to tell us how you are getting on with your medicines - and to ask questions and find out more about them.

What happens next?

We will contact you to make an appointment to speak with the practice pharmacist or the GP at the practice or over the telephone.

- The pharmacist or GP will explain what your medicines are for.
- They will check if any changes to your medicines are needed.
- There will also be a chance to have your questions answered.

NIHR Yorkshire and Humber Patient Safety Research Collaboration

If someone helps you with your medicines, it may be helpful for them to be with you when you speak to the practice pharmacist.





Copyright © Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, University of Bradford and University of Leeds 2022

Why are we doing this?

We are doing this to make sure that your medicines are the right ones for you.

- The purpose of the review is not to save money.
- Also it is not to check if you are taking your medicines.

No medicines will be altered without agreement between you and the pharmacist or GP.

On the other side there are some questions you might want to ask about your medicines at the appointment.

Text box for name and signature

Questions to think about before the appointment that you may wish to ask



Copyright @ Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, University of Bradford and University of Leeds 2022